
 

 
 

NOTICE OF MEETING 
 
Meeting 
 

Regulatory Committee 
 

Date and Time Wednesday, 16th October, 2019 at 10.00 am 
  
Place Ashburton Hall - HCC 
  
Enquiries to members.services@hants.gov.uk 
  
John Coughlan CBE 
Chief Executive 
The Castle, Winchester SO23 8UJ 
 
FILMING AND BROADCAST NOTIFICATION 
This meeting may be recorded and broadcast live on the County Council’s website.  
The meeting may also be recorded and broadcast by the press and members of the 
public – please see the Filming Protocol available on the County Council’s website. 

 
AGENDA 

 
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
 
 To receive any apologies for absence received. 

 
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
 All Members who believe they have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in 

any matter to be considered at the meeting must declare that interest 
and, having regard to the circumstances described in Part 3 Paragraph 
1.5 of the County Council's Members' Code of Conduct, leave the 
meeting while the matter is discussed, save for exercising any right to 
speak in accordance with Paragraph 1.6 of the Code. Furthermore all 
Members with a Non-Pecuniary interest in a matter being considered at 
the meeting should consider whether such interest should be declared, 
and having regard to Part 5, Paragraph 2 of the Code, consider whether 
it is appropriate to leave the meeting while the matter is discussed, save 
for exercising any right to speak in accordance with the Code. 
 

3. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  (Pages 5 - 8) 
 
 To confirm the minutes of the previous meeting 

 
4. DEPUTATIONS   
 
 To receive any deputations notified under Standing Order 12. 

 

Public Document Pack



5. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS   
 
 To receive any announcements the Chairman may wish to make. 

 
6. APPLICATION FOR A DEFINITIVE MAP MODIFICATION ORDER TO 

RECORD FOOTPATHS AT TOP FIELD, SPRINGVALE  PARISH OF 
KINGS WORTHY  (Pages 9 - 314) 

 
 To consider a report from the Director of Culture, Communities and 

Business Services, which presents Members with evidence relating to a 
claim for public footpaths at Top Field, Springvale, in the parish of Kings 
Worthy, so that they may determine whether or not to authorise a 
Definitive Map Modification Order for the application routes, either under 
the provisions of section 31 of the Highways Act 1981, or through a 
dedication at common law. 
 

7. BLUE HAZE LANDFILL SITE VERWOOD ROAD SOMERLEY  (Pages 
315 - 320) 

 
 To consider a report of the Director of Economy, Transport and 

Environment regarding: 
1) Variation of conditions 1, 3 and 4 of planning permission 07/90183 to 
extend the time to complete the importation of waste to the landfill until 
2029, revise the landfill phasing and phasing of restoration, and the 
completion of landfill restoration by 2031 (Application No. 19/10066); 
2) Variation of condition 2 of planning permission 11/97613 to extend the 
time for the use of the Waste Transfer Station until 2030 (Application No. 
19/10064); and 
3) Variation of condition 2 of planning permission 08/92516 to extend the 
time for the use of the landfill gas utilisation plant until March 2040 
(Application No. 19/10063); 
at Blue Haze Landfill Site, Verwood Road, Somerley, BH24 3QE (Site 
Ref: NF105). 
 

8. MONITORING AND ENFORCEMENT UPDATE  (Pages 321 - 330) 
 
 To consider a report of the Director of Economy, Transport and 

Environment regarding information on the Monitoring and Enforcement 
work undertaken by Strategic Planning during the period May 2019 – 
September 2019. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



ABOUT THIS AGENDA: 

On request, this agenda can be provided in alternative versions (such as 
large print, Braille or audio) and in alternative languages. 
 
ABOUT THIS MEETING: 

The press and public are welcome to attend the public sessions of the 
meeting. If you have any particular requirements, for example if you require 
wheelchair access, please contact members.services@hants.gov.uk for 
assistance. 
 
 
County Councillors attending as appointed members of this Committee or by 
virtue of Standing Order 18.5; or with the concurrence of the Chairman in 
connection with their duties as members of the Council or as a local County 
Councillor qualify for travelling expenses. 

mailto:members.services@hants.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

AT A MEETING of the Regulatory Committee of HAMPSHIRE COUNTY 
COUNCIL held at the castle, Winchester on Wednesday, 11th September, 2019 

 
Chairman: 

* Councillor Peter Latham 
 

* Councillor Lance Quantrill 
* Councillor Christopher Carter 
* Councillor Mark Cooper 
* Councillor Rod Cooper 
  Councillor Roland Dibbs 
* Councillor Jane Frankum 
* Councillor Marge Harvey 
* Councillor Keith House 
  Councillor Gary Hughes 
* Councillor Wayne Irish 
 

* Councillor Alexis McEvoy 
*  Councillor Neville Penman 
* Councillor Stephen Philpott 
  Councillor Roger Price 
*  Councillor Jan Warwick 
* Councillor David Harrison 
* Councillor Pal Hayre  
 

*Present 
 

150.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies were received from Councillor Roger Price and Councillor Gary 
Hughes. Councillor’s David Harrison and Pal Hayre attended as deputies. 
 

151.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
Members were mindful that where they believed they had a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest in any matter considered at the meeting they must declare 
that interest at the time of the relevant debate and, having regard to the 
circumstances described in Part 3, Paragraph 1.5 of the County Council's 
Members' Code of Conduct, leave the meeting while the matter was discussed, 
save for exercising any right to speak in accordance with Paragraph 1.6 of the 
Code. Furthermore Members were mindful that where they believed they had a 
Non-Pecuniary interest in a matter being considered at the meeting they 
considered whether such interest should be declared, and having regard to Part 
5, Paragraph 2 of the Code, considered whether it was appropriate to leave the 
meeting whilst the matter was discussed, save for exercising any right to speak 
in accordance with the Code. 
 

152.   MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
The minutes of the last meeting were reviewed and agreed. 
 

153.   DEPUTATIONS  
 
The process for deputations was explained and it was confirmed that there was 
one deputation for the meeting. 
 

154.   CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



2 
 

 
The Chairman invited Harry Goodchild, Map Review Manager,  to address the 
Committee regarding Rights of Way applications due to the two items on the 
agenda being first submitted 10 and 12 years ago. Mr Goodchild confirmed that 
the County Council had a backlog in applications due to historic resourcing 
issues and also because of a surge of applications over the past few years 
following a cut off date of 2025 for recording rights of way based solely on 
historic evidence which had been imposed by the Countryside and Rights of 
Way Act 2000. The latter factor alone had doubled the number of applications 
awaiting attention. The team had since expanded and the process had been 
streamlined, allowing applications to be processed quicker and it was anticipated 
that waiting times would soon improve going forward. 
 

155.   CR1020 - APPLICATION FOR A DEFINITIVE MAP MODIFICATION ORDER 
TO RECORD A PUBLIC BRIDLEWAY FROM CORHAMPTON ROAD TO 
DROXFORD FOOTPATH 1, AND TO UPGRADE PART OF DROXFORD 
FOOTPATH 1 TO A BRIDLEWAY – PARISHES OF DROXFORD, AND 
CORHAMPTON & MEONSTOKE  
 
The Committee considered a report from the Director of Culture, Communities 
and Business Services (item 6 in the minute book) regarding an application to 
record a bridleway in Droxford. 
 
The officer introduced the item and summarised the history of the application as 
detailed in the report, confirming that the relevant period of use to be considered 
under s31 Highways Act was between 1998 to 2008. The claimed route was 
shown on a diagram for the Committee and the different points were highlighted. 
Evidence of use over other routes had also been submitted with the user 
evidence which had also been considered, these routes were also highlighted. 
Members were taken through the legal tests that applied, as well as the user 
evidence forms that had been received, of which there were 29 responses 
varying from 1-250 journeys per year across various parts of the route. 
 
It was reported that ‘private’ signs had been erected along the route and that a 
‘No Bridlepath’ sign had been erected at the southern end of the route at 
Dundridge Lane.   
Whilst ‘private’ signs had been erected along the route, the officer outlined that 
signs which indicate that land is private, do not necessarily indicate that there is 
no public right of way, the question of signage had been considered in Burrows v 
SSEFRA (2004).  It was also reported that when questioned about the ‘Private’ 
signs that the landowner had stated that they were intended to imply that the 
track was private to vehicles.  The ‘No Bridlepath’ sign was reported to have only 
been erected more recently and did not apply to the time period in question.  It 
had also been claimed that a gate had been installed for several months 
between 1991-1997, however, none of the users of the route who had submitted 
evidence had reported to have ever seen a gate, the landowners had not 
submitted any documentary evidence of the gates existence. 
 
The Committee received one deputation for this item. Stephen Whale spoke on 
behalf of the owner of Hazelholt House and also as a local resident himself. Mr 
Whale highlighted paragraphs 30 and 31.1 in the report, which confirmed that 

Page 6



3 
 

there had been a couple of verbal exchanges with horse riders to inform them 
that the path was not a bridleway, and signs had been placed along various 
parts of the route and adjoining subsidiary paths. It had been reported that the 
signs were not clear enough to passers by, which Mr Whale disagreed with 
considering the commercial nature of the woodland. 
 
During questions of the deputation, the following points were clarified: 

 The proposed bridleway gave neighbouring residents concerns regarding 
privacy and also the increase in numbers of those using the path. Whilst 
there were no previous security incidents that caused concern, the height 
of people on horses meant it was easier to see into the grounds of 
adjoining properties; 

 In the 2018 letter to the officer objecting to the application, no 
photographic evidence of signs was provided; 

 Mr Whale disagreed that a sign simply stating ‘Private’ was inadequate; 

 The landowner was not obliged to stop all users of the path but had to do 
a reasonable number and it was felt this had been done. 

 
During questions of the officer, the following points were clarified: 

 The landowner could have taken more effective steps to prevent horse 
riders using the path by submitting a declaration under s31 Highways Act 
to the County Council, or having erected more effective signage telling 
users that there was no public right of way to equestrians and cyclists. 

 Due to the numbers that had reported not to have been challenged and 
that had continued to use the path, it was apparent that the verbal 
warnings were not effective to convey to the public at large that the route 
was not a Bridleway, and that further steps could have been taken. 

 
In debate, Members agreed that there was some conflict in the evidence, and 
that a judgement had to be made on the evidence available, balancing the 
impact and reliability of anecdotal evidence. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
1. Authority was given for the making of a Definitive Map Modification Order to 

record: 
i) A Bridleway 9 feet in width, as shown between points A – B – C on 

the attached plan. 
ii) A Footpath, 9 feet in width, as shown between points F – G on the 

attached plan (extinguishing Path 37). 
iii) A Footpath 1.5 metres in width, as shown between points G – H on 

the attached plan. 
 

2. Authority was given to remove the limitations (gates) from the Definitive 
Statement of Droxford Footpath 1. 

 
Voting  
Favour - 15 (unanimous – both recommendations 1 and 2, which were voted on 
individually) 
 
  

Page 7



4 
 

156.   CR993 - APPLICATION FOR A DEFINITIVE MAP MODIFICATION ORDER 
TO RECORD A PUBLIC BRIDLEWAY FROM THE MIDDLEWAY TO 
LONDON ROAD IN HAREWOOD FOREST. 
 
The Committee considered a report from the Director of Culture, Communities 
and Business Services (item 7 in the minute book) regarding an application for a 
bridleway in Longparish. 
 
The officer introduced the item and summarised the application as presented in 
the report, it was confirmed that the 20 year period being looked under s31 
Highways Act was 1973 - 1993. Significant use had been put forward as 
evidence, particularly that of horse riders and cyclists. 
 
It was confirmed that the Middleton Estate had put forward an objection and had 
submitted statements from three employees, who have, in instances where they 
encountered members of the public away from public rights of way, they had 
asked them to return to the designated paths.  However, as these employees 
worked for the Estate from 1996 onwards, any challenge issued by them to 
members of the public had fallen outside of the relevant period being considered.   
 
The Committee was satisfied with the recommendations made within the report 
and supporting evidence. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
Authority was given for the making of a Definitive Map Modification Order to 
record a Bridleway, 3.5 metres in width over the section of the claimed route that 
travels over the existing Andover Footpath 68, 3 metres over the rest of the 
route, as shown between points A - B in Appendix C to the report. 
 
Voting: 
Favour – 15 (unanimous) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 Chairman,  
 

Page 8



 
 

1 
 

HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Decision Report 
 

Decision Maker: Regulatory Committee 

Date: 16 October 2019 

Title: Application for a Definitive Map Modification Order to record 
footpaths at Top Field, Springvale  

Parish of Kings Worthy 

Reference:  

Report From: Director of Culture, Communities and Business Services 

Contact name: Sylvia Seeliger 

Tel:    01962 846349 Email: sylvia.seeliger@hants.gov.uk 

 

Purpose of this Report 

1.   The purpose of this report is to present Members with evidence relating to a 
claim for public footpaths at Top Field, Springvale, in the parish of Kings 
Worthy, so that they may determine whether or not to authorise a Definitive 
Map Modification Order for the application routes, either under the provisions 
of section 31 of the Highways Act 1981, or through a dedication at common 
law. 

Recommendation 

2.   It is recommended that an Order be made to record a number of the paths 
that are the subject of this application on the Definitive Map and Statement 
and that one path, and part of another, be refused, as follows: 

a) That a Definitive Map Modification Order be made to record the route, shown 
on the Committee Plan between A-B as a public footpath, with a width of at 
least 1 metre. 
 

b) That a Definitive Map Modification Order be made to record the route, shown 
on the Committee Plan, between C-D as a public footpath, with a width of at 
least 1 metre. 
 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



 
 

2 
 

c) That a Definitive Map Modification Order be made to record the route E-F as 
a public footpath, with a width of at least 1 metre. 
 

d) That a Definitive Map Modification Order be made to record the route L-K as 
a public footpath, with a width of at least 1.5 metres wide. 
 

e) That a Definitive Map Modification Order be made to record the route J-M as 
a public footpath, with a width of 6 metres. 
 

f) That a Definitive Map Modification Order be made to record the route N-M 
as a public footpath, with a width of at least 1 metre wide.  
  

g) That the application to record G-H as a public footpath be refused. 
 

h) That the application to record I-M as a public footpath be refused. 

Executive Summary  
 
3.  The matter before Members consists of two applications, made by two 

individuals, following the confirmation in 2018 of a Map Modification Order for 
public footpaths over Top Field. This confirmation was the result of a 
recommendation in the advice report for a non-statutory public inquiry held in 
2016 into a village green application made for this land.  The present application 
is supported by a number of user evidence forms. These were collected for the 
current applications; however, also relevant are the forms put forward for the 
2018 confirmed Order in that information contained in these also relates to the 
present claim. This report will also give consideration to relevant information 
considered in the non-statutory village green inquiry.  

 
4.   Having considered the evidence in tandem with current guidance and relevant 

case law, it is considered that there is sufficient evidence, on the balance of 
probabilities to authorise the making of a Definitive Map Modification Order for 
a number of these routes. 

Legal framework for the decision 
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 - Section 53: Duty to keep definitive 
map and statement under continuous review 
 
(2) As regards every definitive map and statement, the surveying authority shall: 

b)   .... keep the map and statement under continuous review and as soon as 
reasonably practicable after the occurrence.... of any of [the events specified in 
sub-section (3)] by order  
make such modifications to the map and statement as appear to them to be 
requisite in consequence of that event. 
 

(3)  The events referred to in sub-section (2) are as follows: -   
c)  the discovery by the authority of evidence which (when considered with all 

other relevant evidence available to them) shows… 

Page 10



 
 

3 
 

ii)  that a right of way which is not shown in the map and statement subsists 
or is reasonably alleged to subsist over land in the area to which the map 
relates… 

PRESUMED DEDICATION AT COMMON LAW: 

Use of a way by the public without secrecy, force or permission of the landowner 
may give rise to an inference that the landowner intended to dedicate that way as 
a highway appropriate to that use, unless there is sufficient evidence to the 
contrary. Unlike dedication under S.31 Highways Act 1980, there is no automatic 
presumption of dedication after 20 years of public use, and the burden of proving 
that the inference arises lies on the claimant. There is no minimum period of use, 
and the amount of user which is sufficient to imply the intention to dedicate will 
vary according to the particular circumstances of the case. Any inference rests on 
the assumption that the landowner knew of and acquiesced in public use. 
 

HIGHWAYS ACT 1980 s.31:  

Dedication of way as highway presumed after public use of 20 years. 

(1) Where a way over any land…has been actually enjoyed by the public as of 
right and without interruption for a full period of 20 years, the way is deemed to 
have been dedicated as a highway unless there is sufficient evidence that there 
was no intention during that period to dedicate it.  

(2) The period of 20 years…is to be calculated retrospectively from the date 
when the right of the public to use the way is brought into question, whether by a 
notice…or otherwise. 

Applicants 
 

5.   The first application was made by Mrs. Rosemary Clarke of Kings Worthy, on 
2 June 2017, and consists of four separate paths, shown on the Committee 
Plan attached to this report as described below.  The second application was 
made by Ms Sarah White, of Winchester, on 1 September 2017.  This relates 
to the dismantled railway line to the south of Top Field.  This is also shown on 
the Committee Plan.  In addition, the investigation into both the confirmed 
DMMO of 2018, and the assessment of these two particular applications, 
revealed evidence of use of another path, with short connecting paths to 
existing rights of way, indicating another route potentially capable of being 
recorded on the Definitive Map and Statement. Analysis of the longest claimed 
path also revealed that a part of it was unlikely to have been used, and that 
there was another short connecting path to one of the 2008 Order paths. 
Therefore, the application actually consists of seven potential footpaths at this 
location.  These are shown on the attached Committee Plan.   

Landowners 
 

6.   The current landowner of Top Field is Galliford Try of Guildford, and is 
represented by Drew Smith  of Durley, who were the previous freeholders.  The 

Page 11



 
 

4 
 

land to the south of Top Field is owned by Laneys Properties of Kesh, County 
Fermanagh, Northern Ireland, and tenanted by Mr. and Mrs. Patricia Bright of 
Kings Worthy. Other parts of the land are owned by Kings Worthy Parish 
Council, and Network Rail of London. 

 

Description of the Routes (please refer to the map attached to this report) 
 
7.   The majority of these seven routes lie on the land known as Top Field, 

Springvale, in the parish of Kings Worthy, and those that lie outside it connect 
with Top Field routes.  

 
8.    Route A-B is claimed by Ms White, and is one of the latter, running from the 

unclassified road known as Woodhams Lane, leading from Springvale Road to 
Woodhams Farm.  Aerial photography indicates that this path runs to the east 
of a hedge that separates an area of grassland from the cultivated field, 
northwards from Woodhams Lane to meet with the claimed path I-J that runs 
on the dismantled railway line.  Its length is approximately 152 metres. 

9.   Route C-D, claimed by Mrs. Clarke, connects Ilex Close (road U173), where 
users gained access to the edge of Top Field, to the circular route L-K.  The 
path enters an area of scrubland and runs southwards, curving to cross Kings 
Worthy FP 507 to reach this circular path.  The length of this path is 
approximately 117 metres. 

10.  Route E-F (Mrs. Clarke) also begins at Ilex Close, and runs due south, again 
crossing FP 507 to meet the circular path further to the south, at point F, and 
is approximately 136 metres long. 

11. The third route from Ilex Close (as above) is G-H, running southwards in a fairly 
straight line to the west of property fences, to meet the dismantled railway line 
at point H, a distance of approximately 310 metres. 

12. The dismantled railway itself, also part of the claim by Mrs. Clarke, lies between 
points I-J. It commences at point, where Woodhams Lane goes under the main 
railway line from Southampton to London Waterloo.  It is part of the old Mid 
Hants Railway, and runs north and then curves east to follow a flat path that 
crosses Springvale Road on a bridge, meeting an unclassified road at point J 
on the map.  Its length is approximately 849 metres. 

13.  During this investigation and following on from the 2016 non-statutory public 
inquiry into the village green claims made in 2013, it became clear that, when 
cultivation of Top Field ceased, and the land was put into set-aside, a second 
circular path was used by the public. This is shown on the plan as path L-K.  It 
is essentially circular, within FP 507, and has two connecting spurs to 
Blackberry Field at point K and to Burnet Lane, a point L.   It is approximately 
778 metres long.  

14.  In the final stages of the investigation, it has become apparent that a small path 
linking the dismantled railway with Kings Worthy Footpath 507 had been used 
by a significant number of witnesses and should be put forward for 
consideration for inclusion in any Order authorised by this Committee, on the 
balance of probabilities. It is included on the Committee plan as path N-M.  It 

Page 12



 
 

5 
 

departs from path I-J some 43 metres south from the solid line indicating a 
fence on the dismantled railway and runs toward Top Field in a north-westerly 
direction for approximately 38 metres. 

Issues to be decided 

15.  The issue to be decided is whether there is evidence to show, on the balance 
of probabilities, that the public has acquired public footpath rights over the 
seven routes shown on the Committee Plan, and described above at 
paragraphs 7 to 13. 

16. Case law has decided that the burden of proof associated with Map Modification 
Orders is ‘on the balance of probabilities’, so it is not necessary for evidence to 
be conclusive or ‘beyond reasonable doubt’ before a change to the Definitive 
Map can be made.  

17. Any changes to the Definitive Map must reflect public rights that already exist, 
through periods of unchallenged use. It follows that decisions as to whether to 
amend the Definitive Map must not be taken for reasons of desirability or 
suitability. Therefore, before an Order changing the Definitive Map is made, the 
County Council must be satisfied that the requested modification is supported 
by the evidence. 

Background to the Application 

18. This combined application is the latest for public rights over the land at Top 
Field, and the history of the processing of applications here is complex.  Linear 
routes, plus village green rights, have been claimed over Top Field:   

• Public footpath rights were claimed over three paths on Top Field in 
1997.  Part of the claimed routes were confirmed as Kings Worthy 
Footpath 506a and 506b, under the Town and Country Planning Act 
1980 (‘TCPA’), in December 2013.  This was to allow a development to 
take place in the north part of Top Field.  A Map Modification Order for 
the original three claimed routes had been made in 2005, and had not 
been proceeded with because of an objection relating to the consultation 
carried out. However, it had not been rescinded, because it was hoped 
that dedications of public footpaths might be obtained from the 
freeholder.  These did not materialise. 

• Village green rights over Top Field were claimed in 2013 and 2015, and 
a non-statutory public inquiry was held to advise the Regulatory 
Committee whether such rights could be recorded there.  The Inspector, 
Morag Ellis QC, reported that the required legal tests for village green 
rights had not been met and recommended that the village green 
application be refused. However, she did consider the evidence from the 
1997 DMMO application.  Taken with the village green evidence she had 
examined, she was of the opinion that the assertion of public rights over 
Top Field would appear to a ‘reasonable landowner’ more as 
contributing to the ‘establishment/enjoyment of a PROW [public right of 
way] rather than the unequivocal assertion of TVG [town and village 

Page 13



 
 

6 
 

green]  rights’ (see attached report to this Committee of 22 March 2017, 
at Appendix  1, page 9).  She adds (at page 19, paragraph 10.4) that 
‘The Highway Authority reached the conclusion in 2005 that these routes 
[around the perimeter of the field] were of long standing and should be 
added to the Definitive Map and Statement as Public Footpaths, on the 
basis of contemporaneous local evidence’.   

• Because the 2005 Order had never been rescinded, legal advice to 
officers was that another Order could be made, and this was done on 21 
June 2017.  This Order was objected to, but confirmed after a public 
inquiry in October 2018, in which the Inspector considered, and 
accepted, the evidence put forward for this claim, as well as that already 
submitted in 1997.  The three resulting public footpaths are recorded on 
the Definitive Map as Kings Worthy Footpaths 507, 508 and 509 (see 
Committee Plan). 

• The Inspector’s decision letter for the 2018 statutory public inquiry into 
the confirmation of the 2017 Map Modification Order (Appendix 2) 
indicates that the current owner of Top Field, Galliford Try, objected to 
that Order, but did not offer any evidence to the inquiry (paragraph 7, 
page 2 of the report).  Their evidence in relation to the 1972 to 1992 
relevant period was ‘limited’ (paragraph 29, page 5).  Since the 
development at the northern end of Top Field has taken place, further 
planning permission for another 35 houses has been granted, to be 
located in an area to the west of the eastern curve of the set aside path 
L-K, inside the circle.   

• The very thorough investigations of public use of the land at Top Field 
prompted the two applicants involved in this application to put in the 
claims for five further public footpaths on the land or leading to it.  This 
application is supported by completed user evidence forms from 54 
witnesses. Inevitably, what is drawn on the maps accompanying the 
forms is common to both claims and forms a picture of consistent public 
use over Top Field between 1970 and 2015.  The County Council, as 
the highway authority in this matter, is entitled to consider all evidence 
available to it, and this will cover evidence from the 1997 claim, the later 
village green claims and the current application. 

19.  Aerial photography is available, both taken for the County Council, and supplied 
to the 2016 village green inquiry by the landowner, to illustrate and assess the 
wear on the claimed paths caused by users.  These will be examined in tandem 
with the written and drawn witness evidence from all forms available to officers. 

 
Documentary Evidence  
 
20.  The large-scale Ordnance Survey Map paper map evidence available for the 

area of Kings Worthy affected by this claim spans the years 1876 to 1988. 
 
 1844 to       The mapping at the scale of 1:2,500 is not available, but the  
 1885  1:10,000 is, and shows the active Alton and Winchester railway 

Page 14



 
 

7 
 

line, connecting to what is now the London mainline at Winchester 
Junction, in the  same position as it is now.  Hookpit Farm is shown 
at the northern end of Top Field, and the boundary of the field is larger 
than that of today, with the eastern boundary being what is now 
Springvale Road.  Part  of the land is a detached portion of the parish 
of Headbourne Worthy.  South of the Alton railway line, the field 
boundary along which the path A to B runs follows a very similar 
course to the current line.   No part of Top Field has any buildings on 
it. 

1885 to      Mapping at the 1:10,000 scale is available, and shows a similar depic- 
1910          tion to the earlier mapping, with another railway line converging on 

the  meeting point with the main London Line, at Winchester Junction.  
This is the Didcot, Newbury and Southampton line, now also 
dismantled.  The boundary line of the claimed route A-B is shown, 
with a signal post a little to the north-east of it on the curve of the 
railway line – remnants  of  this structure can still be found on the 
claimed path 1-J.  The whole field is still without any buildings.    

1895       The second edition of the Ordnance Survey County Series, published 
at the scale of 1:2,500 in 1895, omits all but the western boundary of 
the  internal boundary of the detached part of Headbourne Worthy 
shown on  earlier mapping.  South of the railway, this is the boundary 
to the east of which the claimed path A-B runs. The part north of the 
railway line is divided by this boundary into plot ‘68’ of 3.187 acres, 
and plot ‘69’, of 36.094 acres.  The signal post is still in place, and the 
field is empty of buildings. 

1905 to   The third edition of the 1:10,000 mapping is very similar to the second, 
1945       save that the signal post is shown further east along the railway line,                       

the detached portion of Headbourne Worthy is shown with a pecked                      
and  dotted line, rather than the solid line of the earlier map, and the                       
words ‘Winchester Junction’ are shown on the east side of the lines, 
to the south of Woodhams Lane.  The field boundary west of the 
claimed path A-B is in place and the field has no buildings. 

1908       The County Series 1:2,500 mapping also has Winchester Junction at                     
the south of Woodhams Lane.  The signal post is shown further east                       
along the Alton line, as in the 1:10,000 mapping, and the field 
boundary   south of the railway along which path A-B runs is in place.  
The field is not shown as having any buildings on it. 

1974      The Ordnance Survey ‘National Grid’ mapping, at a scale of 1:2,500,                       
indicates that Hookpit Farm no longer exists at the northern end of 
Top  Field, where a property called ‘Maylands’ is located with a large 
curtilage.  Nine other properties have been built along Hookpit Farm 
Lane, going  south-westwards from the former location of Hookpit 
Farm.  Running along  Springvale Road are 19 separate properties 
directly facing the road, with  12 others behind these, to the south-
west, and the course of ‘Tudor Way’ is indicated with pecked lines. 
Both sets of houses have straight boundaries, that meet at the ‘peak’ 
(where claimed paths ‘C’, ‘E’ and ‘G’ have their northern origin) shown 
on current mapping (see the Committee Plan). These boundaries 
have formed the modern boundaries of Top Field, prior to the 

Page 15



 
 

8 
 

development of Burnet Lane and Blackberry Field, in 2013-2014.                 
Once more, the field boundary on the west of the claimed path A-B is 
shown, and the words ‘Winchester Junction’ are now shown just north 
of Woodhams Lane, where it meets the railway bridge.  The railway 
is marked as ‘disused’ at a point east of Springvale Road, but the rails 
are still in place, confirming  the closure of the line in 1973. 

1988     By 1988, when the next revision of the National Grid mapping took 
place, the plot surrounding Maylands had been developed as 
‘Sycamore Drive’, with 8 buildings.  At this date, the OS is showing, 
by pecked lines, the unmetalled paths that were the subject of the 
2005 Order, and confirmed as Footpath 506, 507, 508 and 509. In 
contrast to the London mainline, rails are no longer shown along its 
course, and the same is the case with the Didcot Railway and its loop 
to the west of the mainline, and the words ‘dismantled railway’ are 
shown at the same location as in the 1974 map. Towards the northern 
peak of Top Field, the notation used by the OS indicates that scrub 
and trees were beginning to grow in, and such scrub is also present 
in the south-western bottom corner, where the  connecting path N-M 
joins the current Footpath 507 from the dismantled railway.  When the 
aerial photography is considered (below) it will be seen that the main  
path (marked as ‘unmetalled’) corresponds to the routes                  
around the cropped field visible in the earlier photographs. This map 
is a good representation of the situation before first claim for a Map 
Modification Order was made in 1997.  

 
21.  Looking at the photographic evidence, along with the mapping, provides a 

background for the written testimony of use by the public at Top Field between 
the years 1972 and 2017. The earliest photography available to this 
investigation is from 1993.  This was supplied by the landowner at the 2016 
village green inquiry.  Twelve further photographs showing the land clearly are 
available which, with three editions of the County Council’s own aerial 
photography provide good coverage of use being made of Top Field between 
1993 and 2013. These can be found in Appendix 3.  Bearing in mind the caveat 
that interpretation of this kind of photography is a specialised skill, these aerial 
photographs provide good relevant evidence of where, as the Inspector put it 
in her decision report of March 2017, ‘it is logical to deduce, from the clarity and 
persistence of the track in all relevant photographs, that this is where the 
majority of feet went, not only in the years 1993 to 2000, but for the rest of the 
relevant period as well (Appendix 1, paragraph 11.2.9, page 164). 

 
 1993       This photograph shows Top Field with a crop on part of it, and the 

dismantled railway running between well-grown hedges, with a worn 
path to the east of the fence line in the field north of Woodhams Lane 
(path A-B).  There is a worn route visible around the eastern side of 
the full extent of Top Field, running between the dismantled railway 
and Hookpit Farm Lane, with a branch worn route running to the south 
and west up to the mainline railway embankment (Appendix 3a).  The 
farmer has ploughed right up to this embankment, a fact mentioned in 
the user evidence forms completed for the 1997 Map Modification 

Page 16



 
 

9 
 

Order application.  Where the cropped field does not extend to the 
eastern edge of Top Field, there is a worn path on the edge of the 
crop, and noticeably heavier wear on the dismantled railway line at its 
junction with the two paths on the eastern side of the field.  The 
easterly path is now Kings Worthy Footpath 508.  The land around the 
crop is covered by a short sward, apart from the very top north-west 
corner of the field, where scrub is growing in.   East of the hedge line 
separating Top Field from the housing including Ilex Close, the sward 
is also short, and no clearly worn path is discernible on this 
photograph.  Professor Hedley, in his 2001 evidence, places a date 
of 1995 for the development here (Appendix 7).  The photography 
indicates that this date is at least two years out. However, the 
unfinished state of the southern boundary with the eastern edge of 
Top Field, illustrates that the development was not complete in 1993, 
so it is unlikely that there can have been enough use by the public on 
foot in this location to produce any worn paths in the location of C-D, 
E-F or G-H at this stage. 

1994    The photograph for this year is in black and white, but has more 
definition. The worn paths around the field are similar to those 
mentioned above, but a trodden path equating to claimed path C-D is 
now visible from Ilex Close. A path runs along the line of route G-H 
west of the boundary of the gardens of the adjoining properties.  A 
further worn path connects these two routes, running north-east to 
south-west, and branching from this is a path running south and 
joining the present Footpath 507 somewhat further east than the 
claimed route E-F. This whole section is east of E-F and is a separate 
route.  Again, the sward is short over this triangular area south of Ilex 
Close (Appendix 3b).  The path north from Woodhams Lane A-B is 
not visible, as the field appears to be cropped up to the hedge line.  
However, the dismantled railway line path I-J is visible, and is 
relatively more worn from the point of connection to Footpath 507 in 
Top Field.  A short sward is visible on the line west of this, between 
parallel rows of trees.   

 1995      Cloud obscures Top Field (Appendix 3c).  
1996   The photograph’s poor definition and changes to the growth of                                   

vegetation outside the cropped area render some paths as less clear                       
on this photograph.  Top Field is cropped right up to its western                               
boundary, with the worn paths are not as clearly visible as those in                         
the two previous photographs, though scrub is beginning to spread                        
at the top of the field. Scrub is beginning to grow in south of Ilex                             
Close, but path C-D is just discernible, along with the path running                          
parallel, but not against, the boundary with the gardens (Appendix                        
3d).  Tree growth is increasing along the western section of path I-J,                       
along the dismantled railway. 

 1997 This black and white photograph lacks the definition of that of 1994, 
though the paths that were recorded on the Definitive Map in 2018 
show up clearly.  South of Ilex Close, there is a texture suggesting 
further vegetation growth, but no clear path is visible at this scale and 
definition, save part of Footpath 507 and part of L-K, on the eastern 

Page 17



 
 

10 
 

side of the field (Appendix 3e). The whole of the path I-J can be seen, 
and there is a pale line to the east of the hedge on the route A-B 
indicating some wear at this location.   

1998            Another black and white photograph, Top Field has a pale crop on it,                       
right to its western boundary, but the rest of the Definitive footpaths                         
recorded in 2018  around it are visible. Path C-D south of Ilex  Close                       
is just discernible, particularly where it meets with Footpath 507                            
(Appendix 3f).  The footpath A-B from Woodhams Lane can be seen                      
east of the hedge line, and the worn path along the dismantled                                
railway is visible. 

1999          This colour photograph, taken in July of that year, shows the  walked                      
path around the crop, with increasing scrubby vegetation on the peri-                     
phery of Top Field itself. The crop appears to have been sown right                       
up to the western boundary of the field. However, the worn path to the                    
north of the dismantled railway is visible to the south-western corner 
of Top Field, and both the route Footpath 507 and part of the route L-
K emerge at a point directly the north, where the two go in separate                            
directions.  In the south-east corner of Top Field a worn route parts                       
company with Footpath 507 to run in more of a southerly direction to                      
reach an exit  onto the dismantled railway path (N-M). The increasing                     
scrub growth is also seen on the land south of  Ilex Close, where C-
D is visible and the path formerly running along the eastern field 
boundary adjacent to the gardens has migrated towards the Top Field 
hedge, forming something of an amalgamation of E-F and G-H.   It is 
not  possible to say if the growth of scrub is accommodating itself to 
the  pattern of walking over this land, or vice versa (Appendix 3g). 

 2000       The County Council’s own aerial photography from 1999-2000 shows 
                     the Definitive footpaths and a well-trodden route around the northern 

edge of the cropped area, equating to the northern edge of the set 
aside path L-K (Appendix 3h).  Unlike the photograph discussed in 
the previous paragraph, there is a clear walked line to the east of the 
boundary with the main London railway line. A worn route is visible 
along part of route A-B, and the path I-J on the dismantled railway line 
is visible, though harder to discern as it turns south to Winchester 
Junction.  Scrub is growing in on the Ilex Close triangle, and the path 
C-D is clearly seen joining Footpath 507.The pattern of walking in the 
scrub echoes that of the previous year’s photograph, with a path 
running westwards over land between two groups of houses and 
meeting path C-D before it reaches Footpath 507. Only the most 
northerly section of G-H is visible on this photograph (Appendix 3i). 

 2002    Top Field is no longer cropped by 2002, having been put in ‘set-                      
  aside’. The whole area appears to be under grass, and the worn                       
  route round the former cropped area is very clear – this reproduction               
  shows the field from a great height. The scrub over the Ilex Close                   
  triangle looks to be increasing and uniform in its distribution, and the                
  path C-D can be seen, where it joins Footpath 507. In the field                       
  south of the dismantled railway there is a green strip between the                    
  hedge and the crop where the claimed path A-B runs, connecting to 
  a  worn route onto the railway line.  Much of the route I-J can also be                   

Page 18



 
 

11 
 

  identified, though at Winchester Junction the tree cover is complete                 
  (Appendix 3j). 

2004    This photograph is also taken from a great height, and the separation                     
   of what is the eastern boundary of the set aside path L-K  from the                         
  line of Footpath 507 is becoming more distinct, with the land to the                         
  east a darker green. The dismantled railway path can be                                        
  distinguished  partly by the trees in blossom.  The field containing                          
  path A-B has been cropped closely to the hedge and, owing to the                          
  height from which the photograph has been taken, no worn line can                        
  be distinguished.  The short connecting path N-M is shown.  Path C-
  D  is clear, and is beginning to be separated from the rest of the land                          
  south of Ilex Close, which carries increasing scrub, also in blossom                         
  (Appendix 3k). 
2005             This photograph is produced in close-up.  A path, part Footpath 507 

and part of path L-K is the dominant feature, with Footpath 506 
reaching it from Hookpit Farm Lane.  The dismantled railway path I-J 
is clearly visible as a worn line between the trees, though the tree 
cover north of Winchester Junction has increased.  The short 
connecting path N-M is visible, as is path A-B from Woodhams Lane, 
which continues round the northern boundary of the cropped field 
lying south of Top Field.  On the Ilex Close triangle, path C-D is clear, 
as is a section of path G-H, to where it approaches Footpath 507.  
Part of path E-F appears running southwards towards the set aside 
path, while the line G-H is less distinct where it approaches the line of 
Footpath 507.  Also visible is a figure-of-eight track worn down to the 
chalk, plus an area in the south-western corner where the 2016 village 
green inquiry identified BMX activity (Appendix 3l).   

2006             The County Council’s aerial photography from 2006 shows clearly a 
worn path corresponding to Footpath 507 around the southern and 
part of the western boundary of the former cropped area.  This path  
curves around the set-aside area, and continues to follow this line 
along this area’s eastern boundary.  The Definitive line of Footpath 
507 runs along the original Top Field boundary, and that path is 
visible, though not so heavily worn as the line of L-K. The railway path 
I-J, the short connecting path N-M, and that from Woodhams Lane (A-
B) are also visible (Appendix 3m).  Looking at the close-up of Ilex 
Close, the scrub continues to encroach on the triangle to the south of 
Ilex Close, but a worn track corresponding to path C-D can be 
discerned, along with a connecting path between the set-aside path 
and the Definitive path.  There is a worn route along the line E-F, and 
evidence of BMX activity can be seen in the south-western corner of 
the field, and in a figure-of-eight feature just north of the worn track 
along the southern section of Footpath 507.  Again, the line G-H is 
less distinct (Appendix 3n).  

2007           The aerial photograph from this year is particularly clear, and 
indicates that the set aside area has received some form of harrow-
ing, presumably to check the spread of vegetation.  The path around 
the field is an amalgamation of Footpath 507 and the path L-K, with 
the connecting path N-M to the dismantled railway.  This path is more 

Page 19



 
 

12 
 

worn in the east, with tree cover increasing towards its western end. 
A worn line is shown east of the hedge, corresponding to path A-B.   
The worn line C-D south of Ilex Close is visible, and there is another 
worn line branching from it about half-way along its length, though this 
does correspond to E-F, but is closer in position to G-H. That part of 
G-H alongside the gardens of the properties in Tudor Way stands out 
more strongly on this photograph. The path along the dismantled 
railway line is visible, but the path from Woodhams Lane is not 
distinguishable because the whole of the field along which it runs has 
been ploughed right up to the field boundary (Appendix 3o). 

2010             This photograph, taken in September of 2010, provides further  
evidence of the spread of scrub over Top Field.  The area is green  
 with a grass sward, and the worn path around the set- aside area is 
 distinguished by its short sward and width.  It is a green strip of shorter 
grass. The south-western corner of Top Field is now clearly marked 
off from the rest of the set-aside land, and this is the area where the 
BMX activity is taking place.  The line of C-D is visible. The line E-F in 
the increasingly wooded area south of Ilex Close is not clear The line 
of G-H is not clear on this photograph.  Path I-J along with the railway 
line is becoming grown in with trees, and is visible more clearly in the 
east.  Path A-B from Woodhams Lane is also visible.   (Appendix 3p). 

2011              By 2011, scrub is beginning to encroach on the set-aside area                         
  sward. The worn path L-K is part of a wider area of short sward                         
  around the set-aside part of Top Field, with part of  C-D discernible –             
  trees have now grown up on sections of this route, and on E-F and                  
  G-H, making the actual paths not visible to the camera.  Tree growth                
  has increased on the dismantled railway, but the line is visible,                         
  particularly in the eastern section. The path from Woodhams Lane is                
  clear on this photograph (Appendix 3q).   

2012           The photograph of 2012 shows the same features as that of 2011,                          
  but  further harrowing treatment to control the growth of scrub has                            
  taken  place.  The whole area looks pale and parched, and the area                        
  between the set-aside path and Footpath 507 has less green growth                      
  on it.  The three paths running south from Ilex Close are partially                            
  visible, though parts are under tree cover.  The railway line path can                      
  be seen, though again most clearly in the east. The route A-B from                         
  Woodhams Lane is very clear, and continues east to west along the                       
  northern boundary of the field to the south of the railway line                                   
  (Appendix 3r).   
2013              The two photographs of Top Field available are extremely similar, if 

not identical.  One is provided by the freeholder, and the other by the  
County Council.  The major difference between this photograph from 
the one taken the year before is that work has commenced on the 
development at the northern end of Top Field.  The bare chalk forms 
a stark white area and the course of the two estate roads is clear.  The 
development takes up the top third of the field, with the trodden route 
around the set-aside land from the end of the access track from 
Hookpit Farm Lane taking its current trajectory, a little to the south and 
on a straighter line than formerly.  This change has been dictated by 

Page 20



 
 

13 
 

the extent of the building works and their associated spoil heap 
alongside the main railway line.  The set-aside path is clear, and the 
path C-D can be traced, though tree cover obscures parts of it.  
Similarly, path E-F is similarly affected by tree cover.  Path G-H is not 
clear.  The Woodhams Lane path A-B may be in the shadow of 
adjoining trees, as its turn to follow the northern boundary of the field 
is visible, and the railway line also appears to have heavier tree growth 
(Appendix 3s).   

User Evidence 
 
22. The applicants supplied 54 completed user evidence forms in total to support 

these two claims.  The information contained in the forms was extracted to 
produce a ‘User Evidence Chart’ (Appendix 4), which lists the users in 
alphabetical order. It shows the period of use by means of horizontal bars, with 
the ‘relevant period’ shown by a blue tint on the chart.  This denotes the period 
in which 20 years of unchallenged use must be demonstrated.  The first use of 
paths at Top Field by these witnesses was in the 1970s, with user increasing in 
the 1980s.  By the time that this evidence was collected, in 2017, only 9 of the 
54 users were not recording current use. Of the witnesses, 18 show use of 20 
years’ duration.    The bulk of the user is shown as being within the relevant 
period, with 21 users also demonstrating use between 1970 and 1997. 
 

23. This material has been combined with the user evidence submitted in 1997 for 
DMMO 578 (the paths confirmed in 2008), where 32 users said they had used 
some part of the set-aside path or other paths in Top Field, or the dismantled 
railway, or the path from Woodhams Lane, all included in the current 
application. This is Appendix 5.  Those who had completed forms in 1997 
showed increased use in the years from 1970s up to the late 1990s, adding 
weight to the evidence of use of those paths over a rather longer period.  
Thirteen users had used the paths for 20 years between 1977 and 1997.  A 
summary was also made of the names of the users of the individual paths, to 
reach a figure for the long-term use for each one.   The Committee Plan shows 
the 6 paths that are being considered in this report. A modified version of this 
(at Appendix 6) contains information on the number of users for each of the  
individual paths.  It is not necessary that every user has twenty years of use, 
but there should be consistent use by the public in all years, with no 
interruptions to use.  The numbers result from the addition of the earlier users 
to those who have put forward evidence for this application.   This user evidence 
has been put into another combined chart (Appendix 7) to provide a visual 
representation of use of routes over Top Field from 1960 onwards.   

24.  The majority of these users testify to use of the dismantled railway, between 
Woodhams Lane and the unrecorded ‘Kim Bishop Way’ leading out to Wesley 
Road (Road U173).  At 57 documented users, it has a very similar level of use 
as the set-aside path (L-K), developed when the cropped area of Top Field 
decreased after the year 2000 and the land was left uncultivated.  Path L-K, 
running consistently inside the two footpaths resulting from the 2005 Order, 
confirmed in 2018, has evidence of user from 52 witnesses.  Coming third, in 

Page 21



 
 

14 
 

terms of volume of user, is the path A-B, from Woodhams Lane to the 
dismantled railway, with 34 users.   

25. For those users accessing Top Field from Ilex Close, an area that was relatively 
open in the 1990s when cropping was taking place on the field (as shown in 
the aerial photography submitted by the landowner to the village green inquiry), 
the numbers are rather lower.  Recorded in the evidence for this application 
are: 

• Path C-D   14 users 

• Path E-F  10 users 

• Path G-H   4 users 
 

26.  Having set out the presentation of the recorded user in visual form, the actual 
content of the forms needs to be considered.  This material consists of the 
forms for the 1997 claim, the forms submitted with the 2017 claims, plus any 
relevant evidence considered during the non-statutory public inquiry into the 
application for village green registration made in 2013.  All relevant evidence 
must be considered, in order to reach a legally sound recommendation on the 
application, on the balance of probabilities. Also to be taken into account is the 
content of the decision letter issued by Alison Lea, the Inspector at the 2018 
public inquiry into the Map Modification Order, made as a result of the 
suggestion made by Morag Ellis QC in her 2016 village green decision letter.  
The material will be considered in date order, and the evidence will then be 
assessed against the relevant period of 1997 to 2017 for the claim that is the 
subject of this report, as required under section 31 of the Highways Act 1980, 
and will also be considered under common law, if required. 

 
27.  While the user evidence charts are, of necessity, a generalisation, they can 

give a feel for the extent of the use claimed.  Detail is provided in the written 
accounts submitted.  All of the 54 users completed their forms in 2017 and all 
but one (Mr. Greg Wilson, whose form has at least one page missing, and thus 
no information on how he used the routes) used the paths on foot.  Thirteen 
users cycled on the paths and one used a vehicle.  One person gave no 
frequency of use, and three witnesses used vague terms such as ‘often’ and 
‘regularly’.  The frequency of use varies from once a month, to once a week, to 
daily (16 witnesses).  Regular and substantial use is supported by the clarity 
and persistence of a number of the worn routes on the aerial photography 
discussed earlier in this report.   

 
28.  Everyone, except Mr. Wilson, reported seeing others whilst using paths on or 

connected to Top Field themselves, with 42 having seen what they identified 
as ‘locals’, and some also seeing ‘strangers’.  The remaining people say that 
they saw ‘unknown’ users.  All these people cited as having been seen while 
on the claimed paths, were using the land on foot;  there were 37 users who 
saw others on bicycles, 20 on horseback and 6 with vehicles.  This indicates 
that the majority of use of Top Field, the dismantled railway and the path from 
Woodhams Lane was on foot, and therefore any Order made as a result of this 
report should be for public footpath rights. 

 

Page 22



 
 

15 
 

29.  Stiles were seen by 7 witnesses, and the claimant Mrs. Clarke described one 
at Ilex Close, which she said was no longer there in 2017 and had been there 
‘to prevent motorcycle access’.  The forms have 25 reports of gates being seen 
on Top Field, of which 18 users say the gate they saw was unlocked.  Mr. and  
Mrs. Barwell said the gate they saw was locked, but did not say whether it was 
always locked, or sometimes unlocked, and how often.  Mrs. Derrick saw a 
gate ‘only in recent years’, and Mrs. Player refers back to the Hookpit Farm 
Lane gate with ‘big holes in it’ and ‘not there in earlier years’.  Mr. and Mrs. 
Fuller also refer to this and say the obstruction is not there now. Mr. Smith and 
Mr. Witts both refer a gate at point L on the Committee Plan, while Mrs. 
Stevenson  indicates a kissing gate at points K and L, which she indicates has 
been locked.   On the more general topic of obstructions, Mr. Brown  refers to 
the Hookpit Farm Lane gate, present before the development at the north of 
Top Field, and he says that users ‘could walk through gap by gate’.  A different 
type of obstruction is the one described by Mr. Cossburn, who describes the 
builders’ compound associated with the development at the entrance to Top 
Field, but which was removed when the building work was completed.  This 
would have been during 2013 or early 2014, according to the aerial 
photography (Appendix 3s), which shows what may be the compound for the 
works near Hookpit Farm Lane, but not obstructing the entrance from the Lane.  
The spoil heap does, however, obstruct what was the original claimed path in 
the 2005 Map Modification Order.  Mr. Smith also mentions this obstruction in 
the ‘north west’ of the Burnet Lane building site.  Mr. McCleery refers to the 
Ilex Close stile and the gates on the entrances to Burnett Lane but says these 
are no longer obstructions, though Mr. Welstead says the fence across Ilex 
Close is still in place.  The travellers are mentioned by Mrs. Player as having 
caused an obstruction in 1995 or 1996, and Mr. Mason and Mrs. Phillips refer 
to the double-ploughing of the path at the ‘back of the houses’.  Both say this 
ploughing is no longer an obstruction.  Mr. Edwards said in cross-examination 
in the 2016 inquiry that ‘after the deep ploughing in 2014 there had been a 
change in the way that people used the land because it was so deep and rough 
that it was virtually impossible to walk into the centre. Therefore people stopped 
using it because they could not access it’  (Appendix 1, paragraph 6.72, page 
68).  However, this double ploughing affected access to the centre of the field, 
and Mr. Edwards commented that the ‘the grass around the perimeter was kept 
short by people walking it’ (ibid.). 

 
30.  Not one of the 54 witnesses for this application report being stopped while using 

paths on Top Field, and no-one had any connection with the landowner.  None 
sought permission to use the path.  Mr. Cossburn reports approaching the 
tenant farmer in the 1980s to seek permission to allow delivery vehicles to 
approach the rear of his property, but this has no bearing on his use of paths 
on the field.  Mr. Elliottt reports ‘several signs’ being placed around Top Field 
at an unknown date, but this did not lead him to seek permission to use the 
paths there, and Barbara Lambert also reports a sign ‘very recently’ on the 
south eastern boundary of the lower field (though not on Top Field and no 
longer in place) indicating there was ‘No Access’.  She too did not seek 
permission to walk there.  Mrs. Player refers to the gate at Hookpit Farm Lane, 

Page 23



 
 

16 
 

and says she did not seek permission, as there were other access points to the 
field.   

 
31. The majority of users did not say they were using a private right on any of these 

routes.  Four witnesses did answer this question.  Ms Clements  said that her 
house backs on to Top Field, and the map accompanying her form shows that 
she uses a right along a direct line to the path L-K.  However, this straight line 
is not claimed as a public right of way.  Mr. Cossburn uses the path to gain 
access to his own property, which actually fronts onto Hookpit Farm Lane, and 
shares no boundary with Top Field.  While it is unlikely that this use is private 
in nature, Mr. Cossburn also visits the property of friends that does adjoin the 
path, and this would qualify as use with a private right.  Mr. Driscoll says that 
he used the path (presumably A-B) as a cut-through to a friend living at 
Woodhams Farm.   As Woodhams Lane is not a public highway, all use of the 
claimed paths over Top Field and to the south to meet Woodhams Lane to 
reach Woodhams Farm by Mr. Driscoll to visit this friend would have to be 
discounted.  Mrs. Player now lives in Avington, but formerly lived at Tudor Way, 
in the house next door to that occupied by Ms Clements.  On the map 
accompanying her 2017 user form, she shows the position of her back gate, 
close to Kings Worthy Footpath 508, so any use of this access point would not 
constitute a private right to reach one of the paths that are the subject of this 
application.  It is always difficult to quantify what is private use disclosed on a 
form of this nature and would be best addressed in cross-examination at a 
public inquiry, since users often do not elaborate on this despite being asked 
to give details.  However, given the number of people who felt they were using 
a private right on the claimed paths, it is a very small proportion of the total user 
evidence, and is unlikely to render any particular path in this application unable 
to be recorded on the Definitive Map for this reason alone.   

 
32.  Users are invited to put forward any other information which would assist in 

determining the application.  L. Roberts and Mr. Ayres state that the land is 
used ‘a lot for dog walking’, with the railway line used by horse riders, while 
Mrs. Fuller remarks that the dismantled railway line has become overgrown 
and people have used the ‘south side of Top Field’.  This is echoed by Mr. 
Jarman.  Mrs. Player says ‘it was generally accepted in Springvale that this 
was a path that could always be accessed from Springvale Road’ at the junction 
of Footpath 508 and the entrance to the dismantled railway.  Mr. Smith has 
‘always understood that Top Field is used by the residents of the village for 
recreation’, while Mrs. Butler  asserts that the ‘path has been used unopposed 
by many people on a daily basis to walk along’, referring to both the dismantled 
railway line, the path from Woodhams Lane north and part of the set aside path. 

 
33.  To complete the digest of user evidence in relation to the routes used in this 

part of Kings Worthy, Appendix 8 contains information collected during the 
investigation of the 1997 claim, based on the statements (and their 
accompanying forms) obtained by the officer in 2001, and compiled in 2018.  
This information is put forward in the same order as that discussed above. 

 
  

Page 24



 
 

17 
 

Details of Earlier Use 
  
34.  One user, living in Kings Worthy from 1923 (Mrs. Boxall), started using Top 

Field in 1926 and continued to use paths along the eastern side of the field, 
and along the dismantled railway until 1994.  This is the earliest recorded use 
at the site.  Mrs. Hogg began using the original perimeter path in 1948, but 
most other users commenced that user in the 1960s.  Every one of these users 
saw either locals on foot, or locals and strangers on foot, with twelve references 
to bicycle use, 22 mentions of users on horseback and five references to 
vehicular use, four of these in connection with a traveller incursion in 1995.  The 
frequency of use varied from daily (some use on more than one occasion daily), 
to weekly, with variations during the year.   

 
35.  No users report seeing stiles, though the majority say they saw gates.  These 

were located on Hookpit Farm Lane, and were reported by Mr. Brindley to be 
erected ‘temporarily’, but ‘only to prevent illegal access by travellers’ (Mr. and 
Mrs. Brook).  Dr. Clarke reported they were in place ‘only for a few days in 
1992’, and were ‘no longer there’.  Professor Hedley said the gates were 
‘made ineffective in days’ and there were ‘other gates erected in 1995, not 
preventing pedestrian access’.  Mrs. Tallack reported that she had passed 
through gates but that they were ‘no obstruction’ and locked ‘but uselessly’.  
The evidence regarding the Hookpit Farm Lane gate was discussed in some 
depth in the 2016 inquiry report at Appendix 1.  All users report that they saw 
no notices on Top Field, apart from Mr. Bishop, who reports that there was a 
sign saying ‘Beware of the Bull’ in 1980 for 12 months, though he says in his 
accompanying statement that it was put up in 1987.  This was ‘torn down within 
days’ and that he continued to walk around the field.  Mr. Bishop did not attend 
the village green inquiry in 2016, and there is no information that clarifies which 
is the accurate account, apart from a remark in Professor Hedley’s statement 
that the field was uncultivated with horses grazing there in 1980 (Appendix 8, 
page 2). He also mentions that, for approximately 6 months, two shire horses 
were kept on the lower end of Top Field, in answer to the question about 
obstructions.  He confirmed in 2001, in a handwritten letter to the investigating 
officer Sally Plummer, that it was still possible to walk around the field despite 
the horses being there.  Mrs. Aldus  included two photographs of two horses 
grazing in a field with her user form, but there is no confirmation that these were 
actually in Top Field, though the tenant farmer said in evidence to the village 
green inquiry that the field had been used for grazing cattle in the past 
(Appendix 1, paragraph 8.1, page 86).  No other user confirms the presence 
of an obstruction. There are only four answers in response to a question about 
cultivation, and these confirm that the path subject to the application ‘runs 
alongside cultivated field – around edge’ (Mrs. Aldus).   

 
36.  Not one witness reports having been stopped while using paths at Top Field.  

One of the questions asks for details of any connection of users to the owner 
or owners of the land being used.  None answered in the affirmative, but Mrs. 
Boxall indicated that there had been a period of her use when the land had 
been owned by Mr. Bright of Hookpit Farm, with whom she had no connection, 
even though she had earlier in the same question indicated that she was not a 

Page 25



 
 

18 
 

tenant of the owner or occupier.  Mr. and Mrs. Duckett  answered in the same 
way.  No users reported having sought permission, but Mrs. Boxall, Mrs. Hogg 
and Mrs. Player said they had used some or part of the paths being claimed to 
visit friends in railway cottages (since demolished), friends at Kings Worthy 
Junction or friends living adjoining the railway line.  Again, this private use, 
which is not qualifying user, would be difficult to quantify from the forms 
supplied (however, see paragraph 31 above). 

 
37.  Twenty-two users from claim DMMO 578 used the dismantled railway as well 

as paths on Top Field itself, while two users showed that they had used the 
path A-B from Woodhams Lane.  This additional use is shown on the user 
evidence chart at Appendix 7.  The earliest user of both Top Field and the 
dismantled railway line is Mrs. Hogg, from 1948, with Mrs. Aldus, Mr. Bishop 
and Mr. and Mrs. Williams beginning use this route in the 1960s.  Nine users 
used the dismantled railway line for more than 20 years.  

 
38.  The investigating officer asked questions about the occupier of Top Field, Mr. 

Bright.  Mrs. Aldus reported that he ‘said nothing about people using the field’ 
and ‘just chatted about ordinary things’.  Mr. Bishop reports that Top Field was 
used for a period by the Andover Turf Company, who started to mow the field 
in 1979, ‘apparently with the permission of the landowner’.  It was also his view 
that, when fences were placed along the southern and western edges of Top 
Field that ‘gaps were deliberately left in the fences at the corners for the public 
to get through, and that these fences could still be seen in the field in 2001 – 
as, indeed, they were visible during the site visit in 2016 for the village green 
inquiry.  Mrs. Boxall stated that she was ‘good friends with the farmer, who did 
not tell the public they should not walk on the field’.  Professor Hedley said that 
the tenant farmer ‘has used machines to cut back brambles to give unrestricted 
access to pedestrians’, and it was Mrs. Kirby’s view that ‘Mr. Bright always let 
people use the path’.  Mr. Malphus stated that he knew the ‘farmer leasing the 
field…who never mentioned anything about not wanting people to walk on the 
field’, and that he left a strip by the hedge for people to walk on when there was 
a crop on Top Field.  Mrs. Player said that neither Mr. Bright, or his worker, 
‘ever said anything about people not walking on the field’ and Mr. Bright’s father 
often checked that there was nothing on the field that could be of danger to 
dogs ‘and said as much, as he was well aware the dog walkers used the field’.  
He never ‘indicated the owner was unhappy about how the land was being 
used’.  Comments like this are also made by Mrs. Prosser and Mrs. Elsie 
Singleton, who did not fill in a form.  Much of what is said here about the tenant 
farmer Mr. Bright is echoed in the material presented in the decision letter for 
the village green inquiry held in 2016 (Appendix 1).   

 
39.  In his evidence to the inquiry (paragraphs 8.1 to 8.10.1, pages 86-93, 

Appendix 1), Mr. Bright sets out the history of farming of Top Field, its use for 
cattle grazing, dog walking by the locals involving the cutting of barbed wire 
fences, sometimes multiple times a day.  This knowledge led him to use the 
land for purely arable purposes from 1983 to 2013, with the latter years having 
the land in set-aside.  His visiting regime was about 20 visits annually, for 
specific tasks, unless called to deal with incidents with motorbikes, and so on.  

Page 26



 
 

19 
 

He said his knowledge of the public using the land during his tenancy was that 
local people were walking on the perimeter path.  Successive owners would 
keep the fences around this perimeter in good order.  His crop records and the 
aerial photographs demonstrated that the land was not being used by local 
inhabitants for the lawful sports and pastimes required to register village green 
rights.  Mr. Bright took the view that the maintenance of this secure fencing was 
a sufficient indication of the freeholder’s intentions with regard to public access 
to Top Field and, in his statement for the rights of way investigation he said that 
‘the landlord had told him never to stop people from walking’.  From his own 
point of view he said ‘I have been quite happy with an unofficial path running 
around the field and have never tried to stop people walking there as I wish to 
maintain good relations with the local people’.  During the 1990s, Mr. Bright 
carried out most of the work on this land, rather than employees.  His principal 
concern was his crops, and he said that if people walked on the perimeter path 
‘that produced no inconvenience to me if they didn’t damage crops’, but did 
interfere ‘with anyone who went on the crop I saw them’.  He agreed that the 
Hookpit Farm Lane entrance had been gated and locked on two occasions, 
and the area was fenced specifically to prevent access by traveller access, the 
gate having been put in place by his landlord, thereby also demonstrating a 
lack of intention to dedicate public rights of way.  It was his understanding that 
there could be no right of way if there was ‘let or hindrance and he interpreted 
this conduct as let or hindrance’.  The gate was pulled down within a few years 
and, as far as he was concerned, ‘people went round the outside of the field 
which was no trouble to him’.   Between 1993 and 2000 Mr. Bright occasionally 
caught children on the cropped area and problems with motorbikes became 
more common.   As he put it, ‘we farmed quite happily.  Everyone walked round 
the edge and all was happy’. The problems with children were usually confined 
to a few times a year.  When the land was in set-aside, there was a legal 
requirement to mow it and Mr. Bright’s visits to Top Field were fewer over the 
year.   

 
 
The Landowners 
 
40.  Galliford Try is represented in this matter by Drew Smith, the former freeholder 

of Top Field, whose Mr. Phil Farminer responded to the County Council’s 
consultation letter.  He sets out, in a letter dated 22 July 2018 (Appendix 9), 
that there has been a submission of five separate planning applications to 
Winchester City Council.  These seek to divert one of the footpaths which was 
the subject of the now confirmed 2005 Order (the correct Footpath number is 
not given, but it is understood to be Footpath 507), divert claimed routes to 
facilitate the development of the site and avoid ‘the destruction of important 
ecological habitat and to position the route on the current walked route’ and to 
‘provide Definitive Routes where routes have been claimed’.  These 
applications have been ‘made valid by Winchester City Council on 29 April 
2019’, and ‘all these planning applications are due for determination 
imminently’.  The comments made by Drew Smith do not cover the claimed 
path A-B and elements of H-J, and the company does not wish to provide any 
evidence at this point of the investigation ‘other than to assert that the path from 

Page 27



 
 

20 
 

G-H appears to be incorrect due to the steep slope near to point H’.  Drew 
Smith trusts that ‘the above applications will determine all claimed rights of way 
on the land, as well as take priority over any incoming claims through the 
determination period.  The [planning] applications seek to acknowledge these 
claimed rights of way and to divert them as necessary.  This is not only for the 
benefit of development, but more importantly, the preservation of established 
natural habitat, and to secure dedicated future use’.  For the avoidance of 
doubt, the claimed routes shown on the Committee plan are the officer’s best 
interpretation of those put forward by the applicants;  these hand-drawn lines 
are digitised having regard to features shown on the Ordnance Survey 
background mapping, but are a fair representation of what the applicant has 
claimed, regardless of the nature of features such as slopes.   

 
41.  Drew Smith and Mr. Farminer were involved with the processing of the 2005 

Order, and initially objected to the made Order, but did not make any 
submission for consideration by the Inspector, though Mr. Farminer did attend 
the public inquiry in 2018.   Like many freeholders of land that has been the 
property of others in the preceding years, they have had little influence on what 
has happened there and are not in possession of the relevant evidence for the 
period of use under consideration.  Drew Smith did however contest the village 
green applications at the 2016 public inquiry, and the evidence that they put 
forward arguing that village green rights should not be registered over Top 
Field, and that the ‘main or only user was path-based’ (paragraph 4.1, page 11 
of Appendix 1).  This conclusion was endorsed by the Inspector, and led to 
the confirmation of the 2005 Map Modification Order.   

 
42.  At the time of writing this report, the only other landowner that has responded 

to the County Council’s letter of consultation is the Bright family.   Mr. and Mrs. 
Bright reside at Hookpit Farm, close to Top Field and the claimed paths 
connecting to it.  They have provided a letter, dated 15th July 2019, setting out 
information on the way that some of the claimed paths have been use, including 
photographs, and also some of the history of the Woodhams Farm site 
(Appendix 10).  The salient points of this letter are given below: 

 

• referring to the Committee plan, the land south of the dismantled railway and 
bordered by Woodhams Lane is the first subject 

• the field containing the ‘Roman Building’ is described as ‘mostly tenanted by 
us’, with a small part near to point B owned by Nigel Bright, while the paddock 
shown as ‘Winchester Junction’ (bounded by points A-B-I) is owned by 
Patricia Bright 

• they contend that the path shown on the map as running between points A-
I has only been used on the purple line of Kings Worthy Footpath 507 around 
the boundary of Top Field, and the ‘remainder has been enclosed by 
Southern Rail’ 

• further, it is asserted by Mr. and Mrs. Bright that there is no exit at point I, 
which has been ‘heavily gated and padlocked on Woodhams Farm Lane for 
decades.  Any claim should be treated with incredulity – this is the main 
London Waterloo railway line’ 

Page 28



 
 

21 
 

• in the 1990s the northern side of the larger field was ‘”rabbit fenced”’ and 
there was no access at point A and this fence was ‘vandalised over time and 
torn down in several places including at A, by persons unknown’ 

• Any people walking from A to B have been challenged verbally and told it is 
not a footpath, though ‘this has proved difficult to police as the walkers have 
disappeared before they can be engaged in conversation.  It is impractical 
to stand guard at points A and B for 24 hrs. a day’ 

• this trespass has been on the southern side of the fence in that field 

• some local people have asked permission to cross this field, on occasion, 
and this has been granted ‘on the understanding that it is not a public right 
of way’ 

• Mr. and Mrs. Bright actively farm this field and a public footpath is not ideal 
because of the interference with active management of crops – they say that 
in the past ‘we have had vermin control of rabbits at night, which has been 
made difficult, if not impossible by people trespassing, even in the dark 
hours’ 

• notices reading ‘Private No Public Right of Way’ were put up around the 
Bright’s farm at 8 locations in June 2017, including one at A and one at point 
B 

• only one is presently left in place, removed by unknown persons, and dated 
photographs can be supplied 

• by the 11 July 2017, the post and notice at A were missing, while the post at 
B remains but with the sign snapped off, and the police were informed of this 
criminal damage and there is a crime reference for it 

• at point B the remains of a fallen tree were mistakenly used by a 
representative of the Watercress Trail for the placing of arrows to direct 
walkers to cross the field between points A and B 

• when Mr. and Mrs. Bright removed these arrows and returned them to the 
Parish Council, the Watercress Trail representatives apologised and 
redirected walks down Woodhams Farm drive to Springvale Road 

• the fallen tree trunks from B were put in the gap at point A to close that gap 
and reinforce the fence line in 2018, resulting in a fence ‘now 5 ft. tall with 
brush and mud included with the logs’ 

• on one day a group of cyclists had ‘scaled the fence, with their bikes, and 
cycled along the path to Woodhams Farm Lane.  They had gone before we 
reached the Lane.’   

• that ‘barricade’ has been ‘pushed aside and flattened by walkers’ and the 
Brights conclude that ‘any attempts on our part to fence the field are 
immediately negated’ as there is evidence in several places that people have 
pushed through the hedge 

• Mr. Bright comments that Top Field is very overgrown and he would be 
‘surprised if any new footpaths have been established’ since the ‘enquiry’ 

 
43.  Mr. Bright does not specify which of the two inquiries held in relation to Top 

Field he is referring to in this last point, but it seems likely to have been that 
held in 2016, when he acted as a witness.  Again, for the avoidance of doubt, 
under section 31 of the Highways Act 1980, the user that is considered in Map 
Modification Order applications is always in the past, the relevant period having 

Page 29



 
 

22 
 

been triggered by an action that brings the public’s right to use the paths into 
question.  Mr. Bright’s comment should not suggest that any use of paths on 
Top Field since 2016 must have established new rights of way, on the balance 
of probabilities, in that 3-year period.  To establish new paths under common 
law in such a short period would require extremely heavy use by the public and 
clear acquiescence in that use by the landowner, neither of which is under 
consideration in this report.   

 
44.  Mr. and Mrs. Bright include a recent history of Woodhams Farm, in which they 

characterise it as a private drive, owned by a ‘private landlord’, with no footpaths 
crossing the fields to Woodhams Farm Drive.  The Drive was only used for 
access to Woodhams Farmhouse up until the 1990s, by ‘farm vehicles, railway 
workers and people using the pony paddocks on either side at the top of the 
drive’.  They describe it as ‘an extremely private place’ in the 1970s with white 
gates (usually open) at the entrance, and someone who would tell people they 
were trespassing.  There is a scheduled monument in the field to the north of 
the Drive, described above, which is protected and periodically inspected.  The 
Drive’s surface was formerly hoggin, but has been resurfaced, with the tarmac 
reaching the grass verge, and recently livery stables, a nursery and other 
activities have been established there, resulting in ‘much more traffic’.   

 
45. A series of annotated photographs has also been supplied, and these listed 

chronologically where the dates of the photographs are given: 
 

▪ dated 16 June 2017, showing a ‘Private No Public Right of Way’ at point A 
▪ dated 16 June 2017, showing identical note at point B 
▪ dated 11 July 2017, showing a post hole at A – post and sign removed 
▪ dated 11 July 2017, showing a post without a notice at B 
▪ dated 11 July 2017, showing remains of snapped-off sign at B 
▪ dated 16 July 2019, path at point A, with overgrowth of vegetation, 

‘seemingly, no longer in use. “Barricade” of logs has deterred the majority’ 
▪ dated 16 July 2019, showing a log bank at A, covered in brambles 
▪ dated 16 July 2019, with log bank at A and looking towards Woodhams Farm 

Lane, and with concrete marker post ‘uprooted by persons unknown’ 
▪ dated 16 July 2019 – showing a field of oilseed rape and ‘evidence of walking 

through crop’, and looking towards Woodhams Farm Lane 
▪ dated 16 July 2019, showing a worn path which is ‘agronomically’ sprayed 

around the crop’s edge, and is ‘now being used as a footpath’, with a ‘new 
entrance on the right’, and point A 15 metres to the top right of the 
photograph 

▪ dated 16 July 2019, showing this new entrance and netting trampled on the 
ground 

▪ dated 16 July 2019, showing the new entrance, with netting on the ground 
▪ dated 16 July 2019, again showing the new entrance ‘established in the last 

year’ with fence posts and is ‘c. 15 metres’ 
▪ undated photograph, at A, revealing evidence of the original fence line, 

‘before forced entry to the field’ 
 

Page 30



 
 

23 
 

These actions, particularly the use of correctly worded signs indicating that there 
is no intention to dedicate public rights of way over this field, are themselves a 
calling into question, reinforcing the relevant period of 1997 to 2017.   

 
46.  Mr. and Mrs. Bright were asked by the officer to provide more information about 

how the land to the south of dismantled railway has been managed prior to 
2017.  The path A-B lies within the field containing Roman archaeological 
remains, and the current owner of the land is Laney Properties of County 
Fermanagh, Northern Ireland.  The previous owner was Imerys Minerals of Par, 
Cornwall.  Both have been consulted and have not, at the time of the writing of 
this report, responded. 

 
Analysis of the evidence 
 

47.  For section 31(1) of the Highways Act 1980 to operate and give rise to a 
presumption of dedication, the following criteria must be satisfied: 

• the physical nature of the path must be such as is capable of being a right of 
way at common law 

•  the use must be ‘brought into question’, i.e. challenged or disputed in some  
way 

• use must have taken place without interruption over a period of twenty years 
before the date on which the right is brought into question 

• use must be as of right, i.e. without force, without stealth and without 
permission 

• use must be by the public at large  

       •  there must be insufficient evidence that the landowner did not intend to 
dedicate a right of the type being claimed. 

 
 
48. Physical nature of the route 

Taking the first requirement of section 31(1), all of the paths that are the subject 
of this report are of a physical nature that they are capable of being public rights 
of way at law. 
 

 
49. The bringing into question of the public’s right to use the paths 

The bringing into question for this application is the submission of the two 
separate applications for Map Modification Orders, in June and September 
2017.  This results in a ‘relevant period’ of 1997 to 2017, during which 
unchallenged and uninterrupted use must be demonstrated to meet the legal 
test. The  total available evidence relating to Top Field indicates that there was 
a previous bringing into question in 1992, when the Hookpit Farm Lane 
entrance to Top Field was first gated and the area fenced to prevent incursion 
by travellers (Appendix 11, 2001 report, paragraph 12.1), yielding a relevant 
period of 1972 to 1992.  A number of users at that time provided evidence of 

Page 31



 
 

24 
 

use of the dismantled railway and the path from Woodhams Lane, now relevant 
to the present application, though it was not considered in 2001.  These 
relevant periods are shown graphically in relation to the user in Appendices 4, 
5 and 10 by the use of a blue tint.  

 
50.  None of the users who provided evidence in 1997 refer to the fencing in their 

forms, but most of them refer to the gates that caused the bringing into question 
in 1992.  In the statements given to the 2001 investigation Mrs. Aldus  refers 
to gates put up ‘recently’, Mr. Bishop refers to fences and gates on Hookpit 
Farm Lane being put after a traveller incursion.  Mrs. Boxall refers to ‘current 
gates’ at Hookpit Farm Lane, and there are further references to the gates by 
Professor Hedley, Mr. Malphus, Mr. Marlow, Mrs. Player and Mrs. Prosser.  
Mrs. Player told the village green inquiry in 2016 (which itself was relying on a 
relevant period of 1993 to 2013) ‘the gate and fence were erected after their 
eviction. She said that the wire only lasted a few days before it was cut’ 
(Appendix 1, paragraph 5.4.6, page 18 of the report).  Mr. Brown, a witness 
for the current application, told the 2016 inquiry that ‘there was a large gap left 
at the side where walkers were able to get into the land’ (Appendix 1, 
paragraph 6.41, page 48).  It is also evident from the user evidence and 
testimony given at the inquiry that users of Top Field were not dependent on 
the Hookpit Farm Lane entrance for access, but also were also able to reach 
the paths via the dismantled railway, the path from Woodhams Lane and Ilex 
Close.  Nevertheless, the fence and gates at Hookpit Farm Lane, however 
short-lived, provided the first bringing into question of public use of Top Field.  
And the applicant in 1997 chose to concentrate on the paths that are now 
recorded on the Definitive Map and Statement as Kings Worthy 507, 508 and 
509. 

 
51.  The second bringing into question, and of most immediate relevance to this 

report, is that of the serving of these applications in 2017.  The public inquiry in 
2016 into village green rights, with its third relevant period, served to illustrate 
that, while the use by the public did not qualify for the registration of such rights, 
there was what Ms Ellis characterised as sufficient use of linear routes that she 
would consider ‘that the reasonable landowner would have been entitled to 
attribute walking and jogging to the establishment/enjoyment of a PROW, 
rather than the unequivocal assertion of TVG rights’ (Appendix 1, paragraph 
11.2.5, page 159).  This application is the result of local people wishing to 
secure the legal recording of any other qualifying routes that were discussed 
during the village green inquiry but were not included in the unconfirmed 2005 
Map Modification Order resulting from the 1997 application.  Therefore, these 
applications satisfy this requirement. 

 
52.  The question of uninterrupted use was considered by the Inspector at the 2016 

inquiry, and the matter of the 1992 gate was considered.   The gate ‘was dealt 
with in greatest detail by Mr Brown and I found his evidence on this point clear 
and convincing. There was a gate there from 1992, but it fell down at some 
point (though I note the Footpath officer’s photograph of a padlocked gate in 
2001). There was also a gap to one side. He considered that the gate was there 
primarily to deter travellers’ (Appendix 1, paragraph 12.5, page 175).  Given 

Page 32



 
 

25 
 

that there were other access points available, and a gap to one side of the gate, 
it seems that its presence was not an interruption to use.  Ms Ellis notes that 
‘this general picture was broadly consistent with much of the other evidence. In 
any event, whatever the state of play at this access point, there was no 
evidence to suggest that Accesses 2, 3 or 4 were ever blocked during the 
relevant period’ (ibid.).  None of the users in the current two claims for footpaths 
reports being stopped, and the evidence of the aerial photographs shows that, 
despite periodic encroachment of scrub on the main field, and on the Ilex Close 
triangle, the trodden routes persist in being visible, all or in part, increasingly 
as tree cover became a more important feature.  A section of the formerly 
cropped area was deep ploughed in 2014, presumably by Drew Smith or its 
agents, which deterred Mr. Graham Mack from crossing the Main Field from 
that time on (Appendix 1, paragraph 6.51, page 54).  This still left the perimeter 
path for his use.  There is nothing to suggest, at that inquiry, that the use of the 
paths in Top Field or along the dismantled railway or from Woodhams Lane 
had ever been interrupted between 1993 and 2013.   

 
53.  The Inspector at the 2018 DMMO public inquiry, looking at a relevant period of 

1972 to 1992 for the 1997 rights of way claim, addressed the same question, 
and noted that none of the 39 witnesses that had completed user evidence 
forms for the original 2005 Order made ‘any reference to any obstructions other 
than gates, described as having been put in place in 1992 to stop travellers 
entering the land’, thus bringing the right to use the way into question 
(Appendix 2, paragraphs 23 and 24, pages 4 and 5).    

 
54.  Twenty years’ use without interruption 

Turning to the evidence submitted to this investigation, questions are asked on 
the user form to identify any obstructions or actions that might interrupt use of 
paths.  Witnesses are asked for details of gates and obstructions, or whether 
they were stopped from using them.  The gates at Hookpit Farm Lane are 
referred to by Mr. Brown, Mr. Fuller, and Mrs. Player; there is evidence put 
forward by other witnesses of a gate at Hookpit Farm Lane before the 
development, but no dates are given and the association with the development 
at the north of Top Field suggests this might have been around 2013.  However, 
Mr. Brown and Mrs. Player both appeared at the 2016 inquiry and it is clear 
from their testimony that this is the 1992 gate.  There is reference to the 
incursion by travellers by Mrs. Player, but she gives no details as to which path 
or paths might have been obstructed and this happened outside the relevant 
period for this application.  Mr. Mason and Mrs. Phillips both referring to the 
ploughing up of 2014, identified in the village green inquiry, which stopped Mr. 
Mack from crossing the field but not from walking around the perimeter.  There 
is a reference by Mr. McCleery to gates at Burnet Lane in 2013, in answer to 
the question about obstructions.  As Burnet Lane is Kings Worthy Footpath 
506a, any locked gate preventing public access would be an illegal obstruction.   
None of the witnesses say that they were ever stopped from using the paths.  
This information suggests that, given the multiple points of access to Top Field, 
and the lack of any suggestion of obstructions on the dismantled railway path 
or that from Woodhams Lane, coupled with the aerial photography, that the use 
of these paths has never been interrupted.  It is notable that Morag Ellis states 

Page 33



 
 

26 
 

she does not have ’clear evidence of a sustained effort to prevent user by 
fencing’ at Top Field (Appendix 1, paragraph 12.4, page 175).  The Inspector 
at the 2018 rights of way public inquiry, Alison Lea, says in her decision letter 
that ‘there is no evidence that use has at any time been interrupted between 
1972 and 1992’ (Appendix 2, paragraphs 24, page 5).  The evidence put 
forward by the witnesses for this application indicates there was also no 
interruption to use.   However, Mr. Bright’s evidence indicates that blocking of 
the entrance to the dismantled railway was blocked off by him at point A, in 
2018 (see paragraph 42 above).  This could constitute an interruption to use of 
this path, and actually did, since a site visit conducted by the officer 19 August 
2019 showed evidence of damage to wire fences and the cutting down of trees 
and bushes to create another entrance a short distance away.  However, the 
placing of these logs to form a barrier occurred after Mrs. Clarke made her 
application and therefore falls outside the relevant period, ending in June 2017, 
and is not an effective interruption to the public’s use.  Therefore, the test of 
uninterrupted use for 20 years has been met. 
 

55. ‘Without force, stealth or permission’ 

 Force – to be ‘as of right’, use must not be as the result of the use of force. 

To qualify for inclusion on the Definitive Map and Statement, the users must 
demonstrate that their use of the paths must be ‘as of right’, that is without 
force, stealth or permission.  Taking the issue of force first, two of the three 
witnesses identified in the paragraph above as being familiar with the locked 
gate in 1992 said that there was a gap at the side and that the wire did not last 
long.  Therefore, there would have been no need to use force. Most of the time 
that this gate was in place lies outside the particular relevant period relating to 
this current application.  

 
 56.The use of signs placed by the freeholder of the land to indicate to the public 

that there is no intention to dedicate any public rights of way can make any 
such use ‘contentious’, and thus not qualifying to be as of right.  During the 
public inquiry of 2016, evidence was put to the Inspector that a previous 
landowner had, in June 2010, put notices described as on ‘Gleesons’ land’, 
Gleesons being a previous owner.  Ms Ellis identified one sign towards the 
north of the Main Field (the cropped area) and the other on a tree in the south 
west corner of the land.  These signs consisted of corrugated white plastic, with 
black printing on them reading ‘“There is no right to roam on this land nor any 
public right of access and there is no intention of the Owners to Dedicate it as 
such or as a Right of Way”’ (Appendix 1, paragraph 8.28, page 107).  Mrs. 
Clarke, one of the applicants, remembers the signs, and described them as 
‘flimsy’ (Appendix 1, paragraph 12.5, page 175).  It had been intended by 
Gleesons to check the signs annually, but this was not done.  The Inspector 
considered that ‘the wording of the signs was, in my view, sufficient to make it 
clear that the owner did not acquiesce in TVG user. However, it appears that 
the signs were only there for a short period of time. They did not make an 
impression on those users who gave evidence. There were only two signs on 
a large site and they were made of what appears to have been fairly flimsy 
plastic. One was nailed to a post. The other was tied to a tree’ (Appendix 1, 

Page 34



 
 

27 
 

paragraph 12.7, page 176).  The key phrase here is that these signs ‘did not 
make an impression’ on those witnesses at the inquiry, and the evidence from 
the forms of the 137 witnesses seeking village green rights shows that it was 
mostly planning notices or those referring to building work that did catch their 
attention.  

 
57. In her decision report, Ms Ellis identified this issue associated with the force 

aspect of the ‘as of right’ concept. She says that ‘user will be “vi” [force] if 
undertaken in the face of prohibition by the owner. Signs banning access 
without permission may prevent user from being “as of right”: Lewis19 and 
Taylor v Betterment Properties (Weymouth) Ltd and Dorset CC [2012] EWCA 
Civ 250.20 where the Court of Appeal approved Morgan J’s formulation of the 
relevant question at first instance as follows: “Are the circumstances such as to 
indicate to the persons using the land, or to a reasonable person knowing the 
relevant circumstances, that the owner of the land actually objects and 
continues to object and will back his objection either by physical obstruction or 
by legal action? For this purpose, a user is contentious when the owner of the 
land is doing everything, consistent with his means and proportionately to the 
user, to contest and to endeavour to interrupt the user.”’ (Appendix 1, 
paragraph 10.30, page 148). It was her view, this effort by Gleesons fell well 
short of meeting the Betterment test of determined, proportionate action to 
contest and endeavour to interrupt use (Appendix 1, paragraph 12.7, page 
176.) 

 
58.  It should be noted that the wording of the 2010 sign can also be interpreted as 

a calling into question by the freeholder of Top Field at that time, Gleesons, of 
the public’s use of linear routes over this land.   However, given the evidence 
of how the signs were placed and maintained, the same caveats will apply to 
their effectiveness as to making clear to users of the paths that there was no 
intention to dedicate rights of way over Top Field, as it did with regard to village 
green rights.  The wording on the signs went beyond that usually found on 
inadequate signs (for example, ‘Private Land’ only), and actually refers to rights 
of way and dedication.  But, as Morag Ellis notes above, correct wording is 
insufficient if the means of conveying it to the targeted users is not sustained 
to the point that the notices stop users from going onto the land, and serve 
render any such use as ‘with force’, thereby disqualifying it.   In fact, prior to 
these 2017 applications, the only indication that there were any signs on Top 
Field that could convey such a message to users came from the village green 
public inquiry evidence in 2016.  There is no evidence available to this 
investigation that any of the user on paths A-B or I-J prior to June 2017 was 
with force, either directly or due to the use of such mechanisms of maintained 
signage, as discussed above, and therefore this part of the test is met. The 
Inspector at the 2018 public inquiry came to a similar conclusion for the relevant 
period 1972 to 1992, noting in her paragraph 29 of the decision letter 
(Appendix 2, page 5), that ‘the evidence from landowners relating to the 
relevant period is limited.  However, there is no evidence of challenge to what 
appears to have been extensive use of the routes by the public.  The evidence 
is insufficient to demonstrate a lack of intention to dedicate’.  

 

Page 35



 
 

28 
 

59.  Stealth – to be ‘as of right’, use must be open and of the kind that any reason-
able landowner would be aware of, if he or she had chosen to look. 

Any qualifying user must be ‘without stealth’.  The aerial photography presented 
in Appendix 3 indicates a consistent presence of worn routes around Top 
Field, along the dismantled railway line and from Woodhams Lane.   While it is 
true, as contended by the expert witness at the village green inquiry that the 
soil on Top Field is thin and fragile over the chalk substrate and marks would 
easily show, the routes used by walkers, and the way that parts of these 
migrated in line with changes in the use of Top Field, are clear over a 20-year 
period from 1993 to 2013.  As Ms Ellis said in her report (partially quoted at 
paragraph 21 of this report) ‘my firm impression is that the majority of 
recreational activity occurred on or associated with the clear perimeter paths. 
It is logical to deduce, from the clarity and persistence of the track in all relevant 
photographs, that this is where the majority of feet went, not only in the years 
1993 to 2000, but for the rest of the relevant period as well…Although the line 
changed, the principle or pattern of user did not…I have analysed path user as 
the role of the paths is, to some extent, relevant when considering the position 
on other parts of the land because of the importance of these paths when 
objectively assessing the overall impression of what was going on at the site 
upon the mind of the landowner’ (Appendix 1, paragraph 11.2.9, pages 164-
165).  Further, the evidence for the 1997 claim, amplified by written statements 
compiled by the investigating officer, reveal that some of the users prior to 1997 
knew the then tenant farming Top Field, Mr. Bright. He talked to the users, and 
did not tell the public that they could not walk over Top Field (see paragraph 86 
of this report).  Mr. Bright himself appeared as a witness at the 2016 village 
green inquiry and what he said there is set out in paragraph 37 of this report.  
Although Mr. Bright took the stance that the landowner’s installation and 
maintenance of the fencing around Top Field provided an indication to users of 
the freeholder in relation to the acquisition of public rights over the land, from 
his own point of view he was ‘quite happy’ with the ‘unofficial’ footpath on the 
perimeter of the cropped land, and did not attempt to stop anyone from walking 
there as he wished to have good relations with the local people.  Additionally, 
his landlord had never instructed him to stop people walking on Top Field.  The 
only time he would actually intervene would be if any walker threatened to 
damage his crop, which was his main concern.  He told in inquiry that ‘we 
farmed quite happily.  Everyone walked round the edge and all was happy’.  
Morag Ellis’ view of his evidence was that she ‘found Mr Bright to be a clear 
and helpful witness who was doing his best to assist the Inquiry. He had a good 
and detailed recollection of the land for the whole of the period 1993 to 2013 
and indeed before that. Insofar as he gave expert evidence about farming 
practice and the appearance of crops, I take into account his long experience 
as an arable farmer and give this evidence considerable weight’ (Appendix 1, 
paragraph 8.10.1, page 83). None of the witnesses, in their 2017 forms, 
mention Mr. Bright or indicate that any users had any kind of even passing 
acquaintance with him.  There is no evidence that the use of paths A-B or I-J 
has been by stealth, and Mr. and Mrs. Bright make reference to the difficulty of 
standing ‘guard at points A and B for 24 hrs. a day’, suggesting consistent use 
by the public at all times of day.  It is therefore the case that this limb of the ‘as 
of right’ test has been met. 

Page 36



 
 

29 
 

 
60.  Permission – users ‘as of right’ will not have used the way with any kind of  

licence or permission. 

     Finally, all qualifying user must be without permission.  Only one user (Mr. 
Cossburn, see paragraph 30 of this report) approached Mr. Bright about 
permission, but this was to allow delivery vehicles to reach the rear of his 
property, and this has no bearing on the issue as it relates to this application.  
Three users mention permission in relation to either signs or the gate at Hookpit 
Farm Lane in 1992 (ibid.), but these did not prompt them to seek permission to 
sue the footpaths at Top Field.   None of the users giving evidence in relation 
to the 1997 claim said that they had sought permission (see paragraph 36 
above). The Inspector at the 2018 public inquiry noted that, having looked at 
the forms for both the 1997 and 2017 applications, ‘all but one form records 
that no permission was sought [presumably that of Mr. Cossburn].  The current 
landowners both state that they have not given permission, but their ownership 
does not relate to the relevant period’ (Appendix 2, paragraph 23, page 5).  
Her conclusion is that ’there is nothing to suggest that the use was by force, in 
secret or with permission’ (Appendix 2, paragraph 24, page 5).  

 
61.  Use by the public   

Use must be by the public, and that should be reflected in its volume and the 
breadth of the type of users. 

The use must be of a volume that is  capable of coming to the attention  of   a 
landowner. It should consist of sufficient users, and that number may reflect the 
setting of a path, such as whether it is in a rural or urban area and the type of 
use being claimed. 

While the consideration of any claim involving multiple routes requires that 
possible usage may be complex to assign to individual routes, given that user 
is always in the past and users may not have been giving their full attention to 
exactly what they were doing when walking the routes, or have full recall. 
However, the requirement for each user to show on a map the routes he or she 
has used reduces the possibility that an ostensible ‘high volume’ of use on one 
route might be wrongly ascribed to another which in reality may have been 
used   much less frequently. Those users who were interviewed and gave 
statements were questioned about this in more detail. Unless there is any 
reason to question whether the use is accurately and honestly recalled, the 
evidence put forward must be taken at face value. Officers have sought to 
reflect the volume of use on each route as accurately as possible, as shown by 
the numbering next to each route on the amended Committee Plan (Appendix 
6).   These numbers have been obtained by scrutinising the routes drawn on 
these maps.  It is also considered that all user on the claimed routes can be 
considered to have been representative of ‘the public’. 

   
62. The evidence of use put forward, particularly at the village green public inquiry 

which applies mainly to Top Field, indicates these claimed paths have provided 
land on which to predominantly walk dogs, walk recreationally, jog, and reach 
facilities to the east of Springvale Road.  Ms Ellis, the Inspector, noted that 

Page 37



 
 

30 
 

‘Most, though not quite all, path use was recreational, according to the 
witnesses, but the Court of Appeal held in Dyfed County Council v. Secretary 
of State for Wales (1990) 59 P&CR 275 that there is no rule of law that use of 
a highway for recreational walking is incapable of leading to a deemed 
dedication’. (Appendix 1, paragraph 11.2.5, pages 160-161). 
 

The volume of users, as indicated by the numbers on the plan at Appendix 6, 
and the testimony given at the village green inquiry in 2016, indicates that the 
volume of user on Top Field, along the dismantled railway line and from 
Woodhams Lane, used to connect to Top Field, is sufficient to have been 
capable of coming to the attention of the landowner.  The user is of the type 
and frequency expected in the setting, on the edge of a village, coming mainly 
from housing bordering agricultural land.  Predominantly the users were on foot, 
though there is evidence of bicycle and horse use.   
 
Use of a way should not consist solely of a particular class of person, such as 
the employees of a particular employer, tenants of a particular landlord, or 
customers of a particular business, if it is to be recorded as public. 

None of the users from either period appear to have any connection with the 
tenant farmer Mr. Bright, though some of the earlier users knew him as an 
acquaintance and spoke to him on friendly terms when they encountered him 
on Top Field.  They were not employed by him, or apparently by his own 
landlord, and the occasional private use by a handful of users was to visit 
friends living near the railway line or in railway property.  It is difficult to quantify 
this use with a private right, but it is unlikely to significantly diminish the user on 
any of the paths on Top Field.  

 
63.  The volume of user by the public for each particular route in this application 

varies, as is shown by the plan at Appendix 6.  As can be seen from the figures  
for each individual path (derived from the user forms from 1997 and 2017), the 
totals show that three were heavily used.  The three paths from Ilex Close, two 
of which connect to the set-aside path L-K, have lower figures, with G-H, 
connecting directly to the dismantled railway line, having the lowest figure of 
all, at 4 users.  It is difficult to gauge the total use of all of these paths, because 
there are forms relating to the village green use available, a total of 137.  These 
forms are specifically designed for the collection of information about use that 
could lead to the registration of village green rights, and do not ask for the type 
of evidence contained in rights of way user forms, though there are overlaps 
relating to matters such as ‘as of right’ use, and being stopped. From the 2016 
report of the Inspector, she was of the opinion that the majority of use on Top 
Field by the local inhabitants was on the perimeter paths around the cropped 
field, and it was highway use, rather than village green use (see paragraphs 21 
and 61 above). There is no available evidence giving details of this user.   For 
this reason, it is likely that, on the balance of probabilities, the user recorded 
on this particular plan is an under-estimate of the actual use.  

 
64 . Insufficient evidence that the landowner did not intend to dedicate a right of the 

type being claimed 

Page 38



 
 

31 
 

  There must be insufficient evidence that the landowner took steps to stop 
public use of the claimed routes, such as challenging users, preventing access 
by physical means or the use of correctly worded signage, or the making of a 
CA16 deposit. 

  The actions of landowners in such applications are crucial to their 
determination.  Under section 31 of the Highways Act 1980, the public must 
demonstrate twenty years of unchallenged use on linear routes, and that use 
must be as of right and uninterrupted.  This legislation fixed the period after 
which, without action from the freeholder of the land, a ‘deemed dedication’ will 
be held to have taken place, and the public rights so acquired can be recorded 
on the Definitive Map and Statement of public rights of way.  In effect, it is for 
the freeholder to manage her or his land for public access, and to make it clear 
when he or she does not intend to dedicate such rights, clearly and 
unequivocally to the users.   This is a strong theme in the decision of report of 
Morag Ellis QC following a thorough examination of the purported use of Top 
Field for lawful sports and pastimes in the 2016 public inquiry.  What is a 
‘reasonable’ land owner to take from what the public is doing on the land?  What 
rights are the public asserting by their use?   

65.  For the paths over Top Field, both public inquiries have concluded the various 
landowners over the period 1972 to 2017 have not put forward any evidence 
that has effectively indicated to the public that they do not want to dedicate 
public rights of way to the public over their land.   Mr. Bright took the view that 
the fencing around Top Field indicated such an intention on the part of his 
landlord during the 1990s, and the landlord may indeed have done so (see 
paragraph 39 above).  The information about the gate at Hookpit Farm Lane in 
1992, from both public inquiries, indicates that it was not a bar for users, who 
walked around the side, and there have been, in any case, other entrances to 
Top Field.  Because of these, users did not mention secure fencing as an 
obstruction on their forms, and continued to use the paths, despite the gate.  
Mr. Bright himself did not take on the fencing and its maintenance himself 
because the fencing had repeatedly been damaged (see Appendix 1, 
paragraph 8.4, pages 87-88).  His landlord did not tell him to turn people away.  
For Mr. Bright, his farming went on ‘happily’, while people walked around his 
cropped field (paragraphs 39) and 58.  No evidence has been found of any 
declaration made by a freeholder for this land under either section 31(6) of the 
Highway Act 1980, or its replacement the CA16 combined deposits under the 
Commons Act 2006.  These allow the freeholder to deposit a plan showing the 
land concerned, acknowledge any existing public rights of way and to confirm 
that no further public rights of way are to be dedicated through public user.  It 
is a method of showing no intention to dedicate rights of way over land as a 
replacement for using obstructions, signs and challenges to inform the public 
that they will not acquire rights by using the land.  The only signs seen that 
directly relate to this matter were discussed at the 2016 public inquiry;  these 
used correct wording, but only two were put up on a large area of land, were 
flimsy and were not checked once a year, as was intended.   They did not last 
long (Appendix 1, paragraph 8.28, page 107and paragraphs 12.7 and 12.8, 
page 176), and did not have the required effect on the users.  One of the 
claimants, Mrs. Clarke, was cited by Ms Ellis as the only user who gave 

Page 39



 
 

32 
 

evidence to the 2016 inquiry who recalled these signs and, in her opinion they 
did not make an impression on the users, and ‘fell well short of meeting the 
Betterment test of determined, proportionate action to contest and endeavour 
to interrupt use’ (Appendix 1, paragraphs 12.5 and 12.7, pages 175 and 176),   
falling short of the required actions to make it clear to users that there was no 
intention to dedicate.  Drew Smith did actually begin the process of dedicating 
the footpaths shown as  C-D and F-G on a Committee Plan at Appendix 12. 
They were prepared to make the route E-H, along the dismantled railway line, 
available to the public on a ‘permissive basis’.  This dedication proposal was 
withdrawn on the morning of the Committee meeting, on 19 March 2014.   

66.  This leaves the route A-B for consideration of the landowner’s actions.  Mr. and 
Mrs. Bright are tenants of part of the field containing the path, which has been 
owned by Imerys Minerals Limited and is currently owned by Laney Properties 
Limited.  No tenancy agreements showing any requirement to manage the land 
so no new public rights are acquired have been provided by any of the 
landowners or tenants. The Brights have provided evidence of actions taken in 
the form of setting up signage on the path A-B, and trampled netting, along with 
information relating to the use of a barricade ‘pushed aside and flattened by 
walkers’ (see paragraph 42 above).  This material relates to mid-2017, when 
the claims were being submitted, and 2018.  Mr. and Mrs. Bright are not 
recorded as having made either section 31(6) or CA16 declarations for the land 
that they own.  The application from Mrs. Clarke for the route A-B was received 
by the County Council on 6 June 2017, and it appears from the evidence 
provided by the Brights that their sign showing that there was no right of way 
was not put into place until 14 June 2017, after the end of the relevant period.  
While a tenant’s action, such as placing of a correctly worded sign on the land 
capable of showing the public there is not intention to dedicate public rights can 
result in the presumption of dedication being rebutted [Rowley v Secretary of 
State for Transport, Local Government and the Regions (2002], this would need 
to have been done before the relevant period ended.  This is not the case here, 
so there is no evidence of an action demonstrating no intention to dedicate by 
any of the landowners of the land over which the paths run.  Again, the 
Inspector at the 2018 public inquiry came to a similar conclusion for the relevant 
period 1972 to 1992, having also considered the 2017 evidence. She noted in 
her paragraph 29 of the decision letter (Appendix 2, page 5), that ‘the evidence 
from landowners relating to the relevant period is limited.  However, there is no 
evidence of challenge to what appears to have been extensive use of the routes 
by the public.  The evidence is insufficient to demonstrate a lack of intention to 
dedicate’. The legal test is met. 

Summary of the available evidence 

67.  Taking the all evidence from two applications for Definitive Map Modification 
Orders and a failed application to register town or village green rights over Top 
Field, and that for the dismantled railway path and a linking footpath from 
Woodhams Lane, it is considered that the requirements of section 31 have 
been satisfied in this case, on the balance of probabilities for all but one of the 
claimed paths.  It can be reasonably alleged that the public have been using 
all, or part of, six of the seven routes claimed, or for which evidence has been 
discovered, ‘as of right’ for a full period of twenty years, or more, in some 

Page 40



 
 

33 
 

instances.  The user evidence indicates that local people have been walking 
the claimed routes in every year since the 1960s, with the bulk of use falling 
after 1980. Use has not been secretive or as a result of force and, apart from 
some use by a few local residents exercising a private right, has been ‘as of 
right’.  In the case of each route, there is no objective evidence to suggest that 
public access on foot was ever physically obstructed, or the use interrupted, 
during the relevant periods. Further, there is no evidence that any of the 
landowners have carried out actions that amount to clear indications of a lack 
of intention to dedicate public rights of way over  five of these routes.  However, 
the entire path L-K has only been used since about 2000, because it had 
previously been part of the cropped land and only became available to users 
because of a change in agricultural practice by being put in set-aside.   Only 17 
years of use has been possible, and therefore will need to be considered under 
the provisions of common law.  Each path will be dealt with in turn. 
 

Conclusions under Section 31, Highways Act 1980 
 
68.  Route A-B (34 users, earliest evidence of use – 1970) 

The whole of this route is not now actually open, as the entrance to the 
dismantled railway line at point A was blocked, and users now go through 
another access 27 metres further along the boundary fence.  This will be off the 
original walked line. The tenant farmer has provided evidence of his 2018 
obstruction with logs of the entrance of this path to the dismantled railway line,   
which has led to the forcible making of a new access close by, achieved by 
means of trampling down the fence, cutting wires and cutting down trees and 
bushes. As this action by Mr. Bright took place after the end of the relevant 
period in 2017, it has no effect on the use during that time.  The route is not 
fully open now, but was in 2017  (relevant periods of 1972 – 1992 and 1997 – 
2017).  
 
Route C-D (14 users, earliest evidence of use – 1981) 
This route is also open and available for use, and does not appear to have been 
obstructed in the past (relevant periods of 1972 – 1992 and 1997 – 2017).  
 
Route E-F (10 users, earliest evidence of use – 1982) 
The route is open and available for use, though it is in an area of scrub 
encroachment, and there is no evidence that it has been obstructed in the past 
(relevant periods of 1972 – 1992 and 1997 – 2017). 
 
Route G-H (4 users, earliest evidence of use – 1991) 
The total of users who have provided evidence of use of this route is very small 
relative to that recorded on other paths on Top Field, given the number of 
walkers using the area, and not enough to come to the attention of the 
landowner.  The fact that there are two other routes from the end of Ilex Close 
to the set-aside path L-K, crossing it, and that it meets Footpath 507 about 
halfway along its length is the most likely reason for the small total of users. It 
has also become less distinct as a separate entity from the public footpath, at 
its southern end, over time. Therefore, officers consider that it does not meet 

Page 41



 
 

34 
 

the necessary tests under section 31, and would not meet the tests under 
common law, due to this low number.  
 
Route I-J (57 users, earliest evidence of use - 1948) 
This route is the longest of the seven paths in consideration, and runs between 
well grown hedges, including fully grown trees.  It has become very overgrown  
at its western end, and people have walked to the north on Top Field on the 
other side of the boundary. But it shows up consistently on the aerial 
photography, getting more overgrown as time has passed.  There is an issue 
relating to the section from A-I.  Although witnesses have drawn on their maps 
that they have gained access from Woodhams Lane at point A and walked north 
to the dismantled railway, a number on reaching the railway did not and turned 
north west at point M (see Committee Plan) into Top Field to connect with what 
is now Footpath 507.  This path, N-M, is discussed in the next section.  Of those 
users indicating that they used the dismantled railway, 23 people did not use 
any part of A-I, while 28 used that section of it  leading to Footpath 507, from 
point M. Only 6 users testify that they walked the whole of the path I-J.  These 
facts make it unlikely that the whole of the route can be added to the Definitive 
Map and Statement as only 6 users have shown that they used the whole route. 
A difficulty lies in the fact that there is a fence across the old railway line, 
reaching from the north to south boundary, demarcating where this line ended 
when it was closed.  Earlier Ordnance Survey mapping shows the complexity 
of Winchester Junction, where the Didcot, Newbury and Southampton Railway, 
the London and South Western Railway and the Alton and Winchester Railway 
all met.  Where the Alton Railway met what is now the mainline (and only 
working) railway, it was blocked, and that line can be seen on the Committee 
Plan just to the south of the single letter ‘W’ (for ‘Well’, to the west of the words 
‘Winchester Junction’ on that plan.  This is confirmed on the two National Grid 
maps of 1975 and 1988, where a solid black is shown on each map in the same 
place as on current mapping. This is the location, on the ground, of a post and 
wire mesh fence, at least 6 feet high (it is hard to examine close to because of 
the well-grown vegetation), and topped with barbed wire.  It is a difficult fence 
to climb over, partly because of its height but also because of the nature of the 
supporting posts. Anyone attempting to do so might easily fall on either side, 
injuring themselves on the barbed wire. The fence must have been erected after 
the 1973 closure to prevent access to the mainline railway. The Bright family, 
local tenant farmers, confirm that this fence is well, and regularly, maintained 
by Network Rail.  It is likely that it has been effectively fenced for all but one 
year of the first relevant period of 1972 to 1992.  Prior to this, walkers would 
have been trespassing on an active, electrified, railway.  Even if a walker could 
climb over the fence that is in place, there is no easy exit, as there is a locked 
metal gate with signs and barbed wire at point I. The active and electrified line 
is close by, up a set of steps.  Therefore, it is doubtful that this path can be 
recorded to the south west of point M.  Therefore, any Order must be for the 
route between points J to M, supported by qualifying user between 1972 to 
1992 and 1997 to 2017.  
 

Page 42



 
 

35 
 

Route L-K (55 users, earliest evidence of use – 1997 for the path to the 
immediate south of the 2014 housing development; 2010 for the whole, or most, 
of the set-aside path) 
This path was not specifically claimed by either of the two applicants, but the 
maps drawn to accompany the user evidence forms indicated that a substantial 
number of witnesses had used all, or part, of this path.  It resulted from the 
putting the bulk of Top Field into ‘set aside’, a policy introduced into the UK by 
the European Union in 1988 to reduce the large costly surpluses resulting from 
the Common Agricultural Policy (‘CAP’).  This change at Top Field happened 
about 2000.  The aerial photography shows the change from cropping in 1999 
(Appendix 3g), to a field with a short sward in 2002 (Appendix 3j).  The 
perimeter path around the cropped area persists on the available aerial 
photography until 2010, when it is visible in its complete form (Appendix 3p), 
apart from the link K-L from the round path to Footpath 506a.  This short section 
came into being under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as a 
connection from the newly built housing development.  Since the top section of 
this path, from where it passes the right angle turn in Footpath 506b at the 
southern end of Blackberry Field,  to point K is visible in the 1997 photography 
(Appendix 3e), that part of the path is eligible for consideration under section 
31 of the Highways Act 1980, as there has been user during the relevant period 
1997 to 2017, and all the legal tests are met under section 31 Highways Act 
1980.  For the rest of the path, the effect of the major change of use of the field 
in not being cropped allowed the development of an ‘inner’ perimeter path.  The 
user for this path divides almost equally (27/28) between those who used the 
whole of K-L, and those who used parts of it, and it also takes in some users 
(4) from the earlier period 1972 to 1992, these mostly using the section that 
now runs just to the south of the boundary of the housing.   As has been quoted, 
in paragraph 58 above, Morag Ellis QC in her 2016 village green report, most 
of the user was on the perimeter path and ‘although the line changed, the 
principle or pattern of user did not’ (Appendix 1, paragraph 11.2.9, page 165).  
However, as there was no complete inner perimeter path before 2010, there is 
not the required 20 years’ uninterrupted user of the whole path prior to the 
bringing into question of 2017, so this path must be considered under common 
law. 
 
Common law puts on the applicant the burden of proving that ‘as of right’ use 
of a way has given rise to the inference that the landowner intended to dedicate 
that way as public, unless there is sufficient evidence to the contrary.  There is 
no automatic assumption that 20 years’ unchallenged use leads to deemed 
dedication of the way.  Since there is no minimum period of use required under 
common law, it is possible that the path K-L could have been dedicated as a 
public footpath in the space of 7 years, providing the user was of a quantity and 
nature to come to the attention of the landowner.  There were 55 witnesses 
attesting to such use, and the wear on the paths shown on aerial photography 
indicates consistent use over the period 2010 to 2017.  The applicants 
(supported by the users) must show that the landowner was aware of the public 
use and acquiesced in it.  Any action by the landowner to show that no 
dedication is intended will stop deemed dedication taking place.  From the 
evidence put to the village green public inquiry, a former owner of Top Field, 

Page 43



 
 

36 
 

Gleesons, did arrange to put signs up on Top Field in 2010, specifically worded 
to inform the public that there was no intention to dedicate public rights there 
(see paragraph 58 above).  However, these two signs, described as ‘flimsy’ 
were not maintained or checked on, important in ensuring the intended 
recipients get the required message. As quoted in paragraph 58 above, the 
Inspector considered that the signs were not  sufficiently clear to deny 
acquiescence in village green rights on the one hand, and not in place for long 
enough to make an impression on users. They did not make an impression on 
those users who gave evidence (Appendix 1, paragraph 12.7, page 176), who 
reported seeing planning notices, or witnesses for the present application, who 
reported seeing notices only in 2016, or around the time that the housing 
development at the north end of Top Field was taking place.  The 2016 report 
mentioned the ploughing of the central part of the Main Field in June 2014, but 
there is no evidence that this was done by the landowner specifically to stop 
use of the path L-K, or of any other act to deny acquiescence in the public use 
of it.  Aerial photography from 2018 shows that use is still taking place since the 
bringing into question of the public’s right in 2017, as this path is now the 
outstanding feature on Top Field, and is easier to identify on the ground than 
Footpath 507.  Therefore, on the strength of this evidence, this path should be 
recorded on the Definitive Map and Statement, under common law.  
 

 Route N-M (28 users, earliest evidence of use – 1948) 
 tenancThis path was, like L-K, not a part of the original applications, but it 

became clear that there was a difficulty in assessing just what part of the 
western end of the dismantled railway had been used by witnesses, given the 
presence of a fence across the line near the present mainline railway since 
1973, and overgrowth of the path by vegetation at its western end. A number 
of maps completed by users for the earlier DMMO 578 application also showed 
that users had turned off the dismantled railway to join what is now Footpath 
507. Twenty-eight users have used this path for 20 years or more, and their use 
spans both relevant periods. It is considered that the requirements of section 
31 have been satisfied for this path, with the relevant periods of 1972 – 1992 
and 1997 – 2017. 

 
 Consultations with other bodies 
 
69.  The following persons and bodies have been consulted about the application: 

Winchester City Council, the local Member, the Open Spaces Society, The 
Ramblers, the Byway and Bridleway Trust, Hampshire Highways and the Area 
Countryside Access Manager (Central).  A former landowner of the field 
containing route A-B, Imerys Minerals, has also been contacted.  At the time of 
writing, the following response has been received. 

 
70.  The Winchester Ramblers Footpath & Access Officer says that it always 

welcomes ‘the addition of routes to the rights of way network’, and the 
respondent is personally familiar with the area since he lived nearby from 1997 
to 2002, and has explored the whole area, though not so much recently.  In his 
experience, ‘the use of “Top Field” by local dog-walkers has grown over the 
years, but most of the routes used have migrated around over that time’.  Of 

Page 44



 
 

37 
 

most interest to the Ramblers are the routes J-H-A-I and A-B as ‘taken together 
with a formal route under the railway line adjacent to point I…they create 
options for a through route to the rights of way west of the railway’.  He also 
notes that ‘existing routes from around point H through to Burnet Lane are also 
used in order to reach Hookpit Farm Lane and the onward network’.  Further, 
his experience is that ‘J-H-A has been available to use in a slowly improving 
state for many years, first informally and then as a community maintained route.  
The section from A to I has always vegetation overgrowth…  As an alternative, 
the section A to B linking to Woodhams Lane has also steadily improved in 
terms of accessibility’. 

 
Comments by the Landowners 

71.  The affected landowners have been consulted on this application.  Drew 
Smith’s comments are set out at paragraphs 40 and 41, and those of the 
tenant farmer Mr. Bright in paragraphs 42 to 45.   

 
Conclusions 
 
72.  The intention of this report is to provide the Regulatory Committee with advice 

on a long-running matter, namely what rights subsist over the area known as 
Top Field, in Springvale, Kings Worthy.  This is the fourth report about rights on 
this land that has been brought before this Committee, and there have been 
two public inquiries, after the second of which the Council received the present 
two further separate applications, combined into one for convenience of 
processing.  It is important for the landowners, the Parish Council and the public 
residing close to Top Field, to know with as much certainty as can be achieved 
where public rights of way have been acquired over this land.  The landowners 
who are developing another area of Top Field for housing will know where these 
(currently) unrecorded rights actually run, and be able to carry out the 
necessary procedures to allow the building to take place. Local people will know 
where they can walk, and the Parish Council be able to provide appropriate 
advice to enquiries about rights of way in this location.   

 
73. The evidence available to the investigation indicates that the routes considered 

in this report have been in use by the public in the two relevant periods for which 
there is user evidence, that is 1972 to 1992 and 1997 to 2017.   The available 
aerial photography from the early 1990s consistently shows clear walked routes 
on the ground as noted by the Inspector at the 2016 public inquiry.  The routes 
have been affected by changes in the cropping on the land, and the earlier 
perimeter path around the crop was recorded on the Definitive Map in 2008.  
The current perimeter path has migrated further into the field and forms the path 
L-K discussed in this report. 

 
74.  Apart from the route G-H, and that part of the route along the dismantled railway 

between points N-I, the evidence put forward in support of the claimed routes is 
sufficient for it to be reasonably alleged that all have been used by the public 
as of right and without interruption for a full period of twenty years, meeting the 
legal test set out in section 31 of the Highways Act 1980, or that a common law 

Page 45



 
 

38 
 

presumption to be inferred. The paths G-H and N-I should not be recorded on 
the Definitive Map. 

 
75. For the path L-K, a common law presumption (that the landowners were aware 

of and acquiesced in public use of part of the way, sufficient to dedicate the 
claimed route) justifies a reasonable allegation that the section of this route 
used between 2000 and 2017 is now a public right of way and should be 
recorded as such.  The section of the set-aside path from the junction with 
Footpath 506b and point K on the Committee Plan has been used for 20 years, 
that is the relevant period for this application of 1997 to 2017, and meets the 
legal tests of section 31, and should also be recorded on the Definitive Map. 

 
76. If Members agree with these conclusions and consider that, on the balance of 

probabilities, it can be reasonably alleged that the public have acquired a right 
of way on the routes as set out in the previous paragraphs, then they should 
direct that a Map Modification Order is made to record these routes as public 
footpaths, with two routes as specified in the Recommendation being refused.  

 
 

  

Page 46



 
 

39 
 

REQUIRED CORPORATE AND LEGAL INFORMATION: 
 

Links to the Strategic Plan 
 

Hampshire maintains strong and sustainable economic 
growth and prosperity: 

 

People in Hampshire live safe, healthy and independent 
lives: 

 

People in Hampshire enjoy a rich and diverse 
environment: 

 

People in Hampshire enjoy being part of strong, 
inclusive communities: 

 

 
OR 

 

This proposal does not link to the Strategic Plan but, nevertheless, requires a 
decision because: 
This proposal does not link to the Corporate Strategy but, nevertheless, 
requires a decision because: the County Council, in its capacity as ‘surveying 
authority’, has a legal duty to determine applications for Definitive Map 
Modification Orders made under s.53 Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.  
   

 
 
 
 

Section 100 D - Local Government Act 1972 - background documents 
  
The following documents discuss facts or matters on which this report, or an 
important part of it, is based and have been relied upon to a material extent in 
the preparation of this report. (NB: the list excludes published works and any 
documents which disclose exempt or confidential information as defined in 
the Act.) 
 
Document Location 

Claim Reference – case file CR/1180 Countryside Access Team 
Castle Avenue 
Winchester 
SO23 8UL 

 

Page 47



Integral Appendix A 

40 
 

IMPACT ASSESSMENTS: 
 

1 Equalities Impact Assessment: N/A 
 
2. Impact on Crime and Disorder: N/A 
 
3. Climate Change: 
 

How does what is being proposed impact on our carbon footprint / energy 
consumption? N/A 

 
How does what is being proposed consider the need to adapt to climate 
change, and be resilient to its longer term impacts? N/A 

 
 
This report does not require impact assessment but, nevertheless, requires 
a decision because the County Council, in its capacity as the ‘surveying 
authority’, has a legal duty to determine applications for Definitive Map 
Modification Orders made under s.53 Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 
     
 
 

Page 48



DMMO 1180 – Top Field, Kings Worthy 

 

List of Appendices for October 2019 report to Regulatory Committee 

 

Number Content 

 Committee Plan showing the paths which are the subject of the 
report 

Appendix 1 Morag Ellis’ 2016 village green report (pages 1-183) 

Appendix 2 Letter issued by Inspector after 2018 public inquiry (pages 1-7) 

Appendix 3  

3a 1993 aerial photograph of Top Field and surrounding area 

3b 1994 aerial photograph of Top Field and surrounding area 

3c 1995 aerial photograph of Top Field and surrounding area 

3d 1996 aerial photograph of Top Field and surrounding area 

3e 1997 aerial photograph of Top Field and surrounding area 

3f 1998 aerial photograph of Top Field and surrounding area 

3g 1999 aerial photograph of Top Field and surrounding area 

3h 2000 aerial photograph of Top Field and surrounding area supplied 
by HCC 

3i 2000 aerial photograph showing close-up of paths from Ilex Close 
supplied by HCC 

3j 2002 aerial photograph of Top Field and surrounding area 

3k 2004 aerial photograph of Top Field and surrounding area 

3l 2005 aerial photograph of Top Field and surrounding area 

3m 2006 aerial photograph of Top Field and surrounding area supplied 
by HCC 

3n 2006 aerial photograph showing close-up of paths from Ilex Close 
supplied by HCC 

3o 2007 aerial photograph of Top Field and surrounding area 

3p 2010 aerial photograph of Top Field and surrounding area 

3q 2011 aerial photograph of Top Field and surrounding area  

3r 2012 aerial photograph of Top Field and surrounding area 

3s 2013 aerial photographs of Top Field and surrounding area 
supplied by Drew Smith and HCC 

Appendix 4 User evidence chart for DMMO 118 

Appendix 5 User evidence chart for DMMO 578 and DMMO 1180 combined 

Appendix 6 Committee Plan modified to show the numbers of users on each 
individual path investigated in the Committee report 

Appendix 7 User evidence chart for DMMO 578 and DMMO 1180 combined, 
with use of the dismantled railway line and Woodhams Lane path 
highlighted 

Appendix 8 Digest of statements based on forms completed in 1997 for DMMO 
578, collected by the officer in 2001 and made in 2018 

Appendix 9 Letter from Mr. Phil Farminer of Drew Smith, on behalf of Galliford 
Try, in response to the officer’s consultation 

Appendix 10 Letter and photographs from Mr. and Mrs. Bright, of Hookpit Farm, 
dated 15 July 2019 

  

Page 49



Number Content 

Appendix 11 Report to Regulatory Committee, for a footpath in the parish of 
Kings Worthy, dated 28 November 2001, with user evidence chart 
showing the relevant period compiled in 2018  (pages 1-14) 

Appendix 12 Committee Plan for a Regulatory Committee meeting on 19 March 
2014 (item withdrawn) 

  

 

Page 50



This map is reproduced from Ordnance Survey material with the permission 
of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery 
Office © Crown copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright 
and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. HCC 100019180 2019

6a

507

509

508

506b

506a

1

¯

1:2,168

K

A

B

C

L

E

F

G

H

I

J

Paths at Top Field claimed or shown by evidence
Existing public rights of way

SCALE         1:2,168
DRAWN       SS
DATE           11.06.2019

D

Woodhams Lane 

Hookpit Farm Lane

M

N

P
age 51



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                
COMMONS ACT 2006 – SECTION 15 

 

APPLICATIONS FOR THE REGISTRATION OF LAND 
WHICH IS CLAIMED TO HAVE BECOME A TOWN OR VILLAGE GREEN 

 

 

TOP FIELD KING’S WORTHY 

 

 

________________________ 

F I N A L  R E P O R T 

________________________ 

 

 

SUMMARY 

I recommend that Applications VG 262 and 267 be rejected for the reasons 

summarised here and set out in full below.   

I conclude that both TVG Applications should be rejected for the reasons set out 

above.  In summary, these are: 

 

(i) sufficient user of the requisite quality has not been established 

for the relevant periods in either case; and/or 

 

Page 53



2 

(ii) such user as there was would, predominantly, have carried the 

appearance of path user rather than a clear assertion of TVG 

rights for the relevant periods; and/or 

 
(iii) Areas 2 and 3 are subject to Trigger Events under Schedule 1A to 

the Growth and Infrastructure Act 2013 which mean that they are 

not eligible for registration. 

 
Accordingly, I recommend that Applications VG 262 and VG 267 be rejected.  

 

     

 

 INTRODUCTION 

1.1. I am instructed to advise Hampshire County Council, the Commons 

Registration Authority (“CRA”) for the purposes of the Commons Act 2006 

(“CA 2006”) as to the disposal of two Applications under s.15 of the Act to 

register land at King’s Worthy as Town or Village Green (“TVG”). 

 

1.2. The Regulatory Committee of Hampshire County Council, having taken the 

advice of Mr Vivian Chapman QC, decided on 20th April 2016 that it was 

necessary to hold a public inquiry. Although I was not asked to consider that 

procedural point, I should make it clear, in the light of certain representations 

made by Mr Webster, on behalf of the Objector, that I agree that it was 

essential to hold the inquiry, which has enabled me to make clear 

recommendations to the CRA as to the disposal of the Applications.    I 

Page 54



3 

chaired the public inquiry from 19th to 23rd September at Sparsholt College,  

reconvening for closing submissions at The Guildhall in Winchester on 18th 

October. I inspected the application land in company with an officer of the 

CRA and representatives of the parties, including their advocates, on 23rd 

September having undertaken a limited informal visit on my own previously. 

 
 

  THE APPLICATIONS AND THE APPLICANT 

2.1. The first Application, numbered TVG 262, was received by the Council on 13th 

May 2013.  It sought the registration of an area of land described as Top Field 

King’s Worthy. It was formed of a roughly rhomboid area of land surmounted 

by two triangles to the north east and north west. The land was bounded by a 

disused railway line (the “Watercress Line”) to the south, the main 

Southampton to London line to the west and vacant land and the rear gardens 

of properties on Springvale Road to the east. The northern triangles were 

formed, in part, by a small estate served off Laburnum Drive and Ilex Close to 

the north east and Hookpit Farm Lane to the north. The Application Form 44 

and the supporting statutory declaration were signed by a Mrs Mary Mould.   

 

2.2. In accordance with legislative provisions introduced by the Growth and 

Infrastructure Act 2013 (“GIA 2013”), to which I shall turn in detail below, the 

CRA investigated the planning history of the Application land. GIA 2013 

suspends the right to apply for TVG registration during periods of time when 

certain “trigger events” have occurred, the effect of which has not yet been 

Page 55



4 

cancelled by “terminating events”. The subsequent occurrence of a trigger 

event, after an application has been made, however, does not invalidate the 

application. 

 
2.3. Officers discovered that the north western triangle was the subject of a grant 

of full planning permission, dated February 2013, for housing development. 

This permission was extant.  In accordance with the 2013 Act, the Applicant 

was advised on 27th September 2013 that it would not be possible to progress 

the Application in relation to the area of land with planning permission since it 

was subject to a trigger event, but that the Application would be considered in 

relation to the remainder of the land. 

 
2.4. There was then a considerable amount of procedural correspondence as to 

who should be treated as the Applicant for TVG 262. In short, the Top Field 

Action Group (“TFAG”) applied to be joined as co-applicant. They were 

represented by Mr Paul Wilmshurst of Counsel who made written submissions 

in support of Mrs Mould’s application. Mr Chapman QC gave Directions on 

27th July 2016 for the conduct of the public inquiry. In his Directions document, 

he indicated that he proposed to use his inherent powers of management to 

direct that TFAG should represent the Applicant for the purposes of the public 

inquiry, rather than adding the Group as a further applicant. He made 

provision for application to be made to vary this direction. Mr Webster, whilst 

enquiring at the outset of the inquiry as to the extent of TFAG’s local interest, 

did not make such an application. Mr Wilmshurst confirmed that he was, 

Page 56



5 

indeed, instructed by TFAG and that he was prepared to liaise with Mrs Mould 

where necessary. He also said that Mrs Mould would be called in due course 

to give evidence, which she was.  I should like to record my thanks to Mrs 

Clarke of TFAG for her courtesy and good organisation during the inquiry, 

which greatly assisted everyone in their tasks. I am also most grateful to 

Counsel for both parties for providing helpful written closing submissions and 

an agreed bundle of authorities. Mr Wilmshurst’s Closing Submissions were 

expressed to be those of TFAG, endorsed by the Applicant, Mrs Mary Mould1.     

 
2.5. On 22nd July 2015, Ms Seeliger, the Senior Map Review Officer of the CRA, 

wrote to the person then acting as the contact for the Application, explaining 

that further planning circumstances had come to light which meant that some 

extra land had been subject to a trigger event. In the meantime, however, 

there had been a ‘terminating event’ and the upshot was that a small area of 

land within the north western triangle, previously excluded, could form the 

subject of an application. Accordingly, Application TVG 267 was made in 

respect of that small area of land on 19th August 2015. 

 
2.6. Plans of the respective Application sites are appended to this report.  

Examination of these reveals that the whole of the VG 267 Application Site is 

contained within the land comprised in the VG 262 Application Site.  

Application 267 relies upon the same evidence as Application 262.  Save for 

the fact that the two Applications were submitted and registered on different 

dates, they therefore overlap.  Specifically, Application 267 raises no issues 

                                            
1
   Paragraph 1 

Page 57



6 

for consideration over and above those issues raised by Application 262, save 

for the fact that the relevant period is different. 

 
2.7. Area 262 is some 18.8 ha in size.  Area 267 is much smaller, measuring, I 

estimate, about a quarter of a hectare. During the inquiry, we adopted the 

convention of referring to the roughly rhomboid area in the centre, together 

with land in the south west corner of Application 262 and the land comprised in 

Application 267 collectively as “the Main Field”, the northern triangle as “Area 

1”, the northern part of the eastern triangle as “Area 2” and the southern part 

of the eastern triangle as “Area 3”. These areas are sketched on the plan 

appended to this Report and I adopt this terminology throughout.      

 
2.8. Mr Wilmshurst raised the question of whether or not there was a third 

application. I made clear that I have been instructed to hold an inquiry and 

advise as the disposal of Applications VG 262 and 267 and that I attributed the 

time lag in registering Application 262 to the period elapsing before the CRA 

received answers to the relevant planning enquiries for the purposes of the 

GIA 2013. Nevertheless, to try and achieve clarity, I suggested to Mr 

Wilmshurst that he should speak to my instructing solicitor, Mr Austin, about 

the issue as I considered it only fair that the Objector (and, indeed, the CRA) 

should know what the Applicant / TFAG’s position was. Mr Austin attended the 

inquiry on 20th September and permitted Mr Wilmshurst to view the relevant 

files of the CRA. Mr Wilmshurst formally accepted on behalf of TFAG and Mrs 

Mould that the relevant twenty year period for VG 262 is October 1993 to 

Page 58



7 

October 2013. Following his inspection of the files with Mr Austin, Mr 

Wilmshurst did not raise the point again and there was no mention of it in his 

Closing Submissions. I consider that he was right not to raise it as I have seen 

no evidence to support a putative third application. In view of my findings of 

fact, it seems to me that the point is of no practical interest in any event.  

 
 

 OUTLINE OF THE CASE FOR REGISTRATION 

3.1. Both Applications described the VG 262 area of land as “Top Field” and were 

made under s.15(2) CA 2006.  The relevant Locality or Neighbourhood was 

specified as “The Parish of King’s Worthy”, in particular the areas known 

locally as “Hookpit Farm” and “Springvale”.  Reference was made to an 

annotated street map showing four entry points, roughly speaking at the north, 

north east, south east and south west points of the land.  The marked points 

are, respectively, numbered 1,2,3,4 and are positioned at  the western end of 

Hookpit Farm Lane, the south of Ilex Close, just to the north of the dismantled 

railway at the boundary with a small cul de sac of houses off Springvale Road 

and south of the dismantled railway at the corner formed by two fields.  

 

3.2. The “Justification” section described Top Field as “an important area of 

undeveloped natural landscape with a mixture of undergrowth, interwoven with 

clear paths reflecting regular use, and a large open flat area.  The entire area 

is readily accessible to residents of the parish of King’s Worthy. … The 

principal access point is a heavily-used path which leads off Hookpit Farm 

Lane …  These access points are clearly visible to the casual observer and 

Page 59



8 

since they are entirely open there is no suggestion that force or secrecy is 

required or  used in order to gain access to the land.  Additionally a number of 

houses back directly onto the land and many of these have gates allowing free 

and ready access to the land”.  The statement continued: ”the land is used 

freely and openly on a daily basis by varying numbers of King’s Worthy 

residents for a variety of lawful activities.  The most common usage is dog 

walking but as can be seen from the witness statements attached to this 

application a number of other lawful activities also takes place on the land.”  It 

was said that “free and open usage of the land” was continuing and had gone 

on for more than twenty years.  The justification went on to say that there was 

“no evidence to suggest that at any time had there been signage suggesting 

that the land was private or the user conditional on the owner’s permission.” 

 

3.3. The Applications were supported by the required statutory declarations and 

submitted with some undated photographs of the land and its access and 124 

evidence questionnaires. 48 further questionnaires were submitted later.  The 

questionnaires are in a pre-printed standard form which is typical of many 

such applications.  They contain an “Important Notice” in bold type at the top, 

in the following form: 

 
"The object of this questionnaire is to reach the truth of the 
matter whatever that may be.  You are requested to answer 
the questions as accurately as possible and not to withhold 
any information, whether for or against the application.” 
 

 

Page 60



9 

They were accompanied by a map with the whole of the original Application 

262 land coloured in and respondents were invited to mark their homes on the 

plan and to sign, name and date it.  The questions about user are phrased 

generally by reference to “the land”. 

 

3.4. The contents of the questionnaires dealing with duration, types of user, beliefs 

about ownership and permission / fencing / signage  were summarised in 

tabular form by Miss Seeliger. I invited the parties to review this summary with 

the object of producing an agreed document before the end of the Inquiry.  

They did so and I append the finally agreed document to this Report.  In doing 

so, I should stress that I accept Mr Webster’s submissions as to the reduced 

weight to be given to the contents of this document and the forms themselves, 

compared with the oral evidence of witnesses at the inquiry.  I exercise this 

caution on three principal bases: 

 

(1) the imprecise nature of many of the questions in the form – an 

important point being the absence of any invitation to respondents to 

consider specific areas of the Application land; 

(2) the apparent absence of any legal advice as to the nature of the s.15 

CRA 2006 requirements; and 

(3) the clarification and concessions which were made by live witnesses 

and by Mr Wilmshurst during the course of the Inquiry as a result of 

examination by Counsel and my own questioning.  The questionnaires 

are broadly similar in nature and content to the evidence in chief given 

Page 61



10 

by witnesses in support of the Applications and I therefore regard the 

elucidation given at the Inquiry as highly relevant to my consideration 

of the extent to which the questionnaires can be regarded as probative. 

 

 OUTLINE OF THE OBJECTIONS TO REGISTRATION 

4.1. The land in question is owned by Drew Smith Limited, a property development 

company based in Southampton.  Objections to the Applications were 

submitted on its behalf on 27th January, 29th March and 4th April 2016.  The 

grounds of objection, in summary, were as follows: 

 

" 
 

 the applicant and supporters have not provided evidence 
to demonstrate that the whole of Top Field has been 
used for lawful sports and pastimes between October 
1993 and October 2013, the qualifying period and, even 
if such use had occurred, there are interruptions to that 
use which prevent registration; 
 

 these interruptions include agricultural use – evidence 
has been provided by the farmer of the growing of barley, 
rape seed, wheat and oats, supported by documentary 
evidence, including payments by the Rural Payments 
Agency; 

 

 any use causing damage to the crops would not qualify 
for village green use; 

 

 reliance is placed on expert evidence which purports to 
show the land under arable cultivation for periods of time 
during which the users claim the land was being used for 
lawful sports and pastimes; 

 

 the objector provides evidence that signage renders the 
use not ‘as of right’; 

 

Page 62



11 

 reference is made to a Definitive Map Modification Order 
for highway use around the perimeter of the field; 

 

 arguments are set out referring to the effects of trigger 
events relating to planning permission and a local plan 
review.” 

 
 

Pursuant to the Directions for the Inquiry given by Mr Vivian Chapman QC, Mr 

Webster put in an amended summary of the Objector’s legal submissions.  In 

short, he submitted that: 

 

(a) the burden of proof rests on the Applicant; 

(b) Application VG 267 is pointless; 

(c) certain parcels2 within VG 262 are subject to trigger events and, as 

such, ineligible for registration; 

(d) the Applicant has not established sufficient qualifying user for the 

whole 20 year period 1993 – 2014, especially having regard to the 

agricultural use of the land between 1993 and 1999; 

(e) interruption between 1993 and 1999; 

(f) main or only user was path-based; 

(g) prohibitory signs in around June 2010; 

(h) locked gate in 1990s on Hookpit Farm Lane access means that user 

did not qualify and user based on access via gaps in 

fencing/hedgerows did not qualify either; 

                                            
2
  Identified on the plan at tab 6 of the Objector’s Bundle and attached to this Report as Appx ? 

Page 63



12 

(i) supporting evidence imprecise as to location, especially in relation to 

the northern part of the site, the development of which for housing was 

completed in around 2014; 

(j) claimed neighbourhood/locality unclear. 

 

With the exception of (j), these points were examined and/or developed in 

evidence and submissions on behalf of the Objector at the Inquiry. 

 

 

 HISTORY AND DESCRIPTION OF THE APPLICATION LAND 

5.1. Despite the fundamental disagreement between the Parties as to the proper 

outcome of the Applications, a considerable amount of important evidence is 

not in contention. 

 

5.2. The inquiry heard evidence from Mr Nigel Bright, of Hookpit Farm, who had 

also prepared a signed Witness Statement.  Much of his evidence was 

unchallenged and it is helpful in explaining some of the history of the land in 

question.  Mr Bright’s father bought the land the subject of the original 

Application 262 in 1962.  It appears, from the Land Registry information which 

I asked to be produced, that there were probably two separate titles at that 

time, HP647224 and HP385054, the former corresponding to the northern 

triangles and the eastern part of the site (Areas 1,2 and 3), the latter to the 

central and south western parts (the Main Field). Mr Bright Senior used the 

land for a few years for grazing cattle, then sold it. There was a grazing licence 

Page 64



13 

of some or all of the land to another farmer from 1966 to c.1985.   After a 

further sale, the land came, in 1992, into the ownership of a company which 

eventually became the developer Gleeson Homes (Southern) Ltd. Mr Bright 

stated that he occupied the land pursuant to a tenancy from 1985, though he 

had commenced some work on site in 1984. No documentary evidence 

relating to this tenancy was produced. Since Mr Bright spoke of “the land” 

generally, I am not certain whether his 1985 tenancy was of the whole of the 

Application land or just the Main Field. Mr Bright said that he had not been 

prepared to take on a fencing obligation as the previous occupier had 

experienced difficulties keeping the public off the land. His predecessor’s 

experience also made Mr Bright decide against keeping animals on the land 

when he took over control.   Between September 19913 and September 2012, 

Mr Bright rented an area of some 15.37 acres or thereabouts, which was then 

comprised in title number HP385054. This arrangement was the subject of a 

written tenancy agreement, a copy of which was produced to the inquiry at my 

request. Unfortunately the tenancy plan is reproduced in black and white but it 

is clear from the size of the land in question and the uncoloured plan that the 

area which was let was the Main Field (known by Mr Bright as “Green Hill”4).     

He gave evidence, supported by records prepared for and by the Ministry of 

Agriculture Fisheries and Food “MAFF”), that he grew crops on this area for 

the first part of his tenancy, to c. 2000 when he put the land into set aside.  

                                            
3
  Mr Bright’s witness statement said “in or about 1985, until 2013”. 

4
            The acreage tallies with the 6.85  hectares referred to in his later MAFF returns  

Page 65



14 

This  part of Mr Bright’s evidence  was not challenged by Mr Wilmshurst and 

he made a formal concession on 22nd September 2016 as follows: 

 

"In the matter of an application to register ‘Top Field’, 
Kingsworthy as a new TVG. 
 
Upon considering the evidence given at the public inquiry 
 
And upon taking advice 
 

1. The Applicant and TFAG accept the evidence 
given to the inquiry by Mr Bright (including his 
oral evidence) on the issue of the crops grown 
on the land during the relevant period”. 

 
This evidence was corroborated by a series of aerial photographs, which were 

the subject of expert evidence given by Ms Christine Cox MA MCIFA FSA.  

 

5.3. Both titles comprising Application Site 262 were transferred to the Objector on 

11th February 2013. It is common ground that the central part of Main Field 

was ploughed in summer 2014. There has not been another cut since then. 

 

5.4. Application under s.53 Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 

5.4.1. On 8th December 1997, an application to modify the Definitive 

Map by the addition of public footpaths over parts of the original 

Application Site 262 was made by King’s Worthy Parish Council.  

The claimed route was described in the application as running 

“from Hookpit Farm Lane to Hookpit Farm Lane around field”; 

thereafter, it coincides roughly with the inner boundary of the 

Application 262 land and includes a loop in the south eastern 

Page 66



15 

corner.  I explained to the advocates that I intended to take the 

s.53 material into account and gave them the chance to address 

me about it.  I bear in mind that the material is written only, but it 

does offer interesting contemporaneous insights into the 

physical state and user of the land leading up to and during the 

first half of the relevant TVG period. 

 

5.4.2. This application was publicised and investigated by Hampshire 

County Council as Highway Authority in the normal way.  

Gleesons, the then owner, objected on 14th May 2001, on the 

basis that the land had been fenced when they bought it and re-

fenced twice by them but that “vandalism by trespassers keeps 

damaging the fences to gain unauthorised access”. 

 
5.4.3. The Footpath officer wrote a report recommending that the 

modification be made.  She stated that Mr Bright had been the 

tenant since 19755.  Summarising his statement, the report 

states: 

 
"He turned the land to arable, as the previous 
owner had kept horses and the fences were 
repeatedly cut by local people which meant that 
the horses were often escaping.  Mr Bright has 
been quite happy with an unofficial path running 
around the field and has never tried to stop people 
walking there as he wishes to maintain good 
relations with the local people.  He recalls that he 
left a gap around the field for people to walk along 

                                            
5
    This appears to have been an error, quite possibly a typing mistake – 1975 instead of 1985  

Page 67



16 

as he knew that people would insist on walking 
there and did not want his crops damaged.  To his 
knowledge the field has been fenced by the 
landlord several times, these fences have then 
usually been torn down or cut through.  The 
landlord erected a large fence and gate after a 
problem with travellers.  The landlord has never 
told him to stop people from walking, however he 
considers the fences to be proof of the landlords 
intentions.  A few years ago someone from the 
Ramblers Association telephoned Mr Bright to ask 
about the path around the field.  He told them that 
as far as he was concerned it was an unofficial 
path but that he did not want it to become a Public 
right of Way. 
 
Previous to this, Mr Bright’s father owned the field 
and appears to have been quite happy with 
people using the path around the field.” 

 

 
The report stated that there was a considerable body of local 

evidence covering the period 1972 to 1992, when the existence 

of a public footpath was called into question by Gleeson’s 

predecessors, who fenced the entrance from Hookpit Farm 

Lane.  The Officer reports having seen “a pair of large metal 

gates” at the road end of the path down from Hookpit Lane.  The 

wire stretched across it had been cut, she said, but the gates 

were padlocked. 

 

5.4.4. Her conclusion was that 17 users had used the route for a 

continuous 20 year period, 1972 to 1992, with remaining users 

having, between them, “a substantial period of use” and that the 

footpath should be added to the Definitive Map.  At a meeting of 

Page 68



17 

the Regulatory Committee of Hampshire County Council, 

members accepted their officer’s recommendation and resolved 

that the necessary Order under s.53 Wildlife and Countryside 

Act 1981 be made.  This was done on 26th April 2005 but the 

Order was never submitted to the Secretary of State for 

confirmation.  Accordingly, the Order did not take effect. Whilst 

the officer’s recommendation was based upon her conclusions 

concerning user between 1972 and 1992, her report is useful for 

my purposes insofar as it includes her descriptions of the land 

and photographs taken in the course of her investigations in the 

late ‘90s/early’00s. 

 

5.4.5. The s.53 application was supported by many questionnaires 

and statements from local people.  Unsurprisingly, they all 

attested to using the linear routes in question for recreational 

and dog walking purposes and, to some extent, to get from one 

part of the village to another.  Several forms also referred to use 

of the paths by horse riders and cyclists.  The questionnaire 

forms originated from Hampshire County Council and the 

preamble to the form makes it clear that there were 

accompanying notes, to be read before completing it and that 

the information might be used at a public inquiry.  In this 

respect, the questionnaires differ from the TVG questionnaires, 

Page 69



18 

which benefited from no accompanying legal advice 

whatsoever. 

 
5.4.6. Several of the questionnaires and accompanying statements 

make reference to the metal gates and/or wire at the Hookpit 

Farm Lane entrance.  For example, Christine Player explained 

that, in around 1995, there was an incursion onto the field by 

travellers and that the gate and fence were erected after their 

eviction.  She said that the wire only lasted a few days before it 

was cut.  A Mrs Prosser, who lived overlooking the field in Tudor 

Way, and had a back garden gate onto it, said much the same 

about the gate and fence, adding that her husband had rung the 

owners to tell them, but that they did nothing about it.  

 
5.4.7. The report was  accompanied by a series of photographs dated 

16th August 2001.  These show the Hookpit Farm Lane access 

with closed gates and the line of a path around the perimeter of 

the field, of varying width, in places worn through to the chalk 

substrate which underlies the land. Other photographs show a 

narrow but clear route through overgrown hedge/wooded 

vegetation, towards the dismantled railway line, a little way east 

of the south western access point shown on the TVG application 

plan.  Photograph 12 in the series shows a path line “running 

across field next to broken fence line facing north”.  This point 

Page 70



19 

was about a third of the way into VG 262 land, working from the 

east.  The area to the right is shown in the photograph as 

waist/shoulder high vegetation, while the area to the left is 

green, but flat.  Photograph 13, taken looking east, shows a 

“junction paths, more or less south of point 12.  An old fence 

post is visible, together with some large, scrubby bushes, 

seasonal vegetation – probably thistles, ragwort and rosebay 

willow herb – and a clear grass path through the vegetation, 

with signs of wear in the foreground”.  Photograph 15 shows the 

“most easterly path as marked on maps and claimed”.  This 

shows a grass path through waist high seasonal vegetation, 

probably ragwort, with a strong row of trees on the eastern 

boundary. 

 

 

5.5. Ordnance Survey Maps 

5.5.1. At my request, Ms Seeliger helpfully made available to the 

inquiry copies of relevant OS extracts. She produced versions 

for the following years:1997, reprinted with corrections in 2000, 

revised for selected change in 2004 and reprinted with minor 

change in 2005. Each version includes a dashed line running 

broadly along the route of the perimeter path as applied for in 

the s.53 application – ie. running along the eastern boundary of 

Area 3 but otherwise generally following the boundary of the 

Page 71



20 

Main Field. The Key denotes such a line as a “path”, which is 

different from one of the categories of Public Rights of Way.  

 

5.5.2. Documents INQ12 and 13 are OS revisions dating respectively 

from 1990 and 1974. The earlier extract contains no path 

markings on the site, whereas the 1990 one shows a dashed 

line in the same position as the later extracts, marked “Path 

(um)”. 

 

 
5.6. Planning History 

5.6.1.  Enquiries were made of the Local Planning Authority (“LPA”), 

Winchester City Council, prior to registering Application VG 262, 

as explained above.  Unfortunately, the information did not all 

emerge at once, which made the handling of the TVG 

Application unnecessarily complicated.  Nevertheless, the 

planning history is not complicated. 

 

The Development Plan 

5.6.2. 5.6.2 The LPA adopted the Winchester District Local Plan 

Review (“WDLPR”) in July 2006.  Policy RT 5 provides as 

follows: 

 

"RT5 - Planning permission will be granted for 
improvements in recreational land and facilities 
and land is reserved for the provision of new   
facilities within the areas listed in paragraph 9.26 

Page 72



21 

and defined on the Proposals and Inset Maps. 
Schemes should be designed to accommodate 
shortfalls of children’s play and sports facilities 
identified in the area, and have regard to any 
relevant proposals in the District Open Space 
Strategy. 
 
9..27  Where recreational land deficiencies are 
less significant, proposals are contained in the 
Winchester District Open Space Strategy only. 
The Strategy provides annually updated details of 
the facilities in each parish and in Winchester. It 
identifies where the provision is inadequate and 
suggests improvements to meet present and 
future needs. The City Council will work with the 
Parish Councils to secure these smaller scale 
improvements.  
 
9.28 All children’s play facilities should be within 
easy reach of the housing areas they serve, and 
make provision for children of all ages. They 
should be located so that there is no need to cross 
an obstacle, such as a major road. There are 
areas that would benefit from additional equipped 
play areas, should suitable opportunities arise, 
and such provision will be encouraged.” 
 
 

Map 12 is an inset map of King’s Worthy.  It shows the RT5 

designation covering the eastern portion of Site 262,6 broadly 

speaking, covering Areas 2 and 3 and the eastern edge of Area 

1. The LPA adopted a local Plan Part 1 – Joint Core Strategy in 

2013.  At my request, the Core Strategy Policies Map was 

produced.  This carries forward Inset Map 12 from the 2006 

WDLPR 2006.  This annotation is consistent with the printed 

notes which appear on the version of the 2006 Plan in the 

Objector’s Bundle, which indicate that certain policies other than 

                                            
6
  OB p.161 

Page 73



22 

RT.5 have expired.  There is no such note against RT.5. I am 

therefore satisfied that it has been saved under the provisions of 

the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and remains 

part of the development plan.  Strictly speaking, the reasoned 

justification is not saved, but it is still permissible to use it as an 

aid to construing and applying the policy.7  There is no adopted 

Neighbourhood Plan.  Therefore, the relevant parts of the 

“development plan” for the purposes of Schedule 1A to CA 2006 

in this case comprise Policy RT.5 and Inset Map 12. 

 

Planning Permissions 

5.7. The planning history is set out in Mr Holmes’ Supplementary Statement and is 

not factually contentious. 

 

5.8. Application 05/01662/OUT sought outline permission for 25 affordable 

dwellings on land off Hookpit Farm Lane.  It was granted on 13th August 2008.  

Application for approval of reserved matters had to be made within 3 years (ie. 

by 12th August 2011).  In the meantime, Application 11/01383/OUT was made 

under s.73 Town and Country Planning Act 1990 to extend time and planning 

permission was issued on 29th March 2012, subject to a condition that 

application for approval of reserved matters was to be made within 3 years (ie. 

by 28th March 2015). 

 

                                            
7
  R (oao Cherkley Campaign Ltd.) v Mole Valley DC [2014] EWCA Civ 567. 

Page 74



23 

5.9. The Objector made a full application 12/01912/FUL on a slightly larger site for 

25 affordable dwellings.  The LPA resolved to grant permission subject to a 

s.106 Agreement.  The Agreement was completed on 8th February 2013 and  

permission was issued on the same day.  (The previous two permissions had 

also had associated s.106 Agreements but these are not material for TVG 

purposes).  This permission was implemented on 5th April 2013 and the 

housing development was completed about a year later. It occupies Area 1.  

Mr Holmes summarised the rationale for the Agreement as making provision 

for an area of land to the south of the development site to be transferred to the 

LPA or the Parish Council in compensation for development on RT.5 land.  

The eastern part of the development site indeed overlaps the RT.5 

designation, so this explanation seems reasonable.  The Recitals make 

reference to the generation of a “General Open Space requirement a Play 

Area requirement, the dedication of a Public Footpath and a Landscape 

Buffer”.  These areas are marked on Plan 1.8 

 

5.10. The Agreement provides for the Open Space Area demarcated on Plan 1 (at 

the south east/east of the Site 262, straddling Areas 2 and 3) to be transferred, 

though subject to the proviso that if planning permission be granted on land 

edged blue9 prior to the transfer, then “the precise area and location of the Off-

Site open space land may change such change in area and location to be 

agreed between the Council and the Owners”.  The LPA was granted an 

                                            
8
  P.1087 in CRA Bundle “Copies of Correspondence”. 

9
  My version of Plan 1 is uncoloured. 

Page 75



24 

option, exercisable by 8th August 2014.  The Option was exercised on 30th 

July 2014.  Thereafter, the transfer was to be made by the later of: 

 
(a) 3 months after service of notice certifying that the 25th dwelling; or 

(b) 30 months after the Commencement date (ie. October 2016). 

 

The Owners (i.e. the trustees of the Objector’s Retirement Benefit Scheme) 

also covenanted to maintain the off Site Open Space Land for 5 years from 

the Commencement Date (ie. from April 2013). 

 
5.11. Schedule 3 of the Agreement makes provision for the agreement, by April 

2013, of a detailed route for the Public Footpath between Hookpit Farm Lane 

and a Point E, lying on the southern boundary of the Application 262 Site, at 

the western corner of Area 3.  No later than March 2014, they were obliged to 

have marked out and constructed the Public Footpath.  They were also 

obliged to dedicate the Public Footpath, though no timetable for dedication 

was specified.  Again, if the further planning permission was granted, then 

there was provision for the detailed location of the Public Footpath to change. 

 

5.12. Subsequent residential Applications include other parts of the Application VG 

262 Site.  One of these is subject to appeal against the LPA’s refusal.  Another 

achieved a resolution to grant in September 2015 but s.106 negotiations are 

still underway so no planning permission has been issued. 

 

Page 76



25 

5.13. I asked Mr Holmes some questions about the implementation of the s.106 

provisions, as a result of which, further information was submitted during the 

adjournment.  Mr Holmes also explained that, when the Objector bought the 

site in 2013, it applied to divert the unconfirmed Public Footpaths.  This is, in 

my experience, not unusual in a development situation and it helps to explain: 

 
(a) the contingent nature of the s.106 obligations concerning the Public 

Footpath; and 

(b) the fact that the post-adjournment correspondence on this aspect 

which includes contemporaneous emails and notes, reveals that 

Hampshire County Council’s Map officers were involved in discussions 

on the point between the LPA and the Objector.  It perhaps also helps 

to explain why the Public Footpath has not been constructed or 

dedicated yet. 

 
5.14. The later planning history, specifically, the outstanding s.106 negotiations and 

planning appeal, also help to explain why the transfer of Public Open Space 

land has not yet occurred. 

 

 WITNESSES ON BEHALF OF THE APPLICANT 

 

Nicholas William Bell, Crowded House, 126A Springvale Road, King’s 

Worthy SO23 7RB   

Page 77



26 

6.1.  Mr Bell is aged 60 and a solicitor by profession.  He has lived in Springvale 

Road at his present address since September 1988.  Mr Bell made a witness 

statement, signed on the 28th August 2016.     

 

6.2. In September 1989, Mr Bell’s civil partner, Mr Perrin, had moved into the 

property and Mr Perrin’s son Tristan, who was born on 12th September 1982, 

used to come and stay at weekends.  In 1994, Tristan had moved in 

permanently.  He explained that Tristan and a friend of his would play in the 

field behind the house.  Initially there was not much of a hedge at the back of 

their garden, just a post and wire fence and access to the land was easy for 

the children.  Mr Bell said that he would often go and find the boys on the 

fields; they would be playing football or on their bikes. He said that frequently 

he would not have to go further than what he described as “the initial wooded 

area” to find them and they would be in the middle of the field there.  He said 

that every time he went up there, there were several other local people 

walking their dogs and other children playing, people picking fruit or just 

walking.  He would be there at least once a week and sometimes more often.  

In the mid-‘90s, they had planted a Leylandii hedge at the rear boundary.  This 

grew quite quickly but one tree never grew properly because that is where the 

children passed from the garden to the land at the rear.  After Tristan came to 

live with them in 1994, up until 2005, when he moved out, he would go and 

play with his teenage friends in the field.  In particular they had built a tree 

house about 50 metres into what Mr Bell called “the field”  - ie. about 50 

Page 78



27 

metres behind the Leylandii hedge boundary.  He said that they frequently 

went well beyond that into the field and took their bikes with them.   

 

6.3. In 2004 Mr Bell had taken up running and  used the land behind the house for 

training.  He would generally keep to the footpaths when doing this activity.  

He gained access from the back garden and also from Hookpit Farm Lane.  

He said that whenever he had been on the land he would have seen many 

other local residents using the field for various purposes.  His last competitive 

race was in October 2013 so that was probably when he last trained there.  Mr 

Bell stated that at no time during his 25 plus years’ use of Top Field had he 

ever seen any notices forbidding entry to the field or use of it.  He had never 

been challenged or asked to explain why he was there or asked to leave the 

field.  He said that he was certainly there weekly on average.  He described 

the areas as “for the most parts scrubland”.  He said that he only remembered 

the area immediately behind their garden being cleared a couple of times over 

the years.  He stated that when clearing took place it was not complete but 

there was always scrub remaining.  He commented on the statements of 

Graham Hutton, Robert Johnson and Mrs Steventon-Baker submitted on 

behalf of the Objector, saying that those people live further away from the site 

and he felt that he was in a better position to know what was going on there. 

 

6.4. Mr Bell stated in his witness statement that he did not recall during the early 

days of his knowledge of the site that there were any crops growing in the 

field. 

Page 79



28 

 
6.5. Cross-examined by Mr Webster, he confirmed that he could not recall any 

arable crops.  He acknowledged that he could remember ploughing but not 

crops.  Specifically asked whether he could remember the yellow flowers of oil 

seed rape, he said that nothing that he saw on the land looked cultivated to 

him, everything always looked wild.  The location of his house was clarified 

and the planting of the hedge was confirmed as having happened in the mid-

1990s.  Mr Webster put to Mr Bell in some detail the pattern of crops which he 

said had been planted throughout most of the 1990s but Mr Bell confirmed that 

he could not remember any of them. Mr Webster put to him that after the 

1990s, the land had been set aside and nothing cut.  Mr Bell said that he 

recalled the land being tended, that is tidied, on a number of occasions and 

that he agreed that the field was allowed to go to seed from one year to 

another but there was a single cutting of the vegetation each year.  When Mr 

Webster put to him that the land was not nice for people to take a leisurely 

walk on, Mr Bell said that there were people there, including a lot of children 

using the area as a play space with adults.  He said that the land was more 

pleasant when it was tended but that the majority of people there were 

children who treated the area as a haven.  He confirmed that the central area 

of the field was in use and that berry picking happened there.   

 

6.6. Mr Bell was asked many questions by Mr Webster about the aerial 

photographs upon which the Objector’s expert witness Ms Cox had prepared a 

report.  Mr Bell is not an expert in the interpretation of aerial photography and 

Page 80



29 

since Ms Cox dealt in expert detail with those photographs, I do not propose to 

summarise those parts of the cross-examination, which were not  conclusive. I 

have adopted a similar approach with other witnesses. Nevertheless, Mr Bell 

confirmed that many, although not all, users of the land stuck to the footpaths 

around the field.  Speaking of his own running practice, he said that he mainly 

used the footpaths but because he needed also to practice on uneven ground 

he would sometimes “cut across the field” and he saw others there too.  When 

I asked him where he did this, he indicated a central line which he had marked 

on the Plan attached to his witness statement going roughly north/south 

across the middle of the Main Field. 

 
 

 
6.7. Both advocates and I sought to clarify with Mr Bell the position of the tree 

house which Tristan had made.  On the plan attached to his witness 

statement, the tree house was marked as item 2 in a position quite near the 

perimeter path in Area 2.  The gap in the hedge at the rear of 126A Springvale 

Road was also shown on the boundary of the Area 2.  It became apparent that 

these two markings had been placed by Mr Bell in error and that in fact the 

boundary fence/Leylandii hedge was some way to the east of the Application 

Site boundary and that therefore the tree house was also outside the 

Application Site.   

 

6.8. Mr Bell confirmed that his normal entry point onto the land was through his 

rear fence although he said that Tristan would sometimes enter the site with 

Page 81



30 

his friends from Ilex Close.  He confirmed that the rear boundary of their 

property had been initially put in by their builder and that they had then planted 

the Leylandii rather than the owner of the Application land having done those 

things.  When asked whether or not he had seen a chain across the gate at 

Hookpit Farm Lane in 1998 he said that he was not using it then.  He 

confirmed that in fact he had not used that access between the years of 1992 

and 2001. 

 
6.9. In re-examination, Mr Bell confirmed that mostly he saw children playing on 

the land and that his stepson would be there with a large number of other 

children in an area that he described as “up towards the field”.  When he went 

there to fetch the children he saw other children, dog walkers and berry 

pickers.  He himself did not pick berries but he said that there were various 

points at which this happened in the “rectangle” behind his house and beyond 

into the “shrub area on the 2011 photograph”.  He said that children were not 

deterred by the land being uneven; that there were lots of bikes including on 

the rougher ground; that the scrub growing there was part of the challenge for 

them.  He found it difficult to compare the condition of the land now with how it 

was prior to 2000 as it was a long time ago but he did not think that there was 

any significant difference.   

 
6.10. He confirmed that the main entrance points to the land were Hookpit Farm 

Road and Ilex Close although he said that there was another way off Tudor 

Way. 

Page 82



31 

 
Summary of my Findings 

 
6.10.1.  Mr Bell was doing his best to assist the Inquiry but he was 

clearly confused when making his witness statement about the 

location of the tree house relative to the Application Site.  I am 

satisfied that this was an honest mistake on his part but I do 

think that it was a significant error which will have affected his 

understanding of the areas in question relative to the Application 

Site.  Since his evidence was that the tree house and that area 

was the focus of much of Tristan and his friends’ play, I do 

regard this as a significant limitation on his evidence with regard 

to user of the Application land.  However, I do not believe that 

that confusion affects Mr Bell’s recollection of his own use of the 

perimeter paths and the occasional cutting through the Main 

Field for his own training purposes. His failure to remember 

crops in the Main Field is problematic, taken with other evidence 

before the inquiry, and may suggest that his visits there were 

infrequent before 2001 or that his memory of that period is poor. 

 

6.11. Tristan Perrin, 19 Winchester Street, Overton, Hampshire RG23 3HR.  Mr 

Perrin made a written witness statement,  signed on 28th August 2016.  He 

was born on 12th September 1982 and after his parents separated he went to 

live with his father in 1994.  He described himself as permanently resident 

Page 83



32 

from 1994 when he was 12 until the age of 15 although he did not actually 

move out of his father’s house until he was 18 which would have been in 

2000/1.  He had also annotated a plan which was attached to his witness 

statement showing the tree house in much the same position as on Mr Bell’s 

plan.   

 
6.12. When questioned about the position, he said that he did not think that the plan 

was very good although he confirmed that he had put the markings on it.  

Other markings showed areas where he said that there was a bike track and 

mounds and playing areas; these were respectively to the west and to the 

south/south east of the Main Field, as well as in Area 1.  He confirmed the 

boundary arrangements at his father’s property in the same terms as Mr Bell.  

He described the tree house as being about 50 metres from the boundary with 

the gardens.  He said that initially he and his friends would play just in that 

area but as time went on they went further and further “into the field”; they did 

not necessarily keep to the footpaths and frequently played football there and 

rode bikes.  There were, he said, about 10 or 12 friends with whom he would 

play on the land.  

 
6.13. When cross-examined, he explained that they “rode around” on bicycles and 

they used a line between Ilex Close and the old railway line to the south.  He 

said that he could not remember there being crops on the land but confirmed 

that if crops had been present he would not have ridden his bicycle through 

them.  He said, “that it was just human nature and you do not do that”.  He 

Page 84



33 

also agreed that it was not sensible to ride across a ploughed field and he said 

that they had ridden outside on the perimeters and from Ilex Close to the fence 

at the old railway line.  He said that most of his playing time on the land was 

spent on the land between the perimeter track and Hookpit Lane, closer to the 

houses, and  that they did not play north of the perimeter track because that 

was “brambly.” Rather, they played to the east of the perimeter fence as well 

as using the track to the railway line which I have described.  Otherwise they 

stuck to the paths.  He said that they might ride around the fields but not 

regularly.  He saw loads of dog walkers and other people, mainly keeping to 

the perimeter paths.  

 

6.14. In re-examination, he expanded that, whilst people stayed mainly on the 

perimeter paths, they would on occasions wander for a few metres off if a dog 

or a child ran off the path.  He said that there were dog walkers, runners, 

people who would kick a ball around, bike riders, joggers and elderly people 

just walking.  He said that these were sticking to the paths which were narrow 

so that they would walk about 6 foot either side of paths.  That might extend to 

a 20 foot radius if retrieving a ball from the bushes.   

 
6.15. He explained to me that from the age of about 15, as he and his friends were 

becoming older and more independent, they would use the top part of the field 

as “a meeting point”.  Sometimes they would stay and do activities on the land 

but sometimes they would depart and go off elsewhere for their activities. 

 
Summary of my Findings 

Page 85



34 

 
6.15.1. I consider that Mr Perrin was doing his best to assist the Inquiry 

but that he was confused about positions of some features, in 

particular the location of the tree house.  When he was asked 

about the markings of all the features on the plans, it was clear 

to me that he was muddled about their positions.  I regard that 

as a limitation on the accuracy of his evidence although he was 

firm and clear on his use of the route between Ilex Close and 

the railway line and the use of the perimeter paths. Mr Perrin’s 

inability to remember crops in the Main Field was problematic 

and may suggest that his visits there were limited during his 

residence between 1994 and 2000/1 or that his memory of that 

period is poor. 

 

Mr Will Driscoll,  10 Eling Close, Winchester SO22 6NG 

6.16. Mr Driscoll made a signed witness statement dated 5th September 2016. He 

lived at Arezzo, Hookpit Farm Lane, King’s Worthy SO23 7NA from 

September 2001 to September 2015.  He was born in 1990 so he was living in 

the locality during his teenage years.  He explained in his witness statement 

that between the years of 2002 to 2008 he used Top Field “almost daily for 

recreational purposes”.  He said that the fence that was in place at the 

entrance at Hookpit Farm Lane was “simply a frame by the time we moved in 

in September 2001 and many people used that footpath”.  He said in his 

statement that from the family home they could see people walking along this 

Page 86



35 

path.  He became friendly with other boys in the area and he explained that 

they began to build jumps for BMXs “over on the far side”.  He said in his 

statement and later confirmed under cross-examination that he was referring 

to the south-west corner of the Main Field and that the BMX activity moved 

there in around 2004 because it was known that the housing development was 

coming to Area 1 where they had initially made BMX jumps.  He said in his 

witness statement that he also used the Main Field in the middle of the 

footpaths to practice rugby kicking, especially in the summer after the farmer 

had cut the grass.  He said that there were never any signs there to prevent 

that activity and he had never seen any signage in the years that he used it 

other than planning application notices. 

 

6.17. As he became older, he explained, Top Field was a place of privacy for him 

from his parents where he could go, for example to have a “crafty cigarette”.  

He was therefore very open to requests to walk the family dog on the land.  He 

said that he used to cut across the field so that he did not have as far to walk.   

 
6.18. Mr Driscoll attached to his witness statement the standard map with some 

annotations on it showing the areas of his activities.  This shows his rugby 

area and the new BMX jumps inside the perimeter paths.   

 
6.19. Under cross-examination he said that the move from BMX jumps in Area 1 to 

the south-western part of  the Main Field  occurred  around 2004.  He said that 

before 2004 he was doing dog walking, playing with kites and practising his 

rugby.  He would access the land off Hookpit Farm Lane, cutting across “six 

Page 87



36 

times out of ten” rather than on the path.  He said that he threw a ball into the 

“fallow field” for the dog.  He also made fire pits, had parties and engaged in 

under-aged smoking and drinking which he described as “all the things you 

shouldn’t do but I did”.  For rugby practice he described walking to “the centre 

of the field” and kicking the ball.  He had done stunt kite flying but  his kite did 

not last very long.  He said that once the growing season started on the field in 

about March, then that would have impeded ordinary activity.  He agreed that 

there were brambles and that the land had the nature of heathland; he 

described cutting his legs on vegetation and he agreed that that part of the site 

was not compacted like the perimeter paths.  He accepted the proposition that 

that part of the site would only have been suitable for a hardy walker and said 

that he was sure that many others had used the perimeter paths rather than 

the heathland area. 

 

6.20. In the years 2010 to 2011, he explained, he would cut across the fields from 

his girlfriend’s house at Woodham’s Farm to the south-west of the site below 

the dismantled railway line and that area continued to be a dog walk.  He  

would use it to get to and from his girlfriend’s once or twice a week and 

accepted that that was a transit use.  By this time he was around 20 years of 

age.   

 
6.21. In re-examination he said that he could see out of his house to the path 

though he subsequently clarified in answer to me that he could not see from 

his house as far as the perimeter path or indeed anywhere inside the 

Page 88



37 

Application site boundary.  In re-examination he said that there was less 

activity on the land off the paths in winter and that most activity took place in 

Spring/Autumn.  He said that he did not use Areas 1, 2 or 3.  He said that 

there were footpaths from many points onto the land but that he personally 

never used the same route.  He explained that he was often intoxicated and 

therefore his paths would not have formed a desire line. 

 
6.22. I asked some questions about the construction of the BMX jumps.  Mr Driscoll 

told me that there had been quite a few of his friends who had made the jumps 

with him.  They would dig out a gap, take earth and raise banks either side of 

the gap.  They then packed this down and rode bikes over it, shaping and 

angling the construction.  They normally used shovels and sometimes a 

wheelbarrow.  There were no mechanical tools involved and they used the 

bikes to bed the earth in.  They made pits which were 2ft to 3ft deep but they 

also made use of natural gradients.  He said that the mounds got 

progressively bigger and  they had take-off and landing ramps.  The bikes 

used were not motorised.  He clarified in further answers to Mr Webster that 

he agreed that making the BMX ramps must have damaged the land and he 

volunteered that “in hindsight I shouldn’t have done it”. 

 
 

Summary of my Findings 

 

6.22.1. Mr Driscoll was a forceful witness but I found him less than fully 

helpful on all points.  He was not always careful in paying 

Page 89



38 

attention to details; for example, he initially gave the impression 

that he could see the site from his house whereas upon my 

checking this, it became clear that he could not in fact see the 

site at all from his house and all that he could see was Hookpit 

Farm Lane.  Also I asked him why he had made no reference to 

rugby practice in the questionnaire which he had filled in earlier 

when rugby practice featured quite prominently in his oral 

evidence but he was not able to give any explanation for the 

earlier omission.  He did say in answer to Mr Webster that he 

had not been aware when he did his questionnaire of “the 

severity of the situation and that I would be giving evidence to a 

public inquiry”.   

 

Mrs Mary Mould, 3 Brooke Close, King’s Worthy, Winchester SO23 7PG.   

6.23. Mrs Mould is 54 years old and has lived at Brooke Close since June 2005.  

Before that she lived at Cundell Way, King’s Worthy from August 1992 until 

June 2005.  She explained that both addresses are within walking distance of 

the Application Land.  She stated in her witness statement, which she made 

on 30th August 2016, that she and her family had made use of the whole 

space over the years.  She said that the area was “great in the snow and ice 

for exploration and investigation and during the whole year for outdoor time”.  

She described the centre of the field as often having had long grasses and 

pathways trodden throughout.  She said that, until the land was rough 

Page 90



39 

ploughed, there was always a pathway down the centre of the field and that 

they would walk a figure of eight in various directions as well as around the 

perimeter depending on the entrance which they took – Hookpit Farm Lane, 

Ilex Close or from the disused railway track.  She did not recall ever having 

been prevented from entering and said that there is a multitude of pathways 

through the perimeter areas allowing access to the field. 

 

6.24. When the affordable housing development was underway, a footpath was 

maintained off Hookpit Farm Road along the edge of the building site.  She did 

not recall ever having seen signs preventing pedestrian access to the field.  

She said that there are other people using the field, walking dogs, children 

playing/flying kites.  They also often see people jogging around the perimeter 

path.  She said that when the central pathways were usable, there were often 

mattresses and other den making materials left where children would use the 

area during evenings and weekends.  In her witness statement she said that 

she could not remember the space being used for crops in all the years that 

she had lived close by - that is, since 1992. 

 
6.25. In her oral evidence in chief she confirmed that she was content for TFAG and 

Mr Wilmshurst to represent her.  She is the Applicant. 

 
6.26. Cross-examined about crops in some detail by Mr Webster, she staunchly 

maintained her belief that there had never been crops on any part of the site.  

She agreed that she could not have used a cropped area and when it was put 

to her that there had been cropping she said, “at that period there may have 

Page 91



40 

been more peripheral use but it would be wrong for me to assume anything 

about 1998/1999”. 

 
6.27. In re-examination she also confirmed, “clearly I would not have gone into it” if 

there had been managed crops on the land.  She had a dog from 1998 to 

2000 and then the family obtained another dog in 2010 so she explained to 

me that there was therefore a 10 year period between 2000 and 2010 when 

the family had no dog.  Asked about the state of the land by Mr Webster, she 

explained that the long grasses were part of the pleasure of using the land.  

She said that when the family had dogs they would take them every few days 

on the field; when they did not have a dog, their visits were not so frequent.  At 

one time she had owned a horse and she used to ride it around the perimeter 

but not regularly.   

 
6.28. In re-examination she confirmed that the perimeter paths had always been 

well trodden but that there were other paths through the long grass, mainly 

one path although there were others at other times.  She and her family had 

found the track through the long grass there rather than having made it 

themselves.  In terms of children’s play and kite flying, she said that when 

grasses are long those activities take place on the paths; if short then she 

would see people doing those things “anywhere and everywhere”. 

 
 

 

Page 92



41 

6.29. I asked Mrs Mould about her use of the areas outside the Main Field.  She 

said that Area 3 had shrubs on it and was more heavily covered therefore it 

was not possible to run around there.  Turning to the south-western corner of 

the Main Field, she confirmed that there were the “lumps and bumps” there for 

bike riding and that there was an access track from the railway line.  She said 

that they took their children up there with their bikes and used the lumps and 

bumps.  On the subject of her inability to remember crops, she told me that 

she could not put a date on when she could clearly recall how she used the 

Main Field.  Turning to Area 2, she said that you could get into the field from 

there and that it was a part which they had used for walking mostly without a 

dog to get through to the field.  The use of that area, she said, had varied, 

being used more after the building works in Area 1.  

Summary of my Findings 

6.29.1.  I conclude that Mrs Mould was generally doing her best to 

assist the Inquiry but that the reliability of her recollections 

concerning the earlier part of the period is problematic in view of 

other evidence which the inquiry has received in relation to 

cropping there. When challenged on the point, she said that her 

use of the land would have been greater in the period from 2000 

onwards, but this qualification had not been made in her witness 

statement or orally in chief. 

 

Mrs K Mead, 8 Maple Drive, King’s Worthy, Winchester SO23 7NG. 

Page 93



42 

6.30.  Mrs Mead has lived at this address since 1988 with her husband and their 

three children, two of whom still live with them.  Mrs Mead made a witness  

statement, signed on 30th August 2016.   In her witness statement she 

described the Application Site as the “primary green space for walks and other 

activities throughout the period from 1993 to 2013”.  She said that activities 

included nature walks, collecting leaves and twigs, flying kites, riding bikes and 

playing with remote controlled flying toys.  She described those activities as 

taking place over the whole of the field and all the year round.  She said that at 

no time was the field used for crops but that parts of it would simply be 

overgrown with grasses and wild flowers which she said was attractive, while 

other parts would tend to be used for football and become trampled flat.   

 

6.31. She continued in the witness statement that during the same period they also 

visited the field with friends who had dogs and the children and the dogs could 

run around safely together across the whole field.  She said that when the 

children took their bikes up there they would use the paths through the scrub 

in the middle of the field and not be confined to the path with their parents. 

There was a figure of eight bike track in the middle of the field which one of 

her sons and many other children and teenagers used until the field was 

ploughed up in 2014.  There were a few white winters in those years 1993 to 

2003 and in the later 2000s; she described the field on those occasions 

becoming “a playground for the whole community with snowmen and snowball 

fights”.  In snow it was also safer to use the field as a route to other parts of 

the village and to school because it was less slippery than the pavements. 

Page 94



43 

 
6.32. By 2003 her children were aged 15, 13 and 7 and she said that during the 

decade 2003 to 2013 they have continued to use the field in different ways.  

Her husband foraged for sloe berries from the blackthorn bushes at the far end 

of the field from Hookpit Farm Lane making sloe gin as Christmas presents.  

For herself it was and continues to be a “safe bolthole” to walk and wander 

around with a friend when things become too much for her.  In her oral 

evidence Mrs Mead elaborated that particularly when she had been a teacher, 

she had suffered from stress and found the land very helpful during those 

times.  Then she would visit the field with friends, going across and through 

the fields and she would see children playing with balls.  Her own children, 

when they were teenagers between the years 2000 and 2009, would go to the 

field to relax with friends and sunbathe.  Her youngest child, born in 1996, has 

used the field more than the rest of the family.  From around 2002 he used to 

go there for adventurous play and, apart from ball games, the most frequent 

use of the field by him and his friends has been for BMX cycling. 

 
6.33. She described in her witness statement how generations of children and 

teenagers had built what are referred to as “the jumps”.  In the 1990s there 

had been jumps in Area 1, but in more recent years they had been rebuilt 

further into the field.  She said that the jumps had occasionally attracted 

nuisance in the form of mini-motorbikes but that, by and large, the area had 

been use by local young people for biking.  Her youngest son used the field as 

Page 95



44 

a general gathering place and from around 2008 they had constructed 

makeshift shelters and shared picnics using disposable barbeques.   

 
6.34. Mrs Mead produced three photographs.  One is of a friend of her children 

taken in 2009 sleeping in a plastic chair, described as “after playing football”.  

Then there was a photograph taken in 2013 of her youngest son riding a BMX 

bike on an area which looks as though it has been built up.  The third 

photograph shows her son in spring 2016 flying over the BMX jumps on his 

bike. 

 
6.35. Cross-examined about crops, Mrs Mead described it as strange she could not 

recall crops, especially oil seed rape because she is allergic to that.  She could 

therefore only conclude that she could not have been there then and she 

agreed that her use must have been more intensive later in the period.  She 

said that she remembered flying kites there one Christmas but she did not put 

a date on that.  She agreed that she could not remember ploughed earth in 

the central area but said that if she had been using the perimeter she would 

not necessarily have noticed this and she stated that their use was mainly 

around the periphery of the field.  She was adamant that she would not have 

walked on crops.  She agreed with Mr Webster that it is difficult to remember 

accurately things which took place 20 years ago and she added that she was 

at that time teaching full time and not making intensive use of the area.  She 

said that the natural regeneration which had occurred since 2000 is how she 

remembers the land.   

Page 96



45 

 
6.36. In 1996 her mother-in-law moved to Springvale Road and she would 

sometimes walk with the children to visit their grandmother there.  Asked 

about her evidence of the figure of eight with the assistance of the aerial 

photographs, she accepted that there was no figure of eight in the 

photographs from 2010 onwards although there was one in 2005.   She 

confirmed that, when referring to use in the centre of Main Field, specifically 

tents and shelter, she was describing the after effects of camping rather than 

actually seeing it; although her son and his friends had taken a tent once, they 

did not stay out all night.  She did say, however, that they lit barbeques and so 

on up there.  She stated that activity in the lumps and bumps area had been 

going on since 2004 but that there had been more of that recently.  Sometimes 

other boys would come and flatten the constructions and they would then be 

built up again.   

 
6.37. Mrs Mead confirmed that there were no sloes or brambles in the middle of the 

field and that fruit picking had just taken place off the footpath.  She described 

her access via Hookpit Farm Lane saying that she had never been unable to 

get up that track.  When the contents of the footpath officer’s report were put 

to her, she said that she found it difficult to believe that the gate was locked 

between the years of 1993 to 2001 for the whole period.  She said that they 

had also used Ilex Close to get onto the land.   

 

Page 97



46 

6.38. In re-examination she explained that tall grasses on the site were about waist 

height and that the area towards the east of Area 1 was less accessible than 

that to the west. 

 
Summary of my Findings 

 
6.38.1. I found Mrs Mead to be a fair  witness who was doing her best 

to assist the inquiry. She readily agreed that her inability to 

remember crops indicated that her use of the land must have 

occurred predominantly during the latter half of the relevant 

period.  She was very clear indeed that neither she nor her 

family would have walked on crops.  She was also precise when 

describing her own walking activity and the activities of her 

children in the latter period in the overgrown areas and making 

use of the BMX lumps and bumps. I think that her memories of 

being on the land were vivid, but that she was not able to be so 

precise about dates. She was not always present when her 

children were using the land, so those parts of her evidence 

were hearsay or based on deduction.   

 

Mr Tim Brown MBE, 6 Firs Crescent, King’s Worthy, Winchester SO23 5NP.   

6.39. Mr Brown made a witness statement signed on 30th August 2016 with an 

annotated map attached to it.  Mr Brown is 61 years old and has lived at Firs 

Crescent from November 1994.  He has two grown up children and three 

Page 98



47 

grandchildren none of whom live in King’s Worthy.  Firs Crescent is about two 

minutes’ walk from the Site and Mr Brown said in his statement that they 

started using the land as soon as they moved in to their house.  He listed, with 

the aid of the annotations on his map, the family activities that they undertook: 

walks, picnics, blackberry picking, sloe picking, dog walking, admiring nature 

through the spring and summer months and occasionally at other times.  On 

his map he marked blackberry picking on the inside of the perimeter towards 

the north-east and picnics on the perimeter path on the south, then more fruit 

picking – sloes - on the western perimeter area. He showed den building and 

camping inside the perimeter with BMX biking to the north of the dens in the 

western area and camping just south-east of the centre of the Main Field.  The 

entry points are noted at Hookpit Farm Lane, Ilex Close and from the disused 

railway track at the south-eastern corner of Area 3 and towards the south-

western area near Woodhams Farm. 

 

6.40. His own use had included training runs in the spring and summer and he used 

to walk a dog there too. He said that his wife uses the field for family walks, 

picnics and blackberry/sloe picking.  His son had learned to ride his BMX bike 

on the field and occasionally went camping and playing adventure games with 

friends there. His daughter would sit on the field and chat to friends while 

listening to music; she also enjoyed fruit picking and picnics.  They now use 

the field with their children and grandchildren. 

 

Page 99



48 

6.41. He said that the majority of their use of the field occurred on the path around it 

during the late 1990s and early 2000s but that they did walk across the centre, 

stopping in the middle to admire the views.  He described this route as good 

short cut to the field near Woodhams Farm from where you could walk to the 

farm shop.  He had seen others using the field for activities including painting 

views and children building dens and making the BMX circuit.  He had never 

been stopped from using the field.  He recalled the metal gate being put up on 

Hookpit Farm Lane but said that there was a large gap left at the side where 

walkers were able to get into the land.  He had never seen any signage 

restricting the use of the field until very recently.  He said in his written 

statement that he did not recall ever having seen crops being grown on Top 

Field.  In the late 1990s he said that there were a couple of years when the 

centre of the field was ploughed “for some reason but that is all”.  He added 

that this ploughing did not stop the use of Top Field and the path around it was 

still there. 

 
6.42. Mr Brown was asked about access up Hookpit Farm Lane and he explained 

that there were several offcuts where you could get into Area 1 and that he 

sometimes went there.  He said that the access  track was not gated for as 

long as 1992 to 2001; the gate fell down but in any event there was a gap to 

the left of the gate where walkers could go and that route was still used as an 

access all the time by everyone.  He was adamant that the gate was put there 

to deter travellers, it having been put up following a traveller incursion.  That, 

he said, was the message which was being given by the landowners to the 

Page 100



49 

rest of the world.  There was much detailed discussion of the precise 

arrangements at the gate; Mr Brown said that the padlock on the gate was 

broken within a  couple of days of its being put there.  There was some 

damage to a mesh fence and forced entry through it to the right of the gate but 

he described the fence as “pretty flimsy and the kids had kicked balls at it”.  In 

any event he was clear that the main point of access was to the left where 

there was this gap which was big enough for walkers to traverse.  He said that 

he did not recall seeing any signs prior to those associated with the 

development a year or so ago.  He had owned a dog between the years of 

1994 and 2001 and walked it on the land daily, although he said that he would 

probably have noticed more about the land when he was running rather than 

dog walking because his attention would have been taking up with looking 

after the dog. 

 

6.43. Mr Brown recalled the land being ploughed a couple of times but mostly he 

said he remembered it covered in long grasses where he had thrown things for 

his dog and his children thought that that was funny.  He was asked to 

comment on many of the aerial photographs and he disputed that they 

showed crops or were as he remembered the land in the years up to 2000.  

From 2012 when the land was in set-aside, however, he said that his strongest 

memory was of tall plants with purple flowers.  He did not recall those plants 

being cut or the cuttings being left on the ground annually.  He agreed that 

access was reasonably easy in the winter to this area and that the ground was 

a bit uneven.  He contrasted the surface there with that of the perimeter track.  

Page 101



50 

He stuck to the perimeter paths for dog walking and training but he said that if 

people were playing they would go to the centre. In the first half of the period, 

he had only occasionally walked to the centre and he agreed that this was 

similar to the pattern of user by other people.  Occasionally he saw people in 

the middle and, when pressed to explain what occasional meant, he agreed 

that a fair summary of the position was that prior to March 2013 when the 

development of Area 1 started there was a well-worn path which was well 

used.  Occasionally people would use the middle of the field. 

 

6.44. Describing the fruit on the land, he said that there were sloes along the railway 

line to the west and blackberries along the southern boundary and on the 

north-east corner.  Before the development of Area 1, there were also a lot of 

blackberries there.  He said that picnics had occurred on or around the path.  

He had gone to the disused railway line to the south partly to get access to 

other areas and partly to let the dog off the lead.  Finally, he confirmed that he 

did not walk across the land when it was ploughed and that he would not 

dream of walking across land with crops on it. 

 
6.45. In re-examination he said that he had used the land virtually every day in the 

summer but not so much in the winter.  However, later on he said that he had 

been there a minimum of once a fortnight.  He had seen people playing 

occasionally in the centre and said that when this centre part of the land was 

overgrown children could hide in there.  He could not say what they were 

doing; there might be half a dozen of them to 20 or 30, although occasionally  

Page 102



51 

some children had been doing things that they should not.  He was asked to 

give a picture of a typical day in terms of numbers, but he found that difficult; 

there were some days when he saw some children and some days not, maybe 

4  to 12 children. 

 
6.46. I asked Mr Brown about the evidential conundrum that there is  a large amount 

of independent contemporaneous evidence of cropping and yet there were 

witnesses such as him who were saying that they had never seen it but had 

been there regularly.  He was unable to help me with that difficulty, simply 

repeating that he never saw crops.  He said that he could tell the difference 

between grass and oil seed rape but not between grass and wheat but stated 

that everything that he saw there looked like long grass; he reaffirmed that this 

applied from 1995 to 2013 and to the whole of the area inside the perimeter 

paths.  In terms of the children misbehaving he said that sometimes he had 

seen them smoking or looking at naughty magazines.   

 
Summary of my Findings 

6.46.1. I found Mr Brown’s evidence to be variable in its reliability.  

When asked about the evidence of cropping in the first half of 

the period, he became very defensive and at this point I found 

his evidence to be much less helpful than it was on other points 

such as the detailed description of the gate at Hookpit Farm 

Lane.  I conclude that he has a good memory of that part of the 

site but I find it difficult to attribute weight to his evidence 

Page 103



52 

concerning the state of the Main Field during the earlier part of 

the period in the light of other contemporaneous evidence.  He 

was so adamant about the absence of crops in answer not only 

to Mr Webster but also to me, that I must treat his evidence 

generally with some caution as a result. 

 

Mr Graham Mack,  32 Cundell Way, King’s Worthy SO23 7NP 

6.47. Mr Mack had made a witness statement signed on the 29th September 2016 

with an annotated map attached to it.  Mr Mack is 67 years of age and has 

been retired for 7 years.  Prior to that he worked in the construction industry 

and from May 1973 until May 1989 he was employed by AJ Dunning & Sons 

Limited whose subsidiary company purchased the Top Field as part of a 

parcel of land including the Hook Farm development.  Mr Mack has lived on 

the Hookpit Farm Estate with his wife since May 1980, initially in Maple Drive, 

and since August 1984 at Cundell Way. They have three children who were 

born between the years of 1982 and 1987. 

 

6.48. Works to construct the Hookpit Farm Estate were completed in 1984 and 

during construction there was a site compound towards the northern part of 

Area 1 which Mr Mack had marked on his map.  He said that Dunnings had 

cleared the compound at the end of the project but done nothing else and 

there was certainly no fencing at that time.   

 

Page 104



53 

6.49. Throughout his residence at King’s Worthy he and his family used the field for 

recreational purposes within the field and as a route to other areas of the 

village.  He said that he could not remember a time when it was not possible to 

access the field on foot from Hookpit Farm Lane or from the disused railway 

line to the south.  With their children in the 1990s, Mr and Mrs Mack used the 

field for a variety of activities including kite flying, mountain and BMX bike 

riding and picnics.  Their daughter had a pony from 1998 to 2005 and rode it 

from Woodhams at the south of the land across the field towards their house 

on many occasions.  Their youngest son created BMX jumps in the area to the 

south-west inside the perimeter walk, in around 1999 and 2000.  Others from 

the village used the field for various recreational pursuits, mostly walking but 

others for picnics, bike riding and model aircraft flying.  Between the years of 

1998 and 2012, the Macks had a dog and they used the field daily as part of 

several circular routes.  Since losing the dog, Mr Mack has continued to use 

those routes as part of his daily exercise routine. 

 

6.50. During the 1990s he recalled a traveller camp being in the field for a couple of 

months and from the year 2000 apparently a number of students would come 

to camp near to the BMX area at the end of the summer term.  He had never 

seen any signs informing him who owned the land since Dunnings departed. 

 
6.51. Cross-examined, Mr Mack explained that since his retirement in 2010 he had 

done more walking.  He explained that he did a variety of walks around the 

village between 3 to 10 miles each time.  He marked on his plan where he had 

Page 105



54 

walked previously, down Hookpit Farm Lane around the western perimeter of 

the Main Field,  then up from the south-west corner back  to the north-east 

corner, re-joining Hookpit Farm Lane.  More recently he had done a variety of 

longer walks involving a circuit around the application site and sometimes 

going on to further destinations as well.  He described the perimeter paths as 

being a trodden area up to around 10 metres wide and he said that he would 

stick to the established paths.  When he used to cross the Main Field he said 

that there had been various paths or tracks although they were not paths as 

such,  just areas where the vegetation was lower and trodden down; he had 

only done this occasionally.  He had stopped crossing the Main Field in 2014 

when it was deep ploughed. 

 
6.52. Mr Webster asked him a series of questions about crops and the only crop 

that Mr Mack could remember was oil seed rape which, according to the 

Cropping Records, was on the land in 1994 and 1999.  Mr Mack clarified that 

the time when he had been daily on the field was much more from the late 

1990s and early 2000s into the rest of that decade when they had a dog rather 

than earlier.  Previously he estimated that he would have gone about 50 times 

a year.  He readily agreed that he would not have walked through a standing 

crop, though he said that, whilst he might have walked across a ploughed 

field, he could not remember actually having done that here.  He confirmed 

that the BMX area and south western corner was close to the perimeter path. 

 

Page 106



55 

6.53. In re-examination he spoke about remembering his daughter riding a horse 

across the field in the early 2000s together with another local friend of hers, 

Catherine Martin.  He did not believe that they had followed any particular 

route but that they just cut across.  I permitted cross-examination on this point 

which had emerged afresh during re-examination and he confirmed to Mr 

Webster that the horse riders were simply coming to visit the Macks and that 

they crossed the field in order to do so. He only saw them doing this a couple 

of times in the summer. 

 
Summary of my Findings 

 
6.53.1. I found Mr Mack to be a witness who was genuinely seeking to 

help the Inquiry.  As with other witnesses who had no or limited 

memories of crops, however, the contemporaneous evidence 

before the inquiry about crops must limit the weight which I am 

able to give to his evidence in relation to the earlier part of the 

period.   I found him to be clear and as precise as could 

reasonably be expected in relation to the second part of the 

period. 

 

Mr Colin Plant, 6 Maple Drive, King’s Worthy, SO23 7NG 

6.54. Mr Plant made a witness statement signed on the 5th September 2016 and 

appended an annotated plan to it.  He is 56 years of age, married with two 

children born in 1999 and 2001.  He and his family have lived at 6 Maple Drive 

Page 107



56 

since November 2001 and before that they lived at 13 Maple Drive from July 

1994. They therefore live very close to the top of the field.  He and his family 

have been using the field and the paths, he said in his written statement, since 

they moved there in 1994 for walking.  In particular they went to and from the 

disused railway line, using the established paths through the trees at  principal 

accesses 3 and 4.  They had also used that same route for cycling in both 

directions and flown kites from the centre of the field before it became 

overgrown, been star gazing at night and berry picking.  Since 2007 Mr Plant 

had been a Beaver Scout leader and during that time he had used the field 

with the Beavers for a number of activities comprising hikes, using the disused 

railway line and nature rambles; with the Cub section he had been to the Main 

Field when it was used for cycling and cycle races around the outer paths.  He  

believed that both Scouts and Cubs had used the Main Field for wide games 

using as much of the field as they can.  He had also seen other people using  

it for walks, cycling including the BMX cycling on the track.  During this time he 

had not been stopped or challenged by anyone.   

 

6.55. He recalled an old gate at the entrance to the track off Hookpit Farm Lane but 

said that there was a path around the gate and he did not remember any signs 

stating that the land was private property or asking people to keep out.  He did 

recall a new gate and fence being added to the Hookpit Farm Lane entrance 

in later years around 2004.  He stated in his written statement that he has not 

seen any planted crops or grazing farm animals on the field. 

 

Page 108



57 

6.56. In cross-examination Mr Plant confirmed that he had said in his questionnaire 

made in 2015 that he was an occasional user and he confirmed that.  He said 

that the period 1994 to 1999 was a quieter period of his use following the birth 

of his first child.  His memory of the field was of its being purely meadow grass 

which was cut occasionally, despite Mr Webster taking him through the 

various aerial photographs and Cropping Records for the 1990s. Mr Plant’s 

conclusion was that either the photographs were not of crops or that he must 

have been on the land later than the 1990s.  In particular, he felt that he would 

have remembered had he seen oil seed rape since his wife has an aversion to 

it.   He said that he had consulted the Ordnance Survey maps and found that 

there were paths marked on those maps around the Main Field perimeter 

paths with three off-shoots to Hookpit Farm Lane and to the railway line at the 

south.  He used to take a route across the land to the railway line walk and 

thence to the Scout Hut and he also used that as a route to other facilities 

such as the recreation ground.  He said that he would definitely have been 

there from the early 2000s or when his children were small.  There was a baby 

born in 2000 and activities would have been a mix of walking, cycling and kite 

flying during that period.  They would occasionally have walked in the middle 

but normally on the paths.  Kite flying was not that regular and was dependent 

on the condition of the surface, in particular the height of the grass.  

Conditions would only have been suitable a couple of times a year he thought, 

similarly star gazing is something that he would only have done a couple of 

times.  He picked berries in the hedgerows especially up the Hookpit Lane 

Page 109



58 

entrance path and especially before the houses were built on Area 1.  There 

were also berries down the path and at the top of Ilex Close.  He said that he 

would occasionally go past the BMX area.  In the last 2 or 3 years, he had 

seen what he described as a “so called camp.” He had noticed groups of 

children and youngsters going there; the last time he had seen a large group, 

they were on the perimeter path walking around the field and he said that it 

would not have been safe to walk in the middle of the field at night.  He 

confirmed that he had never seen any signs. 

 

6.57. In re-examination he gave more detail, particularly about Areas 2 and 3. Area  

3, he said, had become more bushy recently.  He had seen other people there 

but could not say how often; he thought that he went there about once a 

month at most.  He said that there were two main paths through that area, 

both running off the perimeter path.  He had also seen where people were 

making their own paths but that those might only be there for a short time.  He 

estimated that he had seen other people walking on these small paths 1 in 3 

or 1 in 5 of every time that he visited.  He recalled Area 2 always being fairly 

bushy. 

 
6.58. Cross-examined again by Mr Webster on the new Area 2 and 3 points, he said 

that he thought that the small paths were in the nature of private access tracks 

to people’s homes. 

 
Summary of my Findings 

 

Page 110



59 

6.58.1. My assessment of Mr Plant was that he was doing his best to 

assist the Inquiry although he appears to have been confused 

about the dates when he started using the land, having regard 

to the other contemporaneous evidence.  When that was put to 

him, he fairly conceded that this probably meant that his 

recollections relate to the latter part of the period.  In other 

respects I found his evidence to be clear and careful. 

 

Mr David John Woolford, 10 Sycamore Drive, King’s Worthy SO23 7NW 

6.59. Mr Woolford made a witness statement signed on 4th September 2016.  He 

has lived at 10 Sycamore Drive with his wife and son since January 1984, 

about 300 metres from the Application Site.  He retired in October 2015 at the 

age of 59 from his post as Principal Land Surveyor with Hampshire County 

Council after 41 years spent surveying land and property all over Hampshire 

and elsewhere.  Until 1992 the family used the land regularly for dog walking 

but their dog died in that year and thereafter they used it only up to about 10 

times a year for walks.  Between the years 2007 and 2009 Mr Woolford was ill 

and was unable to walk but after an operation in December 2009 he 

recuperated by walking the Main Field nearly every day from late January to 

April 2010.  He met people on  the field whenever he was walking there; they 

were flying kites in the middle area away from the trees, berry picking around 

the edges, exercise running/jogging, usually along the paths, playing 

children’s games and on occasions there were birthday parties all over the 

Page 111



60 

field, including the centre.  There was cycling on the paths and areas for BMX.  

He also witnessed dog walking.  The activities were seasonal but people 

continued to go there even in the snow walking their dogs or for their own 

exercise. 

 

6.60. He had never seen any signs at the site nor had he been prevented from 

entering the area by barriers or fences.  He had never seen any crops or 

cultivation on the site and it was always scrub with a plethora of wild flowers 

and thistles.  He said that it was cut very rarely, not annually, and then left to 

regenerate.  There were paths through and around the field plus areas where 

the scrub was not so dense where people were able to sit on the grass and 

play games in the middle area of the field. 

 
6.61. Mr Woolford attached to his witness statement an annotated plan showing the 

approximate lines of paths walked; in addition to the perimeter paths he 

showed two principal routes across the Main Field forming a triangle just to the 

right of centre with the base along the southern perimeter track. 

 
6.62. Mr Woolford dealt in chief in some detail  with the areas of his activities and 

what he had seen others doing.  On each point he made it clear that between 

1993 and 2010 he found it very difficult to be precise because he was not 

there a great deal; in 2005 to 2006, he tried to walk each day but was by that 

stage becoming ill and therefore it was difficult.  Summarising, he said that he 

most often walked round the Main Field but occasionally went across it when  

crops were not there, in particular to watch birds.  He added that in his 

Page 112



61 

experience as a surveyor, land once it has been cropped can be left fallow and 

ploughed up afterwards in the autumn or in spring.  If land had not been 

ploughed it would have been possible to walk across it.  He stated that he did 

not remember walking over the Application land when it had been ploughed, 

though in the 2000s he had certainly walked across it after it had been flailed.  

He was unable to be precise about where he had seen kite flying during the 

relevant period although he had seen it before 1993.  He said that he had 

seen runners going across the site but, again, he could not say how often.  He 

described Area 1 prior to its development as having contained low scrubby 

grassland, more dense next to Hookpit Farm Lane.  He said that people 

walked across there all the time, either round the perimeter or across that 

land.  Area 3, he said, was similar in appearance to Area 1; he had seen dog 

walkers and children there although, again, he could not specify how often. 

 

6.63. Cross-examined, Mr Woolford said that the top western bit of the Application 

land was quite densely wooded.  He stated that he had walked up to the edge 

of the chain-link railway fence at the edge of Application Site 267, but that it 

was not easy.  He confirmed that despite discussion of “tracks” in the context 

of the Objector’s aerial photographs, the main track is the perimeter path and 

that that is where most people walk.  Mr Woolford produced a Google Earth 

photograph from around 2006 to 2007 on which he discerned pathways or 

lines going across the main field.    There was considerable, somewhat 

speculative, discussion about the Objector’s aerial photographs.  Although Mr 

Woolford as a surveyor was used to looking at such photographs, he is not an 

Page 113



62 

expert in their interpretation and I do not consider it necessary to summarise 

that part of the cross-examination. 

 
Summary of my Findings 

 
6.63.1. Mr Woolford was a clear witness who was doing his best to 

assist the Inquiry but for much of the material period his 

knowledge of the land was somewhat limited.  He readily 

acknowledged that and therefore was unable to be very precise 

about the details of what other people had been doing on the 

land when he was there. 

 

 

Mr Noel McCleery,  2 Hookpit Farm Lane, King’s Worthy 

 
6.64. Mr McCleery has lived at King’s Worthy since 2009. When he moved there he 

became aware that the Main Field was “widely used by residents as a 

recreational area”. He made a witness statement, signed on 2nd September 

2016. He described the Field as a “mixture of grass and scrubland”.  He stated 

that the path around the field was and remains used and still is used by many 

people, adding  that there were other paths through the middle of the field 

which he and many others used as a variation until it became impassable due 

to being ploughed in June 2014.  In addition to walking, he observed the area 

being used all year round for activities including jogging, horse riding, motor 

cycle riding on tracks through the field, kite flying, model aircraft flying and 

Page 114



63 

cycling by young children under supervision.  During the summer months he 

saw picnicking by families and overnight camping by young people on various 

parts of the field. 

 

 

6.65. He attached a plan to his witness statement showing paths in a cross-shape 

over the Main Field and he stated that he walked these, the perimeter paths 

and other paths, most notably leading to the disused railway access in the 

south-east corner and around the south-west corner outside the perimeter 

track. 

 

6.66. Cross-examined, Mr McCleery confirmed that he was a member of TFAG and 

that TFAG exists to prevent development on the field but he disagreed that he 

was “over egging his evidence”.  He accepted that he uses and used the 

perimeter path more often than the centre although he said it was difficult to 

say how often he walked across the Main Field; sometimes he would walk 

across, sometimes he would throw his ball in for the dog and go in with him 

looking for it.  He agreed that there was ample space to exercise and play with 

the dog around the perimeter paths.  The height of vegetation, he said, varied 

in different parts; in places it was less than a foot high.  He said that about half 

of the field was in that lower bracket although in answer to me he clarified that 

the shorter areas tended to be right towards the centre and it was denser on 

the perimeter path so that it was quite difficult to access although there were 

places where you could get through.  He agreed that certain photographs 

which were shown to him by Mr Webster showing waist high or even shoulder 

Page 115



64 

high vegetation were scenes that he recognised.  He said that he had often 

walked up Ilex Close to Area 2 and that there were two main tracks through it, 

both of which he had used on numerous occasions.   He said he had 

sometimes used a track in Area 3  which joined up with the old railway 

although he did not think that he had walked off tracks in these areas. 

 

6.67. Summary of my Findings 

 
6.67.1. Mr McCleery was only able to speak of the last 4 to 5 years of 

the 20 year period.  He was keen to stress his use of the middle 

part of the Main Field but he was not able to be very precise 

about the details of where or how often he had walked there.  I 

note also that he did agree with Mr Webster that most of his 

activity on the land had taken place on the perimeter paths.  He 

rejected Mr Webster’s suggestion that he was over egging his 

evidence because he was part of TFAG and there is no basis 

for finding that this was the case.  Nevertheless, I found him to 

be relatively imprecise on the details of the key points that he 

was keen to make. 

 

 
Mr Mervyn Edwards, 18 Ilex Close, King’s Worthy, Winchester SO23 7TL 

6.68. Mr Edwards made a witness statement, dated 29th August 2016.  He is a 

member of TFAG.  He and his wife have lived at Ilex Close since December 

Page 116



65 

2000. He stated that their property backs onto Top Field and they have a gate 

onto Top Field in order to maintain their rear fence and hedge.  They had 

regularly used the field since about 2005 for leisure pursuits including walking, 

cycling, photographing wildlife – Mr Edwards is a skilled amateur photographer 

– walking the neighbour’s dog, activities with grandchildren – kite flying, 

cycling, trainspotting and organised walks.  Their main methods of access 

were at points 1A, 2 and 4.  Their activities were mainly undertaken during 

summer months but may have occurred throughout the year.  There was no 

time when access to the field was prevented and they had seen no signs other 

than ones prohibiting motorcycles which were erected in 2015.  Mr Edwards 

had never seen a crop in the field although he had seen the farmer using a 

tractor and mower to keep the grass and scrub under control.  In later years 

that had become infrequent and the scrub, grass and Goldenrod were allowed 

to get out of control until in June 2014 the field was roughly ploughed.  Until 

then, the surface of the field was reasonably flat.   

 

6.69. Mr Edwards submitted a second statement entitled “An Alternative 

Assessment of Aerial Photographs of Top Field”.  He explained in that 

statement that he is a retired chartered engineer and that he is a Licentiate of 

the Royal Photographic Society and he holds a credit assessment by the 

Photographic Alliance of Great Britain.  He had examined the aerial 

photographs contained in the Objector’s material submitted to the Inquiry and 

additional photographs obtained from Google Earth to which he had applied 

enhancement techniques to ascertain whether there had been traces of leisure 

Page 117



66 

use on the land over the period of the claim.  In short, he had picked up a 

number of paths and tracks showing in several of the photographs. He  

acknowledged that  some of the 1990s  photographs appeared to show the 

field under active cultivation.  The aerial photographs also showed the BMX 

track in the south-western corner and he deduced that that could be seen 

extending from around 2002 to 2007.  He noted a distinctive figure of eight 

track almost certainly made by bicycles in 2005 and that, by that stage. the 

field was in an uncultivated state, covered in rough grass  and additional poor 

quality scrub over a large area of the site. He attached an aerial image dated 

2008 from Google Earth showing that the field had been recently mown and 

pointing up “numerous paths traversing the field” including a path from the 

northern access point to the south-western BMX area.  He noted that the site 

thereafter continued under rough grassland rather than active cultivation.  He 

commented on some of Ms Cox’s conclusions noting that she admitted in her 

report leisure use for part of the period as being likely to have occurred by 

means of bicycles.  He said that a “sinuous joint track” which Ms Cox thought  

likely to have been made by motorcycles was more probably, in his opinion, 

made by bicycles and he therefore disagreed with her conclusion about that.  

He queried Ms Cox’s definition of cropping since he did not consider the 

mowing of scrub to constitute cropping. Finally, he confirmed that the use of 

the BMX area in the south-eastern corner had been ongoing for many years, 

stating “the BMX brigade have even constructed a camp with tables and chairs 

under the canopies of the trees which cannot be seen from the air., The extent 

Page 118



67 

of this activity demonstrates continuous use of this area since about 2004 

when the track first became apparent; even the farmer has acknowledged this 

activity by no longer managing the area.  This is a tacit agreement, the use of 

this area for leisure use.” 

 

6.70. Cross-examined, Mr Edwards explained that he was not an expert on aerial 

photography but that he did consider himself expert as a photographer.  Also, 

as a retired engineer, he was used to plans and maps and so on.  This was his 

first appraisal of aerial photography.  He agreed that several of the Objector’s 

aerial photographs showed agricultural use between the years of 1993 and 

1999 though he said that he did not consider that there was a substantial 

perimeter path until 2002.  Mr Edwards confirmed that his own use had been 

mainly walking and cycling round perimeter paths. He said that he would 

explore occasionally in the centre if he had seen interesting plants.  He did 

occasional dog walking for his neighbours.  When his grandchildren, who are 

now 12 and 8, were younger, they used the land often.  They lived in 

Chandlers Ford at that time.  Mainly in the spring, summer and autumn and 

they would look at interesting things on the periphery of the site in the hedges 

and they used the BMX area.  He agreed that the line of the paths in the 

photographs coincides with where the Edwards family mainly went except for 

occasional kite flying trips which would only happen once or twice a year 

because of the need for the right weather conditions and the right length of 

grass. 

 

Page 119



68 

6.71. He agreed that after the field was cut in August or September, the cuttings 

were left on the ground and he said that there would be sprigs of dry 

vegetation sticking up in lines, parts of which were prickly, especially the 

Goldenrod.  He did not bother walking across the land when the vegetation 

was higher and the vegetation would typically get to about adult waist height.  

He had produced a photograph of his grandchildren aged probably about 3 or 

4, and the vegetation was higher than their heads; that was typical.  He said 

that the central area was not very inviting unless he saw an interesting plant or 

flower.  People mainly walked on the footpath when they were on the field 

though the BMX area was where the children mainly congregated as he 

thought that nowhere else was more interesting for children. However, if 

children just wanted to have fun in a field, they would go to the site to do that. 

 

6.72. In re-examination he explained that the  grass around the perimeter was kept 

short by people walking it.  After the deep ploughing in 2014 there had been a 

change in the way that people used the land because it was so deep and 

rough that it was virtually impossible to walk into the centre.  Therefore people 

stopped using it because they could not access it.  He had not generally seen 

very much activity by other people in the centre of the field; a few years ago he 

had seen a lad with a radio aeroplane but he had not seen him for a long time 

and he said that he had not really seen anyone else in the centre of the field.  

He is usually there between 10 o’clock and 11 o’clock in the mornings, taking 

a turn around the field for exercise. 

 

Page 120



69 

6.73. I asked Mr Edwards some questions about Areas 2 and 3. He described Area 

2 as having much bigger trees now and much more overgrown generally than 

it had been in the earlier 2000s.  He said that he had purely used that area to 

access Top Field and he described it as very prickly and overgrown with some 

little paths through it.   Area 3, he said, was pretty overgrown and he did not 

think that he had seen people going into it because it was so rough, though 

there was the odd path used for access to the peripheral path. 

 
Summary of my Findings 

6.73.1. Generally I found Mr Edwards to be an extremely helpful and 

reliable witness.  He gave his evidence clearly, carefully and 

very fairly and I feel able in consequence to give it 

considerable weight. 

 
 

Mrs Rosemary Margaret Clarke, 16 Ilex Close, King’s Worthy, SO23 7TL 

6.74. Mrs Clarke is 68 years old and is a retired headmistress.  She has lived in 

King’s Worthy since 1985, initially at Cundell Way until 1993 when she moved 

to Ilex Close.  Mrs Clarke made a witness statement, signed on  31st August 

2016 and appended a map on which she had sketched her accesses and 

areas of activity.  The Field is directly behind her house and her garden gate 

opens onto the Application Site as do the gates of all the other houses that 

back onto the site in this area.  She had accessed the field from Ilex Close, 

Hookpit Farm Lane, the disused railway line, Woodhams Farm, and 

Page 121



70 

Springvale Road depending on her route.  On each occasion she had been 

able to access without restriction, she had never been challenged nor had she 

seen any fencing.  She described in her witness statement one day seeing a 

“flimsy A4 notice” saying “Private Property” but that had disappeared by the 

next day.   

 

6.75. She did not remember any crops being grown on the field and she had only 

seen grass cut on a couple of occasions when it was several feet high; the 

grass was not used but left to rot.  However she did not really use the land 

until 2006 when she retired.  Between her retirement and 2013 she used to 

walk her dog almost daily and sometimes twice a day on the land.  She had 

seen children riding their bikes through the middle of the field and she met 

many other dog walkers on most days, also encountering cyclists, runners, 

walkers, bird watchers, horse riders and children playing.  Every summer it 

seemed, she said, “a rite of passage for teenagers to camp on Top Field”.  

She made a number of written comments on the Objections and the 

statements in support but I shall not summarise those as most of these points 

were taken up with the witnesses by Mr Wilmshurst on Mrs Clarke’s behalf. 

 

6.76. In cross-examination, Mrs Clarke agreed that she was the Chair of TFAG 

which is a group with about 100 members.  When asked whether that role had 

coloured her evidence, she said “I am not sure that’s true”.  Mr Webster 

discussed with Mrs Clarke various matters concerning conversations between 

the group and the Objector’s representatives.  He also asked Mrs Clarke why 

Page 122



71 

TFAG had not produced witnesses who had contributed to the Parish 

Council’s application for a section 53 Modification Order.  Mrs Clarke 

explained that TFAG had not had access to the list, so they did not know who 

those people were.  The questionnaires for the TVG application were simply 

passed to people who expressed interest.  Many people had not been 

prepared to take part in a formal Inquiry.  The Parish Council had also 

declined to be involved.  Five of the inquiry witnesses were members of TFAG 

- Mrs Clarke, Mr Edwards, Mrs Mould and Mr McCleery and one other. None 

of those who had simply submitted written evidence were members of the 

group. 

 
6.77. Turning to her user evidence, Mrs Clarke clarified in cross-examination that 

the tracks in Area 2 to which she referred were between the trees and wide 

enough for one person but with tree cover above them.  One could go from 

Ilex Close to the perimeter path on these small tracks or walk further south 

behind the houses on Tudor Way.  She generally stayed on the tracks but 

occasionally deviated from them.  Asked about her recollection of crops, she 

said that she could not remember any at all from 1993 when she moved there. 

She accepted that she hardly ever went there at this time but said that her 

house was close by and she could not remember seeing or smelling any crops 

such as oil seed rape.  She explained that from 2006 onwards, since the land 

had been in set-aside, there were areas in the centre where the rosebay 

willowherb and goldenrod did not grow, that  areas of growth were not uniform 

and there were places where one could get through the vegetation.  These 

Page 123



72 

were not tracks and they were not worn through to the soil.  She agreed that 

walking on the perimeter paths was more pleasant and easier with children 

and elderly people and was indeed where most people walked.  She qualified 

this by saying that if one had an animal that ran off one would go and find it off 

the path.  Children on the other hand, she said, liked to be “off-piste” and she 

had seen many of them on bikes or walking in the central area.  She agreed 

that many children would have been making for the BMX area. 

 

6.78. Re-examined, she said that she did have a positive memory of making some 

use of Area 2 in the 1990s but she was unable to be precise about that and 

she had no recollection of using Area 3 then. 

 
Summary of my Findings 

 
6.78.1. I found Mrs Clarke to be a clear and helpful witness who was 

undoubtedly seeking to assist the Inquiry.  Whilst I understand 

why Mr Webster put points to her about balance as a result of 

her role within TFAG, I am quite satisfied that her evidence was 

objective and was not coloured by the undoubtedly strong views 

which she holds about the Objector’s development proposals for 

the area. 

   

6.78.2. Turning to the substance of her evidence, she was properly 

cautious about giving any detailed evidence prior to 2006 and 

she is therefore only able to speak with authority as to the final 

Page 124



73 

quarter of the relevant period.  She did that clearly and my 

overall impression of what she said was that although the 

majority of user was concentrated around the perimeter paths, 

there was a certain amount of straying off them, especially by 

children and  animals, and that the central Main Field, although 

covered with long vegetation, was clearly passable in places. 

 
 

Mr Colin Cossburn,  Le Vallon, Hookpit Farm Lane, King’s Worthy SO23 7NA 

6.79. Mr Cossburn made a  witness statement signed on  1st September 2016 and 

appended a map showing a number of routes, including the perimeter paths, 

the Hookpit Farm Lane access and two paths across the Main Field.  Mr 

Cossburn did not attend the inquiry.  

 

6.80. He and his wife have lived at their present address since 1980 and their house 

is some 50 metres from the Hookpit Farm Lane entrance track.  He said that 

the family had used the land for exercise, collecting blackberries, kite flying 

and gathering  wild flowers.  Throughout the period of their residence, he 

described taking a monthly stroll across the field but it is not entirely clear 

whether or not the frequency of user was monthly throughout his residence. 

 
6.81. He stated that Top Field had, during his 36 years of living there, “been home 

to horses, cows and cereal crops for intermittent and irregular periods”.  

Nevertheless, what he described as the “infrequency” of agricultural activities 

had led to at least two periods when travellers have taken up residence.  He 

did not give dates for these events.  He was clear, however, that Area 2 had 

never been cropped and he noted that this absence of agriculture had enabled 

Page 125



74 

the area to become heavily covered in scrub and larger native species such as 

blackthorn, elder and hawthorn. 

 
Summary of my Findings 

 
6.81.1. As Mr Cossburn did not attend the inquiry, I cannot give this 

statement the weight which I might otherwise have done.  In 

particular, it is generalised with regard to dates and areas and 

there was no opportunity to clarify matters with him. I note, 

however, that he appears to remember crops at some point.  

 

Mr Leigh Henderson, La Croix, Mortimer Close, King’s Worthy, SO23 7QX 

6.82. Mr Henderson made a witness statement, signed on 3rd September 2016. He 

has lived at his current address, about one mile away from the land, since 

1993.  Prior to 1993, he lived elsewhere in King’s Worthy, about 400 metres 

away.  He stated that, as a lifelong long-distance runner, he had trained 

several times per week since moving to King’s Worthy, primarily using 

footpaths and bridleways on a circuit which included the Application Site.  

Whilst there, he used the perimeter paths and observed various people 

camping in the central area and occasionally people walking dogs around the 

central area also.  He remembered the land being ploughed in 2014 but did 

not remember any crops.  Nor had he seen any barriers except gates onto 

Hookpit Farm Lane, which he said seemed to be designed to prevent vehicular 

traffic rather than pedestrian access. 

Page 126



75 

 

Summary of my Findings 

 

6.82.1. As Mr Henderson did not attend the Inquiry, it was not possible 

to obtain any more detail of his generalised picture; therefore I 

can only give this evidence limited weight. 

 

Mrs Christine Player, The Cedar House, Avington, Winchester SO21 1DE 

6.83. Mrs Christine Player made a witness statement signed on 7th September 

2016.  She stated that she moved to King’s Worthy in 1979 with her husband 

and two daughters.  From her home at 4 The Pastures, she used to walk her 

dog to Hookpit Farm Lane and then across the fields along the disused railway 

line.  She had no difficulty gaining access to the Application Land.  In 1984 the 

family moved to 3 Tudor Road which backs on to Area 2 or 3. She used to 

walk round or through the field every day until December 2004.  She trained 

her gun dogs on the rough triangle behind her house and met many people 

walking their dogs.  She said that her children used to walk home from King’s 

Worthy primary school, meeting her at the end of the Bishops Way path so 

that they did not have to cross Springvale Road.  They had picnics there and 

in the summer she would collect blackberries from the bottom of her garden.  

She described an incursion by travellers in 1995 and said that during their 

presence she was deterred from walking round the field.  She noted the 

creation of the BMX area.  She moved out of the locality in December 2004. 

 

Page 127



76 

Summary of my Findings 

6.83.1. It is unfortunate that Mrs Player did not attend the inquiry, so it 

was not possible to explore, in particular, her evidence about 

Areas 2/3 in the earlier part of the period.  Mrs Player completed 

a s.53 questionnaire in March 2001 and it would also have been 

useful to discuss that with her, especially as she referred in it to 

Mr Bright’s ploughing practices.  In the circumstances, I can 

only give limited weight to her evidence to this inquiry.  

Mr Malcolm Robertson, Pilgrim House, 4 Laburnum Drive, King’s Worthy, 

SO23 7LR 

6.84. Mr Robertson made a witness statement, signed on 4th September 2016.  He 

has lived at his current address since May 1999 and the property adjoins the 

Application Land.  He and his family took their dog for daily walks on the field 

around the perimeter as well as across the field when crops were not being 

grown.  He remembered crops being grown for the first couple of years.  The 

field gave access to walks through to the wider Woodhams Farm area via the 

disused railway line.  Mr Robertson’s children spent time playing on the land 

and he remembered their friends creating the BMX track which they enjoyed 

between the years of 2002 and 2004.  The family’s dog died in 2013 but they 

continue to use the Application Land for walks, photography and bike rides. 

 

Summary of my Findings 

6.84.1. Once again because this was simply a written statement it was 

not possible to seek greater detail of the general pattern of use 

Page 128



77 

which Mr Robertson describes.  I therefore accord it less weight 

than oral evidence. I note his recollection of crops in his early 

years. Mr Robertson also produced three photographs 

representing the years 2006 through to 2010, but without the 

opportunity to discuss with him where the photographs were 

taken, they are not of great assistance although they do help to 

form a pattern showing a distinct difference between the 

perimeter path and the much taller vegetation in the centre of 

the main field. 

 

Mr Anthony Stephens, Willow End, The Pastures, King’s Worthy, SO23 7LX 

6.85. Mr Stephens made a witness statement, signed on 1st September 2016.  He is 

69 years of age, and retired.  He and his wife have lived at their present 

address since May 1998. Previously they lived in another village.  They had 

used the land for leisure walking, casual bird watching and dog walking.  Mr 

Stephens said that his first impression of the land was of an unmanaged field 

which formed a lovely wildlife habitat.  Their general route on the land would 

tend to be around the perimeter as the centre part was overgrown and they 

would sometimes approach the site from the old railway line.  He had seen 

many other leisure walkers, dog walkers, joggers and children playing along 

the footpaths over the 18 years that he had been using the land.  He had 

noticed signs of it being used by youngsters, possibly in the late evenings, as 

the remnants of camp fires and motor cycle and bike tracks could be seen.  He 

Page 129



78 

had never experienced any difficulty in gaining access to the land since they 

arrived in 1998.  He had never seen any crops growing in the field. 

 

Summary of my Findings 

 
6.85.1. Because Mr Stephens did not attend the Inquiry I must give this 

statement less weight than evidence which was  tested orally.  I 

note that he does not remember seeing any crops growing in 

the field but it is clear from contemporaneous evidence that 

there would have been crops there in May 1998 when Mr 

Stephens arrived and that he was making deductions about 

evening activities which he did not witness.  

 

Mr David Witts, 6 Frampton Way, King’s Worthy SO23 7QE 

6.86. Mr Witts made a witness statement, signed on 29th August 2016.  He is aged 

57 and lives in Frampton Way with his wife and son.  Their daughter also lived 

there but has now left for University.  They moved to this address in July 1993 

and prior to that lived outside the locality.  Their home is approximately three 

quarters of a mile away from the Application Land, from which it is accessed 

via the old railway path.  They had used the land irregularly while resident in 

the village, probably about 7 or 8 times each year, for recreational walks and  

picking blackberries and sloes in season.  Sometimes it had been a walk in its 

own right, sometimes it provided a route to other, longer walks.  Most of their 

walking had been confined to the edges of the field.  At no time had they been 

Page 130



79 

prevented from entering the land.  During their walks, they had met other 

people walking or blackberrying, exercising dogs, riding bikes, kite flying etc.   

Dog walkers and other walkers would be on the paths but kite flyers and a 

father teaching his son to ride a bicycle were on what is described as the 

“unploughed part of the field towards where the old railway junction is located”.  

They had seen children using the BMX track and his daughter, while at 

secondary school and college, used the field to meet friends in the summer 

holidays and hold informal parties and camp.  They had never seen any crops 

being grown. 

 

Summary of my Findings 

 
6.86.1. Again, because this was purely a written statement, I cannot 

give it as much weight as the oral evidence.  In particular, it was 

not possible to clarify the unploughed part of the field to which 

Mr Witts referred. 

 

Mrs Iris Males, 124, Springvale Road, King’s Worthy SO23 7RB 

Mrs Males made a witness statement, signed on 7th September 2016. She has 

lived at her current address since 2005 with her  family. She said that their 

house backs onto “the wooded area leading to Top Field” and that there is a 

path there which they have used to access the field since their arrival in 

February 2005. Once on the field, they have undertaken a variety of activities 

including: dog walking around and across the field twice a day until it was 

Page 131



80 

ploughed in 2014, whereupon they had to stick to paths; sons riding bikes 

across the middle section; kicking a ball; picking blackberries; cutting foliage 

for flower arranging; kite flying /rocket launching, although this had been made 

harder as a result of the 2014 ploughing; litter picking. Bike riding had declined 

in the last two to three years as her boys are less interested in it now. She said 

that they had seen dog walkers, many of them regulars, cyclists, walkers, 

horse riders, young people camping and others flying kites and picking 

blackberries. She had never been prevented from using the land or seen signs 

or gates to prevent them from entering it. She said that she could think of “at 

least 5 access points for the general public”, as well as many other private 

ones from back gardens. 

 

6.87. Mrs Male attached three photographs: two of the family dogs exercising on 

Top Field in December 2007 and one from February 2013 of the family 

launching a rocket. 

Summary of my Findings 

6.87.1. It is a pity that Mrs Males did not attend the inquiry, as this short 

statement contained a great deal of information and it would 

have been useful to clarify details as to precise locations and 

quantum of user. I note, also, that she draws a distinction 

between using the path through land at the rear of her house, 

which is very close to Mr Bell’s house at No. 126A, and the area 

which she calls Top Field itself. It appears to me that, by Top 

Page 132



81 

Field, she means the area known to the inquiry as Main Field, 

rather than Areas 2 or 3, but it is impossible to be certain. As a 

written statement only, I must give this evidence less weight 

than the oral evidence.    

 

Mrs Norma Patricia Parsons, The Firs, Hookpit Farm Lane, King’s Worthy 

6.88. Mrs Parsons spoke as a member of the public rather than for either the 

Applicant or the Objector.  She and/or her husband had filled in two 

questionnaires but she did not speak about these.  She had known the land 

for some 13 years and used it in 2003; she described herself as an occasional 

user.  She did not, however, want to elaborate on that and said nothing further 

of relevance to the determination of the TVG applications. 

 

 FURTHER DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE PRODUCED IN SUPPORT OF 

THE APPLICATIONS 

7.1. I have described above the Application materials and referred to the 

questionnaires which have been summarised in the agreed, appended 

schedule. I have explained why I consider it necessary to treat these 

questionnaires with caution. Generally speaking, they corroborate the 

evidence of the witnesses who gave oral evidence, in terms of accesses to the 

land and activities undertaken there. Some refer to notices and fencing, 

especially in the most recent period, once Area 1 was being developed. By the 

very nature of the forms, however, specific locational and temporal details are 

Page 133



82 

not usually given. Moreover, all the maps attached to the questionnaires show 

the whole of the original Application VG 262 site, rather than the reduced 

version, let alone the VG 267 site. Therefore there is the possibility that some 

of the claimed activities might have taken place outside the Application Sites 

which I am considering.  

 

7.2. The main activity cited is walking, with or without dogs, but  respondents 

generally do not say whether this walking occurred on the perimeter or other 

paths or tracks, or comprised more general roaming.  Other activities which 

feature regularly in the forms are jogging, berry picking, bicycle riding / BMX 

play, nature watching / study, train watching, enjoying views, kite flying, 

photography, sitting. Several respondents mention having witnessed horse 

riding.  

 
    

7.3. During the adjournment before the final day of the inquiry, Mrs Clarke 

submitted some newsletters of a group called “Worthys Conservation 

Volunteers”, dating from July 2006, July 2008, July 2009 and July 2011. Mr 

Webster did not object to this material being submitted late, but there was, of 

course, no chance to examine its provenance or contents with Mrs Clarke or 

the other witnesses.  

 

7.4. The letters report the following events: a botanical survey and plant 

recognition study on 20th July 2006; a butterfly field study and survey on 20th 

July 2006; a butterfly field study on 18th and 25th July 2009; and a butterfly 

Page 134



83 

field study on 17th July 2011. The 2006 letters were written by Mr Edwards,  

who gave evidence, as summarised above. The others were written by Gail 

Alexander. They record visits made by groups of varying sizes – the 2006 

letter has a photograph of 11 people; the 2008 publication refers to a “select 

group of four”; there were 6 in 2009; in 2011, the letter says, “We were a 

slightly more informal and larger group of people and children than in previous 

surveys”. The 2006 photograph shows the group standing on the perimeter 

path, listening to the leader (presumably Mr Edwards), who stands a little way 

into the vegetation adjoining the path.  

 

7.5. One of the 2006 letters states that “Before the session there had been some 

discussion between Michael Edwards and the farmer, Nigel Bright of Hookpit 

Farm, to seek his tacit approval for the meeting. Much of Top Field is leased 

from the owner-developers by Hookpit Farm as set aside land and is cut on an 

annual basis. Normally the cut would have been made in late June or early 

July but Nigel Bright has seemingly and kindly delayed this work to suit our 

needs.” The letter also reports that “Towards the end of the afternoon we did a 

brief survey of the scrub wood at the eastern end of Top Field”. Evidently Mr 

Edwards returned to the land on his own to “enlarge the coverage and 

produce an overview photographic record of Top Field.”   

   

This letter continues with a description of the area, as follows:  

"Most of the Top Field was the Hill Field of Hookpit Farm and a 
small section near the Mid-Hants Railway was probably a part of 
Vikes’ holding.  Subsequent changes in land use in the 20th century 
isolated the field, which then became stranded between two 

Page 135



84 

railways and substantial housing developments.  Currently the land 
is part of a developers’ land-bank and the centre flat area is farms 
as set-aside by Hookpit Farm.  Consequently it is understood that 
little or no intensive use of this land has been made for several 
decades, apart from one annual cutting.  Development plans are in 
hand for peripheral parts of the site but the meadow area is 
currently designated for eventual use by the village as recreational 
land for dog-walking and the like. 
 
This land-use history has resulted in the development of a diverse 
meadow-land flora which is attractive to both local residents and to 
a great variety of insect life including many species of butterfly and 
countless grass-hoppers. 
 
There are very substantial areas of Canadian Goldenrod and 
Rosebay Willowherb across the site and especially on the rough 
land adjacent to Hookpit Farm Lane.  This overabundance would 
diminish if the field were even more sympathetically managed. 
 
There are also fair numbers of Ragwort plants but these are a 
positive asset as they attract Cinnabar moths and other interesting 
insects.  As the field is not grazed and not suitable for horse-riding, 
no action would require taking despite its presence attracting 
possible adverse comment. 
 
Several well-grown Buddleia bushes are dotted about thus further 
improving the potential for a wide variety of Butterflies. 
 
The field is about 9 hectares in extent (about 22 acres) with a 
substantial area sloping off at the northern edge down to Hookpit 
Farm Lane.  This area is part of an ongoing housing development 
plan.  The set aside land tapers off along a line a little west of the 
rear boundary of the properties bordering Springvale Road, and 
here the tall meadow area, partly marked out by wooden posts 
hidden in the grass, is somewhat overgrown and dotted with scrub 
species such as Hawthorn.  It seems likely that this eastern area 
was last cut some years ago, it at all recently (sic).  Below this point 
the field degenerates into a considerable area of scrub woodland 
which then melds into the back gardens of adjacent properties.  
There is also a considerable amount of scrub over to the south 
eastern corner of the field and bordering the old Mid-Hants railway 
line. 
 
Scrub areas consist largely of Hawthorn, Buckthorn, Blackthorn, 
Dogwood and other local hedgerow species mingled with Elder, 
Sallow and some Hazel.  Many of the trees and scrub bushes are 

Page 136



85 

well grown and present a fairly impenetrable thicket much used by 
birds and other fauna.  Local home-owners are known to use the 
thicket for recreational purposes going to and from the field and also 
for gathering in-season blackberries and the like. 
 
Provision is due to be made for the designation of already well-used 
paths as official footpaths for recreational purposes including dog 
walking. 
 
The flora of Top Field, both in the set-aside area, and elsewhere is 
interesting but contains no rare of unusual species.  This is not 
unexpected in relatively recent meadow land somewhat isolated 
from similar fields and grassland seed banks.  It is however of 
considerable value as an attractive recreational resource and will in 
due time, and with due care, develop an even more varied and 
interesting flora.” 
 
 

7.6. The subsequent letters are much less detailed and do not contain any 

description of the state of the land or deal with the question of permission.  

 

7.7. As I have said above, I was impressed with Mr Edwards’ oral evidence. I found 

him to be a witness who was conspicuously careful, accurate and fair. I 

therefore give considerable weight to the 2006 newsletters since they offer a 

useful contemporaneous description of the land. I nevertheless bear in mind 

that some of the statements contained in them are hearsay, that Mr Edwards 

is a relatively recent resident / user (resident from 2000 but only using the land 

regularly from 2005) and is not an expert botanist, which limitations are 

relevant to his comments about the intensity or otherwise of use of the Main 

Field in previous decades and user by neighbouring residents of the scrub 

areas.     

 
 

Page 137



86 

 OBJECTOR’S WITNESSES 

Mr Nigel Bright, Hookpit Farm, Hookpit Farm Lane, King’s Worthy,  SO21 

2RP 

8.1. As set out above, Mr Bright and his father both farmed the land for many 

years.  Mr Bright Junior took a yearly agricultural tenancy in or about 1985 and 

this tenancy continued until 2013.  He also said in his witness statement, 

signed on 22nd January 2016, that immediately prior to his occupation, the 

land had been used for cattle by a previous tenant but the local residents who 

liked to use the field for dog walking would often cut the barbed wire.  Mr 

Bright recalls that on one occasion there were three or four incidents of this in 

one day.  As a result, he used the land only for arable purposes from about 

1985 to 2013, growing various crops consisting of wheat, barley, rape seed oil 

and later on setting-aside the land.  He visited the land about 20 times a year 

to attend to tasks such as ploughing, feeding and harvesting.  There was the 

odd occasion when he was called to the land because a youngster on a 

motorbike was making mischief.  Apart from that his only knowledge of 

members of the public using the land during his tenancy was when locals used 

to walk around the perimeter. He stated that he was aware that Gleesons and 

Dunnings, as owners during his tenancy, would maintain and replace secure 

fences around the perimeter.  He explained the procedures for arable use of 

the land as follows.  In the autumn the ground would be prepared for the 

season ahead.  The crop would usually grow through the spring and the 

harvest would take place in July and August, although this pattern would 

Page 138



87 

change depending on what he was growing.  Rape seed would be harvested 

in September, barley in spring and wheat in winter.   

 

8.2. Mr Bright enclosed with his witness statement his Crop Records which he was 

obliged to submit to the Ministry and I shall return to those later.  He said that 

there was usually no evidence of activity by local people other than the tracks 

where they could walk around the perimeter.  The land would either be 

ploughed and muddy or thick with crop deterring people from using it. Very 

rarely, he said, someone might have damaged a small amount of the crop but 

it was largely intact every year.  He stated that certainly the land was not being 

used generally for leisure purposes and had it been, he would have been 

unable to farm  it successfully for arable crops.   

 
8.3. Having reviewed his records, which he produced in evidence, he was able to 

confirm that between the years of 2002 and 2013 he set-aside the land.  He 

also stated that every year during the period of set-aside he would visit to mow 

and maintain the land and, apart from the occasional nuisance caused by a 

youth on a motor cycle, he was not aware during this set-aside period of any 

leisure use of the land. 

 
8.4. In oral evidence in chief, Mr Bright confirmed that the records from 1993 to 

1999 were “the definitive records” and that they were accurate.  He was asked 

about the statement which he made in connection with the section 53 footpath 

application, summarised above in  an extract from the Footpath Officer’s 

Report.  In that statement he said that he knew that the field had been fenced 

Page 139



88 

by the landlord several times and that these fences had usually been torn 

down or cut through and furthermore that the landlord had erected a large 

gate and fence after the traveller problem.  He said in that statement that the 

landlord had told him never to stop people from walking but he added that he 

considered the fences to be proof of the landlord’s intentions.  Speaking 

personally he had said, “I have been quite happy with an unofficial path 

running around the field and have never tried to stop people walking there as I 

wish to maintain good relations with the local people” and he added in that 

statement that he told a representative of the Ramblers’ Association that as far 

as he was concerned the route was an unofficial path.  That earlier written 

statement was signed and dated 15th May 2001.  In his oral evidence to the 

Inquiry, Mr Bright added that he deliberately did not take on responsibility for 

re-fencing the land when he became the tenant because he was aware that 

the fencing had been torn down so many times in the past.  He also explained 

that after 2001 when the land went into set-aside he regarded himself as still 

farming, the set-aside  being part of his legally required 8% of such land. 

 

8.5. In cross-examination, Mr Bright clarified that he had taken over the land in 

September 1985 and that he signed the tenancy at Michaelmas in that year.  

Prior to that he had started to clear the land in 1984, it having previously been 

let to a grazier whose name he could not remember.  When Mr Bright became 

personally involved with the land again in 1984 he found that people had 

broken down the fences.  The land had been grazed from 1966 to 1984.  He 

also confirmed that he had not had a tenancy of Areas 2 and 3 during the 

Page 140



89 

relevant period and had carried out no agricultural activities on them.  

Questioned about his record keeping, Mr Bright confirmed that he had filled in 

the fields data sheet himself and that it reflected the fact that 5.53ha of land 

inside the perimeter paths was sown with Barley and a 0.66  hectare area 

inside the demise was rough ground.  Using the 1993 aerial photograph as a 

guide, Mr Bright pointed out that his tenancy extended to include the south-

western corner of the Application Site but he explained that he had not farmed 

that part of the land and had therefore  not included it within his IAX return to 

the Ministry of Agriculture Fisheries and Food. The colouration shown on the 

aerial photograph for the 20th March 1993 clearly reflected that. 

 

8.6. Mr Bright was adamant, when explaining about his crop rotation, that the time 

during which stubble would have been in the ground was limited to one month 

in general and possibly an extra week or so depending on the weather.  He 

was also very clear that during the 1990s it was principally him doing the work 

on the land rather than employees.  He said that he would have visited the 

land on average 20 times a year to carry out various farming tasks. 

 

8.7. Asked about the statement he made in connection with the s.53 application in 

2001, Mr Bright said that he had been happy with the arrangement as 

described in that statement, i.e. people walking on a perimeter path around the 

field.  He said “if they walked round outside that produced no inconvenience to 

me if they didn’t damage crops”.  He stated that he “interfered with anyone 

who went on the crop when I saw them”.  I asked Mr Bright whether people did 

Page 141



90 

or could have walked or cycled or thrown balls for dogs without causing 

damage to crops and Mr Bright replied that he could quite easily tell if such 

things had happened.  In the extreme he said that one would see a pathway 

whereas a single incursion would produce a line of bent plants.  He added that 

it would be very strange for people accurately always to follow a tractor line.  

In answer to Mr Wilmshurst, Mr Bright explained that he worked predominantly 

during the hours of daylight on the land although occasionally during harvest 

times he would work at night.  He recalled having worked on the land at 

weekends although he could not any longer specify precisely which weekends.  

Asked about Areas 2 and 3, he initially said that he could really only comment 

on the Main Field area but he did agree that he had seen some dog walkers 

on those areas – “probably one or two if I was there for an hour or two, 

although I can’t swear to that”. 

 

8.8. Mr Bright said that the Hookpit Farm Lane entrance had been gated and 

locked twice.  He agreed that that area was specifically fenced to prevent 

traveller access and he clarified in answer to me that the “hippie incursion” 

was  predominantly in Area 3 and slightly in the eastern part of Area 2.  He 

thought that the gating had also been intended to prevent the creation of a 

public right of way.  He said that the gate had been put there by the landlord.  

He explained that it was this action which he had in mind when saying in his 

s.53 statement and earlier in his oral evidence that he understood that no 

public right of way could accrue if there was let or hindrance and he 

interpreted this conduct as let or hindrance.  He stated that within a few years 

Page 142



91 

the gate was pulled down.  He concluded that, as far as he was concerned, 

people went round the outside of the field which was no trouble to him. 

 
 

8.9. Questions were put to him about the central area of the land, firstly from the 

period 1993 to 2000 and then in respect of the period 2000 to 2013.  Dealing 

with the first period, he said that occasionally he caught children on the 

cropped area as he had described earlier.  A more common problem was 

motorbikes but during the 1990s, he said, “we farmed quite happily.  Everyone 

walked round the edge and all was happy”.  He said that problems in the 

1990s with motorbikes were rare and were usually confined to the period when 

there was stubble on the land.  Mr Bright said that he did not have much of a 

problem with children playing in the crops during this period – it was confined 

to a few times a year.  Turning to the latter period, he agreed that there had 

been problems with motorbikes when the land was in set—aside with people 

complaining and the police attending.  He had been involved in trying to deal 

with these problems on occasions.  Mr Wilmshurst asked many questions 

about the cropping although he prefaced this by saying that he did not 

question the fact that Mr Bright had filled in the forms properly and correctly.  

After detailed cross examination on the potential for members of the public to 

mistake various crops for grass, Mr Bright concluded that he found such an 

idea “remarkable”.  He said that the land had been ploughed every year up to 

2000 and he found it “strange” that people would not have recognised that.  

Some of the crops, he agreed, would look like grass in their early stages but 

Page 143



92 

he explained that they would quickly grow and that it would become obvious 

that they were crops rather than simple grass.  He also confirmed that he was 

quite certain that the area which he seeded each year  covered the full extent 

of the area inside the perimeter track.  Asked about the ease of walking 

through stubble, he said that it would be possible although “extremely 

uncomfortable”.  He said that walking would be easier on the perimeter path 

and he reiterated that he had not seen people trespassing on the crops.  

Dealing with the 2000 to 2013 period, he agreed that his visits to the land were 

less frequent during this period than previously and he stated again that 

people “tended to walk in the worn area on the outside”.  He saw people in the 

middle but “very rarely, just walking”.  He agreed that he was legally required 

to mow the land and that it would have been possible to walk across the 

central area once it had been mown. 

 

8.10. Re-examined, Mr Bright confirmed that the King’s Worthy area is and was 

predominantly comprised of arable land cropped with cereals.  Mr Bright 

described oil seed rape as having a cabbagy smell, a distinctive flower and  

growing into “a complete tangle” which was very difficult to get through.  Asked 

if there was anything distinctive about it and whether people would know of it if 

they were living close by, he said that people do sometimes complain about it. 

 
 

Summary of my Findings 

 

Page 144



93 

8.10.1. I found Mr Bright to be a clear and helpful witness who was 

doing his best to assist the Inquiry.  He had a good and detailed 

recollection of the land for the whole of the period 1993 to 2013 

and indeed before that.  Insofar as he gave expert evidence 

about farming practice and the appearance of crops, I take into 

account his long experience as an arable farmer and give this 

evidence considerable weight. 

 

Mr Alastair Wilson BSC (Hons), MSC, MRICSFAAV 

8.11. Mr Wilson is a Chartered Surveyor specialising in rural practice.  He has 17 

years’ professional experience advising farmers and landowners in Hampshire 

and Southern England.  He is a partner at BCM and prior to joining that firm he 

worked in Winchester with James Harris and Savills.  BCM are a specialist 

rural asset management business based near Winchester, managing over 

75,000 acres of land in Hampshire and surrounding counties.  In his witness 

statement, which was signed on 7th September 2016, he explained that he had 

been instructed by the Objector to assess and interpret the agricultural records 

forming part of Mr Bright’s evidence.  In view of Mr Wilmshurst’s acceptance 

during the cross-examination of Mr Bright that the agricultural records had 

been accurately completed, I shall not summarise the detailed explanation of 

the forms in question which Mr Wilson gave in his oral evidence.  He made a 

summary of the contents of the records and his assessment  of what would 

have happened in practice on the land which was not the subject of challenge 

Page 145



94 

in cross-examination although he readily accepted that he had not been 

present on the land at the time.  I now set out that summary. 

 

8.12. The crops disclosed by the records are as follows: 

 
 

1993 Winter Barley, 1994 Winter Oil Seed Rape, 1995 Winter Wheat, 

1996 Winter Wheat, 1997 Winter Oats, 1999 Winter Oil Seed Rape, 2000 

– 2012 natural regeneration. 

 
Mr Wilson explained that there were no records for 1998 which are available 

but he made the assumption, having taken into consideration the crop rotation 

for the rest of the period, that it would be “fair to assume that the crop for 

harvest in 1998 would be Winter Barley as this crop is commonly used before 

entering into a break crop of Winter Oil Seed Rape”.  He described the 

processes of cultivation for these crops which were broadly speaking similar 

and would have entailed the land being ploughed, prepared and drilled in 

September each year then sown at the end of September with plants emerging 

to a height of around 5cm about two weeks after drilling in each case.  

Different crops would grow to different heights and thicknesses as follows: 

 

Winter Barley 60-70cm; Winter Oil Seed Rape 100-130cm; Winter Oats 

60-70cm.  

 

Page 146



95 

Winter Barley would have been ready for cropping by late July although 

depending on seasonal conditions it might not have ripened until early August.  

In Mr Wilson’s unchallenged opinion the crop would have been extremely thick 

by late July which would have meant that people were unable to walk through 

it unless by trampling.  After harvest, Winter Barley, straw would be left in rows 

for baling, bales then being stacked in the fields for a few days before removal.  

Winter Oil Seed Rape would, in Mr Wilson’s unchallenged opinion, be 

extremely thick and come into a bright yellow flower by late May/June, with 

people unable to walk through the crop unless by pushing their way through 

and causing damage.  All crops would have been sprayed periodically through 

the growing season but Rape would have been desiccated using a herbicide in 

preparation for harvest in July.  That process of desiccation usually takes 10 to 

14 days and the crop would have been ready to harvest in late July/early 

August.  After harvest, there would have been residual stubble of some 15-

20cm which, in Mr Wilson’s unchallenged opinion, would have limited any 

activity taking place on the land.  This would normally have been left until 

sowing of Winter Wheat in September.  Winter Wheat would, by June/July, be 

extremely thick, meaning that people could not walk through it unless by 

trampling, similar to Winter Barley.  By August Winter Wheat would be ready 

for combining, though depending on seasonal conditions it might not ripen until 

mid to late August.  Harvesting and baling would have been similar to the 

process for Barley.  After removal of bales, the common practice is to subsoil 

the tramlines to reduce compaction before cultivating and drilling the next crop.  

Page 147



96 

Winter Oats would also be extremely thick by June or July with people unable 

to walk through that crop in Mr Wilson’s unchallenged opinion unless by 

trampling, as for Barley and Wheat.  By August, Winter Oats would be ready 

for combining though depending on seasonal conditions the crop might not 

ripen until mid to late August.  After harvest, the baling process would have 

been similar to that for Wheat and Barley and, once again, subsoiling tramlines 

would have been likely. 

 

8.13. Mr Wilson explained that during the period of natural regeneration between 

2000 and 2012, there would still have been a requirement for set-aside land to 

be managed.  Under this system the vegetation would have been allowed to 

grow through the year, following which it would be cut in August or September.  

Vegetation would have included self-seeding blackthorn bushes, small 

saplings, grass tussocks and weeds which would have grown in some places 

to 1.5 metres high and would have included a thick ground cover of brambles. 

 

8.14. Mr Wilson’s expert opinion, as I have said, was not directly challenged by Mr 

Wilmshurst, although he pointed out and Mr Wilson agreed, that he had not 

visited the land between 1993 and 2013 and that he had not been familiar with 

Mr Bright’s particular farming practices at the time that he made his statement.  

He accepted that he was not an expert on aerial photography and I have 

therefore not summarised the comment which he made on the aerial 

photographs since the expert Ms Cox  dealt with that evidence in detail. 

 

Page 148



97 

8.15. Mr Wilson defended his conclusion that the land would not have been 

available for recreation during the relevant periods, saying that he had 

reached this view based on the farming records as well as his review of the 

photographs and that he had firmly formed the opinion that the land had been 

cropped for agricultural purposes. 

 
Summary of my Findings 

8.15.1. Mr Wilson gave expert opinion evidence rather than direct 

historical evidence.  Nevertheless I found his evidence to be 

responsibly compiled and delivered and as I have said, there 

was no challenge to the conclusions which he reached from the 

cropping records.   I recognise that he is not an expert in aerial 

photography and I prefer to deal with the aerial photography on 

the basis of the expert evidence of Ms Cox which I summarise 

later in this Report. 

 

 
Mrs Judith Steventon Baker, 11 Churchill Close, King’s Worthy, SO23 7PD 

8.16. Mrs Steventon Baker made a witness statement, signed on 19th January 2016.  

She has lived in the locality since January 2008 and has been a Parish 

Councillor since May 2010.  In her witness statement she said that she had, 

on several occasions, visited the land and walked along the perimeter path.  

On such visits she said she had only ever seen other people walking around 

the perimeter and had never seen anyone using the middle area at all.  The 

Page 149



98 

only activities that she had ever seen were people either walking alone or with 

dogs around the perimeter.  She had noted on one occasion that children had 

built a den in one corner of the land.  She had not seen or heard any fireworks, 

suggesting large gatherings on the land.  She said that she had seen evidence 

of livestock on the land in the past and when asked about this by Mr 

Wilmshurst she said that the evidence that she saw consisted of cow pats 

although questioned further she deferred to the farmer, that is Mr Bright’s, 

recollections  on the presence of animals on the land.  She does not live right 

next to the land, her house being on the opposite side of the valley.  She also 

elaborated in cross-examination that her visits to the land would have been 

confined to between 2 and 5 occasions, especially when she had visitors, and 

these trips would have taken place around 3 o’clock in the afternoon. The 

duration of these trips would have been 45 minutes to about an hour and a 

half.  She had not been into Areas 1, 2 or 3, although she thought that there 

was a pathway running down through 3 to the old railway line. 

   

8.17. In re-examination, when asked why she walked the perimeter path and not 

elsewhere, she replied that she had asked the neighbour where she walked 

her dog and that was the answer. 

 
Summary of my Findings 

 
8.17.1. This witness clearly has not had a close association with the 

land.  Her visits have been limited and she does not live 

overlooking the site.  In some respects her recollections seemed 

Page 150



99 

a little unclear, particularly in the matter of livestock.  

Accordingly I give this evidence limited weight. 

 

 

Mr Graham Hutton, 1A Meadowland, King’s Worthy, SO23 7RJ 

8.18. Mr Hutton made a witness statement, signed 22nd January 2016.  Mr Hutton 

has lived about 5 – 10 minutes’ walk away from the land for over 30 years.  He 

had been a Parish Councillor and then a District Councillor for many years, 

resigning on health grounds around 2003/4.  Throughout his time as a 

Councillor, constituents would approach him with questions regarding the 

status of the land, whether it was private or whether the public were entitled to 

full access.  He received complaints about the fencing or gating of the land.  

When Area 1 was being developed he recalled that Gleesons had put a wire 

fence around the land and notices informing the public that it was private and 

they should not trespass.  He arranged meetings with Gleesons and the local 

people in conjunction with the Parish Council during which he made clear that 

the land was private and that the public were not entitled to free access.  He 

remembered the central part of the land being rented by Mr Bright and that 

land being used for many years for crops and/or for animal grazing.  He had 

walked around the perimeter of the land and picked blackberries from the 

bushes surrounding it, particularly in 2004/2005 and 2007 whilst recuperating 

from his health problems.  He used to walk the perimeter regularly.  At no point 

during any of his visits had he seen anyone in the centre of the land and he 

Page 151



100 

had only seen others walking around the perimeter picking berries or children 

using the edge of the land as an informal play area.  He had never heard or 

seen any firework displays on the land. 

 

8.19. In cross-examination, he explained that his house was over the hill and does 

not have a view of the land, although he said that it is clear enough to hear or 

be aware of what is going on there.  He said that he had used the land 

extremely frequently, starting before 2002 and that he had been married to a 

lady called Glenys Hutton who was a dog walker.  Prior to the breakdown of 

their relationship they had sometimes walked the perimeter of the land 

together and later on he would walk alone, sometimes taking the dogs with 

him. Mrs Hutton completed a s.53 evidence form in October 1996, appended 

to which was a plan showing her pattern of walking as being around the 

perimeter of the land.  

 
8.20. Mr Wilmshurst asked him about Areas 2 and 3.  He described the top, by 

which he meant the southern, end of the site as including a “mish mash of 

footpaths, official or not”.  He said that there had been “considerable use of 

that land mainly because nobody seemed interested in it and it was very good 

for blackberries”.  In answer to me he said that the mish-mash of footpaths 

goes further off the site as well.  As well as the s.53 route, he said,  there were  

further footpaths, going to and from Tudor Way; No.2 Tudor Way, for example, 

had a gate onto Top Field and there were others too.  Then he said the 

footpaths went further afield from there.  He had used the mish-mash himself 

Page 152



101 

sometimes.  He described how Gleesons had fenced Area 1 when they were 

developing it and said that there had not been any fencing in the southern part 

of the site.  At Hook Farm Lane he had not been aware of fencing initially but 

then saw heavy fencing with a pair of gates, he having become aware of that 

when somebody cut a hole in the gate; he agreed that that had been quite an 

issue in the locality.  He also said that probably prior to 2000 there had been a 

low fence around the central portion of Top Field and he described the 

perimeter path as being quite wide and of variable width.  He recalled there 

being a strip of land fenced off. 

 

8.21. In re-examination he clarified this by saying that he remembered there having 

been a tethered pony or donkey for a short time but said that he did not 

remember many farm animals – a few cattle and crops there.  He said that the 

Gleeson’s fencing around Area 1 had not been secure for any length of time 

because it was opened with bolt cutters repeatedly.  He said that the fencing 

or gates at the northern part of the site at Hookpit Farm Lane were only secure 

for a very short time because people were keen to maintain access.  He 

believed that steps had been taken once or twice to repair or replace the 

fence. 

 
 

Summary of my Findings 

8.21.1. Mr Hutton clearly had long memories of the site but I gained the 

impression that his association with it had probably varied over 

time, peaking at a period in the early 2000s when development 

Page 153



102 

of the land was under discussion and then in the mid-2000s 

when he was using the land regularly for his own recuperation.  

His evidence about animals and fencing was not entirely clear 

and I cannot therefore give that great weight.  He was fairly 

clear in his descriptions of Area 3 and the mish-mash of paths 

there, although I got the impression that his recollection of the 

perimeter path and usage of that area were firmer than his 

memories of Area 3. 

 

Mr Robert Johnston, 6 Bentley Close, King’s Worthy, Winchester SO23 7LG 

8.22. Mr Johnston made a witness statement, signed on 19th January 2016.  He has 

been a Parish Councillor since 2002 and a member of Winchester City Council 

from 2002 to 2006.  He has lived in King’s Worthy with his wife since 1976.  

They had a dog between the years of 1984 and 2014 and he would walk the 

dog at weekends.  He was therefore very familiar with the site.  In his witness 

statement he described how the locals would stay on the established path 

around the perimeter.  He states that he recalls crops growing and cattle 

grazing on the land roughly between 2000 and 2005 although he did say in his 

statement that he was not entirely sure about the date.  He described many 

blackberry bushes around the edge of the site and said that locals would go 

berry picking there but there were no such bushes in the middle of the land.  

He said that he was aware that cyclists used the perimeter path.  He described 

in his witness statement there being a fence all around the perimeter of the 

Page 154



103 

land, especially along the backs of three houses in Springvale Road10, Dill 

Dawn, West Ridge and Trevone.  He said in his statement that he 

remembered being informed that the owners of the land at the time, who were 

Gleesons and/or Milfords, had contacted the owners of those three properties 

because they were fly-tipping and installing gates so as to have access onto 

the path.  After receiving notice from the owners, the fly-tipping stopped and 

the gates were removed.  He had been contacted by some of the residents 

living in properties backing onto the land and he therefore spoke to the owners 

who gave him the impression that their purpose in contacting residents was 

not only to stop the fly-tipping but also to advise them that the land was 

privately owned and not for use as a public open space.  He was contacted by 

a resident about a gate having been installed by Gleesons and they told him 

that this had been done to prevent public access.  He assumed that people 

had been granted access to walk around the perimeter.  He had witnessed 

notices on the land informing the public that it was private and that access was 

not permitted. 

 

8.23. In cross-examination he was asked about the mish-mash of paths over Area 2.  

He said that Area 2 had always been overgrown, much as it is now.  On being 

shown some of the aerial photographs he agreed that there appeared to be 

tracks there which he suspected had been made by “children playing in that 

area” - odd children rather than many of them - and not playing in the centre.  

Overall, however, his impression was of remarkably few people in that area.  

                                            
10

   Actually Tudor Way 

Page 155



104 

He surmised that people would not go there; he did not go there because of 

the risk of losing the dog or being scratched by thorns.  His visits would have 

occurred between 9am and 11am and 4pm to 6pm.  Asked about his 

blackberrying, he said that he did this on the western boundary and that the 

path ran up to the bushes.  The path there was 2 – 3 metres wide.  He 

described the fence which he had seen next to the perimeter path as being 

about 70cm high and said that he had understood from a previous owner that 

it was to delineate where the farm was and the track was.  Apart from people 

walking on the track and the cyclists whom he  had seen on the track, he said 

that there had been motorcycles on occasions which had led to complaints, 

but that he saw very few people, whether on the track or in the mish-mash 

area.  He agreed that there was a mish-mash of little paths also in Area 3 but 

he described that part as being “overgrown scrub”;  he did not use those 

paths.  He said that this was the area where there had been the complaint 

about dumping garden waste.  He was asked about the fencing at Hookpit 

Farm Lane access and  said that the owners had attempted to put fences in 

that area and at the access point off Woodham’s Farm Lane in order to 

establish ownership and prevent liability.  He said that he was told that this 

was their purpose.  The gate at Hookpit Farm Lane was demolished almost at 

once and he denied that there was a gap to the side of it.  He said that that 

gate had restricted access to the perimeter land at that point although there 

were other accesses such as Woodham’s Farm Lane and from the disused 

railway line.  He said that he believed Gleesons had sent letters saying that 

Page 156



105 

they would fence the entire site but that they did not then do that.  He was 

unable to give a clear date but he thought it was around 2006.  He himself had 

not seen the letter.  He was asked whether or not he was in favour of the 

development of the land and replied that he had voted for the planning 

application having listened impartially to the arguments and weighed the pros 

and cons.   

 

8.24. He clarified in re-examination that the fencing which he had seen was just 

inside the perimeter path from the northern central point round to about 5 

o’clock on that line. 

 
Summary of my Findings 

 
8.24.1. I considered Mr Johnston was doing his best to help the Inquiry 

although his association with the land both as user and as a 

local politician had been lengthy and he was not always able to 

be entirely clear about precise dates.  I found the evidence of 

his own user to be based on very clear recollections. When 

asked about Areas 2 and 3 which he had not used personally, 

his recollections were less clear. 

 

 

Ms Ruth Hopkins, Persimmon Homes, Knowle Road, Camberley. 

8.25. Ms Hopkins made two witness statements, an informal one, signed and dated 

22nd January 2016, then a formal one, signed and dated 9th September 2016.  

Page 157



106 

She was employed by Gleesons from February 2005 until December 2014, 

firstly as Strategic Land Manager and then as Strategic Land Director.  

Sometime before her appointment, Gleesons had acquired the company 

Portman New Homes whose portfolio included the Application Land.  It was 

being promoted as strategic land as part of an adjacent development.  During 

Gleesons’ period of ownership the land was leased to Mr Bright.  She stated 

that at no time did Gleesons give any member of the public permission to go 

onto the land and she described the use of perimeter paths as being “at Mr 

Bright’s discretion”.  In June 2010 she and a colleague, Mr Horwood, a 

technical manager, visited the land in order to erect signs informing the public 

that it was private.  She produced two photographs of these signs which, she 

explained in cross-examination, she had kept upon leaving Gleesons.  She 

also produced a map showing where the signs had been erected.  There was 

a northern sign which she described as being just inside the perimeter track 

and this was at a point between 12 and 1 o’clock on the perimeter path to the 

south of the track coming down from Hookpit Farm Lane.  The second sign 

was fixed to a tree in the south-western corner of the site near the perimeter 

track rather than in the extreme point of the land in that area.   

 

8.26. In her second witness statement she gave a little more detail, explaining in 

particular that the rationale for locating the signs was to ensure that they were 

visible to anyone entering the boundary of the Gleesons’ ownership.   

 

Page 158



107 

8.27. In her oral evidence in chief she explained that it had been a little unclear at 

that stage whether or not Gleesons owned the perimeter path itself and that 

she had therefore placed the signs inside the path.  The south western sign 

she described as being to capture the attention of children who might have 

been playing there.  The original idea was that the signs should be checked 

annually but this was not in fact done.   

 
8.28. In cross-examination, she explained that she had checked the position by 

reference to the Land Registry plan and that she was therefore clear that she 

had placed the signs on Gleesons’ land.   The signs were made of corrugated 

plastic, white with black printing and the wording was, “There is no right to 

roam on this land nor any public right of access and there is no intention of the 

Owners to Dedicate it as such or as a Right of Way”.  She did not accept that 

the northern sign could easily have fallen down; she said that she and Mr 

Horwood had dug a hole for the post to which it was fixed and that this had 

taken about 30 minutes using a shovel.  Nor did she think that the sign which 

was fixed to the tree with string would easily have come down in the wind; she 

said it would have taken a “strong gust of wind” to bring it down.  She agreed, 

however, that they could have used larger print and a less flimsy attachment. 

 
 

Summary of my Findings 

 

Page 159



108 

8.28.1. Ms Hopkins was a clear and careful witness who was doing her 

best to assist the Inquiry and, aided by her own record keeping, 

was able to present a clear recollection of her actions. 

 

Mr Neil Holmes Director of Quayside Architects Ltd, The Studio,141 Burgess 

Road, Southampton SO16 7AA, Mr Holmes prepared two witness statements 

and provided the supplementary material to which I have already referred in 

the planning history. Quayside Architects were instructed by Drew Smith in 

August 2010 and have been providing planning and architectural services for a 

period of some 5 to 6 years since then.  During that period he had visited the 

site some 4 to 5 times each year.  In cross-examination he revised this to say 

at least 4 to 5 times a year and possibly 6 or 7.  When visiting the site he said 

that he would normally go to the part south of Area 1 and walk all or part of the 

main perimeter footpath.  During those visits, he described frequently, if not 

invariably, encountering members of the public walking the circular route 

around the perimeter, usually accompanied by  dogs.  He added that in the 

autumn members of the public were frequently picking berries along the 

footpath or track.  On his initial visits between 2010 and 2012 – that is prior to 

the development of Area 1 – he observed children and teenagers in that area 

and their footpaths/BMX cycle routes through the scrub there; on one occasion 

there was a tent in the north-eastern corner of that area.  He described that 

area close to Hookpit Farm Lane as being convenient for play, accessible and 

screened, though the on-site scrub, he said, prevented extensive use  for 

Page 160



109 

recreation or play.  During his 20 – 25 visits, he had never observed a member 

of the public on the Main Field inside the perimeter footpath.  He described 

that central area as being “unsuitable for recreational activities due to long 

grass/vegetation or uneven surface.  From mid-summer the central area of 

Top Field was difficult to access because of the long grass and high 

Goldenrod”.  He had taken a number of photographs in 2010 and 2012 which 

he exhibited to his first witness statement, signed on 25th January 2016.  

Accompanying these photographs was an annotated aerial photograph of the 

Application Land showing the points at which the pictures were taken.  There 

were three on or adjacent to Area 1, one of which appears to have been taken 

on the track towards the site from Hookpit Farm Lane, three photographs 

roughly between 10 or 11 o’clock and 1 o’clock on the perimeter path, and one  

on a small worn path inside Area 3 at the south-eastern former of the 

Application Land.  All of these photographs showed  worn or clear paths with 

tall vegetation either side, which looks like Goldenrod and Rosebay 

Willowherb, together with long grass and, in the background,  large 

hedges/scrub.  Mr Holmes described there being a BMX cycle track in the 

south-west corner of the site but he said that he had never seen it in use.  He 

explained that planning permission 12/01912/FUL required the diversion of a 

claimed right of way which ran through Area 1 and around the perimeter of the 

Main Field.  He had examined the s.53 application material and noted that  Mr 

and Mrs G Luing were the only footpath claimants to have made statements in 

support of the village green application11 and that they had stated “most of the 

                                            
11

   In fact there was at least one more, Mrs Player 

Page 161



110 

field was fenced off with posts and wire, it was farmed (arable)”.   Mrs Malphus 

who had also completed a s.53 form stated that the claimed route “runs 

alongside cultivated field – around edge … whenever the field had crops 

growing there was a strip left by the edge for us to walk on”.   Mrs Linda Banks 

had said “the edge of the field has been a recognised walk for many years; the 

farmer did not object as long as his crops were undisturbed”. 

 

8.29. Mr Holmes summarised the planning history which I have dealt with in more 

detail above.  He also recorded that a village green action group had been 

formed following public consultations by Drew Smith on potential residential 

development in September 2013 and he produced photographs of signs which 

TFAG had put up appealing for assistance in support of the village green 

application. The sign said, “If you have used Top Field for recreational or other 

purposes over the last 20 years please can you fill in a questionnaire” and 

then there were details about how to download the questionnaire. 

 
8.30. Mr Holmes’ second witness statement, which was made on the 7th September 

2016, simply details the planning history which I have set out above and 

produces extracts from the development plan to which I have already referred. 

 
8.31. In his oral evidence, Mr Holmes considered what potential forms of 

development might come within local plan policy RT5.  He said that, in his 

opinion, it was a wide ranging policy which could embrace playing fields, 

gyms, public open space or informal green space.  Asked whether the 

designation could include built development and open space, he explained 

Page 162



111 

that they had considered early on in the process a scout hut, from which I infer 

that he considered that a built recreational development would come within the 

ambit of the policy.  He confirmed that when Drew Smith first became involved 

with the land they decided to apply to divert the public right of way which the 

Council had resolved to make through the s.53 process although, as noted 

above, the Order was never confirmed.  Mr Holmes said that the developers 

could not take the risk that it might be confirmed because the routes were 

inconsistent with their layout and therefore they agreed a diversion. 

 
8.32. Turning to the public open space requirements under the s.106 Agreement, he 

explained that an area broadly covering Areas 2 and 3 of the Application Land 

had been managed for ecological mitigation purposes since 2014 but 

confirmed that no land has yet been transferred to Winchester City Council 

pursuant to the s.106 Agreement.  The landscape buffer has been planted to 

the south of Area 1.  The ecological management has meant that scrub 

clearances have taken place on Areas 2 and 3.  He said that there had been 

two such clearances.   In the course of these, they had cut through footpaths 

running up to Ilex Close.  He said that Drew Smith had pegged out the 

potential footpath line but that the pegs had been removed, he assumed by 

local residents.   

 
8.33. In cross-examination he said that although he could not claim never to have 

seen anybody playing in Areas 2 and 3, there were very few.  He denied that 

he would have been distracted, saying  that, on the contrary, he was 

Page 163



112 

interested in looking at routes to the Ilex Close area.  He described the little 

paths in Area 2 as very limited and becoming more limited daily.  He also 

referred Mr Wilmshurst to the photo location plan to which I have referred 

above which shows five or six distinct lines within Areas 2 and 3 comprising in 

the main a north/south route with three main accesses to the perimeter path 

coming off it, the north/south route running down the back of the houses on 

Springvale Road.  He said that he had visited the land at about 9 o’clock in the 

morning or lunch time or on his way home.  He had also visited at weekends 

and indeed walked his own dog round the site.  It was put to him that he was 

not giving impartial evidence because of his client’s interest in getting the land 

developed and he said, “I wouldn’t say that I’m impartial but I have a 

professional qualification, I always give my professional opinion and my 

evidence is not tainted”. 

 

Summary of my Findings 

8.33.1. For reasons which I have explained, I have not set out the 

whole of Mr Holmes’ evidence here and much of what he said 

has been distilled into the planning summary.  Clearly he has 

had a considerable interest in this site since 2005 although he 

has not been regularly on the land.  I bear in mind however that 

he is professionally involved in appraising land and I therefore 

give considerable weight to his observations  while on site 

Page 164



113 

undertaking his various activities.  I also note his frankness 

when tackled on the question of his own impartiality. 

 

Ms Christine Cox, MCIfA FSA 

8.34. Ms Cox is a professional aerial photographic interpreter.  Her qualifications 

comprise a BA Honours degree in archaeology from the University of 

Liverpool, an MA in aerial photographic interpretation from the University of 

Sheffield and membership of the Chartered Institute for Archaeologists.  She is 

a Fellow of the Society of Antiquaries of London.  She has over 30 years’ 

professional experience in the interpretation of aerial  photography.  She was 

asked to obtain and prepare a report on authenticated aerial photographs 

spanning the years 1992 to 2013 which she did. Her report is dated 22nd 

January 2016.  Although this is described in the inner title page as a draft 

report and there are one or two omissions such as the name of her client, it 

became clear in her evidence that substantively this was a complete report 

and she was happy to endorse and speak to its contents.  She explained in 

her oral evidence in chief that she is experienced, amongst other things, in 

looking at cropping.  In her report and oral evidence, she explained the 

process by which she examines such photographs; she obtains authenticated 

pairs of aerial photographs and the stereoscope enables her to look at them in 

a magnified form which also projects them to some extent in 3D.  She 

demonstrated this machinery and process during the Inquiry and invited me to 

use it.  I must confess that I had difficulty in seeing all that Ms Cox could 

Page 165



114 

clearly see, but of course she is an expert and I am not.  I am quite satisfied as 

to her expertise and her skill in particular in being able to examine aerial 

photographs much more closely than the lay viewer can. 

 

8.35. In the report and in her oral evidence under cross-examination, Ms Cox made 

it clear that she was using the term “The Site” to mean the red line area of the 

Application.  She agreed, however, that her focus had been on the Main Field.   

 
8.36. By the time that Ms Cox was called to give evidence, the inquiry had heard 

evidence from Messrs Bright and Wilson and Mr Wilmshurst had accepted, on 

behalf of his client, that the cropping records were accurate.  Therefore he did 

not dispute Ms Cox’s general conclusions about the evidence of cropping as 

corroborated by the aerial photographs.  In her report Ms Cox summarised her 

findings as follows: 

 
"Date authenticated aerial photographs demonstrate that 
during the 1993-2013 timescale of this claim, the land 
use on the majority of the site has been as follows: 
 
1993-1999 (observed in 1993, 1994, 1996, 1997, 1998 
and 1999 from aerial photographs).   
The land use over the majority of the site was arable 
agriculture.  The site was observed in different stages of 
cultivation of a cereal crop and once under bare plough 
soil. 
 
2002 and 2004 
The majority of the site was under managed grass in 
2004.  In 2005 the land use was the same, with a newly 
visible area of disturbance in the south west of the site. 
 
2005 
In 2005 the site was under managed grass, with a newly 
visible figure of eight shaped small track which was worn 

Page 166



115 

to substrate in the south of the site.  This indicates likely 
leisure use over this part of the site only. 
 
2007 
In 2007 the majority of the site was cultivated and there 
was little vegetation visible on the site, with very well 
defined lines where cultivation had taken place.  In this 
year, the triangular area at the far southwest part of the 
site was left under grass, with visible disturbance within 
this area where the substrate was exposed.  This marks 
the first observation of the separation of this area from 
the majority of the site.  In 2007 there was only a faint 
trace of the former figure of eight shaped track residual 
as a tonal difference in the surface and this track or any 
other part of the majority of the site was obviously not in 
use for leisure purposes, excluding the possibility of the 
‘triangle’ area in the south west. 
 
2010 
In 2010 the majority of the site is under rough grass with 
a path encircling the site which now passes to the north 
of and separates the ‘triangle’ area from the majority of 
the site.  There is no sign of leisure use or bicycle tracks 
on the majority of the site and the area of disturbance in 
the ‘triangle’ is still visible. 
 
2011 and 2012 
In 2011 the majority of the site is under rough grass.  
This is the first occasion of observation of a sinuous track 
in the centre of the site which likely overlies a worn 
access path which traverses the site from east to west.  
The track and path are still visible in 2012.  No other 
observations of such features have been made in 
previous years.  This feature is a trial or similar 
motorcycle track and in this location would not constitute 
a lawful sport or pastime. 
 
2013 
In 2013 there is a newly developed area and area of 
exposed substrate in the north of the site, and newly 
visible worn paths along the north perimeter of the site as 
a consequence of this nearby change in land use. 
 
I conclude that, based on my observations of the 
land from aerial photographs that the majority of the 

Page 167



116 

site was under arable cultivation for cereal crops 
between 1993 and 1999. 
 
From 2002, the site was under managed grass. 
 
Traces of disturbance likely associated with leisure use 
were observed in the south west ‘triangle’ area of the site 
in 2004 and persisted until last observed in 2013. 
 
A small figure of eight shaped track was visible in 2005 in 
the south of the site, but not on any occasion of 
observation thereafter. 
 
In 2010 the perimeter path was observed to take a 
different route in the south of the site to run to the north 
of the ‘triangle area’. 
 
Between 2011 and 2013 a sinuous motorcycle track, 
which does not constitute a lawful leisure use, and 
access was observed in the centre of the site. 
 
There has always been an established network of paths 
around the site between 1993 and 1999.  The path 
network around the outside of the site persists beyond 
this date to 2013. 
 
No pedestrian ingress into the site or leisure activities on 
the site, have been observed during the period of 
cropping to 1999 and beyond. 
 
The access and cropped area have always been 
separate and well defined and the path network firm and 
visible around the outside of the majority of the area of 
the site. 
 
I have observed no directional paths across or into the 
majority of the site prior to 2011.  In 2011 an item or 
vehicle was visible in the centre of this track. 
 
No people have ever been observed on the site. 
 
I conclude that the site has not shown traces of 
leisure use over the entirety (indeed the majority) of 
the period of this claim, and was in arable cultivation 
up to and including 1999.” 
 

Page 168



117 

 
In her oral evidence, Ms Cox considered carefully the figure of 8 which 

appeared in the 2005 photograph. She explained, both on the basis of her 

scrutiny with the stereoscope and also her own recreational experience as a 

motor biker, that she had no doubt that this mark was made by motorbikes. 

She therefore disagreed with Mr Edwards on this point. Her conclusion is 

consistent with Mr Bright’s evidence about biking on the land at this time.     

 

8.37. Mr Wilmshurst asked Ms Cox  many questions about Areas 2 and 3.  It 

became clear that these areas had not been the focus of her written report and 

that in order to do full justice to Mr Wilmshurst’s questions she needed to 

study them carefully with the stereoscope.  Mr Webster was initially reluctant 

for this line of questioning to proceed but I indicated that I would welcome 

hearing Ms Cox’s answers on these points and therefore I arranged for her to 

work in a separate room where she would have no contact with anybody 

involved in the Inquiry and she agreed to undertake the further work. She   

returned on the following day, 23rd September, to present her findings in a 

subsequent report. 

 

8.38. Before summarising the results of those researches, it is right that I should 

record some other answers which she gave in cross—examination about  

limitations on the use of aerial photography generally.  Included in the 

authorities bundle was an article by Ms Cox in the Rights of Way Law Review. 

This article is called Aerial Photographs as Evidence. Ms Cox readily agreed 

Page 169



118 

with Mr Wilmshurst that the decision maker must be careful about using aerial 

photography for a number of obvious reasons: firstly, because it only offers a 

snapshot in time, secondly because it may be affected by environmental 

features such as dryness.  Therefore aerial photography must be interpreted 

within certain parameters and it is important to integrate it with any other 

evidence which is available.  Ms Cox however confirmed that she had  

deliberately not examined other people’s witness statements except to the 

extent necessary to take instructions from the legal team.  She also confirmed 

that she had visited the site but only after she had made her initial 

interpretation in her first report.  She accepted that, depending on 

environmental factors, there might be ephemeral types of use which would not 

be revealed in aerial photography.  She later explained that the soil conditions 

affecting this particular site, namely a shallow and fragile topsoil over a chalk 

substrate, mean that marks on the land would show up quite easily and not a 

great deal of footfall would be needed; in her words “traces would be 

discernible pretty quickly because chalk is very responsive”.   These answers 

were given in re-examination in the context of a discussion as to whether or 

not marks and tracks which she discerned in Areas 2 and 3 as a result of her 

further work were attributable to human beings or animals.  She could not give 

a definitive answer about all the markings, although some of the small tracks 

and markings which she discerned did appear to link up with the perimeter 

tracks which she found to be more suggestive of human  than animal activity.   

 

Page 170



119 

8.39. She was asked in great detail about the accesses to the site over the course 

of the years.  As I have set out above, the application material indicated four 

principal access points.  No.1, on Hookpit Farm Lane, is a little to the west of 

the track which is not shown as a principal access on the Application plan but 

is discernible in all the aerial photographs except the very recent ones and 

which was described by the witnesses.  For the purposes of convenience 

during Ms Cox’s cross-examination, that track became known as access point 

1A.   

 
8.40. In summary, Ms Cox’s analysis of the aerial photographs indicated that the 

only consistently visible access point was the track at 1A.  From time to time 

there were signs visible which she thought might have indicated access at 

points 1 or  2, but points 3 and 4 as delineated on the Application Plan were 

heavily vegetated throughout, although she did  flag up in her initial report 

some tracks or routes in  the vicinity of Area 3.  Her subsequent work 

confirmed that and indeed indicated ephemeral tracks in the same area which 

tended to vary from year to year as to their precise position but were broadly 

speaking in the same area. 

 
8.41. To summarise her considered evidence on Area 2, she again discerned 

fluctuating levels of track making in that area, within a consistent general 

pattern of a movement to link up with the perimeter path.  She explained that 

generally speaking she is cautious before delineating any markings on aerial 

photographs. 

Page 171



120 

 
8.42. Mr Wilmshurst suggested to Ms Cox that her detailed researches indicated 

that people had been meandering in Areas 2 and 3, but she firmly rejected 

that idea.  She said “No.  The pattern establishes and re-establishes along the 

same lines and evidence for crossing the hedge boundary is at pretty much 

the same places.  In areas where tracks are not visible, areas vegetate 

quickly.  It is not evidence of meandering or random crossing.”  That answer 

was given in the context of questions spanning the years 1996  to 2007.  Ms 

Cox acknowledged that meandering is exactly the sort of activity which might 

not show up in aerial photography and she said that she had thought about 

that very carefully but here she considered the topsoil and substrate conditions 

to be relevant as explained above.  I asked her what she thought certain dark 

patches in Area 3 in 1996 were and she considered it likely that they were 

brambles or similar “hard brown vegetation”; at any rate she was clear that 

they were a natural feature. 

 
8.43. Concluding, in answer to Mr Wilmshurst’s proposition that taken together the 

photographs revealed that there had been significant signs of leisure use in 

Areas 2 and 3 during the relevant period, Ms Cox said “Areas 2 and 3 contain 

evidence of people walking, likely for leisure use, and connecting with 

established tracks.  In the latter years there is also evidence of two-wheeled 

vehicular use.”  

 
     

 

Page 172



121 

 
Summary of my Findings 

 
8.43.1. I have summarised considerably a great deal of oral evidence 

which Ms Cox gave, particularly under cross-examination.  I 

give more weight to the considered answers which she gave in 

relation to Areas 2 and 3 after her further work with the 

stereoscope.  On the first occasion when she was being asked 

about those areas she was not using the instruments and was 

simply looking at the aerial photographs unaided.  Generally I 

was very impressed with Ms Cox’s expertise and the care with 

which she gave her evidence.  She readily acknowledged the 

proper parameters and limitations of the evidence on which she 

was commenting and conscientiously engaged with cross-

examination and questions from me.  I have no doubt that she 

was well aware of and faithfully discharged her duty to the 

inquiry as an expert witness.  I accordingly give her evidence 

great weight, although bearing in mind the proper limitations to 

be placed on this type of evidence. 

 

 

 ACCOMPANIED SITE VISIT 

9.1.  I made an accompanied site visit on 23rd September together with 

representatives of the parties and Ms  Seeliger of the CRA.  We entered the 

Page 173



122 

site from Hookpit Farm Lane, walking through the new development access 

road in Area 1 and going through the kissing-gate at the top of that 

development.  From there we started to walk along the current route of a 

perimeter path.  In due course we circumnavigated the whole of this path, 

making many diversions off to examine other parts of the site and features but 

ultimately returning to the kissing-gate.  The line of the route through the 

development we observed is different in some respects from the line of the 

track which ran, prior to the development of Area 1, from Hookpit Farm Lane 

up to the perimeter path, but we were able to identify the location of the former 

gate.  We explored Area 2, cutting through long grassy vegetation with 

increasing amounts of scrub as we went eastwards towards the mature 

boundary hedge line.  To the east of the hedge line we discovered, in some 

instances, back garden fences of properties in Springvale Road, several of 

which had gates.  We noticed several piles of garden waste and other rubbish 

behind the back fences and these gates.  We were able to walk down towards 

the southern extent of Ilex Close where there is a stile.   

 

9.2. Moving southwards along a rough path which we found running down the back 

of the rear fences, we came to a very overgrown area with self-seeded 

woodland which we followed eastwards until we came to the back of Mr Bell’s 

property on Springvale Road.  We identified the tree in this area where the 

children’s treehouse was in former times.  The whole of this area was very 

wooded, though the trees and undergrowth were somewhat spindly and it was 

Page 174



123 

relatively straightforward in most places to work one’s way through.  There 

were no obvious clear paths in the area behind Mr Bell’s house. 

 
9.3. Working back westwards, we picked up a very rough trail which took us back 

to the perimeter path.  At about this point we noticed some old wooden fence 

posts which were initially difficult to see.  With some burrowing in scrubby 

areas, we found a line of 12 such posts extending roughly in a large arc a little 

way to the east of the perimeter path.  Some of the fence posts had remnants 

of wire in them and we found one which had clearly been a straining post. 

 
9.4. Moving southwards along the perimeter path, we were able to scan  the whole 

of the Main Field and Areas 2 and 3 from the perimeter path.  Accessing Area 

3 was very difficult owing to the amount and prickly nature of the scrubby 

vegetation.  We worked our way down to Access point 3, through a small worn 

path towards the railway line.  I observed that the wear on this path revealed 

the chalk substrate underneath the topsoil.  At this point we also encountered 

some old concrete posts, some with remnants of wire, and subsequently we 

continued to pick up some of these as we worked westwards to the north of 

the railway line.  We crossed the old railway line and walked down to 

Springvale Road and back up again. 

 
9.5. Then we re-entered the site and proceeded along the perimeter path in a 

westerly direction until we reached roughly Access point 4.  At this point it was 

possible to move south and cross the railway line again and see where  

access had been taken from the field to the south.  There were one or two 

Page 175



124 

apparent routes into the Application Land at this point and, as I have said, 

some remnants of a concrete post and wire fence in this area. 

 
9.6. Roughly west of this point the paths appeared to divide, giving one a choice of 

pursuing a route to the north of a clump of trees or of walking down towards 

the south-western tip of the Application Land.  I walked both routes.  Walking 

to the south-west corner, I was able to divert off the path and inspect an area 

of mounds and pits which had clearly been excavated and worn by bicycles.  

These constructions were white in colour, reflecting the underlying chalk.  

They were of considerable size.  When I stood in the pits of the excavations 

they came up to about my shoulder height. I therefore estimate that they were 

well over three feet deep at their extremity.  I noted the clump of trees which 

on the western side face out towards the perimeter path on the inside of the 

boundary. Vegetation which borders the railway line. Much of this vegetation 

included brambles.  I was unable to identify  the precise tree where Miss 

Hopkins stated that she had erected the sign but I could see the general area 

where her photograph appears to have been taken on the edge of the clump 

of trees.  A worn path in the grass continues northwards in a clockwise 

direction and we pursued this, diverting, as far as we were able, into area 

VG267 which is extremely heavily vegetated.  It was very difficult to walk in 

this area and the ground in places was somewhat uneven, apparently 

because of a certain amount of building material and debris there. 

 

 

Page 176



125 

 
 
 

 LEGAL FRAMEWORK 

 

10.1. The Applications in question have been made under s.15(2) CA 2006. 

    

10.2. Section 15, since 30th September 2013, has provided as follows: 

"15 Registration of greens 
(1) Any person may apply to the commons registration 

authority to register land to which this Part applies as a 
town or village green in a case where subsection (2), (3) 
or (4) applies. 
 

(2) This subsection applies where – 
(a) a significant number of the inhabitants of any 

locality, or of any neighbourhood within a locality, 
have indulged as of right in lawful sports and 
pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 
years; and 

(b) they continue to do so at the time of the 
application. 

 
(3) This subsection applies where – 

(a) a significant number of the inhabitants of any 
locality, or of any neighbourhood within a locality, 
indulged as of right in lawful sports and pastimes 
on the land for a period of at least 20 years; 

(b) they ceased to do so before the time of the 
application but after the commencement of this 
section; and 

(c) the application is made within the relevant period.  
 

(3A)  In subsection (3), ‘the relevant period’ means – 
(a) in the case of an application relating to land in 

England, the period of one year beginning with the 
cessation mentioned in subsection (3)(b); 

(b) in the case of an application relating to land in 
Wales, the period of two years beginning with that 
cessation.  

 

Page 177



126 

(4) This subsection applies (subject to subsection (5)) where 
– 
(a) a significant number of the inhabitants of any 

locality, or of any neighbourhood within a locality, 
indulged as of right in lawful sports and pastimes 
on the land for a period of at least 20 years; 

(b) they ceased to do so before the commencement 
of this section; and 

(c) the application is made within the period of five 
years beginning with the cessation referred to in 
paragraph (b). 
 

(5) Subsection (4) does not apply in relation to any land 
where – 
(a) planning permission was granted before 23 June 

2006 in respect of the land; 
(b) construction works were commenced before that 

date in accordance with that planning permission 
on the land or any other land in respect of which 
the permission was granted; and 

(c) the land – 
(i) has by reason of any works carried out in 

accordance with that planning permission 
become permanently unusable by 
members of the public for the purposes of 
lawful sports and pastimes; or 

(ii) will by reason of any works proposed to be 
carried out in accordance with that planning 
permission become permanently unusable 
by members of the public or those 
purposes. 
 

(6) In determining the period of 20 years referred to in 
subsections (2)(a), (3)(a) and (4)(a), there is to be 
disregarded any period during which access to the land 
was prohibited to members of the public by reason of any 
enactment. 
 

(7) For the purposes of subsection (2)(b) in a case where 
the condition in subsection (2)(a) is satisfied –  
(a) where persons indulge as of right in lawful sports 

and pastimes immediately before access to the 
land is prohibited as specified in subsection (6), 
those persons are to be regarded as continuing so 
to indulge; and 

Page 178



127 

(b) where permission is granted in respect of use of 
the land for the purposes of lawful sports and 
pastimes, the permission is to be disregarded in 
determining whether persons continue to indulge 
in lawful sports and pastimes on the land ‘as of 
right’. 

 
(8) The owner of any land may apply to the commons 

registration authority to register the land as a town or 
village green. 
 

(9) An application under subsection (8) may only be made 
with the consent of any relevant leaseholder of, and the 
proprietor of any relevant charge over, the land. 

 
(10) In subsection (9) – 

‘relevant charge’ means – 
(a) in relation to land which is registered in the 

register of title, a registered charge within the 
meaning of the Land Registration Act 2002 (c.9); 

(b) in relation to land which is not so registered – 
(i) a charge registered under the Land 

Charges Act 1972 (c.61); or 
(ii) a legal mortgage, within the meaning of the 

Law of Property Act 1925 (c.20), which is 
not registered under the Land Charges Act 
1972; 

 
‘relevant leaseholder’ means a leaseholder under a lease for a 
term of more than seven years from the date on which the lease 
was granted.” 
 

10.3. CA 2006 was amended by GIA 2013 which added s.15C and Schedule 1A.  

As explained above, the Schedule operates to suspend the right to make an 

application under s.15 during certain periods which are initiated by trigger 

events and which continue until such time as a terminating event might occur. 

By virtue of s.16(4) GIA 2013, this is the case, irrespective of whether the 

trigger event occurred before or after the coming into force of the new 

provisions. 

Page 179



128 

 
10.4. S.15C(1) and (2)  provides as follows:  

 

“ (1)  The right under section 15(1) to apply to register land in 
England as a town or village green ceases to apply if an event 
specified in the first column of the Table set out in Schedule 1A 
has occurred in relation to the land (“a trigger event”).  

(2)  Where the right under section 15(1) has ceased to apply 
because of the occurrence of a trigger event, it becomes 
exercisable again only if an event specified in the corresponding 
entry in the second column of the Table occurs in relation to the 
land ( “ a terminating event ”). 

  
 

Schedule 1A provides as follows: 
 
Trigger events Terminating events 

1. An application for planning 
permission in relation to the land 
which would be determined under 
section 70 of the 1990 Act is first 
publicised in accordance with 
requirements imposed by a 
development order by virtue of 
section 65(1) of that Act. 

(a) The application is withdrawn 
(b) A decision to decline to 

determine the application is 
made under section 70A of the 
1990 Act. 

(c) In circumstances where 
planning permission is refused, 
all means of challenging the 
refusal in legal proceedings in 
the United Kingdom are 
exhausted and the decision is 
upheld. 

(d) In circumstances where 
planning permission is granted, 
the period within which the 
development to which the 
permission elates must be 
begun expires without the 
development having been 
begun. 

 

2.  An application for planning 
permission made in relation to the 
land under section 293A of the 
1990 Act is first publicised in 

(a) The application is withdrawn. 
(b) In circumstances where 

planning permission is 
refused, all means of 

Page 180



129 

Trigger events Terminating events 

accordance with subsection (8) of 
that section. 

challenging the refusal in legal 
proceedings in the United 
Kingdom are exhausted and 
the decision is upheld. 

(c) In circumstances where 
planning permission is 
granted, the period within 
which the development to 
which the permission relates 
must be begun expires without 
the development having been 
begun. 

 

3.  A draft of a development plan 
document which identifies the land 
for potential development is 
published for consultation in 
accordance with regulations under 
section 17(7) of the 2004 Act. 

(a) The document is withdrawn 
under section 22(1) of the 
2004 Act. 

(b) The document is adopted 
under section 23(2) or (3) of 
that Act (but see paragraph 4 
of this Table). 
 

4. A development plan document 
which identifies the land for 
potential development is adopted 
under section 23(2) or (3) of the 
2004 Act. 

(a) The document is revoked 
under section 25 of the 2004 
Act. 

(b) A policy contained in the 
document which relates to the 
development of the land in 
question is superseded by 
another policy by virtue of 
section 38(5) of that Act. 

5. A proposal for a 
neighbourhood development plan 
which identifies the land for 
potential development is 
published by a local planning 
authority for consultation in 
accordance with regulations under 
paragraph 4(1) of Schedule 4B to 
the 1990 Act as it applies by virtue 
of section 38A(3) of the 2004 Act. 

(a) The proposal is withdrawn 
under paragraph 2(1) of 
Schedule 4B to the 1990 Act 
(as it applies by virtue of 
section 38A(3) of the 2004 
Act). 

(b) The plan is made under 
section 38A of the 2004 Act 
(but see paragraph 6 of this 
Table). 

 

6. A neighbourhood development 
plan which identifies the land for 
potential development is made 
under section 38A of the 2004 

(a) The plan ceases to have 
effect. 

(b) The plan is revoked under 
section 61M of the 1990 Act 

Page 181



130 

Trigger events Terminating events 

Act. (as it applies by virtue of 
section 38C(2) of the 2004 
Act). 

(c) A policy contained in the plan 
which relates to the 
development of the land in 
question is superseded by 
another policy by virtue of 
section 38(5) of the 2004 Act. 
 

7. A development plan for the 
purposes of section 27 or 54 of 
the 1990 Act, or anything treated 
as contained in such a plan by 
virtue of Schedule 8 to the 2004 
Act, continues to have effect (by 
virtue of that Schedule) on the 
commencement of section 16 of 
the Growth and Infrastructure Act 
2013 and identifies the land for 
potential development. 

The plan ceases to have effect by 
virtue of paragraph 1 of Schedule 8 
to the 2004 Act. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

8. A proposed application for an 
order granting development 
consent under section 114 of the 
2008 Act in relation to the land is 
first publicised in accordance with 
section 48 of that Act. 

(a) The period of two years 
beginning with the day of 
publication expires. 

(b) The application is publicised 
under section 56(7) of the 
2008 Act (but see paragraph 9 
of this Table). 
 

9. An application for such an 
order in relation to the land is first 
publicised in accordance with 
section 56(7) of the 2008 Act. 

(a) The application is withdrawn. 
(b) In circumstances where the 

application is refused, all 
means of challenging the 
refusal in legal proceedings in 
the United Kingdom are 
exhausted and the decision is 
upheld. 

(c) In circumstances where an 
order granting development 
consent in relation to the land 
is made, the period within 
which the development to 
which the consent relates must 
be begun expires without the 
development having been 

Page 182



131 

Trigger events Terminating events 

begun. 
 
 

The Objector in this case relies on the trigger events mentioned in 

paras 1, 4 and 7 in the Schedule. 

 
10.5. I shall now set out the general principles which apply to the determination of a 

s.15 application. 

 
 

 
10.6. The process of determination involves simply applying the law to the facts; 

there is no discretion, nor are land use merits material. 

 

10.7. The burden of proving that land has become a TVG lies on the applicant, on 

the balance of probabilities. In Beresford v Sunderland City Council [2003] 

UKHL 60, Lord Bingham quoted Pill LJ in R v Suffolk CC ex parte Steed 

(1996) 75 P&CR 102 at 111: 

"it is no trivial matter for a landowner to have land, whether in 
public or private ownership, registered as a town green...” 

 
continuing: 
 

"It is accordingly necessary that all ingredients of this definition 
should be met before land is registered, and decision-makers 
must consider carefully whether the land in question has been 
used by the inhabitants of a locality for indulgence in what are 
properly to be regarded as lawful sports and pastimes and 
whether the temporal limit of 20 years’ indulgence or more is 
met.” 

 
 

Page 183



132 

Although Beresford was, in several respects, criticised and held to be wrong 

by the Supreme Court in the subsequent case of R (Barkas) v North Yorkshire 

County Council [2015] 1AC 195, this element of the decision was not 

disapproved.  

 

10.8. It is necessary, in order to achieve registration under CA 2006, for all the 

relevant elements to be established.   

 
 

. “A Significant Number of the Inhabitants of any Locality, or of   any 
Neighbourhood within a Locality” 

 
10.9. None of the terms in this element of the requirements is defined in CA 2006.  

The phrase is, however, lifted from the Commons Registration Act 1965, as 

amended by Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000, in which form it was the 

subject of consideration in a number of authorities.   

 

10.10.  “Significant number” was considered in R (oao) McAlpine Homes Ltd v 

Staffordshire County Council [2002] EWHC 76 by Sullivan J. (as he then was).  

He said (para 71): 

 
"... In my judgment the inspector approached the matter 
correctly in saying that ‘significant’, although imprecise, is an 
ordinary word in the English language and little help is to be 
gained from trying to define it in other language.  In addition, the 
inspector correctly concluded that, whether the evidence 
showed that a significant number of the inhabitants of any 
locality or of any neighbourhood within a locality had used the 
meadow for informal recreation was very much a matter of 
impression. It is necessary to ask the question: significant for 
what purpose?  In my judgment the correct answer is provided 

Page 184



133 

by Mr Mynors on behalf of the council, when he submits that 
what matters is that the number of people using the land in 
question has to be sufficient to indicate that their use of the land 
signifies that it is in general use by the local community for 
informal recreation, rather than occasional use by individuals as 
trespassers.” 
 
The learned Judge summarised the matter as being “one of 
impression” for the inspector. He also stated that evidence of 
earlier periods could be relevant to findings about later periods, 
in the absence of evidence to indicate that there was a material 
change in circumstances, as could evidence that the claimed 
land was accessible, for example by way of public footpaths 
leading to it. Written evidence, where consistent with and 
supportive of oral evidence, could be regarded as corroborative  
of it, subject to the obvious caveat that written evidence must be 
“treated with caution” because it is not subject to cross 
examination.         

 
 
 

10.11. As Sullivan LJ, the same judge said in Leeds Group v Leeds City Council 

[2011] EWCA Civ 1447 that there must be use of such an amount and in such 

a manner as would reasonably be regarded as the assertion of a public right.  

Lords Hope and Walker in R (oao Lewis) v Redcar and Cleveland BC [2010] 

AC 70 adopted a similar approach at paras 36 and 67.  

 
10.12. Whilst not a simple ‘numbers question’, it is for the Applicant to demonstrate 

“significance” in relation to the chosen locality and only qualifying user counts 

for these purposes. The essence of this requirement is, like the “as of right” 

requirement, that the landowner should have it brought home to him that TVG 

rights are being asserted over his land. Carnwath J (as he then was) observed 

in R (oao Steed) v. Suffolk CC (1996) P & CR 463 at 476 that the different 

elements of the definition “took colour from one another” and that, whilst they 

Page 185



134 

are separated out for the purposes of analysis, they must combine in the 

decision maker’s overall assessment of the facts. As Lord Carnwath, the judge 

returned to this idea in Barkas at paragraph 61, where he said that “the 

tripartite test cannot be applied in the abstract. It needs to be seen in the 

statutory and factual context of the particular case. It is not a distinct test, but 

rather a means to arrive at the appropriate inference to be drawn from the 

circumstances of the case as a whole; this includes consideration of what Lord 

Hope has called “the quality of the user”, that is whether ’the user for at least 

20 years was of such amount and in such manner as would reasonably be 

regarded as being the assertion of a public right’ …....Where there is room for 

ambiguity, the user by the inhabitants must in my view be such as to make 

clear, not only that a public right is being asserted, but the nature of that right.” 

This passage is also relevant to the question of path user, considered below. 

 
 

10.13. A “locality” was  interpreted in the pre-2000 Act  caselaw as an area known to 

law, or some recognised administrative division of the county: see MoD v 

Wiltshire County Council [1995] 4 AER 931; R (oao Laing Homes Ltd) v 

Buckinghamshire County Council [2004] 1P&CR 36.  

 

10.14. The question of the meaning of “locality” in the first limb of the definition was 

considered in Adamson v Paddico (267) Ltd v Kirklees MBC [2012] EWCA Civ 

262.  The applicant argued: 

(a) that “locality” in the first limb was not confined to a single locality; and 

Page 186



135 

(b) that localities did not have to be “administrative districts” or “areas 

within legally significant boundaries”. 

The Court unanimously rejected these submissions. The subsequent judgments 

of the Supreme Court did not consider questions of locality or neighbourhood, 

solely being concerned with the issue of delay in the context of an application 

for rectification of the Register. Therefore any chosen locality must be an area 

of recognised administrative significance and certainty. 

 

3.1 Mr Wilmshurst clarified during the inquiry12 that the Applications were being 

pursued on the basis of the Civil Parish of King’s Worthy. Mr Webster accepted 

that this area is capable of constituting a Locality for the purposes of s.15 and, 

furthermore, that no point relating to the “spread and fit” of user evidence 

relative to the administrative area was being taken. It was established that the 

Civil Parish has existed throughout the twenty year period, with the result that 

no temporal locality question arises in this case.  I therefore approach the 

Applications on the basis that, if I am satisfied that all the other relevant 

statutory tests are met, there is a qualifying Locality to which TVG rights could 

attach.    

 

“Indulged in lawful sports and pastimes”  

                                            
12

    Day 3  21.9.16 

Page 187



136 

10.15.  “Lawful Sports and pastimes” (“LSP”) was held by Lord Hoffmann in R v 

Oxfordshire County Council ex parte Sunningwell Parish Council [2000]  AC 

335, 356 H, to be a “single composite class”.  He continued: 

“Class C is concerned with the creation of TVGs after 1965 and 
in my opinion sports and pastimes includes those activities 
which would be so regarded in our own day.  I agree with 
Carnwath J, in R v Suffolk County Council, ex p. Steed (1995) 
70 P&CR 487, 503, when he said that dog walking and playing 
with children were, in modern life, the kind of informal 
recreation which may be the main function of a village green.” 
 

 
10.16. There are limits to the principle, however.  If user is referable to formal or 

informal paths, it may, in some instances, not found TVG registration, although 

the presence of footpaths on the relevant land is not necessarily fatal to a 

claim. This point was considered in some detail by Sullivan J in Laing, at paras 

102-110 and by Lightman J at first instance in Oxfordshire  [2004] EWHC 12, 

at paras 96-105.  It is a question of fact, the decisive factor being how matters 

would have appeared to the reasonable landowner, with the benefit of the 

doubt being given to the landowner in ambiguous cases such that inferences 

should be drawn in favour of footpath user rather than TVG user.  As noted 

above, in Barkas, Lord Carnwath generalized the principle relating to 

ambiguity articulated by Lightman J in the context of paths. In the House of 

Lords in Oxfordshire, Lord Hoffmann described the comments on paths in the 

earlier first instance judgments as “sensible” but declined to offer any guidance 

of his own, as he was keen to stress that each case depends upon its own 

facts. He did opine, without deciding, that the fact that the land in that case 

(urban scrub) was intersected with paths and clearings occupying only 25% of 

Page 188



137 

the land in question would not be inconsistent with a finding that there was 

recreational use of the scrubland as a whole. He drew an analogy with a public 

garden, where as much as 75% of the area might consist of flowerbeds etc. on 

which the public might not walk13.  

 

10.17. In this case, as in Laing, there have been applications under s.53 Wildlife and 

Countryside Act 1981 to register public footpaths over parts of TVG 

Application Site 262.  There are also other areas of the land where the 

question arises as to whether or not the presence of local inhabitants would 

have had the appearance of TVG user. I therefore set out here extensive 

extracts from the judgments in Laing and Oxfordshire (at first instance) 

because the observations which they contain are highly relevant to several of 

the issues raised by Application 262.  In the final analysis, however, I must 

decide what appearance the user would have given to a reasonable 

landowner as a matter of overall impression on the evidence which I have 

heard and read, as well as my understanding of the land itself gained from my 

site visit.  

 
10.18. In Laing, Sullivan J said: 

“102  As noted above, the Footpath Order confirmed the 
existence of footpaths all around the perimeters of each 
of the three fields (the paths cut across the south 
western corners of Fields 1 and 3). For obvious reasons, 
the presence of footpaths or bridleways is often highly 
relevant in applications under s.22(1) of the Act: land is 
more likely to be used for recreational purposes by local 

                                            
13

    Paras 67-68 

Page 189

http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/app/document?src=doc&linktype=ref&context=34&crumb-action=replace&docguid=IBD944500E44811DA8D70A0E70A78ED65


138 

inhabitants if there is easy access to it. But it is important 
to distinguish between use which would suggest to a 
reasonable landowner that the users believed they were 
exercising a public right of way—to walk, with or without 
dogs, around the perimeter of his fields—and use which 
would suggest to such a landowner that the users 
believed that they were exercising a right to indulge in 
lawful sports and pastimes across the whole of his fields. 

103  Dog walking presents a particular problem since it is both 
a normal and lawful use of a footpath and one of the 
kinds of “informal recreation” which is commonly found 
on village greens. Once let off the lead a dog may well 
roam freely whilst its owner remains on the footpath. The 
dog is trespassing, but would it be reasonable to expect 
the landowner to object on the basis that the dog's owner 
was apparently asserting the existence of some broader 
public right, in addition to his right to walk on the 
footpath? 

104  The landowner is faced with the same dilemma if the dog 
runs away from the footpath and refuses to return, so 
that the owner has to go and retrieve it. It would be 
unfortunate if a reasonable landowner was forced to 
stand upon his rights in such a case in order to prevent 
the local inhabitants from obtaining a right to use his land 
off the path for informal recreation. The same would 
apply to walkers who casually or accidentally strayed 
from the footpaths without a deliberate intention to go on 
other parts of the fields: see per Lord Hoffmann at 358E 
of Sunningwell . I do not consider that the dog's 
wanderings or the owner's attempts to retrieve his errant 
dog would suggest to the reasonable landowner that the 
dog walker believed he was exercising a public right to 
use the land beyond the footpath for informal recreation. 

… 

107  Thus the Inspector considered whether the whole, and 
not merely the perimeter of the fields was being used, 
but he did not deal with the issue raised in the claimant's 
analysis: how extensive was the use of the fields if the 
use of the footpaths around their boundaries for walking 
and dog walking (making allowance for the fact that dogs 
off the lead may stray, see 10.18) was discounted, such 
use being referable to the exercise of public rights of 
way, and not a right to indulge in informal recreation 
across the whole of the fields. 

Page 190



139 

108  I accept that the two rights are not necessarily mutually 
exclusive. A right of way along a defined path around a 
field may be exercised in order to gain access to a 
suitable location for informal recreation within the field. 
But from the landowner's point of view it may be very 
important to distinguish between the two rights. He may 
be content that local inhabitants should cross his land 
along a defined route, around the edge of his fields, but 
would vigorously resist if it appeared to him that a right to 
roam across the whole of his fields was being asserted. 

109  I do not suggest that it will be necessary in every case 
where a footpath crosses or skirts an application site 
under the Act to distinguish between the exercise of a 
right of way and the use of a site for informal recreation. 
The footpath may be lightly used as such and the 
evidence of non-footpath use may be substantial. But the 
present case is most unusual in that there were recently 
confirmed footpaths around the perimeters of all three 
Fields. These footpaths were not lightly used. The 
Footpath Inspector had concluded that there was 
“unchallenged evidence of considerable weight that their 
routes have been in such use as would satisfy section 31 
of the [Highways Act] 1980 ”. The Claimants drew the 
Inspector's attention to *600 evidence from one of GAG's 
witnesses “that the majority of people in the fields stuck 
to the boundary footpaths” (10.16). 

110  It is no accident that the Inspector's list of activities in 
para.14.25 commenced with dog walking and general 
walking ( i.e. without dogs). On any view of GAG's 
evidence set out by the Inspector in Ch.7 of his Report 
these were the principal activities throughout the 20-year 
period. A number of the other activities were very 
occasional, such as kite flying, or of limited duration, e.g. 
use by the Cub Scouts appears to have ceased in 1987 
(7.67)…”  

 
 

10.19. Lightman J’s analysis is as follows:  

“102 The issue raised is whether user of a track or tracks 
situated on or traversing the land claimed as a Green for 
pedestrian recreational purposes will qualify as user for a 
lawful pastime for the purposes of a claim to the 
acquisition of rights to use as a Green.    If the track or 

Page 191

http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/app/document?src=doc&linktype=ref&context=34&crumb-action=replace&docguid=IEFC06580E44911DA8D70A0E70A78ED65
http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/app/document?src=doc&linktype=ref&context=34&crumb-action=replace&docguid=IEFC06580E44911DA8D70A0E70A78ED65


140 

tracks is or are of such character that user of it or them 
cannot give rise to a presumption of dedication at 
common law as a public highway, user of such a track or 
tracks for pedestrian recreational purposes may readily 
qualify as user for a lawful pastime for the purposes of a 
claim to the acquisition of rights to use as a Green.  The 
answer is more complicated where the track or tracks is 
or are of such a character that user of it or them can give 
rise to such a presumption.  The answer must depend 
how the matter would have appeared to the owner of the 
land: see Lord Hoffmann in Sunningwell at pages 352H-
353A and 354F-G, cited by Sullivan J in Laing at paras 
78-81.  Recreational walking upon a defined track may or 
may not appear to the owner as referable to the exercise 
of a public right of way or a right to enjoy a lawful sport or 
pastime depending upon the context in which the 
exercise takes place, which includes the character of the 
land and the season of the year.  Use of a track merely 
as an access to a potential Green will ordinarily be 
referable only to exercise of a public right of way to the 
Green.  But walking a dog, jogging or pushing a pram on 
a defined track which is situated on or traverses the 
potential Green may be recreational use of land as a 
Green and part of the total such recreational use, if the 
use in all the circumstances is such as to suggest to a 
reasonable landowner the exercise of a right to indulge in 
lawful sports and pastimes across the whole of his land.  
If the position is ambiguous, the inference should 
generally be drawn of exercise of the less onerous right 
(the public right of way) rather than the more onerous 
(the right to use as a Green). 

 

103. Three different scenarios require separate consideration.  
The first scenario is where the user may be a qualifying 
user for either a claim to dedication as a public highway 
or for a prescriptive claim to a  Green or for both.  The 
critical question must be how the matter would have 
appeared to a reasonable landowner observing the user 
made of his land, and in particular whether the user of 
tracks would have appeared to be referable to use as a 
public footpath, user for recreational activities or both.  
Where the track has two distinct access points and the 
track leads from one to the other and the users merely 
use the track to get from one of the points to the other or 
where there is a track to a cul-de-sac leading to (e.g.) an 
attractive view point, user confined to the track may 

Page 192



141 

readily be regarded as referable to user as a public 
highway alone.  The situation is different if the users of 
the track e.g. fly kites or veer off the track and play, or 
meander leisurely over and enjoy the land on either side.  
Such user is more particularly referable to use as a 
Green.  In summary it is necessary to look at the user as 
a whole and decide adopting a common-sense approach 
to what (if any claim) it is referable and whether it is 
sufficiently substantial and long standing to give rise to 
such right or rights. 

 

104 The second scenario is where the track is already a 
public highway and the question arises whether the user 
of the track counts towards acquisition of a Green.  In 
this situation, the starting point must be to view the user 
as referable to the exercise (and occasional excessive 
exercise) of the established right of way, and only as 
referable to exercise as of right of the rights incident to a 
Green if clearly referable to such a claim and not 
reasonably explicable as referable to the existence of the 
public right of way. 

 

105. The third scenario is where there has been a longer 
period of user of tracks referable to the existence of a 
public right of way and a shorter period of user referable 
to the existence of a Green.  The question which arises 
is the effect of the expiration of the 20 year period 
required to trigger the presumption of dedication of a 
public highway on the potential existence after the full 20 
years qualifying user of a Green.  During the balance of 
the latter 20 year period the user of the path will prima 
facie be regarded as referable to the exercise of the 
public right of way (cf. paragraph 104 above).  The 
question raised is whether the user during the previous 
period should likewise be so regarded because the 
presumed dedication as a public highway dates back to 
the commencement of the 20 year period of user of the 
way.  In a word, does the retrospective operation of the 
dedication as a public highway require that the user of 
the path throughout the 20 year period giving rise to the 
dedication should be viewed retrospectively as taking 
place against the background of the existence 
throughout that period of a public footpath?  In my 
judgment the answer is in the negative.  Over the period 
in question the user of the path was in fact “as of right” 

Page 193



142 

and not “of right”.  It is totally unreal to view user as 
taking place against the background of the existence of a 
public right of way at a time before that right of way came 
into existence.  Where a public right of way comes into 
existence during the period of potentially qualifying user 
for the existence of a Green, in determining whether the 
qualifying user is established it is necessary to have in 
mind that at least some of the user must have been 
referable to the potential (and later actual) public right of 
way.  But that does not mean that acts of user may not 
also or exclusively be referable to qualifying user as a 
Green.  I do not think that anything said by, let alone the 
decision of, Sullivan J in Laing should be read as to the 
contrary effect.  The question must in all cases be how a 
reasonable landowner would have interpreted the user 
made of his land.” 

 

10.20. Both Counsel referred me to the case of Radley Lakes. The very experienced 

inspector there drew from the caselaw the same decision-making principles  

as me. His impression on the evidence of that case was that tracks around a 

lake were lakeside walks which could be combined to form a circuit. 

Interestingly, he continued that he did not think that this perception was 

affected by “the fact that people could and did sometimes wander off the side 

of path to pick blackberries, picnic, sit by the lake, watch birds on the 

lake……”. The inspector’s impressions in that case are in no way binding on 

me but I note this practical application of the Laing/Oxfordshire judicial 

observations.  I have read the Reply served by the applicant/Claimant in 

judicial review proceedings which I understand were launched. Since the 

Claim was not pursued, I do not consider that I can draw any useful guidance 

from that pleading.     

Page 194



143 

10.21. After the close of the inquiry, the case of R (Alloway) v Oxfordshire County 

Council [2016] EWHC 2677 (Admin.) was heard and judgment was given by 

Patterson J. This was a judicial review where the role of the Court was limited 

to reviewing the inspector’s application of the law and his reasoning. Therefore 

the Judge did not draw her own conclusions on the facts. She referred to the 

caselaw set out above and concluded that the inspector’s (and hence the 

Registration Authority’s) approach was lawful in the context of his factual 

findings. In that case, a “grass meadow” was used by its owner throughout the 

relevant period for “low level agriculture”, with an annual hay crop being taken 

and, at one stage, a small number of dry cattle grazing. The inspector’s 

findings about user were therefore set in the context of his overall impression 

that “neither use significantly impeded the other”. There was a PROW running 

between two gates on one side of the field and an informal perimeter path 

which linked with the PROW. The inspector found that the bulk of the land was 

used for general recreation, albeit in the form of walking or jogging round one 

or other path, whilst dogs and children went all over the land  and others 

indulged in other forms of recreation. The inspector deducted user attributable 

to the PROW and other path user when people had entered by one gate and 

left by another as part of a longer walk, but not their mere perimeter walking. 

Patterson J stressed the importance of reading the inspector’s report as a 

whole and noted the distinction  between that case and Laing, where 

perimeter paths had recently been added to the Definitive Map and PROW.       

 

Page 195



144 

10.22. Trips to and from school, work or to conduct other daily business, such as 

shopping, do not constitute LSP.  

 
 

10.23. Whilst it is an essential prerequisite of qualifying user that it must, effectively 

amount to trespass (“as of right”, which is explained below), user which is 

unlawful in other respects does not count. The Supreme Court considered  this 

point in Lewis, Lord Hope14 applying to statutory new greens the common law 

principle established in Fitch v. Fitch (1797) 2 Esp.54 that user must not be 

such as to be likely to cause injury or damage to the owner’s property. Mr 

Wilmshurst submitted that in none of the reported cases has it been suggested 

that damage to crops and/or grass amounts to criminal damage. He is right 

that this point has not been considered in those terms in the reported TVG 

cases but the point does not need to be resolved in order to determine these 

Applications. That is because it is, in my opinion, quite clear from Lord Hope’s 

judgment that the presence of physical damage is, in principle, sufficient to 

take user outside the class of qualifying LSP, irrespective of the (probably 

theoretical) question of criminal liability. Trespass is actionable without proof of 

special damage, so the application of Fitch to the registration of new statutory 

greens by prescription is entirely consistent with the law as it has developed 

since Sunningwell.  I therefore reject Mr Wilmshurst’s submission that the 

argument that user which causes physical damage cannot be LSP is “absurd” 

and “runs contrary to the theory of prescriptive rights”.15  

                                            
14

   With whom Lords Brown and Kerr expressly agreed 
15

     Opening Submissions para. 38 

Page 196



145 

10.24. The issue of lawfulness arises in two respects in this case; firstly, in relation to 

any user over cropped parts of Application Site 262, secondly, with regard to 

use by  non-motorised cycles in the area of “lumps and bumps” in the south 

west of the land. It was, rightly, not suggested by Mr Wilmshurst that use by 

motorised cycles could qualify.    

 

10.25. Whilst it is a matter of fact and degree and it is not necessary to   demonstrate 

qualifying user for the whole period over every square inch of the land, 

nevertheless the Applicant must demonstrate, on the balance of probabilities, 

that the whole of the land has been subject to qualifying user. Common sense 

must be applied: R (oao Cheltenham Builders) v. South Gloucestershire [2003] 

EWHC 2803 (Admin) and Lightman J at first instance in Oxfordshire [2004] 

Ch.253, both of which were endorsed by Lord Hoffmann in Oxfordshire in the 

House of Lords,16 as noted above.    

  
 

 “For a period of at least 20 years … (b)  continue to do so  at the time of 
the application”  

  

10.26. Qualifying user must be demonstrated throughout the period. Therefore, in 

principle, any interruptions, eg. by reason of displacement by the objector’s 

regular activities, prevent the running of time. This principle was explored, in 

the context of dual user, by the Supreme Court in Lewis. The relevant periods 

here are 1993 to 2013 for VG 262 and 1995 to 2015 for VG 267. Nothing turns 

on the precise dates within those years but I note that the earlier Application 

                                            
16

              At para 68 

Page 197



146 

was not registered until October 2013, although it was initially submitted in 

May.  

 

10.27. The Supreme Court held in Lewis that there is no “additional question” to be 

asked as to whether or not it would have appeared to a reasonable landowner 

that the inhabitants were asserting a “right to use the land for their recreational 

activities”, but they did not overrule Laing17, which was a case involving low 

level agricultural activity, comprising the annual taking of a hay crop from the 

land for many years. They directed attention to “the quality of the user during 

the 20 year period ... If the user for at least 20 years was of such amount and 

in such manner as would reasonably be regarded as being the assertion of a 

public right (Beresford paras 6 and 77), the owner will be taken to have 

acquiesced in it – unless he can claim that one of the three vitiating 

circumstances applied”.18  This question is one of fact and degree.  The 

reaction of informal users to use of the land by the owner and his licensees is 

an important part of the overall circumstances which must be considered in 

relation to nature and quality of user. In terms of the inferences to be drawn, 

although there is not a freestanding “additional question”, nevertheless, the 

principle subsequently enunciated by Lord Carnwath in Barkas about 

ambiguity must be borne in mind when considering the quality of user in the 

round. Mr Webster made written submissions in closing on dual user but, in 

fact, Mr Wilmshurst did not advance the argument that this case falls within the 

                                            
17

  See eg. per Lord Walker, para 28 
18

  Per Lord Hope at para 67. 

Page 198



147 

“give and take” principle enunciated by the Supreme Court in Lewis. In my 

view, he was right not to do so. Mr Wilmshurst did, in his Closing Submissions, 

counsel “considerable caution” with regard to Laing in relation to what Sullivan 

J said there about deference, specifically in relation to low level agricultural 

activities comprising the taking of an annual hay crop. In view of the 

concessions about crops, this case is distinguishable from Laing in respect of 

the level of agricultural activity on much of Main Field for a significant part of 

the relevant period.  Their Lordships noted the fact that there had been a 

footpath claim previously in Laing and did not overrule it, treating it as a 

decision on its own facts. Nor did the Supreme Court  disapprove  Sullivan J’s 

approach either to decision making in general or footpaths in particular.     

 

“As of Right” 

10.28. In Sunningwell, the House of Lords held that the test for a  new green equated 

to that for prescription: user nec vi, nec clam, nec precario – not by force, not 

by stealth and not by permission.  What matters is not the state of mind of the 

users, but the outward appearance of their user, judged by the yardstick of the 

reasonable landowner.  

 

10.29. In Lewis, Lord Rodger commented as follows: 

“87.The basic meaning of that phrase is not in doubt. In R v 
Oxfordshire County Council Ex p Sunningwell Parish Council 
[2000] 1 AC 335 Lord Hoffmann showed that the expression ‘as 
of right’ in the Commons Registration Act 1965 was to be 
construed as meaning nec vi, nec clam, nec precario. The 
parties agree that the position must be the same under the 

Page 199



148 

Commons Act 2006. The Latin words need to be interpreted, 
however. Their sense is perhaps best captured by putting the 
point more positively: the user must be peaceable, open and 
not based on any licence from the owner of the land. 
………………………………….   ……The 
opposite of ‘peaceable’ user is user which is, to use the Latin 
expression, vi... But it would be wrong to suppose that user is 
“vi” only where it is gained by employing some kind of physical 
force against the owner. In Roman law, where the expression 
originated, in the relevant contexts “vis” was certainly not 
confined to physical force. It was enough if the person 
concerned had done something which he was not entitled to do 
after the owner had told him not to do it. …… 

 
89. .English law has interpreted the expression in much the 
same way…. ” 
 

 
10.30. User will be “vi” if undertaken in the face of prohibition by the owner.  Signs 

banning access without permission may prevent user from being “as of right”:  

Lewis19 and Taylor v Betterment Properties (Weymouth) Ltd and Dorset CC 

[2012] EWCA Civ 250.20 where the Court of Appeal approved Morgan J’s 

formulation of the relevant question at first instance as follows: 

“Are the circumstances such as to indicate to the persons using 
the land, or to a reasonable person knowing the relevant 
circumstances, that the owner of the land actually objects and 
continues to object and will back his objection either by physical 
obstruction or by legal action? For this purpose, a user is 
contentious when the owner of the land is doing everything, 
consistent with his means and proportionately to the user, to 
contest and to endeavour to interrupt the user.”    

 
 

 

10.31. I accept Mr Wilmshurst’s submission that relevant factors when considering 

the adequacy of the landowner’s actions include: 

                                            
19

  Per Lord Rodger at para 88 
20

  Paras 27ff 

Page 200



149 

 
a) the wording of the signs 

b) the location of the signs 

c) the size of the signs 

d) the number of signs 

e) the length of time that users had used the land (as an  aspect of 

reading the sign in its  proper context) 

f) the effect that the signs had on users of the land ( as a way of judging 

the effectiveness of the message communicated and in certain cases 

g) the lack of any further steps taken. 

 
Decisions in rights of way cases are clearly relevant to some extent because 

they apply the same “nec vi” criterion, but, once again, Mr Wilmshurst was 

right to point out that the context is different and that these differences have 

been recognised in the recent Supreme Court TVG cases, especially Lewis 

and Barkas. These principles are relevant to my consideration of the evidence 

relating to signs, fencing and oral challenges.     

 

 

10.32. User which was permitted will be “precario”: Implied permission is a well-

established principle in other areas of law where it is necessary to decide 

whether or not user is as of right and, although the Supreme Court in Barkas 

overruled Beresford, they did not hold that it would no longer be lawful to  

imply permission in relevant factual circumstances.    

 

 

 APPLYING THE LAW TO THE FACTS – MY FINDINGS 

Page 201



150 

11.1. Drawing together the threads of all the evidence which I have read, heard and 

summarised above, I am able to reach the following firm findings. 

 

Use of the Main Field  

11.1.1. I am in no doubt that Mr Wilmshurst’s concession that the 

cropping records accurately evidence the presence of crops 

on Main Field during these 8 years was rightly made.  Mr 

Bright’s oral evidence was corroborated by his 

contemporaneous records.  Mr Wilson’s professional review 

and interpretation of those records was clearly sound.  The 

aerial photography helped, together with Mr Wilson’s expert 

assumption based on crop rotation, to establish that the land 

was cropped in 1998, despite the absence of a record for that 

year.  Moreover, several of the questionnaires / statements in 

support of the 1991 s.53 application referred to walking round 

the edges of crops / a farmed field.21  I also accept the expert 

explanations given by Mr Bright and Mr Wilson of the 

procedures involved and the appearance and growing 

habits/condition of the different crops. 

 

11.1.2. I am satisfied, therefore, that the majority of the Main Field 

area was in use as arable land between the years of 1993 

and harvest-time 2000.  To the extent that it is relevant, I am 

                                            
21

  Eg. Janet Aldus, Yvonne Cooper, Patricia and Raymond Duckett, Prof. and Mrs R Hedley, Mr Kirby, Mr 

Malphus, Christine Player, Mrs D Prosser, Elsie Singleton 

Page 202



151 

also satisfied that Mr Bright was farming the land in the same 

way between the years of 1985 and 1993.  This was his 

unchallenged evidence and Ms Cox stated in her first report 

that she had examined a pair of photographs dated April 

1992 which showed the site under a cereal crop.  Again, 

there was no challenge to this part of Ms Cox’s evidence. 

11.1.3. When I say the “majority of the Main Field”, I mean the area 

which was cropped until 2000 and was thereafter in set aside. 

The difference is apparent when comparing Ms Cox’s 

photographs from March 2012 with those from June 2013.22  I 

am satisfied from the photographic evidence, the MAFF 

records and all the oral evidence of witnesses, that the south-

west corner of the Main Field, including and to the south-west 

of the clump of trees in that area,  the Application VG 267 

land and Areas 1, 2 and 3 were not cropped at any time from 

1985 onwards.  

 
11.1.4. Mr Bright stated that, apart from some isolated occasions 

when he found children playing, he did not encounter either 

trespassers or damage in his crops.  People walked round 

the edge “and all was happy”; this description is consistent, 

not only with his own evidence to the Highway Authority in 

connection with the s.53 application, but also the evidence of 

                                            
22

  See Annex to Ms Cox’s Main Report. 

Page 203



152 

many of the supporters of that application, and the overall 

conclusion of the Footpath Officer at that time.  On those odd 

occasions when he encountered anyone, he “interfered with 

them”. I accept that, had there been persistent entries onto 

his crops, he would have realised from physical signs.  

Moreover, the evidence in support of the Application did not 

establish that people regularly went onto the land when it was 

being actively cultivated during the years 1993 to 2000 (or 

before).  On the contrary, the Applicant and others23 said in 

their witness statements that they did not recall crops being 

grown on the land at all, including the years 1993 to 2000.  

Several witnesses, whilst they were unable to recall crops on 

the land, said that they would not have gone onto the land if 

crops had been there.24 

 
11.1.5. As I have signalled above in my summarised findings for 

each witness, I have decided, in view of the clear evidence as 

to the presence, condition and growth patterns of crops on 

the greater part of the Main Field, that I cannot attribute 

weight to evidential claims to have been using this area 

regularly for LSP during the period 1993 to 2000.  Either 

witnesses were confused about dates and were describing 

the condition of the land from 2000 to 2014, or they were not 

                                            
23

  Statements of Applicant, Brown, Clarke, Mead, Perrin, Woolford, Plant, Males. 
24

  Eg. Perrin ; ; Mead;  Mack  

Page 204



153 

present or, at any rate, not regularly present during the earlier 

period, or they simply cannot remember the earlier part of the 

20 year period accurately and have cast back their 

recollections of the land from 2000 onwards.  Mr Webster’s 

suggestions to Mr Bright and Ms Cox, to the effect that 

people might have been confused about the nature of 

vegetation or unable to see crops due to long grasses at the 

edges were rejected.  I do not find such explanations 

credible; even though some crops might initially have borne a 

superficial resemblance to grass, regular users would have 

seen them in a mature state too.  Moreover, as I have said, 

many of the s.53 questionnaires and statements from local 

people said that they did see them.  My findings as a result of 

hearing the witnesses on this point are so clear that I 

conclude that I must read the TVG questionnaires in the light 

of them, although I note that at least one questionnaire does 

refer to the farmer’s not objecting to her walking round, so 

long as crops remained undisturbed25.  The Application 262 

site is large and twenty years is a long time. Most 

questionnaires are imprecise about location and time; 

exploration of the evidence at Inquiry, however, has 

established a clear position. 

 

                                            
25

     Linda Banks 

Page 205



154 

11.1.6. In view of these findings of fact, I do not need to resolve the 

argument between Counsel as to whether or not user which 

causes damage to crops can constitute LSP.  For 

completeness, however, I record that, in my view, it cannot.  

Irrespective of whether or not such activities constitute 

criminal damage, they would fall foul of the principle in Fitch v 

Fitch, endorsed by the Supreme Court in Lewis when 

articulating its principle of “give and take”. 

 
11.1.7. The evidential position in relation to Main Field during the 

latter period, 2000 to 2014, is different, since the system of 

management under set-aside was different. Again, I accept 

the evidence of Messrs Bright and Wilson as to practice 

there. Management was minimal but there was an annual cut 

in the late summer. Thereafter, the cuttings and stubble were 

left to break down and return into the earth naturally during 

the autumn and winter. In the spring, vegetation would grow 

up again, maturing to waist / shoulder height before cutting. 

Given the minimal intervention by Mr Bright, I accept that 

growth would have been much less regular than in the case 

of a cropped field; some patches would have been thinner 

and more accessible than others and a certain amount of 

scrub would have developed in places. The character and 

appearance of the central area would have been very 

Page 206



155 

different from that of a formal, cropped field. It would have 

been consistent with the description of this area given by all 

the Applicant’s and some of the Objector’s witnesses, which 

confirms me in my conclusion that they were, in fact, 

describing the physical state of affairs during the latter two 

thirds of the relevant period. Nevertheless, the aerial 

photographs for the years 2002, 2004, 2005, 2007, 2010, 

2011, 2012 and 2013, together with some of the other 

photographs, such as those of the Footpath Officer from 

August 2001, Mr Edwards’ photograph in the July 2006 

Volunteers’ Newsletter and Mr Holmes’ photographs from 

July / September 2010 /12, clearly indicate that there 

remained a distinct path area around the edges of the central 

part of the Main Field where long vegetation did not grow. I 

deal with that area when considering the defence of path use, 

which is relevant to all parts of the Application Sites. 

 
11.1.8. With regard to the cropped part of the Main Field, which 

forms the greater part of VG Application 262, however, my 

findings about: 

 
(a) the presence of crops; and 

(b) the absence of regular incursions into them, 

 

Page 207



156 

are fatal to the claim insofar as it relates to that area.  The 

relevant period of cropping spans seven out of the relevant 

twenty years.  That is a substantial portion of the required period 

of user.  During that time, user for LSP (assuming, for the 

moment, contrary to my opinion, that children’s games within 

crops can constitute LSP) was insufficient to indicate to the 

reasonable landowner that the cropped area was “in general 

use by the local community for informal recreation, rather than 

occasional use by individuals as trespassers” (the test set out in 

McAlpine).  User was merely “trivial and sporadic” (in Lord 

Hoffmann’s words in Sunningwell) and was not of such an 

amount and in such a manner as would reasonably be regarded 

as the assertion of a public, TVG right (the approach taken by 

the Court of Appeal in Leeds and the Supreme Court in Lewis 

and Barkas). The presence of local people on the land was 

attributable, in the vast majority of instances, to their use of 

paths running around the cropped area, as the Parish Council 

and its supporters claimed in the s.53 application, launched in 

1997 and finally determined by the Highway Authority in 2005. I 

turn to the further implications of that user in the next section. 

Logically, however, the fact that the Applicant / TFAG have 

failed to demonstrate on the balance of probabilities that there 

was significant requisite user of the central area of the Main 

Page 208



157 

Field, gives rise to a free standing defence of insufficiency of 

user in relation to that portion of the Application TVG 262 land 

which does not depend upon my application of law in relation to 

path user, although it is consistent with it.    

 

 
11.2. Perimeter Paths 

11.2.1. There was a great deal of evidence of the use of the paths 

around the perimeter of Main Field for walking, dog walking 

and jogging.  Other uses associated with the paths included 

cycling/teaching children to ride bikes, horse riding, fruit 

picking, enjoying views, observing nature, picnics, 

trainspotting and sitting/relaxing.  Many witnesses26 said that 

they and/or many others whom they saw stuck mainly to the 

footpaths around the field, apart from retrieving dogs which 

had wandered off and the extreme south-western corner of 

the Main Field, where the BMX ”lumps and bumps” were.  

These impressions were in line with the evidence of the aerial 

photographs as interpreted by Ms Cox, as well as other 

photographic evidence, such as the 2001 pictures appended 

to the Footpath Officer’s report on the s.53 application, the 

Worthys Conservation Volunteers photograph from 2006, Mr 

                                            
26

  Bell , Perrin, in relation to the Main Field , although most of his user was elsewhere (see below under Areas 

2 and 3); Driscoll, although he described his own off-path activities (see below); Brown ; Edwards ; Mack ; 

Plant ; Woolford ; McCleery; Stephens ; Witts ; Bright ; Steventon Baker ; Hutton ; Johnson ; Holmes. 

Page 209



158 

Robertson’s photograph of his dog from 2006/7 and Mr 

Holmes’ 2010/12 photographs, all of which show a well-worn 

perimeter track or tracks. 

 

11.2.2. The OS maps have consistently shown perimeter paths, 

albeit not as formal Public Rights of Way (“PROW”), since 

1990.  Mr Plant consulted OS maps and found paths marked 

on them, which he used. 

 
11.2.3. Lastly, it is, in my view, highly significant that the Highway 

Authority made a Map Modification Order in 2005, after a 

lengthy public process, in response to an application made in 

1997 by the Parish Council.  

 
11.2.4. What would the reasonable landowner have concluded from 

all this evidence?  In my view, the evidence clearly 

demonstrates that, during Mr Bright’s tenancy, if not before, 

the establishment/use of a predominant track around the 

Main Field, accessed from Point 1A on Hookpit Farm Lane, 

with a loop in the south-eastern corner and a link to the route 

of the dismantled railway, was tolerated so long as there was 

no interference with his agricultural activities.  The Highway 

Authority reached the conclusion in 2005 that these routes 

were of long standing and should be added to the Definitive 

Map and Statement as Public Footpaths, on the basis of 

Page 210



159 

contemporaneous local evidence. Although the legal basis of 

the officer’s recommendation related to user between the 

years of 1972 to 1992, the supporting evidence covered the 

period up to 1997 and 2001, when evidence was collected. 

The landowner made representations during the process and 

would have been aware of this body of evidence, which was 

in the public domain.  The fact that the Order was not 

submitted for confirmation does not detract from the 

significance of the claim being made by the Parish Council 

and local people or the Authority’s conclusion. 

 
11.2.5.  Against this background, I consider that the reasonable 

landowner would have been entitled to attribute walking and 

jogging to the establishment/enjoyment of a PROW, rather 

than the unequivocal assertion of TVG rights. I take Mr 

Wilmshurst’s point, which he advanced by reference to 

Lightman J’s  third category of user (both for recreational 

activities and as footpaths) and the Radley Lakes case, that 

recreational user can occur on the line of a path, whether or 

not formal PROW exist or merely appear to be in the course 

of being established. Identifying the relevant Lightman 

category in a particular case is a matter of fact and 

impression. As set out in Laing and Oxfordshire at first 

instance, however, too strict an approach should not be taken 

Page 211



160 

and the landowner is entitled to the benefit of any doubt.  

Thus, retrieving errant dogs from land adjoining the path was 

regarded by Sullivan J as having the appearance of being 

incidental to footpath user, rather than an assertion of TVG 

rights. Picking berries en-route, pausing to admire the view or 

watch trains, sit down or have a picnic are not, in themselves, 

activities which are inconsistent with footpath user, nor should 

they have rung TVG alarm bells in the mind of an owner.  

Such activities are either incidental to the use of a public 

footpath (whether extant or in the course of being 

established) and / or not inconsistent with a right of passage 

and, to an extent, connected with it. As a matter of highway 

law, therefore, they fall within the extent of highway rights as 

articulated by the House of Lords in DPP v. Jones [1999] 2 

WLR. 625.  Nor is the use of a footpath by children for cycling 

or learning to ride a bike necessarily inconsistent, even if a 

PROW is not, formally, a bridleway27; there is no evidence in 

this case that such user constituted a danger to pedestrians.  

In any event, this track has not, in law, been formally 

recognised as a public footpath and use by cyclists and / or 

horse riders could reasonably have been taken as the 

assertion of bridleway rights, rather than unequivocal TVG 

user. Most, though not quite all, path use was recreational, 

                                            
27

  See discussion at p.[2]-10098/2, paragraph 2-065.2 of the Highways Encyclopaedia 

Page 212



161 

according to the witnesses, but the Court of Appeal held in 

Dyfed County Council v. Secretary of State for Wales (1990) 

59 P&CR 275 that there is no rule of law that use of a 

highway for recreational walking is incapable of leading to a 

deemed dedication. Transit use of the land to get to and from 

other parts of the village for school trips or social calls does 

not qualify as LSP.  

 

11.2.6. Applying the principle enunciated by Lord Carnwath in 

Barkas, the landowner should not, in equivocal 

circumstances, be taken to have acquiesced in the 

establishment of a TVG. In Lightman J’s formulation, the 

benefit of the doubt on these matters is to be given to the 

landowner. The context in which recreational activities took 

place here is important. The facts that, for 8 years of the 

relevant period, the Parish Council – democratically elected 

representatives of the local inhabitants – were pursuing a 

footpath claim under s.53 and that in 2005, the County 

Council, which is charged with responsibility for PROW, 

decided that it was justified, are highly relevant when 

considering how matters would have appeared to the 

landowner. As in Laing, the residents have “gone to battle on 

Page 213



162 

two fronts”28 and, in my view, this must be borne in mind 

when considering the overall objective impression here. 

Moreover, as a matter of fact, it is clear from Mr Bright’s and 

other people’s evidence to the Highway Authority on the s.53 

application and his evidence to this inquiry that there was a 

“tacit arrangement” in relation to perimeter paths. 

Interestingly, I note that this is exactly how Mr Edwards 

referred to matters in the July 2006 Volunteers’ newsletter29 

and at least one respondent to the questionnaire described 

the situation in similar terms.30  This set of circumstances is 

very different from those facing the inspector in Allaway. The 

judgment in that case established no new principles and 

Patterson J referred, in particular, to the distinction on the 

facts before her from those in Laing, where perimeter paths 

had recently been added to the Definitive Map, on the 

application of local residents. As I have noted above, Lord 

Walker also regarded that feature of Laing as significant. On 

that point, the situation in the latter part of the period here 

bears striking similarities with Laing. Moreover, there was 

never any cropping in Allaway, which is another important 

difference.           

 

                                            
28

            Per Lord Walker in Lewis v. Redcar at para.28 
29

            Para. 7.5 above 
30

            Linda Banks “Additional Information” section  

Page 214



163 

11.2.7. Whilst witnesses referred to use, whether by themselves or 

others, of the central part of the Main Field for a number of 

TVG-style, rather than PROW-style activities, some of these 

were infrequent or one-off activities such as: kite flying, for 

which the necessary combination of ground and weather 

conditions seldom coincide;31 camping at the end of the 

summer term;32  horse riding33 ; Driscoll’s rugby practice, as 

to which no details were given of frequency and which did not 

feature at all in his questionnaire; snow games; unquantified 

use for cub / scout “wide games” 34.  Some used the land as a 

short cut / to avoid Springvale Road, which is not qualifying 

user. Some witnesses referred to crossing the Main Field off 

the perimeter paths and sometimes encountering children 

playing there with or without bikes, and making dens.  It was 

difficult to form a clear impression of the frequency or precise 

position of these activities, although I accept that Mr 

Woolford’s Google Earth image from 2006/7 and Mr Edwards’ 

one from 2008 show some lines across the central part of the 

                                            
31

  Plant (para.6.56); Edwards (para 6. 70); Woolford could not say where in period, though saw it pre-1993 

(para 6.67); ; Mead – one undated Christmas (para 6.34); Driscoll’s kite soon broke (para.6.19); McCleery 

(2009 onwards only). Therefore where gave any particulars in relation to their own kite flying, the evidence 

was limited. I bear this in mind when considering general descriptions of  others having seen kite flying. 
32

  Clarke; Mead  whose son did not actually camp, who saw signs which he took to indicate camping rather 

than actual camping; Plant, the scoutmaster, who was deprecatory about the signs of “camping” he saw . 
33

           Applicant –kept a horse “at one time” and rode it  but “not regularly” and, in any event, round the perimeter 

track, not in the middle ;  Mack para.6.58 -  daughter rode from stable to Macks’ house across field “a 

couple of times in the summer”. Other witnesses’ references to horses were general and unquantified / 

undated 
34

            para. 6.53  

Page 215



164 

Main Field which could indicate user of an informal nature. 

These images, however, were not clearly related to the 

generalised evidence about user in the central area and I 

cannot make any meaningful deductions from them about 

type and level of user. 

 

11.2.8. In conclusion, whilst I accept that the Applicant / TFAG have 

established, on balance, that there were some off-path 

recreational activities of different kinds on the central area of 

the Main Field after 2000, they have not presented a clear 

picture of their extent, either geographically or temporally.  

Such activities will have been seasonal – dependent on the 

weather and the state of the vegetation.  At times, after the 

annual cut, when Mr Bright was obliged to leave the stubble 

and cut vegetation on the land in order to meet the 

requirements for set-aside, the land would have proved 

unattractive and uncomfortable for some people and some 

activities. 

 

11.2.9. By contrast, my firm impression is that the majority of 

recreational activity occurred on or associated with the clear 

perimeter paths. It is logical to deduce, from the clarity and 

persistence of the track in all relevant photographs, that this 

is where the majority of feet went, not only in the years 1993 

Page 216



165 

to 2000, but for the rest of the relevant period as well. The 

fact that the northern route of the perimeter moved south after 

the development of Area 1 in 2013 does not detract from my 

findings. Although the line changed, the principle or pattern of 

user did not and the change of route only applies to a small 

part of the relevant periods – a few months in the case of   

Application VG 262 and just over two years in the case of 

Application VG 267.  Whilst I have already concluded that the 

central, cropped area does not qualify for registration in any 

event, I have analysed path user as the role of the paths is, to 

some extent, relevant when considering the position on other 

parts of the land because of the importance of these paths 

when objectively assessing the overall impression of what 

was going on at the site upon the mind of the landowner.  

 
11.3. South Western “Lumps and Bumps” Area 

11.3.1. The south western corner of the Main Field was not used for 

growing crops. Mr Bright explained this in his oral evidence 

and it is also quite clear from the aerial photography.  

 

11.3.2. There was a clear consensus among the majority of 

witnesses for both parties that this part of the land was 

developed as an informal BMX playground during the 2000s. 

As Mr Driscoll explained and other witnesses alluded to, there 

Page 217



166 

was an earlier BMX patch in Area 1 but the activity moved 

when it became clear that Area 1 was likely to be developed.  

 
11.3.3. Mr Driscoll described how the BMX jumps had been made.  It 

is clear, both from his explanation and my site visit, that there 

was considerable disturbance of the ground, albeit that only 

hand tools were used.  Moreover, repeated riding over the 

obstacles served to compact the ground further and thus to 

maintain and/or extend the features.  The resulting 

construction would, in my view, rule out use of the area in 

question for agriculture or any other purpose without a 

significant amount of levelling and filling.  Whilst I have found 

that this part of the land was never used for agriculture during 

the period, the fact that the construction has rendered such 

use impracticable, in my view infringes the “give and take” 

principle derived by the Supreme Court in Lewis v Redcar 

from Fitch v Fitch, whether or not the construction or use of 

the lumps and bumps amounted to one or more criminal 

offences.  Transforming the character of this patch of land 

and rendering other use impracticable, does not, in my 

opinion, constitute LSP. 

 
11.3.4. Even if a different view were taken as to the character of this 

user, the evidence is that it only got going for the second half 

Page 218



167 

of the relevant period.  No evidence was given which clearly 

established recreational use in this area before c.2004.  I 

therefore conclude that the Applicant / TFAG have failed to 

establish requisite user of this area on the balance of 

probabilities. 

 

11.4. North Western Corner: VG Application 267 Land 

11.4.1. This area abuts the railway line to the north-west and Hookpit 

Farm Lane to the north.  It is now bounded to the east by the 

edge of the housing development on Area 1 and runs down 

towards the perimeter path.  It was impossible to discern its 

south eastern boundaries on site and none of the witnesses 

suggested that this ever had been possible.  As explained 

above, this Application is the product of a rather convoluted 

procedural process. 

 

11.4.2. The only witness who specifically referred to his use of this part 

of the land was Mr Woolford, who said that he had reached the 

railway fence, but that this had not been easy.  I attempted a 

similar feat from the direction of Hookpit Farm Lane on my 

unaccompanied site visit, but turned back as the embankment 

was steep and vegetated and I was not, on that occasion, 

dressed for the task.  I asked the parties’ representatives at the 

formal site visit whether they wished me to inspect that area 

Page 219



168 

formally but they did not think that this was necessary.  As I 

have said, the area was pretty impenetrable from the other side 

– i.e. from the rest of the Application VG 262 land, as it was 

heavily overgrown with long grass and scrub.  Suitably attired 

this time, however, I ventured some way in and found what 

appeared to be remnants of builders’ rubble, coinciding with an 

area of disturbed ground visible on the 2013 aerial photograph, 

covering the southern part of the VG 267 and part of the VG 262 

land. 

 
11.4.3. In common with the rest of the Main Field, the aerial 

photography discloses a clear and persistent perimeter path in 

the vicinity of the VG 267 site.  The Application 267 land itself 

contains considerable tree cover and scrubby/shrubby 

vegetation in all the photographs except the 2013 one to which I 

have already referred.  There is no reason to conclude that the 

condition of vegetation in this area of land was materially 

different during the relevant periods from its condition at the 

time of my site visit, when it was pretty well impassable. 

 
11.4.4. Given the almost total absence of any mention of this area of 

land in the oral evidence, the lack of differentiation between 

different areas in the questionnaires, which are relied on to 

support both applications, and the aerial photography, I have no 

Page 220



169 

basis for concluding that the Applicant / TFAG have 

demonstrated requisite user to establish a good claim to the VG 

267 land. 

 
11.4.5. With regard to Application VG 262, which overlaps in this area 

with VG 267, my finding means that the Applicant / TFAG have 

failed to establish requisite user in relation to this part of the site 

on the balance of probabilities. 

 
11.5. Areas 2 and 3 

11.5.1. Although the part of the Application 262 site was divided into 

northern (2) and southern (3) sections for convenience during 

the Inquiry, there is no evidence to suggest that they have ever, 

in practice, been separated on the ground.  They have exhibited 

the same general characteristics of rough, uncultivated land, 

vegetated by long grasses and wild / naturalised flowers such 

as rosebay willowherb and golden rod, together with scrubby 

and bushy growth, including brambles and sloe bushes.  As Ms 

Cox’s detailed examination of the photographs revealed, the 

degree of vegetation and, to some extent, patterns discernible 

on the ground varied over the years. My general impression of 

the areas from all the evidence is that they were of a rough, 

scrubby character. I regard the description of this part of the site 

Page 221



170 

in the Volunteers’ Newsletter of 2006 as accurate for that date 

and likely to be broadly representative of the entire period. 

 

11.5.2. As Messrs Bell and Perrin demonstrated, there is scope for 

confusion as to where the Application Site ended and other 

rough ground, further to the east, started.  A certain amount of 

that family’s activities and the activities of Mr Perrin’s teenage 

friends, must therefore be discounted because it occurred 

outside the Application site in a wooded rectangular area which 

we were able to identify, in general terms, on the accompanied 

site visit.  There were other houses, further south along 

Springvale Road, which did not abut the Application Site and 

there may have been scope for confusion here too, especially in 

the case of questionnaire-fillers or the makers of statements 

who did not attend the Inquiry. Mrs Males described using this 

area to gain access to Top Field, rather than as part of the Field 

itself, although I cannot tell where she thought the boundary lay 

as she did not give oral evidence. 

 
11.5.3. Many witnesses spoke of going onto Areas 2 and 3 and some 

referred to seeing others on them.  Parts of the s.53 route as 

shown on the Order map go through Area 3 and Area 2 is 

bounded by another part of that route.  The precise locations of 

the perimeter paths have clearly been subject to some variation, 

Page 222



171 

but Area 3 appears to have been bordered to east and west by 

tracks until about 2010, when the aerial photographs cease to 

show the eastern route because vegetation along the backs of 

houses in Springvale Road is so much more dense. 

 
11.5.4. Several witnesses35 to this Inquiry and the s.53 process spoke 

of using the Application 262 land to get to and join up with the 

wider footpath network at or near Point 3, where they would 

connect to the disused railway line. 

 
11.5.5. Mr Plant, for example, gave a clear description on the basis of 

his knowledge of the land for virtually the entire period, though I 

bear in mind that his user was predominantly after 1999.  He 

described two main paths through the area running off the 

perimeter path.  He also saw smaller paths which people made, 

but, he said, those would be there for a short time only.  From 

time to time, he would see people on them.  He remembered 

Area 2 as being fairly busy. 

 
11.5.6. Mrs Clarke’s description of Area 2 (from c.2006 as a regular 

user) was similar - very small tracks between and under trees 

leading to the perimeter path or further south behind the houses 

on Tudor Way.  In the main, she stayed on the tracks. 

 

                                            
35

  Plant , Woolford ; McCleery ,2009 onwards only, Cossburn  – Area 2 overgrown). 

Page 223



172 

11.5.7. Mrs Player said, in her written statement, that she had trained 

her gundogs on the “rough triangle” and created many 

pathways, apparently between 1984 and 2004, behind her 

house on Tudor Way.  Unfortunately, as I have said, she did not 

attend the Inquiry so it was not possible to explore with her 

matters such as precise dates and position.  

 
11.5.8. Mr Hutton described a “mish mash” of overgrown paths in Area 

3, which had been used considerably and was good for 

blackberries; he thought that some children played there, but 

not many. 

 
11.5.9. Mr Johnson referred to gates in the back fences of three houses 

on Tudor Way and said that the owners had intervened to stop 

fly tipping behind their back fences. 

 
11.5.10. Mr Holmes’ impression on his visits from c.2005 onwards was of 

a little activity in Areas 2 and 3, but I bear in mind that his visits 

were relatively infrequent. 

 
11.5.11. Ms Cox made an exhaustive examination of the aerial 

photography for Areas 2 and 3.  Her conclusion was that there 

was “evidence of people walking, likely for leisure use, and 

connecting with established tracks.” 

 

Page 224



173 

11.5.12. Putting together all the evidence specifically relating to Areas 2 

and 3, I am inclined to agree with Ms Cox’s overall conclusion, 

though I think that there was probably some use of parts of Area 

2 for informal play during the early part of the period by Mr 

Perrin and his friends, spilling out from the area behind Mr Bell’s 

house and the Ilex Way entrance. Taken as a whole, however, 

the evidence does not establish a clear pattern of independent, 

communal recreational user.  By “independent”, I mean other 

than as a route to or from the perimeter paths on the Main Field.  

By “communal”, I mean of a general nature, rather than routes 

associated with individual houses, whose owners created small 

ways through the vegetation to the Main Field or in order to 

dump garden rubbish.  I conclude that there were fluctuating 

amounts of use during the relevant period, but, bearing in mind 

that it is for the Applicant / TFAG to demonstrate qualifying user 

for the whole of the period, I conclude, on the balance of 

probabilities, that they have failed to do so. 

 
11.6. CONCLUSIONS ON USER 

11.6.1. I have concluded, in relation to the whole area in question, that 

the Applicant / TFAG have not demonstrated on the balance of 

probabilities, that a significant number of local inhabitants have 

indulged in LSP on the Application sites for the relevant 20 year 

periods. 

Page 225



174 

 

 “As of Right” 

12.1. In view of my findings that significant qualifying user has not been 

demonstrated, it is, strictly speaking, unnecessary for me to decide whether or 

not user was as of right. 

 

12.2. For the sake of completeness, I shall record my findings on this point. 

 

Permission – “precario” 

12.3. Irrespective of whether or not Mr Bright could, as the tenant rather than the 

freehold owner of the land, have given permission to use the land, the 

evidence clearly indicates toleration, rather than proper consent on his part.  

This was the conclusion reached in relation to the perimeter paths by the 

Footpath officer and it must have been accepted by the Highway Authority.  

Any tacit toleration by Mr Bright certainly did not extend any further than the 

paths.  I therefore discount “precario” as an issue.  Mr Webster did not seek to 

rely on any such contention. 

 

Fences/Locked Gate – “Vi” 

12.4. The Objector relied on the blockage (to use a neutral term) of the northern end 

of Access 1A.  In the light of the approach of the Courts, especially as set out 

in Betterment, I reject this defence.  Evidence about the position at Hookpit 

Farm Lane was contentious, though I note that the Footpath Officer took 1992 

as the date upon which the right of way from Hookpit Farm Lane was first 

Page 226



175 

called into question.  This gate was dealt with in greatest detail by Mr Brown 

and I found his evidence on this point clear and convincing.  There was a gate 

there from 1992, but it fell down at some point (though I note the Footpath 

officer’s photograph of a padlocked gate in 2001).  There was also a gap to 

one side.  He considered that the gate was there primarily to deter travellers.  

This general picture was broadly consistent with much of the other evidence.  

In any event, whatever the state of play at this access point, there was no 

evidence to suggest that Accesses 2, 3 or 4 were ever blocked during the 

relevant period.  There was no clear evidence as to Access 1 being used at all 

and I discount it for practical purposes.  Although on the site visit we found 

remnants of fencing to the east of the Main Field  which probably accorded 

with the recollections of some longer standing residents and Mr Bright’s 

evidence about his predecessor’s fencing, I do not have clear evidence of a 

sustained effort to prevent user by fencing. 

 

Signs – “vi” 

12.5. Ms Hopkins was the only witness to give clear evidence about signs. Mrs 

Clarke was the only user who remembered a signs, apart from those erected 

fairly recently in connection with the development of Area 1. Her recollection 

was that it was “flimsy” and was only in position for about a day.  The 

developer’s signs round Area 1 signs are not relevant, and I only mention 

them to draw the contrast with Ms Hopkins’ signs. 

 

Page 227



176 

12.6. I accept Ms Hopkins’ evidence that she and a colleague erected two signs in 

June 2010, one towards the north of the Main Field and one on a tree in the 

south west corner. 

 
12.7. The wording of the signs was, in my view, sufficient to make it clear that the 

owner did not acquiesce in TVG user.  However, it appears that the signs were 

only there for a short period of time.  They did not make an impression on 

those users who gave evidence.  There were only two signs on a large site 

and they were made of what appears to have been fairly flimsy plastic.  One 

was nailed to a post.  The other was tied to a tree.  Ms Hopkins said that the 

original intention had been to check the signs annually, but this was not done.  

In my view, this effort fell well short of meeting the Betterment test of 

determined, proportionate action to contest and endeavour to interrupt use. 

 
12.8. I therefore have no hesitation in concluding that, had I found the necessary 

user to have occurred, I would not have recommended rejection of the 

Applications on the basis of signs. 

 
Oral Challenge – “Vi” 

12.9. Although the Applicant/TFAG’s witnesses did not recall ever having been 

challenged by Mr Bright, I have concluded that this is because they were not 

coming into conflict with him during the period when he says that he was 

challenging people on the land – that is, when he was growing crops there.  I 

have no reason to doubt his evidence that he saw off the odd children whom 

he found in his crops at this period.  Such incursions into the central part of the 

Page 228



177 

Main Field during the period 1993 – 2000 would, therefore, not have qualified.  

As I have said, however, I do not find that there was the requisite level of 

physical user during those years in any event, so the question of oral 

challenges is academic. 

 

 TRIGGER EVENTS 

13.1. The Objector relies, if necessary, on paragraphs 1, 4 and 7 in Schedule 1A to 

GIA 2013.  If my findings as to the sufficiency and quality of user are accepted, 

there will be no need to consider potential defences under these provisions, 

but I deal with them for the sake of completeness.  I have summarised the 

principles of the legislation and set out Schedule 1A above. 

 

13.2. Paragraph 1 

 
13.2.1. The Objector’s argument is that land which is included in the 

s.106 Agreement associated with Planning Permission 

12/01912/FUL falls within the definition of “An application for 

planning permission in relation to the land which would be 

determined under s.70 of the 1990 Act …” 

 

13.2.2. I reject this argument.  A s.106 Agreement is a separate legal 

instrument from a planning permission.  It is a contract entered 

into under s.106 of the 1990 Act, rather than an application 

determined under s.70 of that Act.   

 

Page 229



178 

13.2.3. The land which is required under the Agreement to be devoted 

to the purposes of Open Space / ecological mitigation and 

transferred either to the LPA or the Parish Council lies outside 

the planning application site.  The planning application site was 

Area 1. The land the subject of the s.106 covenant lies within 

the VG 262 land.  It formed part of what is colloquially known by 

planning practitioners as “Blue Land” (in contradistinction to the 

“Red Land” of the planning application) – that is, other land, 

outside the application site, within the control of the applicant for 

permission.  In this case, because of the contingent and flexible 

nature of the covenant, the open space land has, not yet even 

been identified.  I therefore have no doubt that the s.106 

Agreement land is unaffected by paragraph 1 of Schedule 1A. 

 
13.3. Paragraphs 4 and 7 

13.3.1. These paragraphs apply where land is identified for potential 

development either: 

(a) in a development plan adopted under the Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (“PACPA”) (paragraph 

4); or 

(b) in a development plan adopted under the 1990 Act which 

continues to have effect by virtue of Schedule 8 to 

PACPA (paragraph 7). 

 

Page 230



179 

13.3.2. In this case, Areas 2 and 3 of VG Application 262 are identified 

on Inset Map 12 within the WDLPR, which was adopted under 

the 1990 Act, for recreational development as set out in Policy 

RT5.  The map designation was carried forward into the Core 

Strategy Policies Map, adopted under PACPA 2004.  Moreover, 

I am satisfied that Policy RT5 was saved by direction of the 

Secretary of State under Schedule 8 to the 2004 Act, for the 

reasons I have set out above. 

 

13.3.3. In principle, therefore, Trigger Events apply to Areas 2 and 3 by 

virtue of Paragraphs 4 and 7.  Mr Wilmshurst disputes this 

conclusion on the basis that Policy RT5, which favours the 

granting of planning permission for “improvements in 

recreational land and facilities” and which has “reserved” land 

“for the provision of new facilities”, is not inconsistent with use of 

the land for LSP.  He submitted that paragraphs 4 and 7 of 

Schedule 1A to GIA 2013 should be construed by reference to 

the statutory objective of preventing the stalling or stopping of 

development.  If I am in doubt, he invites me to examine the 

Parliamentary materials in Hansard to resolve such doubt.  He 

said, in answer to my question, that the paragraphs should be 

read to mean: “identifies land for potential development which is 

inconsistent with a TVG”. (emphasis added). 

 

Page 231



180 

13.3.4. In my view, the words of paragraphs 4 and 7 are clear; all that is 

required is the “identification” of land for “potential 

development”.  “Development” is not defined in GIA 2013 or CA 

2006, but it is defined in s.55 TCPA 1990.  In the absence of 

any other definition in the 2013 Act, and given the dependency 

of Schedule 1A on that Act, I consider that the word should be 

construed as set out in s.55.  S.55(1) provides that, subject to 

the rest of the section and unless the context requires 

otherwise, “development” means: “the carrying out of building, 

engineering, mining or other operations in, on, over or under 

land, or the making of any material change in the use of any 

buildings or other land”.  By s. 56(2), certain operations or uses 

are excluded from the definition; paragraph (e) excludes the use 

of any land for the purposes of agriculture or forestry.  

Recreational operations or uses are not excluded. 

 
13.3.5. Policy RT5 identifies the relevant land, inter alia, for “the 

provision of new facilities”.  It makes a policy statement directed 

to the granting of planning permission.  As Mr Holmes pointed 

out, the provision of new recreational facilities might take many 

forms.  I do not accept the premise of Mr Wilmshurst’s 

submissions that all such development would necessarily be 

consistent with TVG status.  On the Lewis v Redcar principle, 

TVG rights, if I had found them to have been established as a 

Page 232



181 

matter of fact, would have been for the inhabitants of the locality 

(as opposed to the wider public) to use the land for 

unstructured, informal recreation.  Policy RT5 would be broad 

enough in scope to permit formal sports uses – possibly 

including pitches, requiring operational development for their 

installation, together with ancillary facilities such as floodlighting, 

pavilions, toilets and car parking.  The reasoned justification 

refers to evidenced deficiencies in recreational land which 

could, in principle, include deficiencies in sports pitches.  Other 

recreational uses could include indoor sports/leisure.  The 

identification in the development plans is thus, in my view, 

clearly for “development” within the meaning of Schedule 1A.  

Whilst I do not accept that Mr Wilmshurst’s construction is right, 

because it requires words to be read into the statute, in any 

event the development envisaged by the policy in this case is 

capable of being inconsistent with TVG rights. 

 

13.3.6. Strictly speaking, since I consider the statutory words to be 

clear, I do not need to consult Hansard.  I have, nevertheless, 

done so.  The principle of the provisions, as explained on behalf 

of the Government, was that TVG registration should not “cut 

across decisions taken in the democratically accountable 

planning system”.  To prevent planned recreational 

development, directed to meeting the specific needs of the 

Page 233



182 

community as assessed by the LPA, on the merits-neutral basis 

of TVG registration, would, in my opinion, run contrary to the 

intention of Parliament, insofar as it is discernible from the 

extracts produced.36 

 
 
 CONCLUSIONS 

14.1. I conclude that both TVG Applications should be rejected for the reasons set 

out above.  In summary, these are: 

 

(i) sufficient user of the requisite quality has not been established for the 

relevant periods in either case; and/or 

 

(ii) such user as there was would, predominantly, have carried the 

appearance of path user rather than a clear assertion of TVG rights for 

the relevant periods; and/or 

 
(iii) Areas 2 and 3 are subject to Trigger Events under Schedule 1A to the 

Growth and Infrastructure Act 2013 which mean that they are not 

eligible for registration. 

 
Accordingly, I recommend that Applications VG 262 and VG 267 be 

rejected. 

 

MORAG ELLIS QC 

                                            
36

  Authorities Bundle TAB 38. 

Page 234



Order Decision ROW/3189777 
 

1 
 

 
 

 

Order Decision 
Inquiry held on 22 August 2018 

by Alison Lea  MA (Cantab) Solicitor 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 

Decision date: 23 October 2018 

 
Order Ref: ROW/3189777 

 This Order is made under Section 53 (2) (b) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 

(the 1981 Act) and is known as the Hampshire (Winchester City No.44)(Kings Worthy)  

Definitive Map Modification Order 2017. 

 The Order is dated 18 July 2017 and proposes to modify the Definitive Map and 

Statement for the area by adding footpaths as shown in the Order plan and described in 

the Order Schedule. 

 There were 2 objections outstanding when the Council submitted the Order to the 

Secretary of State for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs for confirmation. 

Summary of Decision: The Order is confirmed subject to modifications set 
out below in the Formal Decision 
 

Background and Preliminary Matters 

1. The Hampshire (Winchester City No.44)(Kings Worthy)  Definitive Map 
Modification Order 2017 (the 2017 Order) proposes to add 3 footpaths to the 
Definitive Map, which I shall refer to as Routes 1, 2 and 3.  Route 1 

commences at the end of FP506a on Burnet Lane, marked as Point A on the 
Order Plan.  It forms a circuit of an area known as Top Field, passing through 

Points B, C, D F, and G to meet Point H at the end of FP506b which connects 
to Blackberry Field.  Route 2 departs from Route 1 at Point C and forms a 

curve passing through Point E to rejoin Route 1 at Point F.  Route 3 departs 
from Route 1 at Point D and leads away from Top Field to join Springvale 
Road at Point J.   

2. An application was made in 1997 for similar routes and an Order was made 
on 26 April 2005 (the 2005 Order). Routes 2 and 3 in the 2017 Order are the 

same as in the 2005 Order. Route 1 in the 2017 Order differs slightly from 
the route shown in the 2005 Order, as the latter predates the construction of 
housing at Blackberry Field and Burnet Lane and the addition of FP506a and 

FP506b to the definitive map. There was one objection to the 2005 Order 
and I am informed that for various reasons the Order has neither been 

confirmed nor rescinded. 

3. The 2005 Order was made on the basis of user evidence relating to use 
between the years 1972 and 1992.  This consisted of 39 user evidence 

forms. The 2017 Order has been made on the basis of the same evidence.  

Page 235



Order Decision ROW/3189777 
 

2 
 

4. In 2013 an application was made to record land at Top Field as town or 
village green (the TVG application).  It was supported by 172 user evidence 

forms. An inquiry was held in 2016 at which a number of witnesses gave oral 
evidence. The application was refused. 

5. In 2017 applications were made to add a number of other routes on and 
around Top Field to the definitive map. The applications are currently being 
investigated by the Council under the reference DMMO 1180 (Application 

1180).   

6. I carried out an unaccompanied site visit on 21 August 2018.  Parts of the 

2017 Order routes were inaccessible due to the growth of vegetation and it 
was clear that some of the accessible trodden paths were in different 
locations to those shown on the 2017 Order plan. At the inquiry it was 

accepted by all parties that this was the case.  I did not consider that a 
further accompanied site inspection was required and no-one requested one. 

7. A representative from Galliford Try Partnerships, one of the objectors, was 
present at the inquiry.  He clarified that the objection was not withdrawn but 
that they did not wish to present evidence at the inquiry. 

8. The Order describes the width of the paths in a number of ways including “of 
at least 1.8 metres width”, “of a minimum width of 1.8 metres”, “of 2 metres 

minimum width” and as “of at least 1.8 metres minimum width”.  The 
Council agrees that these descriptions are imprecise and that in the interests 

of recording width as accurately as possible, the Order should be modified to 
delete references to “at least” and “minimum”. 

The Main Issues 

9. The Council relies on Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980 (the 1980 Act) 
which provides that where a way, other than a way of such a character that 

use of it could not give rise at common law to any presumption of 
dedication, has been actually enjoyed by the public, as of right and without 
interruption, for a period of 20 years, the way is deemed to have been 

dedicated as a highway unless there is sufficient evidence that the 
landowner demonstrated a lack of intention during this period to dedicate 

the route.  The 20 year period applies retrospectively from the date on which 
the right of the public to use the way was brought into question. 

10. Although relying primarily on Section 31 of the 1980 Act, which I shall 

therefore consider first, the Council also submits that ample evidence has 
been provided to demonstrate dedication at common law. An inference that 

a way has been dedicated for public use may be drawn at common law 
where the actions of landowners (or lack of action) indicate that they 
intended a way to be dedicated as a highway and where the public have 

accepted it.  

Reasons 

When the right to use the ways was brought into question 

11. The application which led to the 2005 Order was made following the gating       
of the entrance to Top Field from Hookpit Farm Lane in 1992. Although it 

appears that it remained possible to access the Order routes following this 

Page 236



Order Decision ROW/3189777 
 

3 
 

time and many people claim to have done so, I accept that this action 
brought the right to use the ways into question.  The 2017 Order relies upon 

the same event. 

Whether there was 20 years’ public use between 1972 and 1992 

12. I have been provided with copies of the 37 user evidence forms submitted 
with the 1997 application. None of the people who submitted the forms was 
available to give oral evidence and I acknowledge that this is not surprising 

given the passage of time. Although I am therefore unable to test the 
evidence, it is, primarily, the evidence relied upon by the Council. 

13. The 37 user evidence forms are accompanied by plans.  They are of varying 
quality and it is not always clear whether the author is referring to routes in 
the exact location shown on the 2005 Order plan.  However, they all appear 

to show use of at least some or part of those routes during the relevant 
period, with 17 claiming use throughout the entire 20 year period. The 

longest user claimed is 70 years.  Frequency of use varies between twice a 
year to daily or even several times per day. All users refer to seeing others 
on the paths and there appears little doubt from the forms that use of paths 

on Top Field was frequent throughout the relevant period. However, 
although the paths used were clearly in the vicinity of those shown on the 

2005 Order plan, it is difficult to ascertain their exact location from the user 
evidence forms.    

14. I have also been provided with copies of the 172 user evidence forms 
submitted with the TVG application and the Inspector’s report in respect of 
that application. The relevant period was 1993 to 2013 and although some 

of the forms refer to use of paths prior to 1993 the context in which the 
forms were produced limits their usefulness.  

15. The Inspector heard oral evidence over a period of 5 days and concluded 
that the user would “have carried the appearance of path user rather than a 
clear assertion of TVG rights for the relevant periods”. She refers to a “great 

deal of evidence of the use of the paths around the perimeter” and to aerial 
photographs showing perimeter paths. She also heard evidence from Mr 

Bright, who occupied Top Field pursuant to a tenancy from 1985 and found 
that the “evidence clearly demonstrates that, during Mr Bright’s tenancy, if 
not before, the establishment/use of a predominant track around the Main 

Field, accessed from …Hookpit Farm Lane, with a loop in the south-eastern 
corner and a link to the route of the dismantled railway, was tolerated so 

long as there was no interference with his agricultural activities”.  Her 
description fits the routes shown on the plan to the 2005 Order.   

16. Copies of the aerial photographs submitted to the TVG inquiry have been 

made available to me. The first photograph is dated 1993. It predates the 
construction of the housing and shows an access to Top Field from Hookpit 

Farm Lane, with a clear perimeter path from Point A, passing through Point B 
to Point C.  From C to G it is difficult to make out a path due to the presence 
of hedgerow.  However a path is visible from G to H.  A loop in the location 

of Route 2 is also visible although it appears to have a slightly different 
shape to that shown on the 2005 Order plan.  Similarly a path is visible in 

the location of Route 3 although it is unclear exactly where it leaves Route 1.  
Other paths not on the 2005 Order plan are also visible. 

Page 237



Order Decision ROW/3189777 
 

4 
 

17. Later photographs continue to show similar routes on the ground. The 1999 
aerial photograph shows an area of cultivated land with a number of worn 

paths around the perimeter. Route 1 is clearly visible, Route 2 looks more 
elongated as shown on the 2005 and 2017 Order plan and where Route 3 

leaves at Point D is clearly visible on this photograph.  Later photographs 
show how the area crossed by Route 1 between Points A and B gradually 
became overgrown. A 2013 aerial photograph shows that construction of the 

housing had commenced. 

18. In 2017 Kings Worthy Parish Council instigated a further consultation on 

historic use of the 2017 Order routes which resulted in a further 18 user 
evidence forms.  However, few of these refer to use prior to 1992 and many 
of the accompanying maps only show part, if any, of the 2017 Order routes. 

Although 5 of these people gave oral evidence at the inquiry, the evidence is 
of limited assistance in relation to the period 1972 to 1992.  

19. I have also been provided with some of the user evidence forms relating to 
Application 1180.  Although they relate to a claim for other routes and to a 
later period, many of the plans also show Routes 1, 2 or 3 or parts of them. 

46 people claim use of part or all of Route 1, 21 claim use of Route 2 and 22 
claim use of Route 3.  Some claim use prior to 1992 but the majority relate 

to a later period.  One person gave oral evidence at the inquiry but her use 
did not commence until after 1992.  She did however refer to use of the 

majority of Route 1 but stated that much of the route is now difficult to use 
due to the growth of vegetation.  

20. It is clear from the user evidence forms that there was considerable use of 

paths on Top Field during the period 1972 to 1992 and beyond. The current 
landowner acknowledges that footpaths have existed over the area for some 

time.  However, they object to the Order on the basis that the footpaths 
have not consistently followed the same line and I accept that the routes 
used have to some extent varied, particularly in more recent years, due to 

the presence of vegetation.   

21. Nevertheless, the aerial photographs show clear routes on the ground in the 

locations claimed. Although they post-date the claimed period, the first was 
taken in 1993, only a short time after the end of that period, and later 
photographs show how the paths have moved as a result of vegetation 

growth and the construction of housing.  I find the aerial photographs 
generally consistent with the user evidence forms and the limited oral 

evidence given at the inquiry.  They are also consistent with the description 
of perimeter paths given by the Inspector at the TVG inquiry at which she 
heard oral evidence. 

22. Taking account of all of the evidence available to me, I therefore conclude 
that, on the balance of probabilities, there has been 20 years’ public use of 

the Order routes between 1972 and 1992. 

Whether the use was as of right and uninterrupted 

23. None of the 39 user evidence forms which led to the 2005 Order makes any 

reference to any obstructions other than gates, described as having been put 
in place in 1992 to stop travellers entering the land. These are the gates 

which brought the right to use the way into question.  No one refers to any 

Page 238



Order Decision ROW/3189777 
 

5 
 

notices other than one person who recalled a “Beware of the Bull” sign being 
in place for a period of about 12 months even though it is stated that there 

were no animals in the field.  All but one form records that no permission 
was sought. The current landowners both state that they have not given 

permission, but their ownership does not relate to the relevant period. 

24. In conclusion there is nothing to suggest that the use was by force, in secret 
or with permission.  Similarly there is no evidence that use has at any time 

been interrupted between 1972 and 1992.  

Evidence of landowners’ intentions 

25. Mr Bright occupied the land pursuant to a tenancy agreement from 1985 
until around 2013.  I am informed that Mr Bright’s father owned the land 
from 1962 and used it for a few years for grazing cattle. He later sold it and 

there was a grazing licence to another farmer from 1966 to around 1985.  
After a further sale the land came, in 1992, into the ownership of a company 

which eventually became Gleeson Homes (Southern) Limited in 1995 
(Gleeson).  Gleeson was the owner at the time of the application which led 
to the 2005 Order, but the ownership post-dates the relevant 20 year 

period.  The current landowner is Drew Smith, a subsidiary of Galliford Try 
Partnerships, with a small part of Route 3 falling within the ownership of a 

Mr Poole. 

26. Gleeson objected to the 2005 Order, primarily on the basis that the Order 

was, in its opinion, invalid. The objection also stated that the Order would 
significantly affect the continued use of the land for the farm business and 
that the existing trespass already leads to problems.  Information provided 

by Gleeson prior to the Order being made states that they had not seen the 
paths being used and that, if they did see anyone, then a challenge would 

occur. There is also reference to Mr Bright’s tenancy and to fencing needing 
to be repaired due to vandalism.  

27. One of the user evidence forms submitted with the initial application refers 

to meeting Mr Bright who “said nothing about people walking on the land” 
and was “always very friendly”. In a witness statement made in respect of 

the TVG application, Mr Bright refers to the land having been used for cattle 
by a previous tenant but that local residents who liked to use the field for 
dog walking would often cut the barbed wire.  As a result he only used the 

land for arable purposes. The statement recalls local people walking around 
the perimeter. 

28. Mr Bright gave oral evidence at the TVG inquiry. The Inspector records him 
as stating “I have been quite happy with an unofficial path running around 
the field and have never tried to stop people walking there as I wish to 

maintain good relations with the local people”. The inspector concluded, in 
the context of the TVG application, that a route which appears to fit the 

description of Routes 1, 2 and 3 “was tolerated so long as there was no 
interference with his agricultural activities”. 

29. The evidence from landowners relating to the relevant period is limited.  

However, there is no evidence of challenge to what appears to have been 
extensive use of the routes by the public.  The evidence is insufficient to 

demonstrate a lack of intention to dedicate. 

Page 239



Order Decision ROW/3189777 
 

6 
 

Conclusions on the evidence 

30. I am satisfied that the evidence before me is sufficient to show that, on the 

balance of probabilities, Routes 1, 2 and 3 have been used by the public for 
a period of 20 years between 1972 and 1992, as of right and uninterrupted 

and that therefore the routes are deemed to have been dedicated as public 
footpaths.  There is insufficient evidence that any landowner demonstrated a 
lack of intention during this period to dedicate the routes. 

31. Given this conclusion, it is not necessary for me to consider the position at 
common law. 

Other matters  

32. Drew Smith refers to the claimed routes as being impassable through 
inactivity. However, the current condition of the routes is not relevant to 

consideration of whether or not they have been shown to subsist.  Similarly 
matters relating to the safety of the routes and liability for public safety as 

raised by Mr Poole, are not matters which can be taken into account in 
determining whether or not the 2017 Order should be confirmed. 

Conclusions 

33. Having regard to these and all other matters raised I conclude that the 2017 
Order should be confirmed with modifications relating to the descriptions of 

the width of the routes. 

Formal Decision 

34. I confirm the 2017 Order subject to the following modifications: 

 In Part 1 of the Schedule to the Order delete the words “at least” 
before the words “1.8 metres width” in the description of each of the 3 

paths 

 In Part 2 of the Schedule to the Order, in the paragraph headed Kings 

Worthy 507 delete the word “minimum ” before the words “of 1.8 
metres” , and the word “minimum” after the words “2 metres”. 

 In Part 2 of the Schedule to the Order, in the paragraph headed Kings 

Worthy 508 delete the words “at least” and “minimum” from the 
phrase “of at least 1.8 metres minimum width” 

 In Part 2 of the Schedule to the Order, in the paragraph headed Kings 
Worthy 509 delete the words “minimum” and “at least” from the 
phrase “of a minimum width of at least 1.8 metres” 

 

Alison Lea 

Inspector 
 
 

 
 

Page 240



Order Decision ROW/3189777 
 

7 
 

APPEARANCES 
 

FOR THE ORDER MAKING AUTHORITY: 
 

Ms C Stickland, Solicitor, Hampshire County Council 
  

She called 

Ms S Seeliger  

 

Hampshire County Council 
  

 
FOR KINGS WORTHY PARISH COUNCIL: 
 

Mr S Newell 
 

  
He called 
Mr J Sainsbury 

Mr J Fuller 
Ms J Turton 

Ms B Lambert 
Mr N McCleery 

Ms K Clements 
 

 
 

  

 
 

  
DOCUMENTS HANDED IN AT INQUIRY 

 
1. Prints of aerial photographs  
2. Correspondence from Gleeson to Hampshire County Council during 2001 

concerning the claimed routes 
3. User evidence forms and plans relating to DMMO 1180. 

 

 

 

Page 241



This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 243



P
age 244



P
age 245



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 247



P
age 248



P
age 249



P
age 250



P
age 251



P
age 252



P
age 253



P
age 254



P
age 255



P
age 256



P
age 257



P
age 258



P
age 259



P
age 260



P
age 261



P
age 262



P
age 263



P
age 264



1960 1965 1970 1975 1980 1985 1990 1995 2000 2005 2010 2015

Young, Elizabeth

Young, Andrew

Witts, David

Welstead, Denis

Turton, Jennifer

Thomas, Mr. M.

Stevenson, Davina

Smith, Jonathan

Short, Evi

Sainsbury, Justin

Roberts, Mr. L.

Renshaw, Mr. D

Pratt, David

Player, Christine

Piitman, David

Phillips, Lesley Mrs.

Patience, Paul

Newman, Mr. L.

Mulrine, Catherine

Mould, Mary

McCleery, Noel

McCleery, Karen

Mason, Reuben

Mackay, Mrs. D.

Mack, Valerie

Mack, Graham

Lambert, Barbara

Jarman, Arnold

Innes, Sir Peter

Hodges, Andrew

Henderson, Leigh

Hare, David

Halford, John

Fuller, Mrs. Hilary

Fuller, John

Flynn, Mark

Elliott, Raymond

Edwards, Mervyn

Driscoll, Mr. W.

Dineen, Oliver

Derrick, Sylvie

Dalzell, Ms Y.

Cossburn, Colin

Clements, Kasey

Clausen, Carl

Clarke, Rosemary

Butler, Carol

Brown, Tim MBE

Bradshaw, James

Barwell, Ralph

Barwell, Carmel

Ayres, John

Period of use

User Evidence - Top Field, Kings Worthy - DMMO 1180

Page 265



This page is intentionally left blank



1960 1965 1970 1975 1980 1985 1990 1995 2000 2005 2010 2015

Young, Elizabeth
Young, Andrew
Witts, David
Williams, Mrs. P.
Williams, Mr. E.
Wilkinson, John
Welstead, Denis
Turton, Jennifer
Thomas, Mr. M.
Stevenson, Davina
Smith, Jonathan
Short, Evi
Sainsbury, Justin
Roberts, Mr. L.
Renshaw, Mr. D
Prosser, Mrs. D.
Prosser, Mr. B.
Pratt, David
Player, Christine
Piitman, David
Phillips, Lesley Mrs.
Patience, Paul
North, Mr. G.
North, Emma
Newman, Mr. L.
Mulrine, Catherine
Mould, Mary
McCleery, Noel
McCleery, Karen
Mason, Reuben
Malphus, Mr. F.
Mackay, Mrs. D.
Mack, Valerie
Mack, Graham
Luing, Mrs. S.
Luing, George
Lambert, Barbara
Kent, Francis
Jarman, Arnold
James, Miss Barbara
Innes, Sir Peter
Hutton, Glenys
Hogg, Mrs. Ruth
Hodges, Andrew
Henderson, Leigh
Hedley, Prof. R.
Hedley, Mrs. A
Hare, David
Halford, John
Fuller, Mrs. Hilary
Fuller, John
Flynn, Mark
Elliott, Raymond
Edwards, Mervyn
Driscoll, Mr. W.
Dineen, Oliver
Derrick, Sylvie
Dalzell, Ms Y.
Cossburn, Colin
Cooper, Miss Yvonne
Clements, Kasey
Clausen, Carl
Clarke, Rosemary
Clarke, Mrs. E.
Clarke, Dr. K.
Butler, Carol
Brown, Tim MBE
Bradshaw, James
Boxall, Mrs. Hilda
Bishop, Chris
Barwell, Ralph
Barwell, Carmel
Ayres, John
Aldus, Mrs. Janet

Period of use

User Evidence - Top Field, Kings Worthy 
DMMOs 578 and 1180 combined user

Relevant Period

N
am

e o
f u

ser  

Page 267



This page is intentionally left blank



This map is reproduced from Ordnance Survey material with the permission 
of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery 
Office © Crown copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright 
and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. HCC 100019180 2019

6a

507

509

508

506b

506a

1

¯

1:2,168

K

A

B

C

L

E

F

G

H

I

J

Paths at Top Field claimed or shown by evidence
Existing public rights of way

SCALE         1:2,168
DRAWN       SS
DATE           11.06.2019

D

Woodhams Lane 

Hookpit Farm Lane

34 users

14 users

10 users 4 users

57 users

52 users

Kim Bishop Way

K

L

29 users

P
age 269



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1925 1935 1945 1955 1965 1975 1985 1995

Williams, Mrs. P.

Williams, Mr. E.

Wilkinson, John

Waters, Mrs. Y.

Waters, Mr. J.

Tallack, Mrs. E.

Ricketts, Mrs. A.

Rackham, K.

Pusey, Mr. L.H.

Prosser, Mrs. D.

Prosser, Mr. B.

Player, Mrs. Christine

North, Mr. G.

North, Mrs. Emma

Marlow, Mr. Alan

Malphus, Mr. F.

Luing, Mrs. S.

Luing, Mr. George

Kent, Mr. Francis

Kirby, Jean

James, Miss Barbara

Hutton, Glenys

Hogg, Mrs. Ruth

Helyar, Mrs. J.

Hedley, Prof. R.

Hedley, Mrs. A.

Duckett, Raymond

Duckett, Mrs. Patricia

Cooper, Miss Yvonne

Clarke, Dr. K.

Clarke, Mrs. E.

Brook, Mr. M

Brook, Mrs. J

Brindley, Mrs. M.

Brindley, Mr. A.

Boxall, Mrs. Hilda

Bishop, Chris

Aldus, Mrs. Janet

N
a
m

e
 o

f 
U

s
e
r

User Evidence Graph - DMMO 578, Top Field, Kings Worthy
showing earlier user of paths in DMMO 1180 application

Use of dismantled railway Use of Woodhams Lane path

Period of use 
Relevant Period 
DMMO 578

Page 271



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 1 

User Evidence Claim 578 -  Top Field, Kings Worthy        Appendix 8 

 

Digest of forms/statements (where available) mentioned in Committee Report (paragraphs 10.2 to 10.13) November 2001 

 

 

Name of User Dates of 

Use 

Details of use 

Mrs. J. Aldus 1964-1995 Started walking path with children in 1964 for recreation; sometimes walked up the side of the railway and 

across, or up Hookpit Farm Lane across the field;  about 40 times per year; there were, and still are, paths 

everywhere; very small fence with hedges around the field, but did not see any signs; saw locals and 
strangers on foot, and passed through gates (framework only) – gates never locked; path runs alongside 

cultivated field, around the edge; never asked for permission, not stopped, no one else stopped; no 

connection with the landowner, and not told not public; not in the exercise of a private right; Mr. Bright, the 

farmer, said nothing about people using the field; just chatted about ordinary things; field always appeared to 

be waste ground; gates went up recently – presumes to keep people out; hasn’t walked field a great deal in 

last 10 years – believes it is now shut (file includes two photographs with horses grazing on a field) 

Mr. Chris 

Bishop 

1968-1986 (f) 

(18 – 25xPA) 

1980-1991  

(h) (11 – 

1460xPA) 

1996-1996 

(b) 91 – 

8xPA) 

First lived with parents in Abbotsworthy from 1968-1978; from 1971 working in Kings Worthy and used to 

visit friends at Worthy Down walking alongside live railway track, crossing track through gap in hedge and 

walking over field up east side to join Hookpit Farm Lane; top section of railway line was a cutting going 

round to the junction, filled with rubbish from building the houses on the other side of Hookpit Farm Lane; 

the field had long grass; in 1978 route across field up east side enclosed by two rotten and falling fences; 

started to walk dismantled railway immediately; got a dog in 1980; walked dog round field every day; in 1979 

Andover Turf Company started to mow field, apparently with permission of landowner; continued to use 

field for walking; saw locals and strangers on foot, horseback and with bicycles; has passed through gates, 

though only recently locked (2001); sign saying ‘Beware of the Bull’ in 1987 for 12 months, but no animals in 

the field, and torn down within days; obstructions for approximately 6 months when 2 shire horses were 

kept on lower edge of field; not stopped, not with permission, no connection with landowner, not told not 

public; Turf Company had problems with scrambling bikes so dug ditches across the dismantled railway line 

to stop access; bikers had torn gouges out of the turf; explained to man digging ditch across the railway line 

that a lot of people used the field to walk their dogs – he did not seem to care and said walkers would have 

to climb round it; filled these in after being told company would not waste money doing it, so used a shovel 

and pickaxe and filled part of trench in; mother complained to visiting policeman – told that she had no right 

to complain as was trespassing just as much as bikers, because there was no right of way; main routes 

always been along the dismantled railway, to bottom east corner and up to Hookpit Farm Lane, and also 

P
age 273



 

 2 

along to Winchester Junction corner to join up with BOAT 1; never seen signs explaining that there is no 

public right of way; in 1990 fences placed along the southern and western edges and across the top corner 

and straight down but gaps were deliberately left in the fences at the corners for the public to get through – 

fences can still be seen in the field; not sure when fences and gates on Hookpit Farm Lane were erected, 

possibly after travellers were evicted  

Mrs. Hilda 

Boxall 

1926-1994 Apart from a period in Surrey, has lived in her house since 1923; garden then extended to edge of field off 

Hookpit Farm Lane – could access field this way almost daily; had school-friend living at signal cottage at 

Winchester Junction, used to walk up side of railway embankment from Springvale Road, across line and 

round eastern edge of field to see her; saw locals and strangers on foot; passed through unlocked gates; saw 

no signs or obstructions, did not seek permission, not stopped and no connection with the owner, Mr. 
Bright the farmer; used route to visit friend at Winchester Junction in exercise of a private right; husband 

used to cut the hedges around field of Hookpit Farm Lane, for the fuel; was good friends with the farmer, 

who did not tell the public they should not walk on the field; half an acre of garden sold, and a bungalow 

built blocking the entrance to the field; used path going up the side of railway embankment from Springvale 

Road or entered off Hookpit Farm Lane; before current gates went up off Hookpit Farm Lane, very easy to 

get into the field – used to be like entering a garden; now overgrown and has not visited for several years 

Prof. R. Hedley 1986-1996 Walked path from 1980 and more regularly from 1986 when moved to Kings Worthy; either walks a circuit 

of the field or down the east side to dismantled railway line and to school and village, or down cut to 

Springvale Road to go up Legion Lane; first knew field in 1980, when it was uncultivated and horses were 

grazed there; used to go there with grandchildren; long-standing residents say there were railway cottages 

by paths, where they join the path round the field; used to be a path straight across from Hookpit Farm 

Lane to these cottages; path had raised banks and allowed wagon access to the cottages; recalls the farmer 

used to regularly cut overgrowing vegetation from the path and left gaps for pedestrian access; now derelict 

fences were never erected properly or completely, although posts were put in (not completely round all 

sides of the field) the wire was only strung up at some points; even where this was done, intentional gaps 

were left for pedestrian passage; wire was never put in along the north and east sides of the field, nor 

completely along the south side; whatever the purpose of the makeshift fencing, it was not the subject of 

any notices; shortly before housing development at Ilex Close in 1995 the field invaded by travellers; gate 

erected on Hookpit Farm Lane at entrance to field, and trenches dug to prevent vehicle access by travellers;  

assumed that this was done to obviate problems for tenant farmer and make the proposed housing 

development more presentable; no notices of any sort ever put up warning against ordinary use of path by 

pedestrians, and wiring on gate rapidly fell into disuse; never replaced; emphasises that at no time has he or 

any of his acquaintances been told there is no right to use the path; path enclosed only along old railway line 

to south of field, some 6-10 feet; the tenant farmer has always left a pathway several feet wide and not 

P
age 274



 

 3 

ploughed up to edge of field (as on adjoining fields); has used machines to cut back brambles to give 

unrestricted access to pedestrians 

Mrs. J. Helyar 1970-1995 Moved to Kings Worthy in 1962, and started using path about 1970 – walked around field with dogs and 

regularly met a lot of people; also used dismantled railway line to extend walk on many occasions;  current 

fence and gate at Hookpit Farm Lane erected by developers to stop travellers entering field; never saw any 

signs that people were not welcome to walk in the field, and no-one said anything to that effect 

Mr. J. Kirby No specific 

dates given 

(no form 

completed) 

Lived in Kings Worthy since 1961 and has mainly used the claimed route for dog walking; used to be 

cottages at the junction with the railway 40 years before; either walked from Springvale Road along and up 

side of dismantled railway and onto field, or completed a circular route round field; used to keep path up to 

railway clear himself; doesn’t recall any fences, or anything obstructing the path; the farmer Mr. Bright 

always let people use the path and has always felt it to be an unofficial footpath; nobody ever said to keep 

out and never any signs to say people not supposed to walk there 

Mr. F. Malphus 1975-1996 Has lived in Kings Worthy for 25 years and regularly walked from the village along the dismantled railway 

line and across field to Hookpit Farm Lane and shops; also regularly walked further along the line to the 

Winchester Junction corner of the field, up, around and down for a circular walk, usually with dog; never 

been any signs to say not a public right of way; know the farmer leasing the field from owners until two 

years ago, who never mentioned anything about not wanting people to walk on the field; whenever the field 

had a crop growing, a strip left by the hedge for people to walk on; 8-9 years ago the top two corners of 

the field were fenced off by developers for building, and again strips of land left by the fences for walking on; 

the developers went bankrupt and fences fell into disrepair, though still present at time of statement [2001]; 
current fence and gates at Hookpit Farm Lane went up 5 to 6 years ago after travellers were evicted and 

the gate wire was cut very quickly, allowing easy access for walkers; still walk path regularly with wife and 

dog 

Mr. Alan 

Marlow 

1977-1997 Lived in Kings Worthy since 1977, when used to walk the path with children; access points at various spots 

around the field, usually taking route from village along the dismantled railway line, over the bridge and up 
east side of field to Hookpit Farm Lane; no fences when first lived in the area, and when fences erected 

always seem more to keep children on bikes out rather than walkers, as there was always a way round the 

gate or fence; not sure who put up the current fence or gates at Hookpit Farm Lane – they have been there 

for years; no attempt has ever been made to patch up holes in the wire of the gate; has never seen any signs 

saying the route was not a public right of way, and has never been told that the route is not a public right of 

way 

Mrs. Christine 

Player 

1977-1997 Moved to Kings Worthy in 1979; had two dogs and walked them in and around field off Hookpit Farm Lane; 

field then pasture and shire horses grazed there;  field fenced round perimeter, to prevent horses getting 

out but cannot recall exact location of fence; moved to present house in 1984; still use the field for walks 

P
age 275



 

 4 

and has immediate access from back garden; about 1995 travellers took over field and not evicted for some 

time; gate and fence at entrance to field erected after their eviction; believes sole reason for putting up gate 

and fence to stop travellers returning to comply with the one day a year rule; wire only lasted a few days 

before it was cut; believes the dog bin beside this gate is for the use of walkers along Hookpit Farm Lane to 

keep it clean; ditches that appeared at the entrance to the field dug to deter travellers and people with 
bikes; used field for short walks such as a circuit of the field or long walks to the dismantled railway and into 

Kings Worthy; when children young used to walk them that way to school every day; can’t remember when 

the now-derelict fences in field were erected – these also did not last long, and shrubs were planted along 

the line of one of them; knew of the farmer, Mr. Nigel Bright, who farmed field until recently; he originally 

left a headland down the left side of the field – later he ploughed right to the hedge line;  not sure whether 

this was meant to imply that people should not walk there, or whether he was trying to improve the yield 

from the agriculturally low-quality field;  neither the farmer, nor the farm-worker, ever said anything about 

people not walking on the field;  Mr. Bright’s father, Mr. Jim Bright, who farmed the field before him, often 

checked that there was nothing that could be of danger to dogs put on the field and said as much, as he was 

well aware the dog walkers used the field; no-one ever challenged use, or indicated the owner was unhappy 

about how the land was being used; never seen signs to say no public right of way across land or that 

walkers were trespassing 

Mrs. Prosser 1972-1996 First moved to Kings Worthy in 1973, and started using path around field at least 25 years ago [date of 

statement 2001]; garden back on to the field and always a gate from garden into it; most days walks a circuit 

of the field, and sometimes walk out onto Hookpit Farm Lane to the shops and back and, less frequently, 

along disused railway line; field was more of a meadow when first arrived, often with cows and horses on it; 

about 20 years ago the turf must have been sold off as field stripped of its grass; believes there were once 

cottages or houses in far south-west corner of field as, though buildings gone, there were still garden 

remains;  fences that are now derelict run north-south and east-west through the field, and erected about 8 

years ago when builders were working in there, but have since fallen down; fences and gates on Hookpit 

Farm Lane were erected after travellers were evicted a few years ago; wire across the gate quickly cut; 

husband rang owners to tell them of this, as concerned that travellers might return, but owners did nothing 

about it; Mr. Bright, the farmer, farmed the field until two years ago; knew him to speak to and he never 

mentioned that people should not be walking there;  he always left a strip of land around the field 

uncultivated so that people could walk there;  no-one has ever said that people should not walk around the 

field – did not see any signs to that effect; still walks the field twice daily 

Mrs. Elsie 

Singleton 

No form 

supplied 

Moved into house with Mrs. Boxall and her husband 52 years ago, when garden used to extend right up to 

the boundary with the field off Hookpit Farm Lane – had a gate into the field this way; would walk around 

the field and often go onto other paths in the area; owner of the land, Mr. Bright, the farmer, did not say 

P
age 276



 

 5 

anything about people walking on the land, always very friendly;  fewer people around then;  during the 

1950s Mr. Bright kept horses in the field, and let other people graze their horses there too; cannot 

remember exactly when field first ploughed for crops, but thinks it was around time when Mr. Bright’s son 

sold the field; had to sell end part of the garden and bungalow was built there in 1962; no longer had access 

to the field via garden, and used Hookpit Farm Lane or path up the side of railway embankment instead; 
cannot think of any other changes after the land was sold; no gates or fences were put up and continued to 

walk the field unchallenged; once farmer started to grow crops, could still easily walk around edge of field 

 

 

Statement of Tenant Farmer, Mr. Nigel Bright 
 

Has farmed Top Field for more than 20 years, and it was in set-aside in 2001, when the statement was taken. 

 

Confirms that the field has been fenced by the landlord several times, though these fences have usually been torn down or cut through.  The 

landlord also put up a large fence and gate after the problem with the travellers.  Mr. Bright has never been instructed by his landlord to stop 

people from walking in the field, though he considers the fence to be proof of the landlord’s intentions. 

 

Has been quite happy with an ‘unofficial’ path running around the field, and has never tried to stop people walking in the field because he wishes 

to ‘maintain good relations with the local people’. 

 

A few years prior to 2001, a person from the Ramblers Association rang to ask about the path around the field.  Mr. Bright told them that, as 

far as he was concerned, it was an ‘unofficial path’, but that he did not want it to become a public right of way. 

 

Interviewed by Sally Plummer, and signed on 15th May 2001 

 

 

P
age 277



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page 279



Page 280



Page 281



Page 282



Page 283



Page 284



Page 285



Page 286



Page 287



Page 288



Page 289



Page 290



Page 291



Page 292



Page 293



Page 294



Page 295



Page 296



Page 297



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 299



Page 300



Page 301



Page 302



Page 303



Page 304



Page 305



Page 306



Page 307



Page 308



Page 309



Page 310



Page 311



Page 312



Page 313



This page is intentionally left blank



   

HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Decision Report 
 

Decision Maker: Regulatory Committee 

Date: 16 October 2019 

Title: 1) Variation of conditions 1, 3 and 4 of planning permission 
07/90183 to extend the time to complete the importation of 
waste to the landfill until 2029, revise the landfill phasing and 
phasing of restoration, and the completion of landfill restoration 
by 2031 (Application No. 19/10066) 
 
2) Variation of condition 2 of planning permission 11/97613 to 
extend the time for the use of the Waste Transfer Station until 
2030 (Application No. 19/10064) 
 
3) Variation of condition 2 of planning permission 08/92516 to 
extend the time for the use of the landfill gas utilisation plant 
until March 2040 (Application No. 19/10063) 
 
at Blue Haze Landfill Site, Verwood Road, Somerley, BH24 

3QE (Site Ref: NF105) 

Report From: Head of Strategic Planning 

Contact name: 
 
Philip Millard 
 

Tel:    01962 846496 Email: philip.millard@hants.gov.uk 

 
Recommendation 
 
1. That an extension of time until 31 January 2020 is agreed for the satisfactory 

completion of the Deed of Variation to the Section 106 agreement for 
permission 19/10066 to transfer the Section 106 [S106] legal obligations 
relating to planning permission 07/90183, to secure: 

 lorry routing agreement restricting the use of Harbridge Drove and the 
B3081 northwards, except for local deliveries; 

 Management Agreement for Nature Conservation and the provision of 
footpaths/access for public recreation (including amendments to 
enhance the scheme of environmental compensation); and 

 off-site heathland works within Plumley Wood. 
 

2. This also requires extensions of time until the same date for the 
determination of applications 19/10064 and 19/10063, as these are both 
dependant on 19/10066 to be valid. 
 

3. Upon completion of the Deed of Variation authority be delegated to the 
Director of Economy, Transport and Environment to grant permission in all 

Page 315

Agenda Item 7



   

other respects in accordance with the resolution for planning applications 
19/10066, 19/10064 and 19/10063 made at the meeting held on 17 April 
2019. 

 
Background  
 
4. This report relates to planning applications 19/10066, 19/10064 and 

19/10063 at Blue Haze Landfill Site, Verwood Road, Somerley, BH24 3QE. 
 

5. Planning application 19/10066 seeks to vary Conditions 1 (Phasing), 3 
(Completion date) and 4 (Working programme) of planning permission 
07/90183 at Blue Haze Landfill Site, Verwood Road, Somerley to extend the 
time to complete the importation of waste to the landfill by 10 years until 
2029, revise the landfill phasing and phasing of restoration, and the 
completion of landfill restoration by 2031.  

 
6. The applicant also submitted further planning applications, 19/10064 and 

19/10063; seeking to regularise ancillary developments on the Blue Haze 
Landfill Site by extending their temporary planning permissions in line with 
that sought for the overall landfill site. As the determination of the two 
remaining ancillary applications are dependent on the determination of the 
overarching planning application 19/10066, all three were considered at the 
Regulatory Committee meeting held on 17 April 2019 for determination 
 

7. At the meeting it was resolved that planning permission be granted for the 
three applications, subject to the completion of a Deed of Variation to link the 
obligations in the original Section 106 agreement applying to planning 
permission 07/90183 to 19/10066. 
 

8. The Regulatory Committee gave officers delegated authority to grant 
planning permission, subject to conditions, on completion of the Section 106 
agreement or, if necessary, to refuse planning permission if the agreement 
was not completed by 30 September 2019. 
 

9. Since the 17 April 2019 meeting, and despite County Council officers and 
the applicant working together proactively, the Deed of Variation has not yet 
been completed. 

 
10. There are seven parties, including the County Council, who all need to agree 

to and complete this agreement. At the beginning of September, the Council 
understood the document was agreed in principle. However, the applicant 
has explained that delays have occurred as a result of slow responses from 
the landowning parties and late requests for amendments to the document. 
The agreement is at an advanced stage, but the time permitted has not been 
long enough to complete it. It is anticipated that it will be completed shortly. 

 

Page 316



   

11. Therefore, it is requested that a further four-month period from 30 
September, until 31 January 2020, is provided for the satisfactory completion 
of the Section 106 agreement. 

 
Recommendation 
 
12. That an extension of time until 31 January 2020 is agreed for the satisfactory 

completion of the Deed of Variation to the Section 106 agreement from 
planning permission 07/90183 to transfer it to 19/10066 and that authority is 
delegated to the Director of Economy, Transport and Environment to grant 
permission in all other respects in accordance with the resolution for 
planning applications 19/10066, 19/10064 and 19/10063 made at the 
meeting held on 17 April 2019. 

 
 
Link to application 19/10066, 19/10064 and 19/10063 Committee Report 17 April 
2019 
 

http://democracy.hants.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=191&MId=3537&Ver=4 

 

Link to the application 

 

https://planning.hants.gov.uk/SearchResults.aspx?Criteria=nf105 

 

Page 317

http://democracy.hants.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=191&MId=3537&Ver=4
https://planning.hants.gov.uk/SearchResults.aspx?Criteria=nf105


This page is intentionally left blank



Blue Haze Landfill Site, Verwood, Road Somerley BH24 3QE
APPLICATION NUMBERS: 19/10066, 19/10064, 19/10063
SITE REFERENCE: NF105

Drawn by: Strategic Planning

REGULATORY COMMITTEE 
DATE: 16 October 2019

R

Economy, Transport and Environment

Location Plan

Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2016

0 380 760190 M

Legend
Application Area

1:15,000

Page 319



This page is intentionally left blank



HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Information Report 
 

Decision Maker: Regulatory Committee 

Date: 16 October 2019 

Title: Monitoring and Enforcement Update 

Report From: Director of Economy, Transport and Environment 

Contact name: David Smith 

Tel:    01962 845891 Email: david.smith@hants.gov.uk 

Purpose of this Report 

1. The purpose of this report is to provide information to the Regulatory 
Committee on the Monitoring and Enforcement work undertaken by Strategic 
Planning during the period May 2019 – September 2019. 

Recommendation 

2. That the contents of this report are noted. 

Executive Summary  

3. Officers have been actively ensuring compliance with minerals and waste 
permissions granted by Hampshire County Council, investigating any 
complaints received as well as working with other Authorities and Agencies. 

4. The report details the number of complaints on authorised and unauthorised 
sites, and the outcome of negotiations, including, when necessary, 
enforcement action undertaken. 

5. The report also details the routine monitoring of chargeable and non-
chargeable sites and development control work dealing with Planning 
Condition (Article 27) applications and Non-Material Amendments. 

Complaints 

6. The majority of the complaints received during the period May 2019 – 
September 2019 refer to unauthorised development (13 sites) and breaches 
of operational planning conditions on existing mineral and waste sites (7 
sites). Site investigations and negotiation addressed all the issues raised and 
work is ongoing to remedy 8 of the sites, with 3 planning applications 
submitted to address issues raised by complaints. The remainder have been 
resolved or were enquiries made about general site operations, fly-tipping, 
odour and waste related development that were dealt with in-house or 
referred to either the Environment Agency (EA) or Local Planning Authorities 
as non-County matters. 

 

Page 321

Agenda Item 8



 
Enforcement Actions 

7. In the period to the end of September 2019, there were no Notices served, 
with all matters either addressed through the planning system or remedied 
through negotiation. 

8. The following provides an update on enforcement activities previously 
reported to the committee. 

Table 1: Update on enforcement activities 

Site Update 

Courtwood Farm, 
Fordingbridge 

Following the withdrawal of planning application 
(16/11544) and continued complaints, a Breach of 
Condition Notice was drafted. However, a further 
planning application was submitted (17/10612) to 
address issues on site.  This was refused by 
Committee on 24 January 2018 and enforcement 
action was authorised. An Enforcement Notice was 
served on 31 January 2018 requiring the site to 
operate under conditions 4 (HGV numbers), 7 
(operating within the building) and 9 (no outside sorting 
of waste) of the original permission. The applicant 
appealed against the Enforcement Notice (and the 
refusal of the planning application) on the grounds that 
it should be granted permission, that the County 
Council’s requirements are unreasonable and that the 
County Council has not allowed sufficient time for them 
to comply with the Notice.  

The Appeal Hearing was eventually held on 10 
September 2019 (following long delays in processing 
the case at the Planning Inspectorate) and was 
attended by Officers from Strategic Planning and 
Highways.  The Hearing lasted a day and a Decision is 
awaited. 

Down Barn Farm, 
Boarhunt Road, 
Fareham 

Planning permission was granted in 2009 for the use 
of the site for hardcore/concrete recycling solely for the 
applicant (P/09/0396/MW). Three subsequent 
applications have been submitted to retrospectively 
vary several aspects of the operation (the sole use, 
HGV numbers and layout) (P/17/1104/CC, 
P/17/0471/CC and P/16/0299/CC) but these have all 
been refused. The applicant has since employed a 
Planning Consultant to address the reasons for the 
refusals. In the meantime, Officers noted that the site 
was being operated outside of the permitted hours. 
Consequently, a Breach of Condition Notice was 
drafted requiring the site to operate only within the 
hours permitted by the permission. There have been 
no further reports of such contraventions. An 
application for reconfiguration of the site to: facilitate 
access to gas network infrastructure; enhance 

Page 322

https://planning.hants.gov.uk/ApplicationDetails.aspx?RecNo=17751
https://planning.hants.gov.uk/ApplicationDetails.aspx?RecNo=18189
https://planning.hants.gov.uk/ApplicationDetails.aspx?RecNo=14029
https://planning.hants.gov.uk/ApplicationDetails.aspx?RecNo=18564
https://planning.hants.gov.uk/ApplicationDetails.aspx?RecNo=17954
https://planning.hants.gov.uk/ApplicationDetails.aspx?RecNo=16939


 

landscape planting; and create improved highways 
access to allow increased number of waste vehicle 
movements per week was submitted and subsequently 
approved on 24 May 2019 P/18/1122/CC. 

Basingstoke AD 
Plant (formerly 
Carousel Dairy), 
Manor Farm, 
Farleigh Wallop, 
Basingstoke 

Following complaints and investigation it was 
determined that there were breaches of the conditions 
setting out the hours that lorries could access the site.  
A Breach of Condition Notice (BCN) was served to 
cease the activity and prevent future breaches. A 
Planning application was subsequently submitted 
(16/00322/CMA)  to address the issue and clarify the 
permitted times and vehicle numbers. This was 
approved by the committee in July 2016 with an 
increase in vehicle movements permitted for an initial 
trial period of one year.  A further application to make 
the vehicle increases permanent was considered at 
the September 2017 meeting of the Committee when it 
was resolved to grant permission for another 1 year 
period to allow for further monitoring (17/01876/CMA). 
Proactive site management and regular Liaison Panel 
meetings improved the situation and monitoring of the 
traffic movements continued using the vehicle number 
plate recognition system. An application to make the 
vehicle increases permanent, with other negotiated 
changes to conditions, was approved at the 13 
February 2019 Committee meeting (18/03001/CMA). 

The ANPR cameras have been retained and access to 
the database for monitoring HGV movements secured 
so that any issues in the future can be investigated. 
There have been no subsequent complaints about 
HGVs to and from the site. There has been an issue of 
odour nuisance to the nearest properties, with 
increasing frequency over the Summer which has 
been reported to the Environment Agency. The 
operator is in the process of installing a new biofilter 
system which, it is hoped, will address this issue. 

Land to the rear of 
Peacocks Nursery, 
Ewshot 

Following refusal of a second planning application 
(16/03156/HCC) enforcement action was authorised by 
Regulatory Committee on 22 March 2017. An 
Enforcement Notice was served on 22 April 2017 to 
come into effect 24 May 2017. This EN was appealed 
(on the grounds that it should be granted planning 
permission) and the Appeal was heard on 12 
December 2017.  

The Decision was received on 16 January 2018 and 
the Appeal was upheld (Decision Notice included 
under ‘Appeals’ tab of application above). 
Consequently, the operation had planning permission 
for a temporary period of 20 months with 4 months to 
complete restoration.   

Page 323

https://planning.hants.gov.uk/ApplicationDetails.aspx?RecNo=19689
https://planning.hants.gov.uk/ApplicationDetails.aspx?RecNo=17007
https://planning.hants.gov.uk/ApplicationDetails.aspx?RecNo=18267
https://planning.hants.gov.uk/ApplicationDetails.aspx?RecNo=19739
https://planning.hants.gov.uk/ApplicationDetails.aspx?RecNo=17801


 

Permission expired on 19 September 2019. Monitoring 
will continue to ensure that operations move off site 
and that only the permitted restoration works are 
undertaken on site. 

Homestead Farm, 
Penton Copse, 
Andover 

Following appeals against three Enforcement Notices 
the enlarged waste handling replacement building and 
site offices and the extension to the site area now have 
planning permission. As a result of subsequent site 
inspections an application was submitted for changes 
to the layout of the site, relocation of the office building 
and an extension to the waste handling building. The 
change to the layout and relocation of the office 
building were approved, however a further application 
was required to address the extension of the waste 
handling building and associated operational matters. 
This further application has been submitted and is 
currently under consideration (18/03172/CMAN) with 
further information required about the drainage system 
before permission can be granted. 

Manor Farm 
Recycling Facility, 
Pennington, 
Lymington, Hants, 
SO41 8QZ 

A Breach of Condition Notice was served on 18 
October 2018 requiring a reduction in the height of 
stockpiles on site to the permitted 3 metres. 

Subsequent inspections and site surveys confirmed 
that considerable progress had been made in 
addressing this matter by the compliance date, so 
further time was allowed to fully comply. This matter 
has now been fully resolved, with a great improvement 
to the amount of material stored on site and the 
general tidiness of the operational area. 

 

9. Further information on the full suite of enforcement powers available to the 
County Council as Minerals and Waste Planning Authority (including powers 
to service PCNs, BCNs and ENs) is included in the County’s Enforcement 
and Site Monitoring Plan.  This can be found on the Strategic Planning 
website at: http://documents.hants.gov.uk/planning-
strategic/HampshireCountyCouncilPlanningEnforcementandSiteMonitoringPl
anJuly2016.pdf. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 324

mailto:https://planning.hants.gov.uk/ApplicationDetails.aspx?RecNo=19885
http://documents.hants.gov.uk/planning-strategic/HampshireCountyCouncilPlanningEnforcementandSiteMonitoringPlanJuly2016.pdf
http://documents.hants.gov.uk/planning-strategic/HampshireCountyCouncilPlanningEnforcementandSiteMonitoringPlanJuly2016.pdf
http://documents.hants.gov.uk/planning-strategic/HampshireCountyCouncilPlanningEnforcementandSiteMonitoringPlanJuly2016.pdf


 
10. The following table provides information on the joint enforcement activities 

which have been undertaken with the Environment Agency, the Police and 
District Planning Authorities. 

Table 2: Update on joint enforcement activities with the Environment Agency, 
the Police and District Planning Authorities 

Site Joint working 
with  

Update 

Whitehouse 
Field, 
Goodworth 
Clatford 

Test Valley 
Borough Council, 
Environment 
Agency, 
Hampshire County 
Council Highways 

In late 1990s, planning permission was 
granted by Test Valley Borough Council 
for construction of an extension to the 
existing golf course. This involved the 
importation and tipping of inert materials 
as an engineering operation. This work 
continued for approximately 10 years 
until the then operator left the site in 2010 
and Test Valley Borough Council 
considered the development completed. 
Several years later the operator of 
Homestead Farm bought the land. He 
claimed that surveys of the site had 
shown that the development had not 
been fully completed and stated his 
intention to restart work. His argument is 
that the levels survey agreed under the 
permission is so vague and contradictory 
that there is potentially up to 6 metres of 
fill required (approx. 450 000 tonnes of 
material). 

The authorities do not accept that this is 
authorised and have liaised closely to 
ensure that if and when work does start 
the appropriate enforcement action can 
be taken. Following legal advice from 
Counsel, it has been decided that the 
best way forward is for Test Valley 
Borough Council to enforce against any 
work as a breach of the original 
permission, with the EA looking to 
prosecute for tipping without a Permit.  
Hampshire County Council Highways are 
also involved, as part of the site access is 
highway land historically used by locals 
as a small car park, and the new 
landowner has been fencing and blocking 
it off. Hampshire County Council 
Highways have therefore taken legal 
action to secure clearance of the fences 
and blockades and maintain access. 
There has been no further work on site 
whilst the landowner attempts to address 

Page 325



 

Permitting issues with the EA and this is 
now the subject of an Appeal. 

Test Valley Borough Council has since 
served Enforcement Notices against 
preparatory works on site, so this is also 
the subject of an Appeal and witness 
Statements have been supplied by 
Hampshire County Council. 

Selborne 
Brickworks 

Natural England 
and Police’s 
Wildlife Crime 
Team 

Reports of digging holes and burying 
waste adjacent to settlement ponds on 
the Brickworks site.  Investigation found 
no evidence of tipping or of removal of 
clay off site, so this was not a County 
Planning matter. However, this area is a 
known habitat of Great Crested Newts 
(GCN) (a protected species).  The 
landowner was prosecuted in the past for 
similar destruction so knows he cannot 
undertake such works without approval of 
Natural England (NE).  The Police and 
NE started a prosecution, in which the 
Enforcement Officer was involved as a 
witness, and the landowner pleaded 
guilty and was fined £1,200 with a further 
£205 costs. 

In March of this year further reports were 
received of material being imported to the 
land. A site inspection discovered that the 
landowner had commenced the infilling of 
the former settlement ponds associated 
with the Brickworks. The ponds are now 
registered as GCN habitat, so Wildlife 
Protection legislation supersedes 
Planning legislation. Consequently, the 
matter has again been reported to the 
Police and Natural England for further 
investigation. 

Appeal Decision 

Unit 7 Waterbrook Industrial Estate Alton 

11. A Planning Application (Ref 51471/006 , dated 29 January 2018) was 
submitted for Variation of conditions 5, 11 and 18 of planning permission 
51471/003 to allow for importation of road planings and the night-time 
importation and exportation of waste. This Application was refused by 
Regulatory Committee on 31 July 2018 in the interests of local amenity in 
accordance with Policy 10 (Protecting public health, safety and amenity) of 
the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan (2013) on the grounds that the 
proposed night time operations would result in unacceptable noise impacts to 
occupiers of residential property in the surrounding area. 

Page 326

https://planning.hants.gov.uk/ApplicationDetails.aspx?RecNo=18991


 
12. The Applicant decided to appeal this Decision and chose to have the Appeal 

considered under the Written Representations procedure, whereby both sides 
put their arguments in writing and the Inspector then considers all the 
evidence, undertakes a site visit and then makes a Decision. 

13. The Inspector’s Decision was made on 29 August 2019, and the Appeal was 
dismissed. However, the reason for the dismissal was on narrower grounds 
than the reason for refusal of the original planning application and does leave 
open the possibility of a re-submission of the application. 

14. The Inspector agreed that the main issue in this case was the impact of the 
proposal on the living conditions of neighbouring residents, in terms of noise 
and disturbance. But, on the basis of the modelling and noise assessment 
carried out (of which the Inspector accepted the Environmental Health 
Officer’s view was sound), the Inspector concluded that there would not be an 
adverse effect in terms of noise from the proposed night time activities on the 
site itself.  

15. Where the Inspector had concerns was with the off-site noise and HGV 
movements, concluding that without a Section 106 Agreement to control the 
route that HGVs should take when approaching and leaving the site there is 
no guarantee that surrounding occupiers would be adequately protected from 
noise and disturbance by HGVs.  

16. Therefore, although on-site noise could be adequately controlled, the 
Inspector considered that there would be an adverse effect from night-time 
HGV movements without a routing agreement in place. As such, the 
Inspector concluded that the proposal would be harmful to the living 
conditions of neighbouring occupiers, contrary to Policy 10 of the Minerals 
and Waste Plan which seeks to protect public health, safety and amenity. 

17. The full Inspector’s Decision can be found at Inspector's Decision.  

Site Monitoring 

18. Chargeable sites – under the Town and Country Planning (Fees for 
Applications and deemed applications) (Amendment) (England) Regulations 
2006 the County Council is able to charge fees for the monitoring of quarries 
and landfill sites in the County.  Fees are charged for a set number of 
monitoring visits, the number of visits being dependent on the stage of 
operations at each site; whether operational, in aftercare or inactive. The 
number of visits is agreed with each operator and is in line with an 
assessment of each site made by the County Council.  Active sites are 
charged at £397 per visit for between four and eight visits per year.  Sites in 
aftercare are charged at £397 for one visit per year.  Inactive sites are 
charged £132 for one annual visit. 

19. There are now 25 active sites, 12 in aftercare and 5 dormant sites liable for 
chargeable visits. The County Council previously undertook monitoring of 2 
active sites for South Downs National Park Authority, but it has now taken 
back responsibility for these sites. 

20. During this period all chargeable visits were undertaken, bringing in 
approximately £16,600 in fees.  

21. Non-chargeable sites – these include waste processing sites, wastewater and 
treatment works and metal recyclers. These vary from the large Energy 

Page 327

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2006/994/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2006/994/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2006/994/contents/made


 
Recovery Facilities (ERF) and Materials Recovery Facilities (MRF) to the 
smaller scale recycling and transfer facilities and updating existing 
wastewater treatment works. The larger developments attract much attention 
in their locality and require regular monitoring to ensure that the local amenity 
is not impacted, whereas the smaller, built developments require monitoring 
during construction and implementation, but once up and running need less 
regular attention and these sites only get further visits should complaints be 
received.  Matrix working arrangements have been made with Waste & 
Resource Management that their officers undertaking visits to waste sites 
operating under the County’s waste contract also look at planning issues to 
provide greater coverage. 

Liaison Panels 

22. During this period Liaison Panel meetings were held for the following sites: - 

(a) Basingstoke AD Plant, Carousel Dairy, Farleigh Wallop. 

(b) Humbly Grove Oilfield. 

(c) Frith End Sandpit, Kingsley. 

(d) Mortimer Quarry, Mortimer West End. 

(e) Chineham ERF, Chineham. 

(f) A303 Recycling Facility, Longparish. 

(g) Little Bushywarren Composting Facility & Herriard AD Plant, Herriard. 

(h) Roke Manor Quarry, Nr Romsey. 

(i) Squabb Wood Landfill, Nr Romsey. 

Development Management 

Planning Condition (Article 27) applications:  

23. Where conditions on new permissions require details to be submitted and 
approved for the proper implementation and control of the development, 
‘Article 27’ applications are required. Under the Town and Country Planning 
(Fees for Applications and Deemed Applications, Requests and Site Visits) 
(England) Regulations 2012, a fee per submission is required for the 
discharge of any details submitted. This is now £116 per submission.  

24. During the period, Article 27 applications were received and approved or are 
being determined for 19 planning permissions, totalling £2,204. 

25. As detailed previously, following adoption of the Protocol for Dealing with 
Breaches in Planning Control relating to Development Undertaken by the 
County Council under Regulation 3 of the Town and Country Planning 
General Regulations 1992, enforcement updates now also include 
information on Article 27 applications for County Council developments and 
any breaches of planning control. 

Non-Material Amendments 

26. Non-Material Amendments (NMAs) are minor changes to the operation of 
authorised sites that can be agreed by an application for non-material 
amendment if the change has no substantial impact on the local amenity. 

Page 328

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2920/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2920/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2920/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1992/1492/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1992/1492/contents/made


 
Such an application requires a fee but does not involve general consultation 
and determination by Committee. 

27. Over the period eight NMA applications were determined: - 

(a) Sir George Staunton Country Park, Middle Park Way, Havant - Change to 
the pedestrian crossing layout. 

(b) Eversley Quarry, Coopers Hill, Eversley, Eversley Common RG27 0QA - 
change to approved restoration plans for 4 associated applications. 

(c) Jermyns House, Jermyns Lane, Ampfield SO51 0QA - increase to the 
footprint of the tearoom extension. 

(d) South East Hampshire Bus Rapid Transit Phase 1 Fareham to Gosport -
to provide for removal of CCTV from bus shelters, removal of cycle 
storage between Stops 13 & 14 and changes to bus stop platform 
dimensions. 

(e) Petersgate Infant School, Green Lane, Clanfield, Waterlooville, PO8 0JU - 
Omission of roof lights on the proposed classroom block. 

 
 

Page 329



 
REQUIRED CORPORATE AND LEGAL INFORMATION: 

 
Links to the Strategic Plan 

 

Hampshire maintains strong and sustainable economic 
growth and prosperity: 

yes 

People in Hampshire live safe, healthy and independent 
lives: 

yes 

People in Hampshire enjoy a rich and diverse 
environment: 

yes 

People in Hampshire enjoy being part of strong, 
inclusive communities: 

yes 

 
 
 

Section 100 D - Local Government Act 1972 - background documents 
  
The following documents discuss facts or matters on which this report, or an 
important part of it, is based and have been relied upon to a material extent in 
the preparation of this report. (NB: the list excludes published works and any 
documents which disclose exempt or confidential information as defined in 
the Act.) 
 
Document Location 

None  

 

Page 330


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of previous meeting
	6 Application for a Definitive Map Modification Order to record footpaths at Top Field, Springvale  Parish of Kings Worthy
	2019-10-16 REG Top Field App List
	2019-10-16 REG Top Field App 1a
	2019-10-16 REG Top Field App 1b
	2019-10-16 REG Top Field App 2
	2019-10-16 REG Top Field App 3a
	2019-10-16 REG Top Field App 3b
	2019-10-16 REG Top Field App 4
	2019-10-16 REG Top Field App 5
	2019-10-16 REG Top Field App 6
	2019-10-16 REG Top Field App 7
	2019-10-16 REG Top Field App 8
	2019-10-16 REG Top Field App 9
	2019-10-16 REG Top Field App 10
	2019-10-16 REG Top Field App 11
	2019-10-16 REG Top Field App 12

	7 Blue Haze Landfill Site Verwood Road Somerley
	Location Plan

	8 Monitoring and Enforcement Update

